
Board of Harbor Commissioners

Sabrina Brennan, President
Edmundo Larenas, Vice President

Nancy Reyering, Secretary
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer

Virginia Chang Kiraly, Commissioner

John Moren, Interim General Manager
William Parkin, District Counsel

San Mateo County Harbor District
Board of Harbor Commissioners

"To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially sound
and environmentally pleasant marinas."

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA

June 19, 2019
6:00 PM

San Mateo County Harbor District
Conference Room

504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200
El Granada, CA 94018

Persons requiring special accommodation with respect to disability are directed to make such
requests per the Americans With Disabilities Act to the Deputy Secretary to the Board at 650-
583-4400, 24 hours in advance.

A) Roll Call

B) Closed Session

1) TITLE: Conference with Legal Counsel-Existing Litigation
Pursuant to Government Code §54956.9: (Brennan v. San
Mateo County Harbor District (DFEH No. 201807-03053228;
EEOC No. 37A-2019-00873-C).

C) Adjournment

The next regular meeting will be held on June 19, 2019 at the San Mateo County
Harbor District District Office, 504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200, El Granada, CA
94018 at 6:30 PM.

A enda posted as required:
J ne 14, 2019 at 4:00 PM

Debbie Gehre

Deputy Secret

San Mateo County Harbor District - Special Meeting Agenda - June 19, 2019



 Board of Harbor Commissioners 
    

Sabrina Brennan, President 
Edmundo Larenas, Vice President 

Nancy Reyering, Secretary 
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer 

Virginia Chang Kiraly, Commissioner 
 

John Moren, Interim General Manager 
William Parkin, District Counsel 

    

San Mateo County Harbor District – Regular Meeting Agenda – June 19, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

 
San Mateo County Harbor District 

         Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 

“To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially 
sound and environmentally pleasant marinas.” 

 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 

June 19, 2019 
6:30 PM 

 
San Mateo County Harbor District 

Conference Room 
504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200 

El Granada, CA  94018 
 

All Harbor District Commission regular meetings are recorded and posted at 
www.PacificCoast.tv within 48 hours of the meeting. Pacifica residents can tune into 
Comcast Channel 26 and residents from Montara through Pescadero can tune into 
Comcast Channel 27.  Copies of the meetings can also be purchased from PCT and 
mailed for $18. 
 

Persons requiring special accommodation with respect to disability are directed to make such 
requests per the Americans With Disabilities Act to the Deputy Secretary to the Board at 650-
583-4400, 48 hours in advance. 
 

A) Roll Call 
 

B)    1. Public Comments/Questions 
 

The Public may directly address the Board of Harbor Commissioners for a limit of 
three (3) minutes, unless a request is granted for more time, on any item of public 
interest within the subject matter jurisdiction of the San Mateo County Harbor 
District, that is not on the Regular Agenda. If a member of the public wishes to 
address the Board on an agenda item, it is requested that a speaker card be 
completed and given to the Deputy Secretary. The Chair will call your name at the 
appropriate time. Agenda material may be reviewed at the administration offices of 
the District, 504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200, El Granada, CA 94018 or online at 
www.smharbor.com. 

 

2. Commissioner Comments 
 

          Commissioners may make public statements limited to five (5) minutes. 
 

http://www.pacificcoast.tv/
http://www.smharbor.com/


San Mateo County Harbor District – Regular Meeting Agenda – June 19, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

C) Consent  
 

All items on Consent are approved by one motion unless a Commissioner 
requests at the beginning of the meeting that an item be withdrawn or 
transferred to Discussion. Any item on Discussion may be transferred to 
Consent. 

 

 ITEMS PULLED FROM CONSENT WILL BE HEARD AFTER DISCUSSION 
ITEMS. 

 
1. Bills and Claims (van Hoff) 

Recommendation: Review Pre-Approved Bills and Claims in the amount of 
$531,841.69. Pre-Approve $500,000 in Bills and Claims until next meeting. 
 

2. Minutes – Special Meeting May 20, 2019 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of May 20, 2019. 
 

3. Minutes – Special Meeting June 6, 2019 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of June 6, 2019. 
 

4. Monthly Capital Projects Update (Moren) 
Receive and file. 
 

D) Discussion 
 

5. Fiscal Year 2017/2018 Audited Basic Financial Statements; Presentation  
(van Hoff) 
Recommendation: Receive 2017/18 San Mateo County Harbor District 
Audited Basic Financial Statements.  
 

6. Approve Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement 
Program; Adopt Resolution No.19-09 (van Hoff) 
Recommendation: Approve Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) and adopt Resolution No.19-09. 
 

7. Pillar Point Harbor Launch Ramp Dredge Project Invitation for Bid 
Approval (Moren) 
Recommendation: Authorize the Interim General Manager, pursuant to an 
Invitation for Bid (IFB) response evaluation from qualified firm(s) and/or 
individual(s) to assist the San Mateo County Harbor District (District) with 
dredging of the Pillar Point Harbor launch ramp, to execute an Agreement 
with the sole bidder, Dixon Marine Services Inc.(Dixon), for the negotiated 
amount of $344,480.98, and, subject to continued due diligence and 
verification of insurance and other obligations outlined in the IFB, award the 
contract to Dixon Marine Services Inc. 
 
 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/dde4adcac/2019_06_19_B%26C_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/ab09c1fcb/2019_06_19-05_20_DraftSpecialMeetingAgenda.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/34125f2f5/2019_06_19-06_06_DraftSpecialMeetingAgenda.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/01139c5d3/2019_06_19_Monthly_Capital_Project_Update_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/64a0b4bde/2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_Basic_Financial_Statements_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/c7208aa3f/2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/c7208aa3f/2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/7191b9fb6/2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/7191b9fb6/2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_SR.pdf


San Mateo County Harbor District – Regular Meeting Agenda – June 19, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

8. Public Outreach Services (Moren) 
Recommendation: Authorize the Interim General Manager to execute a 
Professional Services Agreement (PSA) for Public Outreach Services with 
Phondini Partners LLC for an amount not to exceed $39,900.   
 

9. Pillar Point RV Lot: Coastal Development Permit, First Look at Public 
Restroom, Green Space and Increased ADA Parking Preferred 
Alternative and Authorize Interim General Manager to Take All Actions 
Reasonably Necessary to Apply for Grant Funding, Including the Filing 
of an Application and Contract with Architectural and Engineering Firms 
(Moren) 
Recommendation: i) receive public input on the proposed new Pillar Point 
Harbor (PPH) RV Park public restroom, green space and increased ADA 
parking (Project) preferred alternative; ii) authorize a Priority Conservation 
Area Grant application to cover 1/3 of project costs; iii) authorize the Interim 
General Manager to contract with architectural and engineering firms for 
plans and cost estimates necessary for the grant application. 
 

10. Portola Ave Lot Purchase Update and Designation of New District 
Administration Office Design Ad Hoc Committee (Moren) 
Recommendation: i) receive update on the Portola Ave vacant lot purchase; 
ii) form a District Administration Office Design Ad Hoc Committee and assign 
two Board members. 
 

11. 2019 Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA) Board of 
Directors Election (van Hoff) 
Recommendation: This Commission may consider voting for up to three (3) 
candidates for the 2019 Special District Risk Management Authority Board of 
Directors Election or may take no action. 
 

E) Discussion/Action on Pulled Consent Items (if any) 
 

F) Future Agenda Items 
 

G) May Activity Reports: Interim General Manager/Operations; 
Administration  

 Information only 
 

H)  Adjourn 
 

The next regular meeting will be held on July 17, 2019 at the San Mateo County 
Harbor District Office, 504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200, El Granada,  CA 94018 at 
6:30 PM. 
 

Agenda posted as required: 
June 14, 2019 at 4:00 PM 

 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/1bb80ae70/2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/388352d2d/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/388352d2d/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/388352d2d/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/388352d2d/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/388352d2d/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/f9418d818/2019_06_19_Portola_Lot_Purchase%3B+Ad+Hoc+Committee_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/f9418d818/2019_06_19_Portola_Lot_Purchase%3B+Ad+Hoc+Committee_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/d35c31e10/2019_06_19_SDRMA_2019_+BoD_Election_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/d35c31e10/2019_06_19_SDRMA_2019_+BoD_Election_SR.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/903efb0d5/2019_06_19_ActRpt_GM%26Ops.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/d17061601/2019_06_19_ActRpt_Admin.pdf


 
 

 

Staff Report 
 
 
TO:            Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM:         Kin Yip Chan, Accounting Technician 
     
DATE:          June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:   Review Bills and Claims in the Amount of $531,841.69 

   Total Disbursements being submitted for your review: $531,841.69 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background:  The Board Pre-Approved Bills and Claims up to $500,000 for this month and all 
payroll related claims. Actual Bills and Claims for the period are $531,841.69. Of this amount, 
$31,841.69 is awaiting approval. 
  
Recommended Motion: 

1) Accept Bills and Claims in the amount of $531,841.69. 
2) Pre-Approve $500,000 in Bills and Claims until next meeting date.   

 
Attachments: 
Bills and Claims/Cal Card Top 5 
Legal Fees 

 

Dept. Code Description Amount
103 Administration & Commissioners 297,065.10$       
201 Pillar Point Harbor 66,720.49$         
301 Oyster Point Marina 31,151.52$         

Employee Deductions 31,032.50$         
Payroll / Benefits 105,872.08$       
Total Bills & Claims for Review: 531,841.69$       

Pre-Approved Payroll Notes:
Payroll Paydate 5/3/19 120,554.00$       
Payroll Paydate 5/17/19 116,292.00$       
Payroll Paydate 5/31/19 115,748.69$       
Total Payroll for Period: 352,594.69$       

 
         

         
           

          
           

            

  
         
         

          

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/a668d99ae/2019_06_19_B%26C_SS.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/05f83c246/2019_06_19_B%26C_Legal.pdf


 PAYROLL 
EMPLOYEES 

 PAYROLL 
BENEFITS 

 ADMIN & 
COMM 

 PILLAR 
POINT 

 OYSTER 
POINT  TOTAL ALL 

VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT DEDUCTION RELATED 103 201 301 DEPTS
SPECIAL DIST RISK MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY

WORKER'S COMPENSATION FY19-
20

107,263.34        107,263.34        107,263.34         

SPECIAL DIST RISK MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY

PROPERTY/LIABILITY FY 19-20 131,406.76        131,406.76        131,406.76         

SUB-TOTAL OF PAYMENTS TO BE 
PROCESSED 6/19/2019

238,670.10        -                 -                  238,670.10       -                 -                238,670.10         

8X8, INC TELEPHONE/COMMUNICATIONS 1,077.33            683.64               34.80             358.89          1,077.33             
ADP, LLC PAYROLL PROCESSING 1,271.10            308.14               520.00           442.96          1,271.10             
ADVANCED BUSINESS FORMS OPERATING SUPPLIES 607.21               607.21          607.21                
AIRGAS USA, LLC OPERATING SUPPLIES 121.31               121.31           121.31                
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC OFFICE SUPPLIES 81.60                 81.60                 81.60                  
AMERICAN DEBRIS BOX SERVICE, 
INC

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,635.74            1,635.74        1,635.74             

AMERICAN RED CROSS SAFETY EQUIPMENTS/TRAININGS 1,550.00            1,550.00        1,550.00             

ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES LLC UNIFORM SERVICES 905.91               905.91          905.91                

AT&T TELEPHONE/COMMUNICATIONS 255.05               255.05           255.05                
BAY GREEN MARINE SANITATION CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 2,694.81            1,722.41        972.40          2,694.81             
BLUE LINE TRANSFER INC GARBAGE SERVICES 54.65                 54.65            54.65                  
BRENNAN, SABRINA CONFERENCES & MEETINGS 811.84               811.84               811.84                
CALIFORNIA WATER SERVICE CO UTILITIES 4,186.09            4,186.09      4,186.09             

CALPERS PAYROLL DEDUCTION PAYABLE 46,656.88          46,656.88       46,656.88           
CALPERS SUPPLEMENTAL INCOME 
457 PLAN

PAYROLL DEDUCTION PAYABLE 24,424.14          24,424.14      24,424.14           

CASPIAN IT GROUP CONTRACTUAL SERVICES-IT 4,976.82            1,847.71           1,596.89        1,532.22      4,976.82             
CITY OF FOSTER CITY ADVERTISING EXPENSES 500.00               250.00           250.00          500.00                
COASTSIDE COUNTY WATER 
DISTRICT

UTILITIES 7,952.29            7,952.29        7,952.29             

COASTSIDE.NET WIFI EXPENSES 359.10               359.10           359.10                
COLEMAN SECURITY INDUSTRIES, 
INC

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 4,405.72            4,405.72      4,405.72             

COMCAST INTERNET EXPENSES 639.10               193.33               83.33             362.44          639.10                
COUNTY OF SAN MATEO PUBLIC 
SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS

TELEPHONE/COMMUNICATIONS 61.65                 61.65             61.65                  

CPS HR CONSULTING CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 6,421.51            6,421.51           6,421.51             
DIGITAL DEPLOYMENT, INC/ 
STREAMLINE

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES-IT 200.00               200.00               200.00                

FASTENAL COMPANY REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 55.88                 55.88            55.88                  
GAETANI REAL ESTATE ADMIN OFFICE RENT 8,200.00            8,200.00           8,200.00             
GARDA, CL WEST, INC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 268.72               134.36           134.36          268.72                
GARNISHMENT PAYROLL DEDUCTION PAYABLE 1,411.06            1,411.06        1,411.06             
GET IT TECH INC OPERATING SUPPLIES 643.19               643.19          643.19                
GRAINGER REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1,278.90            903.48           375.42          1,278.90             
HALF MOON BAY REVIEW ADVERTISING EXPENSES 701.00               350.50           350.50          701.00                
HASSETT HARDWARE/BLUETRAP 
CREDIT SERVICES

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 460.26               460.26           460.26                

IRON MOUNTAIN, INC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 159.45               159.45               159.45                
IRVINE & JACHENS INC UNIFORM EXPENSES 140.50               140.50          140.50                
JOHN MATTHEWS ARCHITECTS CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 8,963.95            3,596.25           5,367.70        8,963.95             
JOHN’S BACKFLOW TECH & 
SERVICE

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 225.00               225.00           225.00                

JOHNSON, ROBERT REIMB HEALTH INSURANCE 
PREMIUMS

813.00               813.00            813.00                

KONICA MINOLTA REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 454.35               386.63               67.72             454.35                
LENACO CORPORATION/BLUE 
RIBBON SUPPLY COMPANY

JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 3,355.59            2,234.08        1,121.51      3,355.59             

LIGHTHOUSE PUBLIC AFFAIRS LLC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 5,000.00            5,000.00           5,000.00             

MARINE LIEN SALE SERVICE LIEN SALES 840.00               520.00           320.00          840.00                
MISSION LINEN & UNIFORM 
SUPPLY

UNIFORM SERVICES 1,198.55            1,198.55        1,198.55             

MOFFATT & NICHOL ENGINEERS, 
INC

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 14,076.75          14,076.75      14,076.75           

NAVIA BENEFIT SOLUTIONS PAYROLL DEDUCTION PAYABLE 357.68               357.68           357.68                
ON TIME TELECOM INC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,565.89            782.95           782.94          1,565.89             
OPERATING ENGINEERS TRUST HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS  36,931.00          36,931.00       36,931.00           
ORKIN SERVICES OF CALIFORNIA, 
INC

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 135.00               135.00          135.00                

PENINSULA PUMP & EQUIPMENT 
INC

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1,924.94            1,924.94        1,924.94             

PG&E UTILITIES 12,911.81          12,911.81      12,911.81           
PHONDINI PARTNERS LLC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 5,340.00            5,340.00           5,340.00             
PITNEY BOWES, INC/ PURCHASE POPOSTAGE REPLENISHMENT 197.60               48.80             148.80          197.60                
RAUCH COMMUNICATION 
CONSULTANTS INC

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 3,653.29            3,653.29           3,653.29             

READY REFRESH BY NESTLE OFFICE SUPPLIES 124.16               124.16          124.16                
RECOLOGY OF THE COAST GARBAGE SERVICES 454.42               454.42           454.42                
RICHARDS, WATSON & GERSHON LEGAL SERVICES 3,541.21            3,541.21           3,541.21             

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL, 
INC 

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 19,816.25          12,620.00          7,196.25      19,816.25           

SAFETY KLEEN SYSTEMS, INC USED OIL PICK UP EXPENSES 155.00               155.00           155.00                
SAN MATEO DAILY JOURNAL ADVERTISING EXPENSES 1,320.00            660.00           660.00          1,320.00             
SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO 
SCAVENGER CO

GARBAGE SERVICES 2,517.20            2,517.20      2,517.20             

SPECIAL DIST RISK MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY

HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS 9,940.10            9,940.10         9,940.10             

STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY LIFE & LTD INSURANCE 4,680.21            4,680.21         4,680.21             

BILLS AND CLAIMS FOR 6/19/19 BOARD MEETING



 PAYROLL 
EMPLOYEES 

 PAYROLL 
BENEFITS 

 ADMIN & 
COMM 

 PILLAR 
POINT 

 OYSTER 
POINT  TOTAL ALL 

VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT DEDUCTION RELATED 103 201 301 DEPTS

BILLS AND CLAIMS FOR 6/19/19 BOARD MEETING

STAPLES ADVANTAGE  OFFICE SUPPLIES 780.94               330.19               308.58           142.17          780.94                
STATE CONTROLLER 
DEPARTMENTAL ACCOUNTING 
OFFICE

OFFSETS PROGRAM 42.20                 21.10             21.10            42.20                  

TEAMSTERS LOCAL 856-HEALTH & 
WELFARE FUND

HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS 6,282.09            6,282.09           6,282.09             

TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING 
CONSTRUCTION, INC

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 150.00               150.00          150.00                

TURBO DATA SYSTEMS, INC CITATION PROCESSING 45.64                 10.84             34.80            45.64                  
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 3,662.04            3,662.04           3,662.04             
U.S. BANK-CAL CARD CAL-CARD EMPLOYEE 

PURCHASES
8,448.62            1,016.85           5,601.06        1,830.71      8,448.62             

VANGUARD INDUSTRIES WEST ADVERTISING EXPENSES 680.00               680.00           680.00                
VANTAGEPOINT TRANSFER 
AGENTS

PAYROLL DEDUCTION PAYABLE 4,839.62            4,839.62        4,839.62             

VERIZON WIRELESS TELEPHONE/COMMUNICATIONS 622.06               341.32               260.56           20.18            622.06                
WEST MARINE PRO REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1,219.46            1,219.46        1,219.46             
WHITE, CHARLES REIMB HEALTH INSURANCE 

PREMIUMS
568.80               568.80            568.80                

PHAM, STEVE REFUND DEPOSIT 146.36               146.36          146.36                
SNYDER, JAMES LOUIS REFUND CITATION 22.00                 22.00            22.00                  
 TOTAL HANDCHECKS 293,171.59        31,032.50      105,872.08     58,395.00         66,720.49      31,151.52    293,171.59         
 TOTAL BILLS & CLAIMS 531,841.69        31,032.50      105,872.08     297,065.10       66,720.49      31,151.52    531,841.69         

531,841.69         

  TRUE

 PAYROLL 
EMPLOYEES 

 PAYROLL 
BENEFITS 

 ADMIN & 
COMM 

 PILLAR 
POINT 

 OYSTER 
POINT  TOTAL ALL 

VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT  DEDUCTION RELATED 103                    201                301               DEPTS
JAMES FORD INC REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 985.66               985.66           985.66                
HARBOR FUEL DOCK PATROL BOAT-FUEL 583.66               583.66           583.66                
MAC FAUCETS REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 558.87               558.87           558.87                
JAMES FORD INC REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 492.83                492.83           492.83                
INDEED, INC ADVERTISING EXPENSES 475.75               237.88           237.87          475.75                
 TOTAL   3,096.77            -                 -                  -                     2,858.90        237.87          3,096.77             

5 LARGEST PAYMENTS ON THE CAL CARD



Sum of Total Spent Column Labels
AARONSON, 
DICKERSON, 
COHN &

BRAND/ 
NORMAN

COX, 
WOOTON, 
LERNER, 
GRIFFIN,

FRANK/LYN
N S.

HANSON 
BRIDGETT LLP

JAY 
RESENDEZ, 
ATTORNEY 
AT LAW

KOTZEBUE/ 
MARGARET

KRAMER/ 
KAREN

LIEBERT, 
CASSIDY & 
WHITMORE///

MCGRATH 
INVESTIGATI
ONS

OPPENHEIM
ER/ AMY

RICHARDS, 
WATSON & 
GERSHON

TOPLIFF/ 
MARY L.//

GOYETTE/ 
GRIFFITHS//

WITTWER 
PARKIN LLP

Grand Total

08-09 65,229.96$     675.00$  82,179.67$     17,303.42$   165,388.05$       
09-10 44,729.24$     50,505.65$     6,402.50$     101,637.39$       
10-11 46,880.38$     34,050.00$     11,803.75$   92,734.13$         
11-12 84,627.99$     5,674.20$       1,770.00$     92,072.19$         
12-13 105,733.63$   735.00$        7,097.00$       113,565.63$       
13-14 88,761.42$     10,856.98$   13,803.00$   83,662.55$     24,381.00$   221,464.95$       
14-15 340.75$          9,143.02$     287,596.29$       26,364.00$   92,751.48$     416,195.54$       
15-16 29,949.79$   4,500.00$   301,540.13$       3,325.00$     133,292.43$   15,445.00$   488,052.35$       
16-17 3,682.03$     317,484.72$       97,191.79$     418,358.54$       
17-18 290,308.67$       18,150.00$     25,000.00$   333,458.67$       
18-19 YTD* 361,423.88$       8,259.50$       4,951.21$     50,429.75$   33,044.45$   458,108.79$       
Grand Total 436,303.37$   675.00$  53,631.82$   4,500.00$   1,558,353.69$   4,060.00$     26,364.00$   13,803.00$   612,814.27$   15,445.00$   24,381.00$   42,230.88$   25,000.00$   50,429.75$   33,044.45$   2,901,036.23$   

Legal Fees - Fiscal Years 2009 to 2019



 
 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim General Manager  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Capital Projects Update 
 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Receive Monthly Capital Projects update. 
 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status: 
All Capital Projects are budgeted appropriately. 
 
Capital Projects Update: 
 

• PPH Johnson Pier Reconfiguration, H-Dock and Fuel Dock Replacement 
Project: Initiated Jan. 2017 
o H-Dock replacement meeting to gain input from public/tenants/stakeholders was 

held January 23, 2018 at the HMBYC. 
o Public input was addressed in a new drawing and sent with an additional 

questionnaire to all H-Dock tenants on March 21, 2018.  
o Addressed input gathered at first meeting and from questionnaire for H-Dock 

replacement. Second public meeting held May 15, 2018 at the HMBYC. 
o Terminus reconfiguration preliminary stakeholder/public meetings held on May 

29, 2018 and July 17, 2018 to gather input/ideas on needed alterations. 
o Design/engineering consultant M&N provided a project update at the March 20, 

2019 Board meeting, along with proposal to combine Johnson Pier Terminus 
Reconfiguration so that programmatic permitting can be made most cost 
efficient.   
 

• PPH Johnson Pier Timber Platform Piling Repair Project: Initiated Mar. 2019 
o Project to be completed as soon as possible to stabilize the timber platform until 

the reconfiguration construction can take place. 
o Consultant M&N working on Design/Engineering/Permitting. 

 



PAGE 2 OF 4 
 

 

• PPH Fishing Pier Repair and Access Walkway Rehabilitation: Initiated Mar. 2017 
o Consultant M&N working on Design/Engineering/Permitting. 
o Initial drawings and technical memos submitted for review 2/22/18 
o 65% submittals reviewed May 2nd, consultant working on revisions. 
o CDP, NWP, and NOI applications submitted on June 22, 2018.  
o CCC CDP waiver approved in October 2018.  
o 95% tech specs for ITB are being completed. 
o Design/engineering consultant M&N provided a project update at the March 20, 

2019 Board meeting. 
o Invitation for Bid sent out 6/5/19. 

 
• PPH West Trail Shoreline Protection Project: Initiated May 2015 

o Geotech testing, core sampling, took place 11/6/17. CCC issued an Incomplete 
Filing Status on 1/17/18. Consultant currently revising Project plans and 
addressing CCC concerns.  

o Met with GHD and their sub-consultant at West Trail on 2/15/18 to discuss soil 
nail wall construction methods for further submittals to CCC. 

o GHD provided update presentation to Public/Board at April 18, 2018 BoC 
Meeting.  

o Consultant GHD directed to re-look at beach nourishment alternatives with 
emphasis on Living Shoreline options per CCC Incomplete Filing Status 
notification letter. GHD working with Program Manager to apply for Coastal 
Conservancy Grant for funds assist.  

o Project consultants GHD/ESA provided a project update and proposal for Board 
consideration at the April 17, 2019 Board meeting. Proposal was approved, 
GHD/ESA Team working on design, engineering and permitting. 
 

• PPH Launch Ramp Dredge Project: Initiated May 2016 
o Bid Docs 80% complete, awaiting final tech specs CDP submittal. Additional 

sediment testing was required for use of airport property.  
o Project approved for Disaster Relief Funding by FEMA/CalOES 
o FAA approved staging site within airport boundary. 
o Sediment removed will be beneficially re-used either at Surfers Beach or West 

Trail. 
o Airport ground lease for sediment staging has been approved. 
o Additional Wetlands Delineation study was found to be necessary, in progress. 
o Project Invitation for Bid advertised March 2019.  
o Single bid received is being evaluated by design/engineering team. 
o Single bidder revised bid lower, being brought to Board for consideration 

6/19/19. 
 

• PPH Launch Ramp and Restroom Replacement Project: Initiated Mar. 2017 
o Applied for $3.7M DBW Launch Ramp Facilities Grant for funding, Board 

approval application Jan 17, 2018. 



PAGE 3 OF 4 
 

 

o Met with DBW reps at launch ramp site on April 3, 2018 for a site needs 
evaluation, appears favorable for restroom, boat wash, rip/rap erosion repair, 
drainage trench and fish cleaning station replacement. 

o Discussed DBW Launch Ramp Facilities Grant again with DBW staff at site on 
October 24, 2018, award results have been delayed due to funding challenges. 
 

• PPH RV Park Restroom Project: Initiated Nov. 2017 
o Consultant working on survey and initial drawings. Met with City of Half Moon 

Bay and CCC on June 1st. 
o Discussed project with CCC on October 3, 2018.  
o HMB Study Session held Jan 8, 2019. 
o Met with City of Half Moon Bay and tenant on Jan 25, 2019, discussed public 

input from Study Session and potential preferred site location. 
o Met with John Mathews Architects April1, 2019 to put together alternative 

drawings for later consultation w/ City of HMB. 
o Preferred alternative to be considered at 6/19/19 Board meeting. 

 
• PPH Harbormaster’s Office Alterations Project: Initiated Oct. 2017  

o Project approved by Board at Dec ’17 meeting. Tech Specs, Bid Docs and 
permitting in progress. 

o Preliminary construction drawings currently at 90% completion, CCC/CDP 
Waiver approved. 

o Consultant and staff working on construction Invitation for Bid docs. 
 

• PPH Renovation of West Restroom/Shower/Laundry: Initiated Oct. 2017   
o Renovate tenant use building, adding public restrooms. Project will progress at 

Board direction after Master Plan has been vetted. 
  

• PPH West Trail Restroom and Pave Parking Lot: Initiated Mar. 2018 
o Project was on hold due to conflicting adjacent parking lot repair project. 
o Project will progress at Board direction after Master Plan has been vetted. 

  
• PPH Parking Lot B, C2, C3 Repair Project: Initiated May 2018 

o Slurry/stripe project schedule pushed out due to conflict with Sidewalk 
Expansion priority project. 

o Project planning will resume after policies for long term oversize vehicle use in 
lot have been vetted.  
  

• PPH Exterior Lighting Restoration Project: Initiated Apr.2018 
o Scope includes removal/replacement of all exterior lamp and lighting fixtures 

throughout Pillar Point Harbor. Project will proceed in accordance with Board 
direction after Master Plan has been vetted. 

 

 

 



PAGE 4 OF 4 
 

 

• Surfers Beach Sand Replenishment Pilot Project: Initiated Oct. 2015 
o Consultant working closely with Sanctuary staff to move forward, clarification 

request letters sent 11/7/17. Staff attended MBNMS Advisory Council meeting in 
Monterey December 15, 2017.  

o Staff and consultant hosted combined agency, meeting on site 2/26/18. USACE, 
Sanctuary, CCC, EPA reps in attendance.  

o Consultant Damitz met with USACE, NOAA and GFNMS on 5/3/18 to discuss 
monitoring strategy. 

o Consultant Damitz presented Project update at May 23, 2018 Board meeting. 
o DBW Grant approved, Board approved Grant Agreement at May 23, 2018 

meeting. 
o Engineering and Sediment Sampling/Analysis RFP submissions opened on 

8/14/18. Highest ranked respondents awarded contracts. 
o Technical Advisory Group to meet November 8, 2018. 
o Meeting with regulatory authorities to discuss permitting occurred January 31, 

2019.  
o Consultant Damitz provided Board update on April 2019. Tech Specs and 

permitting in progress. 
 

• PPH RV Parking Spaces Project: Initiated June 2019 
 

• PPH Habitat Restoration at West Trail Project: Initiated June 2019 
 

• PPH Coastal Trail Improvement Project: Initiated June 2019  
 

• OPM Dock 12 (13,14) / East Dock Replacement: Initiated Mar. 2018 
o Project design/engineering RFP has been completed. Project will proceed in 

accordance with Board direction and MOU terms.  
  

• Signage/Wayfinding Program Project: Initiated Jun. 2018 
o Project will include a programmatic plan for new aesthetically pleasing 

interpretive signage/wayfinding consistent with ADA guidelines. Project will 
proceed at Board direction after Master Plan has been vetted. 

 
 
 



  Board of Harbor Commissioners 
    

Sabrina Brennan, President 
Edmundo Larenas, Vice President 

Nancy Reyering, Secretary 
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer 

Virginia Chang Kiraly, Commissioner 
 

John Moren, Interim General Manager 
William Parkin, District Counsel 

San Mateo County Harbor District – Special Meeting Minutes – May 20, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

                         
San Mateo County Harbor District 
Board of Harbor Commissioners 

 

“To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially 
sound and environmentally pleasant marinas.” 

 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
 

May 20, 2019 
6:30 PM 

 
San Mateo County Harbor District 

Conference Room 
504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200 

El Granada, CA  94018 
 

A) Roll Call 6:34 PM       Commissioners Larenas, Mattusch, Reyering 
present.  

  Commissioners Brennan and Chang Kiraly absent. 
6:35 PM       Commissioner Brennan arrives. 

 

B)    1. Public Comments/Questions 
• Dan Augustine – Bay Green, Inc. – Commented regarding 

Bay Green’s pump out sanitation servicing, and the RFP for 
Pump-Out Services.  Stated that Bay Green, Inc. will not be 
submitting a response to the RFP. 

 

2. Commissioner Comments 
• Commissioner Reyering - Met with Martha Poyatos of 

LAFCo; Harbor District is doing well regarding transparency, 
particularly with regard to Districted Elections, receipt of SDLF 
Certificate of Excellence and Finance Policy. 

• Commissioner Larenas – Attended Climate Action 
Leadership forum, and a recent talk by Charles Lester, former 
Executive Director of the CA Coastal Commission. 

• Commissioner Mattusch – The Coastside Fishing Club 
recently added 80,000 baby salmon to the salmon pen, 
bringing the total to 240,000 salmon, which are acclimated, 
then released in the ocean.   
Mentioned that boaters are increasingly unhappy regarding 
the current state of the boat ramp.  



 

San Mateo County Harbor District – Special Meeting Minutes – May 20, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

• Commissioner Brennan – Will be attending the CSDA 
Legislative Days conference, which addresses issues specific 
to Special Districts. Attended the Surfrider Board meeting and 
discussed topics on safety training for surfers, water quality; 
discussion of possibly establishing Technical Advisory 
Committee to consider treatment of water before it enters the 
Harbor. 

 

C) Consent  
 

 ITEMS PULLED FROM CONSENT WILL BE HEARD AFTER 
DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

 
1. Bills and Claims (van Hoff) 

Recommendation: Review Pre-Approved Bills and Claims in the amount of 
$444,659.88. Pre-Approve $500,000 in Bills and Claims until next meeting. 
 

2. Minutes – Special Meeting April 11, 2019 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of April 11, 
2019. 
 

3. Minutes – Regular Meeting April 17, 2019 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Regular Meeting of April 17, 
2019. 
 

4. Minutes – Special Meeting May 7, 2019 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of May 7, 2019. 
 

5. Third Quarter 2018/19 Financial Report and Transfer Appropriations 
(van Hoff) 
Recommendation: Approve increase in budgetary appropriations  
(spending authority) of $265,000 in Operating Expenses and decrease in 
budgetary appropriations of $265,000 in Salaries and Benefits. 
 

6. Third Quarter – Fiscal Year 2018/19 (Q3-19) Rent Report (van Hoff) 
Information only. 
 

7. Monthly Capital Projects Update (Pyle) 
Receive and file. 
 

8. Labor and Employment Legal Services (van Hoff) 
Recommendation: Authorize the Interim General Manager to execute a 
Professional Services Agreement (PSA) for Labor and Employment Legal 
Services with the highest ranked firm, Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & 
Stewart, P.C. 
 

Motion: (Larenas/Brennan) approve Consent Items 1-8. 
All in favor.  
Motion passed. 



 

San Mateo County Harbor District – Special Meeting Minutes – May 20, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

D) Discussion 
 

9. Draft Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program 
(van Hoff) 
No comments or changes. 
 

10. Rates and Fees Effective July 1, 2019 and Subsequent Adjustments 
by Consumer Price Index (van Hoff) 
Motion: (Reyering/Larenas) Approve Rates and Fees amended to reflect 
increases of 3.9% which is equal to the annual average increase in the 
Consumer Price Index for the San Francisco Bay Area; and other changes 
as proposed except for the increase to the Recreational Vehicle parking fee. 
All in favor.  
Motion passed. 
 

11. Administrative Analyst - Communications Position Description  
(van Hoff) 
Motion: (Mattusch/Larenas) Approve the position of Administrative Analyst- 
Communications Position Description and update the District’s Salary 
Schedule with an hourly rate of $33.11 per hour for step one up to $44.38 
per hour for step seven in the same step increments as the Planner Analyst 
and Accounting Specialist positions. 
All in favor.  
Motion passed. 
 

E) Discussion/Action on Pulled Consent Items (if any) 
 

F) Future Agenda Items 
 

G) April Activity Reports: Interim General Manager/Operations, 
Administration  

 Information only. 
 

H) Standing Committee Meeting Summary 
• Finance Committee - April 30, 2019 

 

I) Adjourn 8:00 PM  
Motion: (Mattusch/Brennan) Adjourn meeting. 
All in favor.  
Motion passed. 
 

______________________  _________________________  
Debbie Gehret    Sabrina Brennan 
Deputy Secretary   President 



  Board of Harbor Commissioners 
    

Sabrina Brennan, President 
Edmundo Larenas, Vice President 

Nancy Reyering, Secretary 
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer 

Virginia Chang Kiraly, Commissioner 
 

John Moren, Interim General Manager 
William Parkin, District Counsel 

 

San Mateo County Harbor District – Special Meeting Minutes – June 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

San Mateo County Harbor District 
   Board of Harbor Commissioners 

 

“To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially 
sound and environmentally pleasant marinas.” 

 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
 

June 6, 2019 
1:00 PM – 5:00 PM 

 

San Mateo County Harbor District 
Conference Room 

504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200 
El Granada, CA  94018 

 
 

A.) Roll Call 1:00 PM  Commissioners Brennan, Larenas, Mattusch present. 
Commissioners Chang Kiraly & Reyering absent. 

 

B.) Public Comment Email submitted by T.J. Gauthier with suggestions for 
updated Mission Statement. 

 

C.) Discussion 
 

Board workshop on Annual Goals and Strategic Plan, and next steps. Topics that 
may be discussed, include but are not limited to: 

 
1 Welcome and Introduction 

 
2 Review and Finalize Annual Goals and Objectives  

o Discuss current budget priorities 
 

3 Mission, Vision and Values 
o Evaluate current mission statement and consider changes 
o Edit draft vision statement developed during strategic planning process 

in 2018 
o Begin developing district values 

 
4 Discuss Next Steps in the Annual and Strategic Planning Processes 

o Consultant to integrate Annual Plan with the Strategic Plan, develop 
draft mission, vision, values statements and review with staff 



 

San Mateo County Harbor District – Special Meeting Minutes – June 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

o Board workshop to review draft strategic plan, and mission, vision, and 
values 

o Staff develops annual and long-term implementation plans from the 
Strategic Plan 

o Public review and comment of the draft Strategic Plan 
o Consultant integrates public comments and reviews with staff 
o Board review, comments on, and adopts final Strategic Plan 

 
Consultant Martin Rauch led discussion of topics listed above. Consultant 
is to bring back updates to Goals and ideas for Mission and Value 
Statement. Staff was directed to add list below to the Capital  
Improvement Program. 

 
 1)  Adjust all Oyster Point Marina Dock Replacements one year back.  

2) Add Pillar Point Harbor Habitat Restoration Project 
3) Add Pillar Point Harbor Electric Vehicle Parking Places Project 
4) Add Pillar Point Harbor RV Restroom Project 
5) Add Pillar Point Harbor Coastal Trail Improvements 
 
 

D.) Adjourn 4:00 PM 
 

 
 
_____________________________  __________________________ 
Debbie Gehret      Sabrina Brennan 
Deputy Secretary     President 



 

 

 

 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: Julie van Hoff, Director of Administrative Services 

Boomer Henthorne, Accounting Manager 
   
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2017/18 Audited Basic Financial Statements 
 
 
Recommendation:  
Receive 2017/18 San Mateo County Harbor District Audited Basic Financial 
Statements.  
 
Policy Implications: 

• California Code of Regulations 1131.2 describes minimum audit requirements 
for Special Districts. 

• Harbors and Navigation Code §6062 requires Harbor Districts to complete an 
annual audit by a licensed certified public accountant. 

 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status: 
None 
 
Alternatives Considered: 
None 
 
Background/Discussion: 
Summary: San Mateo County Harbor District independent auditor Maze & Associates 
has submitted audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 
(FY 2017/18). These financial statements were prepared by District staff and audited 
by Maze & Associates. The audited financials, which include the audit opinion and 
required communications are provided as attachments to this staff report.   
 
 



 

PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

Audit Opinion: 
Maze & Associates has provided a “clean” unmodified opinion on the District’s 
financial statements. The financial statements were found to be free of material 
misstatement and fairly represent the District’s financial position, results of 
operations, and cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States. The audit affirms the continuing stable financial 
position of the District and the accuracy of our year-end financial statements.   
 
Financial Highlights:  

• The District’s financial statements reflect a net position of $39,986,759 in FY 
2017/18, which was an increase of $2,144,741 compared to $37,842,018 in 
FY 2016/17. The increase included a $1,137,507 prior period adjustment 
associated with the implementation of Government Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement 75- Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB).  

• The District’s operating revenues decreased by $40,666 or .9%.  
• The District’s operating expenses increased by $1,878,598 or 21.3%, mainly 

due to increased repair and maintenance cost at Pillar Point Harbor to 
demolish Romeo Pier. 

• Aggregate net pension liabilities are $5,012,108 and net OPEB liabilities are 
$2,532,946. 
 

Memorandum of Internal Control: 
As a part of the independent audit, Maze & Associates provided a Memorandum of 
Internal Control to the Board of Commissioners. The one internal control issue from 
FY 2016/17 related to Accounts Payable processing has been addressed. No new 
matters were identified. 
 
The District’s auditing firm, Maze & Associates, will be attending the board meeting 
on June 19, 2019 to answer questions that the Board may have about the report. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Presentation by Maze & Associates 
2. FY 2017/18 Audited Basic Financial Statements by Maze & Associates 
3. Memorandum of Internal Control by Maze & Associates 
 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/e78d32434/2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_Results_PP.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/c419bd480/2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_BFS_2018.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/81bff2bb4/2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_FS_MOIC.pdf


2019-20 BUDGET 

 

 

 
 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 

 

FINAL 2019/20 OPERATING BUDGET AND  
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

 

 

Board of Commissioners: 
 
Sabrina Brennan, President   Edmundo Larenas, Vice President   
Nancy Reyering, Secretary   Virginia Chang Kiraly, Commissioner 
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer 
  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 2 - 

 

INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Budget Snapshot ................................................................................................................ 4 
Budget Process .................................................................................................................. 4 
Budget Report Presentation Changes from Prior Fiscal Year .............................................. 5 
Priorities and Issues ............................................................................................................ 5 

About Us ................................................................................................................................ 6 
Where is San Mateo County Harbor District? ...................................................................... 7 
Our History ......................................................................................................................... 8 
San Mateo County Harbor District Today ............................................................................ 9 

SECTION ONE- 2019/20 OPERATING BUDGET ...................................................................10 
Operating Budget at a Glance ...............................................................................................11 

Budgetary Highlights ..........................................................................................................12 
Short-Term Factors Influencing Decisions .........................................................................13 
Public and Enterprise Services ..........................................................................................14 
Organizational Chart ..........................................................................................................15 
Staffing Authorization .........................................................................................................16 

Budget Schedules .................................................................................................................17 
Basis of Budgeting vs. Accounting .....................................................................................18 
Three-Year Comparative Financial Schedule .....................................................................19 
District Revenue ................................................................................................................20 
District Expenditures ..........................................................................................................21 

Budget by Department ...........................................................................................................22 
Department Summary ........................................................................................................23 
Administration ....................................................................................................................25 
Pillar Point Harbor ..............................................................................................................26 
Oyster Point Marina ...........................................................................................................27 

SECTION TWO- FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM ....................................28 
Five-Year Forecasts ...........................................................................................................29 
Five-Year CIP Detail ..........................................................................................................30 
2019/20 CIP- Oyster Point Marina .....................................................................................32 
2019/20 CIP- Pillar Point Harbor ........................................................................................32 
CIP Appropriations & Estimated Encumbrance Re-appropriations .....................................35 

SECTION THREE- POLICIES & DEFINITIONS ......................................................................36 
District Policies and Guidelines ..........................................................................................37 
Debt Management Policy, Capacity, and Issuance ............................................................38 
Definitions & Abbreviations ................................................................................................39 

 

 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 3 - 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 4 - 

 

Budget Snapshot 
The District continues to strive “To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, 
financially sound and environmentally pleasant marinas.” The Harbor Commission continues to 
work toward the development of long-range plans including an infrastructure restoration plan, 
strategic plan, and a master plan. The District is providing information to the general public and 
constituents on the District’s role in stewardship of Pillar Point Harbor and Oyster Point Marina 
through the implementation of a social media presence and outreach programs. On March 16, 
2018 the District received a “Transparency Certificate of Excellence” from the Special District 
Leadership Foundation (SDLF) in recognition of its outstanding efforts to promote transparency 
and good governance. 

The goal of the District’s Budget Document is to ensure a compliant and transparent process that 
will promote stakeholder confidence and trust. The District’s financial decisions consider 
sustainability and fiscal responsibility to anticipate and prepare for future funding requirements as 
well as unforeseen and unexpected emergencies, disasters, and other events. 

This year, the District is fortunate to present an operating budget that includes sufficient revenue 
to fund the 2019/20 Fiscal Year (July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020) expenditures and provide 
$3,655,000 toward increasing the Working Capital balance. Over the next five years, annual 
average contributions to the Working Capital is projected at $3,160,250 (per year).  

The District updates the five-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) annually. This five-year 
plan presents projects and associated funding for assets including land acquisition, construction, 
purchase of software, preventative maintenance needs, and replacement of vessels and vehicles. 
For Fiscal Years 2018/19 through 2023/24 (current year projection plus five-year CIP) the 
District’s funding needs for the CIP is estimated at $48,355,385. The funding for the CIP is 
expected to come from $33,528,620 in Working Capital balance, $8,811,500 in grants, and 
$6,015,265 in additional grant funding, debt financing, increases in revenues, and/or decreases 
in expenditures. Otherwise, projects may need to be postponed until sufficient funding is secured.  

Budget Process 
The District’s budget process is outlined in Policy 4.9.1. and Policy 4.9.2 of the Policy Handbook. 
Adoption of the Preliminary Budget and Final Budget is governed by Harbors and Navigation 
Code Section 6093 (et. seq.). 

Policy 4.9.1 outlines the District’s process for preparing its annual budget. The preparation begins 
mid-year (fiscal year) for the succeeding year’s budget. District Finance staff begins the current 
fiscal year’s mid-year performance to budget analysis. The Harbor Commission reviews the mid-
year budget report in February. Having reviewed the current year’s performance and identified 
budget issues and goals for the next fiscal year, staff prepares a first draft preliminary budget 
which is introduced to the Harbor Commission at a public meeting in March and a final preliminary 
budget is adopted in April. The Harbor Commission publishes a notice pursuant to Section 6061 
of the Government Code stating that the adopted preliminary budget is available for public review. 
The public has at least 30 days to review and provide comment prior to the adoption of the final 
budget. The final budget is normally adopted in June.  

Policy 4.9.2 establishes the level of appropriations authority for the District for a fiscal year. An 
appropriation authorizes the District to spend District resources. The Harbor Commissioners’ 
approval of appropriations places a maximum limit of the amount of money that can be spent in 
any given Fiscal Year within the following expenditure classifications: 1) Salary and Benefits, 2) 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 5 - 

 

Operating Expenditures, 3) Non-Operating Expenditures, and 4) Capital Projects. The Harbor 
Commission may approve revisions to the appropriated amounts during the fiscal year.  

The District is exempt from preparing a Board approved appropriation limit, set forth in the 
provisions of the California Constitutional Article XIII B, due to the provisions of Section 9 (c) “this 
section shall not apply to a district which existed on January 1, 1978, and that did not as of the 
1977-78 fiscal year levy an ad valorem tax on property in excess of twelve and one-half cents 
($0.125) per one hundred dollars of assessed value.” 

Budget Report Presentation Changes from Prior Fiscal Year 
Beginning in Fiscal Year 2019/20 (FY 2019/20), the District created two distinct sections of the 
Budget Document: 1) the Operating Budget; and 2) the CIP. The Operating Budget presents on-
going activities of the District for the Fiscal Year period. CIP presents a plan for current and future 
capital asset costs and associated funding. Capital Improvements are typically carried out and 
paid for over several years. Consequently, a scheduling tool is required that forecasts anticipated 
needs and available funding several years into the future.  District Policy 4.7.1 defines capital 
assets as assets with a cost of $10,000 or greater and with a useful life of five (5) years or more. 

The District also made a procedural change to allow capital projects, grant-funded projects, or 
one-time funded multi-year projects to automatically rollover any open purchase orders 
(encumbrances) and appropriations associated with those projects. The Capital Improvement 
Program section of this budget includes June 30, 2019 estimated encumbrance balances to be 
re-appropriated (page 35). The actual amount re-appropriated versus the estimated amount will 
vary.  

The District’s accounts and transactions are tracked on an accrual basis, which is the basis of 
accounting under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for Enterprise Funds. Many 
other government entities track some or all accounts and transactions on a modified accrual basis 
under GAAP for Governmental Funds. Enterprise Fund financial statements report Net Position 
and focus on long-term economic resources while Governmental Fund financial statements report 
Fund Balance and focus on current economic resources. While the District’s budget focuses on 
current economic resources, Fund Balance is not reported in the District’s financial system 
because it does not use a Governmental Fund.  To clarify and track the appropriate resources 
available, the nomenclature in the budget document has been changed from Reserves to Working 
Capital.  

The District has been presenting public versus enterprise functional detail in the budget 
document. Now that the Operating Budget and CIP have been separated, the allocation of 
property tax revenue among the Administration Department, Pillar Point Harbor, and Oyster Point 
Marina has been adjusted and simplified (page 14).  

Priorities and Issues  
The Mission Statement of the San Mateo County Harbor District is: “To assure the public is 
provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially sound and environmentally pleasant 
marinas.”  The District is working with a consultant to complete a list of District goals and to update 
the Mission Statement. This document will be updated when the Mission Statement and goals are 
adopted by the Harbor Commission. The CIP Section of this document includes the Harbor 
Commission’s priorities as it relates to District projects.  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 6 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About Us 
 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 7 - 

 

Where is San Mateo County Harbor District? 
The San Mateo County Harbor District is in Northern California and manages and operates (A) 
Pillar Point Harbor located on the Pacific Ocean in the unincorporated area of Princeton, and (B) 
Oyster Point Marina/Park on San Francisco Bay located in the City of South San Francisco. 

 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 8 - 

 

Our History 
The San Mateo County Harbor District is an independent special district created by San Mateo 
County in 1933 by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors who established the entire area of the 
County of San Mateo as the District’s boundaries.  

In 1948, the District created a harbor of safe refuge for the fishing fleet at Pillar Point per the State 
of California Harbors and Navigation Code Section 70.5. A federal breakwater was built by the 
Army Corps of Engineers in 1959-61, with an extension in 1967. The District constructed the 
harbor’s docks and berths in the 1980s, along with a second, inner breakwater to provide further 
protection. This later work was financed by loans from the California Department of Boating and 
Waterways (DBW), now a Division of the State Parks Department. 

 

1943 Aerial View of Pillar Point Harbor 

In 1977, the District took over operation of Oyster Point Marina/Park from the City of South  
San Francisco. A Joint Powers Agreement was executed, giving the District authority to improve 
and complete construction of a recreational marina. Full build-out was accomplished during the 
1980s.  

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 9 - 

 

San Mateo County Harbor District Today 
The San Mateo County Harbor District operates two harbors.  Pillar Point Harbor is located in the 
unincorporated community of Princeton in Half Moon Bay approximately twenty-five miles south 
of the City of San Francisco. The harbor is a 369-berth commercial fishing harbor that also 
supports sport fishing and recreational boating.  

 

Oyster Point Marina/Park consists of a 408-berth recreational marina, public beach, and bayside 
park located in the City of South San Francisco. The District operates Oyster Point Marina/Park 
under a Memorandum of Understanding with South San Francisco, which owns the facility. 

 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 10 - 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

SECTION ONE- 2019/20 OPERATING 
BUDGET 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 11 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operating Budget at a Glance 
  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 12 - 

 

Budgetary Highlights 
The District’s revenue streams continue to outpace on-going expenditures. The Operating Budget 
for Fiscal Year (FY) 2019/20 is projected to add $3,655,000 to the working capital balance. 
Working capital is used to fund the Capital Improvement Program as well as unforeseen and 
unexpected emergencies, disasters, and other events. 

 

• Operating Revenues are budgeted to increase by 1.35% due to projected inflationary 
increases in lease income, and rates, and fees. 

• Non-Operating Revenues are budgeted to increase by 1.61% due to an anticipated 
increase in Property Tax Revenue of 2.03% offset by a decrease in interest income due 
to the spending of cash balances. 

• Salaries/Wages and Benefit Expenditures are projected to increase by 6.42% due to 
anticipated filling of currently vacant positions along with salary/wage and benefit cost 
increases. 

• Non-Personnel Expenditures are budgeted to decrease by 1.05%. This is mainly due to 
an anticipated decrease in legal settlement costs. 

• The FY 2018/19 projection includes $850,000 in biennial election costs and a one-time 
$2,300,000 payment to the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) 
to fund a portion of the long-term unfunded liability. The FY 2019/20 Operating Budget 
does not anticipate any one-time/biennial expenditures. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Operating Revenues 4,441,000$      4,382,000$      1.35%
Non-Operating Revenues 7,564,000        7,444,000        1.61%
Total Revenues 12,005,000      11,826,000      1.51%
Salaries/Wages/Benefits Expenditures 5,270,000        4,952,000        6.42%
Non-Personnel Expenditures 3,080,000        3,112,700        -1.05%
Total Expenditures 8,350,000        8,064,700        3.54%
Total Revenues less Expenditures 3,655,000        3,761,300        -2.83%
One-time Revenues(Expenditures) -                   (3,150,000)       -100.00%
Working Capital Increase 3,655,000$      611,300$         497.91%

Comparison to 2018/19 Projections2019/20 Operating Budget Summary



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 13 - 

 

Short-Term Factors Influencing Decisions 
Short-term factors influencing the District’s decisions include impact of outside economic and 
legislative factors, environmental issues, and aging infrastructure. 

Economic Factors: 

The Public Employees’ Pension is managed by California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS). As of June 30, 2018, the District reported a net pension liability (NPL) of $5,012,108. 
Multiple variables (e.g. expected rate of return on investments, expected inflationary rates, 
average life-span, and expected number of vested employees) impact the calculation of the NPL. 
The District paid an additional $2,300,000 to fund the unfunded long-term retirement liability in FY 
2018/19. CalPERS retirement costs continue to grow as expected rates of return decrease. It is 
difficult to predict the impact that economic and market conditions may have on the NPL and 
future retirement costs of the District. 

The District has one month-to-month lease for a restaurant in the “tenant row” building at Pillar 
Point. Short-term agreements may impact future revenues. 

State & Federal Budgets & Actions: 

Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E) filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in wake of the 
billions of dollars in liabilities associated with the 2017 and 2018 California wildfires. In addition, 
a nuclear power plant will be decommissioned. There is a potential that the District’s utility costs 
may increase substantially while unitary property taxes decrease. For FY 2019/20, Property and 
Liability insurance rates increased due to the fires. 

In addition, the State approved a $4 billion housing bond in November. Lack of affordable housing 
may affect the District’s ability to attract and retain qualified candidates. According to the 2018 
State Department of Housing and Urban Development report, $82,200 for a single individual is 
categorized as low income. Housing costs continue to increase throughout the area.  

Environmental Issues: 

The District is investigating, developing, and advocating for the implementation of strategies to 
mitigate the impacts of climate change on District-managed properties. Projects that are included 
in the Five-Year Capital Improvement Program section (pages 28-35) and are associated with 
climate change include the West Trail Shoreline Protection and Restoration of Surfers Beach. 

Other Factors: 

The District’s Infrastructure is aging and will require replacement.  For fiscal year ended June 30, 
2018 the District had approximately $45 million in depreciable assets with accumulated 
depreciation of $28 million. About 62% of the District’s total assets have been depreciated. In FY 
2017/18 the District recorded $1,108,660 in depreciation expense in its Audited Financial 
Statements. The five-year CIP section of this budget document includes a plan to replace a portion 
of the District’s infrastructure. In the event that the District meets the fairly aggressive replacement 
projections, additional grants would need to be identified and/or debt will need to be issued in FY 
2021/22 to meet the cash flow requirements. Otherwise, some projects may need to be deferred, 
revenues increased and/or expenditures decreased.  

In 2018, the District entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the City of South 
San Francisco (SSF) to manage the Oyster Point Marina property owned by SSF. The MOU’s 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 14 - 

 

initial term is fifteen years. The MOU will automatically renew for two additional periods of ten 
years each, unless notice is given by the District to SSF to discontinue the MOU. The MOU 
requires that the District make specific Capital Improvements during specified timelines.  These 
projects are included in the Capital Improvement Program Section (pages 28-35). 

Public and Enterprise Services 
The District’s transactions are accounted for in an Enterprise Fund which includes three 
departments- Administration, Pillar Point Harbor (PPH), and Oyster Point Marina (OPM). PPH 
and OPM generate operating revenue from berth rentals, liveaboard fees, boat launch fees, 
property rentals and permit fees. This revenue is used to offset costs associated with these 
activities.  

All District property is for the enjoyment of the public. In addition to providing the public with 
boating facilities, the District provides coastal trail access and maintenance, beach access, public 
fishing piers, park and landscape maintenance, public parking, trash removal, bay trail access 
and maintenance, search and rescue operations, toxic environmental clean-up, public restrooms 
and public outreach and education.  These public services and activities serve a broad segment 
of San Mateo County’s population and visitors.  

The District receives Property Tax Revenue from San Mateo County property owners. Property 
Tax Revenue is used to fund the Administration Department, any operating deficits of PPH and 
OPM, and a portion of the Capital Improvement Program. For FY 2019/20, the District estimates 
that $640,000 will be used for OPM public operations, $745,000 for PPH public operations, 
$2,245,000 ($275,000 funded by Interest Income) for administrative functions, and $3,655,000 
towards funding the Capital Improvement Program for a total of $7,285,000 of anticipated 
Property Tax Revenue. 

 

 

Fiscal Year 2019/20 Capital Asset projected costs (net of funding and grants) of $7,279,800 (detail 
on pages 28-35) includes funding for projects that are for the benefit of the public such as the 
improvements to Pillar Point Harbor’s Fishing Pier, West Trail erosion protection, improvements 
to public parking lots, and Surfers Beach restoration.   



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 15 - 

 

Organizational Chart 

 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 16 - 

 

 

Staffing Authorization 

 

 

 

Actual
Revised 
Budget

Final 
Budget *Status as of

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 5/22/2019

General Manager 1               1               1               Active
Director of Operations 1               1               1               Active
Director of Admin. Services 1               1               1               Active
Accountant 1               1               1               Vacant
Accounting Specialist -                 1               1               Vacant
Accounting Tech I & II 1               1               1               Active
Accounting Manager 1               1               1               Active
Administrative Analyst 1               1               1               Vacant
Administrative Assistant I & II 2               2               2               Active
Deputy Secretary 1               1               1               Active
Planner Analyst 1               1               1               Vacant
Project Coordinator -                 1               1               Vacant

11             13             13             

Harbormaster -                 1               1               Vacant
Assistant Harbormaster 1               1               1               Active
Deputy Harbormaster A&B 9               10             10             8 Active/2 Vacant
Deputy Harbormaster/Training Officer -                 1               1               Active
Harbor Worker B 2               2               2               Active
Harbor Worker C (lead maint.) 1               - -                 Deleted
Accounting Tech I & II 1               1               1               Active

14             16             16             

Harbormaster -                 1               1               Active
Assistant Harbormaster 1               1               1               Active
Deputy Harbormaster A&B 6               6               6               5 Active/1 Vacant
Harbor Worker B 2               2               2               Active
Harbor Worker C (lead maint.) 1               -                 -                 Deleted
Accounting Tech I & II 1               1               1               Active

11             11             11             

Total Full-Time Equivalent Positions 36             40             40             

Changes from 2017/18 approved positions are highlighted in gray.
* Active positions are funded and filled. Vacant positions are funded but not filled.
 Deleted positions are not funded and not filled.

Total Oyster Point Marina

Classification/Position Title
Administration Department

Total Administration

Pillar Point Harbor

Total Pillar Point Harbor

Oyster Point Marina



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 17 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Budget Schedules 
  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 18 - 

 

Basis of Budgeting vs. Accounting 
The basis of budgeting and accounting refers to the method of recognition of revenue and 
expenses in financial and budgetary reporting. The District’s budgets are prepared on a modified 
cash flow basis which projects the District’s cash inflows and outflows over the course of a fiscal 
year (July 1 through June 30) excluding physical and intangible assets such as depreciation.  

Revenues are recognized as they are received and accounted for while obligations for 
expenditures are recognized when a commitment is made through an encumbered purchase 
order or actual expense.  

The District’s accounts and transactions are tracked on an accrual basis, which is the basis of 
accounting under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for Enterprise Funds. An 
Enterprise Fund is used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business enterprises—where the intent of the governing body is that the costs 
(expenses, including depreciation) of goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis 
are financed or recovered primarily through user charges.  

Under this method, all assets and liabilities associated with operations are included on the 
balance sheet, revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded at the time 
commitments are incurred. Depreciation and amortization are handled differently in budgetary 
reporting and in financial reporting. In budgetary reporting, depreciation and amortization are 
excluded, and the repayment of the principal on debt as expense is included. In financial reporting, 
depreciation and amortization are included, and the repayment of the principal on debt as 
expense is excluded. This table illustrates the differences between the budget and accounting 
basis described above.  

 BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
Basis Modified Cash Flow Accrual 
Revenue Recognized when received and 

accounted for 
Recorded when earned 

Obligations 
(Expenditures/ 
Expense) 

Recognized when a commitment is 
made through encumbrance or 
expense 

Recorded at the time 
commitments are incurred 

Depreciation and 
Amortization 

Excluded Included 

Repayment of 
Principal on Debt 

Included Excluded 

 

 

  



2019-20 BUDGET - 19 - 

 

Three-Year Comparative Financial Schedule 

 

Revised 
Budget Actual

Revised 
Budget Projected

Preliminary 
Budget Final Budget

Operating Revenues:
Berth / Slip Fees 3,449,216$   3,257,846$   3,327,000$   3,261,000$   3,427,000$   3,320,000$   
Leases and CAPs 589,000        631,891        611,000        552,000        552,000        552,000        
Long-Term Lot /Launch Fees 245,706        238,085        250,000        250,000        250,000        250,000        
Events 30,000          39,227          52,000          22,000          22,000          22,000          
Grants & Reimbursements 110,000        119,088        475,000        200,000        200,000        200,000        
Other Operating Revenue 100,000        96,707          100,000        97,000          97,000          97,000          

Total Operating Revenues 4,523,922     4,382,844     4,815,000     4,382,000     4,548,000     4,441,000     

Non-Operating Revenues:
Property Taxes 6,500,000     7,006,800     7,140,000     7,140,000     7,285,000     7,285,000     
Interest Income 53,300          235,347        186,245        300,000        275,000        275,000        
Misc. Rev./Exp. 10,000          29,428          10,000          4,000            4,000            4,000            
Grants & Reimbursements -                119,104        -                -                -                -                

Total Non-Operating Revenues 6,563,300     7,390,679     7,336,245     7,444,000     7,564,000     7,564,000     

Total Revenues 11,087,222$ 11,773,523$ 12,151,245$ 11,826,000$ 12,112,000$ 12,005,000$ 

Operating Expenditures:
Salaries/Wages/Benefits Expenditures

Salaries & Wages 3,140,514$   2,950,445$   3,306,141$   3,200,000$   3,415,000$   3,415,000$   
Benefits-Current Employees 1,638,759     1,477,147     1,727,008     1,599,000     1,702,000     1,702,000     
Benefits-Retired/Former Emp 190,209        147,951        152,157        153,000        153,000        153,000        

Salary/Wages/Benefits Sub-total 4,969,482     4,575,543     5,185,306     4,952,000     5,270,000     5,270,000     

Non-Personnel Expenditures
Payments to Other Agencies 69,000          59,037          70,000          70,000          65,000          65,000          
Utilities 355,000        415,357        506,000        350,000        438,000        438,000        
Contract Services 423,000        565,647        611,500        580,000        623,000        623,000        
Legal 484,000        333,458        484,400        550,000        505,000        505,000        
Property/Liability Insurance 114,000        92,937          114,200        108,000        112,000        112,000        
Repairs & Maint- Routine 209,500        130,448        277,700        278,400        294,000        294,000        
Office/Equipment Rentals 91,500          91,500          98,400          94,800          100,000        100,000        
Information Technology 236,000        142,094        167,700        108,000        118,000        118,000        
Financial Service Fees 61,200          62,985          73,300          73,700          78,000          78,000          
Operating Expenses 203,250        191,161        184,600        213,100        215,000        215,000        
Travel and Training 57,000          53,454          56,300          46,000          53,000          53,000          
Advertising and Promotion 16,000          15,553          20,400          30,400          30,000          30,000          
Personnel Administration 28,000          2,953            17,100          39,500          42,000          42,000          
Vessel Destruction 110,000        146,861        200,000        200,000        200,000        200,000        
Memberships & Subscriptions 10,000          17,541          20,300          32,400          35,000          35,000          
Claims Settlement 10,000          -                275,000        275,000        100,000        100,000        
Bad Debts 50,000          79,118          101,600        57,400          62,000          62,000          
Miscellaneaous Expend. 12,250          14,252          16,700          6,000            10,000          10,000          

Non-Personnel Expend Sub-total 2,539,700     2,414,356     3,295,200     3,112,700     3,080,000     3,080,000     

Total Operating Expenditures 7,509,182$   6,989,899$   8,480,506$   8,064,700$   8,350,000$   8,350,000$   

Revenues less Expenditures 3,578,040$   4,783,624$   3,670,739$   3,761,300$   3,762,000$   3,655,000$   

One-time Revenues(Expenditures)
Election Costs (every other year) -$              (830,000)$     (850,000)$     -$              -$              
Non-Operating Grants & Reimbursements -                1,000,000     -                -                -                
CalPERS Liability Payment -                -                (2,300,000)    (2,300,000)    -                -                

3,578,040$   4,783,624$   1,540,739$   611,300$      3,762,000$   3,655,000$   

Fiscal Year 2017/18 Fiscal Year 2018/19  Fiscal Year 2019/20

Increase(Decrease) to 
Working Capital



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 20 - 

 

District Revenue 

 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 21 - 

 

District Expenditures 

 

The above chart shows the percentage of expenditures spent on Salaries/Wages & Benefits 
and Non-Personnel Expenditures for each of the three District departments. 

 

 

 



2019-20 BUDGET - 22 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Budget by Department 
  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 23 - 

 

Department Summary 
 

Administration Department- 

The Administration Department includes five elected Harbor Commissioners and 13 full-time 
positions and are responsible for the following duties and tasks: 

Elected Harbor Commissioners: 

• Adopts a Mission Statement and establishes goals, objectives, and priorities for the 
District. 

• Appoints, evaluates, and terminates General Manager. 
• Adopts an annual budget. 
• Adopts ordinances to provide legal foundation of District operations. 
• Represents the District, stakeholders, and general public. 
• Adopts policies. 

 

General Manager:

• Plans, organizes, coordinates and directs the activities of the District.  
• Prepares, reviews, and makes recommendations regarding issues for Board 

consideration and action. 
• Appoints, evaluates and terminates management staff. 
• Oversees preparation of annual budget. 
• Provides direction and leadership by setting organizational standards and 

objectives. 
  

Administration & Operations: 

• Responsible for administrative, business, and fiscal functions, including 
finance/accounting, human resources, purchasing, information technology, risk 
management, contract management, public information, grant management, and real 
property management. 

Operations: 

• Responsible for operations and maintenance of the District’s two marinas, develops and 
implements sound management approaches for the publicly owned land and facilities 
under lease, and generates optimal utilization of marine recreational operations and 
activities at the marinas. 

• Plans and coordinates capital projects, maintenance work, and environmental 
compliance reporting. 

• Manages construction projects.      

 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 24 - 

 

 
Department Summary- continued 

Pillar Point Harbor Department and Oyster Point Marina Department- 

The Pillar Point Harbor Department includes 16 full-time positions and the Oyster Point Marina 
Department includes 11 full-time positions and are responsible for the following at their respective 
locations: 

• Serve the public by providing berthing and support for pleasure and commercial craft.  
• Ensure that the harbor/marina is maintained in safe and clean condition. 
• Act as a liaison with outside agencies including but not limited to California Division of 

Boating and Waterways, U.S. Coast Guard, local law enforcement, yacht clubs, and 
other groups who may use District facilities. 

• Plan, evaluate, and direct the maintenance of docks, piers, vehicles, vessels and 
equipment.  

• Respond to emergency and/or severe weather situations to protect the public, staff, 
vessels, District assets, and other property as necessary. 

• Enforce District ordinances and policies, and State of California boating laws. 
• Provide information and other customer service to tenants, lessees and harbor visitors.  

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 25 - 

 

Administration 

 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 26 - 

 

Pillar Point Harbor 

  

Revised 
Budget Actual

Revised 
Budget Projected

Preliminary 
Budget Final Budget

Operating Revenues:
Berth / Slip Fees 2,069,118$   1,931,592$   1,950,000$   1,950,000$   2,009,000$   2,009,000$   
Leases and CAPs 450,000        461,374        509,000        430,000        430,000        430,000        
Long-Term Lot /Launch Fees 232,118        215,596        234,378        234,000        234,000        234,000        
Events 30,000          39,977          50,000          20,000          20,000          20,000          
Grants & Reimbursements 55,000          76,587          138,300        138,300        138,300        138,300        
Other Operating Revenue 67,000          64,993          74,100          67,000          67,000          67,000          

Total Operating Revenues 2,903,236     2,790,119     2,955,778     2,839,300     2,898,300     2,898,300     

Non-Operating Revenues:
Miscellaneous Revenues -                3,150            10,000          4,000            4,000            4,000            
Grants & Reimbursements -                116,612        -                -                -                -                

Total Non-Operating Revenues -                119,762        10,000          4,000            4,000            4,000            

Total Revenues 2,903,236$   2,909,881$   2,965,778$   2,843,300$   2,902,300$   2,902,300$   

Operating Expenditures:
Salaries/Wages/Benefits Expenditures

Salaries & Wages 1,339,424$   1,203,533$   1,327,486$   1,313,000$   1,357,000$   1,357,000$   
Benefits-Current Employees 764,970        667,421        774,065        722,000        746,000        746,000        
Benefits-Retired/Former Emp 84,897          74,328          77,000          77,000          77,000          77,000          

Salary/Benefits Sub-total 2,189,291     1,945,282     2,178,551     2,112,000     2,180,000     2,180,000     

Non-Personnel Expenditures
Utilities 237,000        268,515        336,200        270,000        284,000        284,000        
Contract Services 133,000        246,615        184,000        200,000        210,000        210,000        
Legal 33,000          95,655          92,000          340,000        307,000        307,000        
Property/Liability Insurance 56,000          23,377          23,300          26,000          27,000          27,000          
Repairs & Maint- Routine 120,000        67,103          169,100        200,000        210,000        210,000        
Information Technology 60,000          48,087          40,600          32,000          34,000          34,000          
Financial Service Fees 37,800          34,461          43,900          46,000          48,000          48,000          
Operating Expenses 102,300        106,956        104,700        128,000        134,000        134,000        
Travel and Training 16,000          10,979          4,700            12,000          13,000          13,000          
Advertising and Promotion 5,000            8,214            8,000            20,000          21,000          21,000          
Personnel Administration 8,000            222               500               3,000            3,000            3,000            
Vessel Destruction 55,000          96,691          138,300        138,300        138,300        138,300        
Memberships & Subscriptions 500               338               400               2,000            2,000            2,000            
Bad Debts 25,000          52,066          90,200          32,000          34,000          34,000          
Miscellaneaous Expend. 9,500            6,005            500               2,000            2,000            2,000            

Non-Personnel Expend Sub-total 898,100        1,065,284     1,236,400     1,451,300     1,467,300     1,467,300     

Total Expenditures 3,087,391$   3,010,566$   3,414,951$   3,563,300$   3,647,300$   3,647,300$   

Revenues less Expenditures (184,155)$     (100,685)$     (449,173)$     (720,000)$     (745,000)$     (745,000)$     

One-time Revenues(Expenditures)
Non-Operating Grants & Reimbursements -                1,000,000     -                -                -                
CalPERS Liability Payment -                -                (938,400)       (938,400)       -                -                

(184,155)$     (100,685)$     (387,573)$     (1,658,400)$  (745,000)$     (745,000)$     

Fiscal Year 2017/18 Fiscal Year 2018/19  Fiscal Year 2019/20

Increase(Decrease) to 
Working Capital



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 27 - 

 

Oyster Point Marina 

 

 

Revised 
Budget Actual

Revised 
Budget Projected

Preliminary 
Budget Final Budget

Operating Revenues:
Berth / Slip Fees 1,380,098$   1,326,254$   1,377,000$   1,311,000$   1,418,000$   1,311,000$   
Leases and CAPs 139,000        170,517        102,000        122,000        122,000        122,000        
Long-Term Lot /Launch Fees 13,588          22,489          15,622          16,000          16,000          16,000          
Events -                (750)              2,000            2,000            2,000            2,000            
Grants & Reimbursements 55,000          42,501          336,700        61,700          61,700          61,700          
Other Operating Revenue 33,000          31,714          25,900          30,000          30,000          30,000          

Total Operating Revenues 1,620,686     1,592,725     1,859,222     1,542,700     1,649,700     1,542,700     

Non-Operating Revenues:
Misc. Rev./(Exp.) 5,000            (12,753)         -                -                -                -                
Grants & Reimbursements -                2,492            -                -                -                -                

Total Non-Operating Revenues 5,000            (10,261)         -                -                -                -                

Total Revenues 1,625,686$   1,582,464$   1,859,222$   1,542,700$   1,649,700$   1,542,700$   

Operating Expenditures:
Salaries/Wages/Benefits Expenditures

Salaries & Wages 880,624$      890,767$      978,258$      896,000$      916,000$      916,000$      
Benefits-Current Employees 418,571        419,935        477,369        421,000        431,000        431,000        
Benefits-Retired/Former Emp 80,329          57,664          58,522          59,000          59,000          59,000          

Salary/Benefits Sub-total 1,379,524     1,368,366     1,514,149     1,376,000     1,406,000     1,406,000     

Non-Personnel Expenditures
Utilities 118,000        146,842        169,800        80,000          154,000        154,000        
Contract Services 177,000        193,556        191,000        180,000        203,000        203,000        
Legal 27,000          68,277          113,400        90,000          72,000          72,000          
Property/Liability Insurance 36,000          28,887          29,100          32,000          32,000          32,000          
Repairs & Maint- Routine 86,000          60,313          105,200        75,000          80,000          80,000          
Information Technology 29,000          31,927          33,300          28,000          34,000          34,000          
Financial Service Fees 21,400          28,019          28,700          27,000          29,000          29,000          
Operating Expenses 51,200          52,536          54,800          60,000          55,000          55,000          
Travel and Training 14,000          12,691          11,700          8,000            13,000          13,000          
Advertising and Promotion 5,000            3,515            8,000            6,000            4,000            4,000            
Personnel Administration 14,000          1,436            1,500            1,500            2,000            2,000            
Vessel Destruction 55,000          50,170          61,700          61,700          61,700          61,700          
Memberships & Subscriptions 500               850               400               400               1,000            1,000            
Bad Debts 25,000          27,052          11,400          25,400          28,000          28,000          
Miscellaneaous Expend. 2,000            7,957            16,200          4,000            8,000            8,000            

Non-Personnel Expend Sub-total 661,100        714,028        836,200        679,000        776,700        776,700        

Total Expenditures 2,040,624$   2,082,394$   2,350,349$   2,055,000$   2,182,700$   2,182,700$   

Revenues less Expenditures (414,938)$     (499,930)$     (491,127)$     (512,300)$     (533,000)$     (640,000)$     

One-time Revenues(Expenditures)
CalPERS Liability Payment -                -                (694,600)       (694,600)       -                -                

(414,938)$     (499,930)$     (1,185,727)$  (1,206,900)$  (533,000)$     (640,000)$     

Fiscal Year 2017/18 Fiscal Year 2018/19  Fiscal Year 2019/20

Increase(Decrease) to 
Working Capital



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 28 - 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION TWO- FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

 

 

 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 29 - 

 

Five-Year Forecasts 
 

Capital Improvement Program Summary 

 

Working Capital 

 

Beginning in FY 2021/22, the total ending Working Capital Balances equals 10% of the projected 
annual revenues. This amount is to be held in reserves as required by the District’s Reserve 
Policy 4.4.3. These reserves constitute the District’s contingency and emergency reserves.  

The five-year Working Capital projection assumes annual increases as follows: 1) Operating 
Revenues 3%, 2) Non-Operating Revenues 2%, 3) Salary/Wages & Benefits 5%, and 4) Non-
Personnel Expenditures 5%.   

The amount shown for One-time/biennial in FY 2018/19 includes $2,300,000 for paying down the 
CalPERS unfunded long-term retirement liability and $850,000 in election costs. The FY 2020/21 
and FY 2022/23 include estimates of the biennial election costs. This cost is expected to be less 
in future years due to the District moving towards districted elections.    

Encumbrances is a reserve of funds set aside for a particular contract. See page 35 for details.   

COST ESTIMATES FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
1,469,300$    7,989,000$     17,350,000$   3,200,000$   3,250,000$  3,916,000$  

Oyster Point Marina 88,285            37,800             315,000           3,700,000     2,600,000     200,000        
Administration 1,300,000      480,000           2,460,000       -                  -                 -                 

TOTAL 2,857,585$    8,506,800$     20,125,000$   6,900,000$   5,850,000$  4,116,000$  

FUNDING SOURCES FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
59,500$          427,000$        -$                 -$               -$               -$               

DBW Grant -                   800,000           -                    -                  -                 450,000        
OPC Grant 75,000            -                    -                    -                  -                 -                 
Grants (TBD) -                   -                    7,000,000       -                  -                 -                 
Working Capital 2,723,085      7,279,800       13,125,000     4,611,681     2,783,492     3,005,562     

2,288,319     3,066,508     660,438        
TOTAL 2,857,585$    8,506,800$     20,125,000$   6,900,000$   5,850,000$  4,116,000$  

FEMA Funding

Pillar Point Harbor

Funding (TBD)

SOURCES (USES) FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24

18,434,636$  14,250,403$   11,048,051$   1,894,831$   1,258,081$  1,287,954$  

Operating Revenue 4,382,000      4,441,000       4,574,000       4,711,220     4,852,557     4,998,133     
Non-Operating Revenue 7,444,000      7,564,000       7,715,280       7,869,586     8,026,977     8,187,517     
Salaries/Wages & Benefits (4,952,000)     (5,270,000)      (5,533,500)      (5,810,175)    (6,100,684)   (6,405,718)   
Non-Personnel Expenditures (3,112,700)     (3,080,000)      (3,234,000)      (3,395,700)    (3,565,485)   (3,743,759)   
One-Time/Biennial (3,150,000)     -                    (600,000)         -                  (400,000)       -                 

611,300          3,655,000       2,921,780       3,374,931     2,813,365     3,036,173     

Working Capital used for CIP (2,723,085)     (7,279,800)      (13,125,000)    (4,611,681)    (2,783,492)   (3,005,562)   
Encumbrances (2,072,448)     (1,650,000)      (600,000)         -                  -                 -                 
Encumbrances Released -                   2,072,448       1,650,000       600,000         -                 -                 

TOTAL  ENDING WORKING CAPITAL 14,250,403$  11,048,051$   1,894,831$     1,258,081$   1,287,954$  1,318,565$  

Working Capital- Beginning 
Balance

Annual Increase in Working 
Capital



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 30 - 

 

Five-Year CIP Detail 

 

PILLAR POINT HARBOR FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
Johnson Pier Terminus Repairs

Design/Engineering 10,000$        32,000$        
Construction 500,000        

Johnson Pier Terminas/Fuel Dock /H Dock
Design/Engineering 170,000        1,280,000     
Construction 14,000,000      
Grant (TBD) (7,000,000)       

Johnson Pier G Dock
Design/Engineering 200,000            
Construction 3,000,000     

Johnson Pier F Dock
Design/Engineering 200,000        
Construction 3,000,000     

Johnson Pier E Dock
Design/Engineering 200,000        
Construction 3,000,000     

Fishing Pier
Design/Engineering 50,000          
Construction 1,000,000     

West Trail
Design/Engineering 76,000          618,000        
Construction 750,000        750,000            

Launch Ramp Dredging
Permitting/Bid Docs 59,500          27,000          
Dredging 400,000        
FEMA Funding (59,500)         (427,000)       

Harbormaster Bldg.
CDP/Bid Docs 50,000          
Construction 300,000        

Parking Lot B, C2, C3
Design/Engineering 50,000          
Construction 400,000            

Launch Ramp Impr./Restroom/Boat Wash
Design/Engineering 200,000        
Construction 1,500,000        

Surfers Beach Restoration
Design/Engineering 104,000        107,000        
Construction 1,500,000     500,000            
OPC Grant Funding (75,000)         
DBW Grant Funding (800,000)       

Vehicles/Vessels
Trucks 50,000          
All-Terrain Vehicle 25,000          
Rescue Vessel 900,000        
DBW Grant Funding (450,000)       
Golf Carts (2) 16,000          
Two PWCs (purchased) 27,500          

Completed Projects
Lessee Sidewalk 448,000        
Romeo Pier Demo 460,500        
Transformers A-C 13,800          



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 31 - 

 

Five-Year CIP (continued) 

 

The above summary information presents total estimated costs (uses) net of grants/funding 
(sources).   

PILLAR POINT HARBOR (cont) FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
Habitat Restoration 400,000$      
EV Parking Places 200,000        
RV Restroom Project 400,000        

200,000        
TOTAL PILLAR POINT HARBOR 1,334,800$  6,762,000$  10,350,000$   3,200,000$  3,250,000$  3,466,000$  

OYSTER POINT MARINA FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
Dock 12

Design/Engineering 200,000$        
Construction 1,400,000     600,000        

Dock 13
Design/Engineering 200,000        
Construction 2,000,000     

Dock 14
Design/Engineering 200,000        
Construction

100,000        
40k sq. ft. Parcel Building

Design/Engineering 100,000           
Construction 2,000,000     

Vehicles/Vessels
Repower Challenger 4,200             37,800          
Electric Golf/Dump Cart 15,000             

Completed Projects
Bait Shop Building 26,983          
Transformers Dock 1-6 57,102          

TOTAL OYSTER POINT MARINA 88,285$        37,800$        315,000$        3,700,000$  2,600,000$  200,000$      

ADMINISTRATION FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
1,300,000$  

Design/Engineering 80,000          
Construction 2,000,000       

Consulting Services 400,000        400,000           
Software Price 60,000             

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 1,300,000$  480,000$      2,460,000$     -$               -$               -$               

SUMMARY FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
1,334,800$  6,762,000$  10,350,000$   3,200,000$  3,250,000$  3,466,000$  

Oyster Point Marina 88,285          37,800          315,000           3,700,000     2,600,000     200,000        
Administration 1,300,000     480,000        2,460,000       -                 -                 -                 

TOTAL 2,723,085$  7,279,800$  13,125,000$   6,900,000$  5,850,000$  3,666,000$  

Evaluation of Dock 16 in 
Accordance with MOU

Enterprise Resource Planning  
System

Pillar Point Harbor

 Admin Office/Land Purchase

Coastal Trail Improvements



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 32 - 

 

2019/20 CIP- Oyster Point Marina 

 
 

2019/20 CIP- Pillar Point Harbor 
 

 

 

Challenger Repowered

Surfers Beach

Fishing Pier Repair

The Challenger was purchased in 2004 
and requires the replacement of the two 
fifteen year old outboard engines. 

Purchase & Installation  $37,800 
Working Capital            $(37,800) 

District Consultant is working 
closely with staff and other 
agencies to move this project 
forward. A DBW grant was 
approved by the Board on 5/23/18 
to partially fund this project. 
Technical Specifications and 
permitting is in progress. 

Design/Engineering $107,000 
Construction         $1,500,000 
DBW Grant            $(800,000) 
Working Capital     $(807,000) 

The PPH Fishing Pier has suffered 
substantial erosion in places along 
its breakwater foundation support. 
Rip rap must be replaced before 
structural damage occurs. The 
decking and safety hand railings 
around the circumference of the 
pier will also be repaired and/or 
replaced to become ADA compliant.  

Construction       $1,000,000 
Working Capital $(1,000,000) 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 33 - 

 

 

 
 

 

Launch Ramp Restroom/ 
Boat Wash/ Ramp 

Improvements

Launch Ramp 
Dredging

Harbormaster
Building

The restrooms at the PPH launch 
ramp improvements are over 20 
years old and are in poor 
condition. The restroom building is 
of modular construction and due 
to its poor condition, it is most cost 
effective to replace the entire 
building. A Consultant is working 
on design, engineering and 
permitting for the replacement.  

Design/Engineering  $200,000 
Working Capital       ($200,000) 
 

This project was initiated in 2016 
and approved for Disaster Relief 
Funding by FEMA/CalOES. The 
FAA approved a staging site within 
the  airport boundary. Bid 
documents are being evaluated. 

Permitting/Bid Docs  $27,000 
Dredging                 $400,000 
FEMA/CalOES      $(427,000)
  

 

This project was approved by the 
Board at a Dec 2017 meeting. 
Preliminary construction drawings 
are expected to be completed and 
an Invitation to Bid will be 
released. A CCC/CDP waiver has 
been approved. 

Construction       $300,000 
Working Capital $(300,000) 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 34 - 

 

 

 

 

 

West Trail Erosion 
Protection

Parking Lots B, C2, C3

Johnson Pier 
Terminus & Fuel Dock 

Replacement

The PPH West Trail and adjacent 
bluffs have sustained substantial 
erosion. The District is 
investigating beach nourishment 
alternatives with an emphasis on 
Living Shoreline options. District 
Consultant is working with 
Program Manager on Coastal 
Conservancy grant funding. 

Design/Engineering    $618,000 
Construction               $750,000 
Working Capital      $(1,368,000) 

Slurry & stripe parking Lots B, C2 
& C3. Polices for RV use in 
parking lot is expected to be 
vetted before this project will be 
started. 

 

Design/Engineering $50,000 
Working Capital      $(50,000) 
 

Design/Engineering consultant 
has been hired to work on the 
Johnson Pier Terminus, Fuel 
Dock Replacement and H-Dock 
Replacement.  The projects have 
been combined so that 
programmatic permitting is cost 
efficient. Consultant will also 
assist in developing grant 
opportunities. 

Design/Engineering  $1,280,000 
Working Capital       $(1,280,000) 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 35 - 

 

CIP Appropriations & Estimated Encumbrance Re-appropriations 
Capital Improvement Projects typically take longer than a fiscal period to complete. The Harbor 
Commission approves capital project contracts for design/engineering services and construction 
throughout the fiscal year. Finance staff sets aside District resources to fund the contract by 
entering an encumbrance (purchase order) into the accounting system. At the end of a fiscal year 
there are open contracts for projects that have not been completed.  The last column of the 
following list represents the estimated outstanding balance $(2,072,448) of each of the projects 
listed.  Upon adoption of the Final Capital Improvement Program, the Harbor Commission 
approves the re-appropriation of the actual encumbrance amount outstanding.  

For example, the design/engineering phase of the Johnson Pier Pile Repairs may be completed 
by June 30, 2019 and the actual open amount may be $0 instead of $32,000. The Harbor 
Commission’s approval for re-appropriation of encumbrances for this project in FY 2019/20 would 
be $0. 

In addition, with the adoption of the CIP, the Harbor Commission approves appropriations 
of $200,000. The appropriations will be used at the discretion of the General Manager for the 
repowering of the Harbor Patrol Boat at OPM, the purchase of an all-terrain vehicle at PPH, and 
any contracts that meet the definition of a Capital Asset and are within the General Manager’s 
purchasing authority of $25,000. 

All other CIP appropriations will be approved when the Harbor Commission approves a CIP 
contract. 

Estimated Encumbrances to be Re-appropriated 
Project Approval 

Date(s) 
Contractor Original 

Contract 
Change 
Orders 

Total 
Contract 

Estimated 
Spending 

thru 
 6/30/19 

Estimated 
Encumbrance 

Re-
appropriation 

West Trail 
Erosion 
Protection 

04/04/16 
11/01/17 
04/17/19 

GHD, Inc $184,086  
$249,722 
$618,145 

$1,051,953 $433,713 $618,240 

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment  

11/16/17 
04/17/19 

Damitz $50,000 $56,000 $106,000 $66,000 $40,000 

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment 

09/19/18 
 

Environmental 
Science 

$105,000 - $105,000 $38,000 $67,000 

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment 

04/11/19 Kinetic Labs $15,080  $15,080 $7,080 $8,000 

Johnson Pier 
Pile Repairs 

03/20/19 Moffatt & 
Nichol 

$42,300 - $42,300 $10,300 $32,000 

PPH RV Park 
Restroom 

04/11/19 Matthews 
Architects 

$13,000 - $13,000 $13,000 - 

PPH Office 
Remodel 

12/20/17 Matthews 
Architects 

$34,100 - $34,100 $34,100 - 

Johnson Pier 
& H-Dock 
Replacement 

03/15/17 
03/20/19 

Moffatt & 
Nichol 

$143,700 $1,318,000 $1,461,700 $181,492 $1,280,208 

Launch Ramp 
Dredge 

01/18/17 Moffatt & 
Nichol 

$24,900 - $24,900 $24,900 - 

Launch Ramp 
Dredge 

01/18/17 
04/17/19 

Damitz $13,993 $47,700 $61,693 $34,693 $27,000 

Fishing Pier 
Rehab 

10/18/17 Moffatt & 
Nichol 

$82,600 - $82,600 $82,600 - 

TOTAL ESTIMATED RE-APPROPRIATION   $2,072,448 
 



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 36 - 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

SECTION THREE- POLICIES & 
DEFINITIONS 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 37 - 

 

District Policies and Guidelines 
 

Reserve Policy 

The District’s reserve policy establishes a minimum level at which the District’s reserve balance 
is to be maintained. The District believes that sound financial management principles include 
anticipating and preparing for future funding requirements as well as unforeseen and unexpected 
emergencies, disasters, and/or other events. The limits defined in the District’s Reserve Policy is 
intended to “maintain a prudent level of financial resources to protect against reducing service 
levels or raising fees because of the temporary revenue shortfalls or unpredicted one-time 
expenditures” (recommended Practice 4.1 of the National Advisory Council on State and Local 
Budgeting). In addition, this policy is intended to document the appropriate Reserve level to 
protect the District’s credit worthiness. 

The term “Reserve” in this instance refers only to the portion of Working Capital that is intended 
to provide stability and respond to unplanned events or opportunities.  The term “Working Capital” 
is an accounting term defined as current assets less current liabilities in Enterprise funds. 

The District will maintain a minimum “unassigned reserves” of 10% of annual revenue projections 
or $1,200,500 for 2019/20 Budget Year per Reserve Policy 4.4.3. 

Investment Policy 

The District’s Investment Policy is in compliance with California Government Code 53600. When 
investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling and managing public funds, the 
primary objectives of the investment activities, in priority order, shall be: 

• Safety: Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. 
Investments of the District shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of the capital in the overall portfolio. To attain this objective, diversification 
is required so that potential losses on individual securities do not exceed the income 
generated from the remainder of the portfolio. 

• Liquidity: The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the District to 
meet all the operating requirements, which might be reasonably anticipated. 

• Return on Investments: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of 
attaining a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into 
account the investment risk constraints and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 38 - 

 

 

Debt Management Policy, Capacity, and Issuance 
The District will be fiscally prudent and in compliance with state and federal law. California Harbors 
and Navigation Code Section 6077 prescribes that the bonded indebtedness of the District not 
exceed 15% of the assessed value of property within the District. To issue bonds that require 
additional property tax assessments, the bond proposition must pass with two-thirds of the voting 
electors approving such proposition. Since the District’s boundaries are the same as the San 
Mateo County’s boundaries, the District uses the County’s gross assessed value of property for 
July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019, of about $211.2 billion (per County’s Tax Rate Book), making 
the debt limit approximately $31.7 billion. 

  



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 39 - 

 

Definitions & Abbreviations 
 

Accrual Accounting: A method of accounting that recognizes expenses when incurred and revenues 
when earned, rather than when payment is made or received. 

Adopted Budget: The budget that is approved and enacted by the Harbor Commission on or before 
June 30th. 

Appropriation: The allocation of funding for Salaries/Wages & Benefits expenditures, Non-Personnel 
expenditures, and for Capital Project expenditures.  A budgetary term used for Harbor Commission 
approved expenditures.  

Balanced Budget: A balanced budget exists when total projected revenues are equal to, or greater than, 
total projected operating expenditures. 

California Coastal Commission (CCC): California State agency with regulatory oversight over land use 
and public access in the California coastal zone. 

California Coastal Development Permit (CDP): A development permit issued by the CCC in the coastal 
zone. 

California Division of Boating and Waterways (DBW): A division of the State of California Parks 
Department which provides funding for Harbor and Marina activities.  

California Office of Emergency Services (CalOES): California Governor’s Office agency that oversees 
and coordinates emergency preparedness, response, recovery, and homeland security activities within 
the state. 

California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS): The nation’s largest public pension fund 
that delivers retirement and health care benefits to the District employees, retirees, and their 
beneficiaries.  

Capital Asset: Assets such as land, structures, improvements, furniture and/or equipment, vehicles, 
vessels that are expected to last and/or be used for more than one year. The District defines capital 
assets as a value of $10,000 or more and a useful life of 5 years or more. 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP): The District’s plan for current and future projects related to the 
acquisition, expansion, or rehabilitation of land, buildings, equipment, and other public infrastructure. 

Depreciation: Depreciation Expense is recorded in the District’s Audited Financial Reports on an annual 
basis. This amount represents an allocation of an asset’s original cost over the life of the asset. 
Accumulated depreciation is the accumulation of annual expense of an asset from the time asset was 
acquired up to a single point in the asset’s useful life. 

Federal Aviation Administration (FAA): A federal government agency that regulates all aspects of civil 
aviation in the nation. 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA): A part of the U.S. Department of Homeland 
Security that provides funding to help people before, during, and after disasters. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP): GAAP is a combination of authoritative standards 
(set by policy boards) and the commonly accepted ways of recording and reporting accounting 
information. GAAP improves the clarity of the communication of financial information. 

Governmental Fund: Funds generally used to account for tax-supported activities. The District records 
property tax revenue in the Enterprise Fund.   



  

2019-20 BUDGET - 40 - 

 

Encumbrances: Commitments related to unfilled contracts for goods and services including purchase 
orders.  

Encumbrance Accounting: Purpose is to prevent further expenditure of funds in light of commitments 
already made. 

Enterprise Funds: Funds to account for services that are provided to the public on a user charge basis, 
similar to the operation of a commercial business. The District accounts for financial transactions in an 
Enterprise Fund. Focuses on long-term economic resources. 

Expenditures: Term used for money going out from a governmental entity to pay for the services or 
functions and facilities that the entity provides to the public. It is used for modified accrual accounting 
while the term Expense is used for full accrual accounting. 

Fiscal Year (FY):  A 12-month period of time to which the annual budget applies. The District’s fiscal year 
begins on July 1st and ends on June 30th. 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU): Generally used to describe a written agreement between two 
government entities or between a government entity and an employee union.  

Net Pension Liability (NPL): The amount by which the total pension liability exceeds the pension plan’s 
net assets. 

Net Position: The residual of all other financial statement elements presented in a statement of financial 
position. 

Operating Budget: Focuses on one fiscal year and on-going activities of the District. 

Oyster Point Marina (OPM): A recreational marina, public beach, and bayside park located in the City of 
South San Francisco. The District operates OPM under a Memorandum of Understanding with South San 
Francisco, which owns the facility. 

Pillar Point Harbor (PPH): A commercial fishing harbor that also supports sport fishing and recreational 
boating located in and adjacent to the Pacific Ocean. PPH is owned and operated by the District.  

Special District Leadership Foundation (SDLF): A California 501 (c) (3) organization formed to 
promote and recognize excellence in the governance and management of special districts. 

Working Capital: Working Capital is an Enterprise Fund’s functional equivalent of unrestricted fund 
balance in a Governmental Fund. Working Capital is calculated as Current Assets minus Current 
Liabilities equals Working Capital. 

 



1



2



3



4



5



6



7

Property Tax 
(59%), $7.10 

Berth Rental/Slip Fee 
(28%) $3.3, $3.30 

Rents and Concessions (5.4%) , $0.60 

Grants (2%), $0.20 
Investments (2%), $0.20 

Other (4%), $0.40 

TOTAL REVENUE $11.8 MILLION



8

Salaries and benefits 
(47%) $5.1

Repairs/Maintenance 
(20%) $2.2

Other Expense 
(13%) $1.4

Depreciation (10%) 
$1.1

Contractual Servics (5%) $0.6 Utilities (4%) $0.4

TOTAL EXPENSES $10.8 MILLION

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Repairs increased 21% over PY mainly due to Pillar Point Harbor to demolish Romeo Pier



9



10



11

“We are in the business to help our clients succeed”



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

This Page Left Intentionally Blank 
 



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 
 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION: 
 
Table of Contents .......................................................................................................................................... i 
 
Elected Officials and Administrative Personnel ......................................................................................... ii 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION: 
 
Independent Auditor's Report ..................................................................................................................... 1 
 
Management's Discussion and Analysis ..................................................................................................... 5 
 
Basic Financial Statements: 
 

Statements of Net Position ................................................................................................................ 16 
 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position .................................................... 17 
 
Statements of Cash Flows ................................................................................................................. 18 
 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements ................................................................................................. 19 
 

Required Supplementary Information: 
 

Schedule of Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and  
Related Ratios as of the Measurement Date ............................................................................... 38 

 
Schedule of Contributions ................................................................................................................. 39 
 
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios – Single Employer  

Longevity Health Insurance Premium Payment Program .......................................................... 40 
 

Schedule of Contributions ................................................................................................................. 41 
 

Supplemental Information: 
 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Administration ............................................................................................................................ 44 

 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Pillar Point Harbor ...................................................................................................................... 45 
 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Oyster Point Marina .................................................................................................................... 46 

 
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ............................... 47 



 
 

ii 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FY 2017-18 
 

 
Virginia Chang-Kiraly - President 

Robert Bernardo - Vice President 

Tom Mattusch - Treasurer 

Edmundo Larenas - Secretary 

Sabrina Brennan - Commissioner 

 
 

MANAGEMENT 
FY 2017-18 

 

Steve McGrath - General Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by the 
Finance Department 

 
 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Commissioners of the 
San Mateo County Harbor District 
El Granada, California 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the San Mateo County Harbor District 
(District), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
Table of Contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

1



Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the of the District as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the changes in financial 
positions and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Change in Accounting Principles 

Management adopted the provisions of the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than 
Pensions, which became effective during the year ended June 30, 2018 and required a prior period 
adjustment to the financial statements and required the restatement of net position as discussed in Note 1L 
and Note 8. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and other required supplementary information as listed in the Table of Contents 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The Introductory Section and Supplemental 
Information Section listed in the Table of Contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The Supplemental Information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Supplemental 
Information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.   

2



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 29, 2019, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
April 29, 2019 

3



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

This section of San Mateo County Harbor District’s annual financial report presents our discussion and 
analysis of the District’s financial during the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2018.  Please read it in 
conjunction with the District’s basic financial statements (pages 16 - 18) and the footnotes (pages 19 - 36). 

Financial Highlights 

 The District’s net position was $39,986,759 at June 30, 2018.  This was an increase of $2,144,741
for the year.  $1,137,507 of this increase was related to a prior period adjustment that was made to
implement Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 75, a new accounting
standard that became effective this year.

 The District’s operating revenues decreased by $40,666, or 0.9%.  Operating revenues accounted
for 36% of all revenues.

 The District’s operating expenses increased by $1,878,598, or 21.3%, mainly due to increased
repairs and maintenance cost at Pillar Point Harbor to demolish Romeo Pier.

 General Revenues from taxes, interest, and investments accounted for $7,244,644 in revenues, or
62% of all revenues.  Revenues in the form of grants and other non-operating revenue total
$180,024, or 2% of all revenues.

 Aggregate net pension liabilities are $5,012,108 and net Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB)
liabilities are $2,532,946.

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This annual report consists of three parts- Management’s Discussion and Analysis (this section), the basic 
financial statements including notes to the basic financial statements, and required supplementary 
information. The basic financial statements include Proprietary (Enterprise) fund statements which offer 
short- and long- term financial information about the activities that the District operates like a business.   

The basic financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data. The basic financial statements are followed by a section of 
required supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial 
statements. 

The basic financial statements consist of three statements:  
 The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the District’s assets and liabilities, with

the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve
as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

 The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information showing
how the District’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position
are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing
of related cash flows.  Certain revenues and expenses are reported in this statement that may result
in cash flows in future periods.

 The Statement of Cash Flows presents information to show how the District’s cash changed
throughout the fiscal year.  It shows the sources and uses of cash.

The accounting basis and measurement focus for Proprietary Funds is accrual accounting and economic 
resources focused. All assets and liabilities, both financial and capital, and short- and long-term are included 
in the statements. All revenues and expenses are recorded regardless of when cash is received or paid.  

5



Since the District is reported in one fund, an Enterprise Fund which is one of the Proprietary Fund types, 
only one set of financial statements is necessary.  

Financial Analysis of the District’s Overall Financial Position and Results of Operations 

The District’s financial statements provide detailed information about the District’s one fund:  

Our analysis below focuses on the net position and the changes in net position of the District’s activities in 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 as compared to fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 

The above table is a condensed schedule of the District’s Statement of Net Position (page 16).  Additionally, 
the above table shows variance information to illustrate what items changed year over year.   

6



Net position increased $2,144,741, or 5.7%.  This increase is primarily due to an increase in cash and 
investment balances increasing by $3,730,771 offset by an increase in current liabilities of $2,181,603. The 
current liability increase was primarily due to outstanding accounts payable balances for the demolition of 
Romeo Pier at Pillar Point Harbor at fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 

The above table is a condensed schedule of the District’s Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes 
in Net Position (page 17).  This table shows the nature and source of the changes in our Net Position.  
Additionally, the above table shows variance information to illustrate what items changed year over year.   

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated from the primary enterprise operations of the 
District, such as fees collected for berth rent or to use the boat launch ramp.  All other revenues are reported 
as non-operating revenues, such as property taxes or grant revenue received.  Operating expenses are all the 
expenses, enterprise and non-enterprise, that are essential to the primary operations of the District, such as 
salaries and wages or repairs and maintenance.  All other expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.   

Due to GASB 75 becoming effective this year, our OPEB liability must now be determined through an 
actuarial valuation, which the District completed in 2018. Implementing GASB Statement 75 required us 
to record a prior period adjustment (gain) of $1,137,507, which was the difference in the way we previously 
estimated and recorded this liability internally, versus the external actuarial valuation that was done in 2018 
(see Note 1L).   

7



The above table is a selected list of the District’s major sources of revenue; operating revenues (enterprise 
harbor operations) are shown as well as grant, investment, and property tax revenue.  All items above are 
cash transactions, meaning that the District received actual monies paid in the amounts above.  
Miscellaneous revenue and non-cash transactions, such as gains in our OPEB liability or gain/loss on 
disposition of assets are not shown above.  Additionally, the above table shows variance information to 
illustrate what items changed year over year.   

Revenues from the District’s harbor activities increased due to a slight increase in berth/transient rentals, 
and launching fees.  These revenue streams make up 27.6% and 1.2% of the District’s total revenues, 
respectively.  Most other revenue streams did not change much year over year.  The District saw an increase 
in property tax revenue from San Mateo County due to rising property values.  Property taxes made up 
59.4% of the District’s total revenues.  Investment earnings (2% of District total revenue) increased due to 
high cash balances that remained in our investment account throughout the year.  Grant revenue (2% of 
District total revenue) increased this year due an increase in the District’s participation in the State of 
California - Division of Boating and Waterways’ Surrendered and Abandoned Vessel Exchange (SAVE) 
grant, which provides us funding to destroy derelict vessels at our harbors.   

8



The following is a graphic illustration of District revenues by source for the current and previous fiscal 
years: 

Revenues by Source 
Both Operating & Non-Operating 

9



San Mateo County Harbor District 

The District’s operating expenses increased mainly due to repairs and maintenance costs at Pillar Point 
Harbor related to the destruction of Romeo Pier.  The increase in non-operating expenses in fiscal year 
2017/18 is primarily due to a loss on disposition of capital assets (related to the Oyster Point 
Development parcel conveyance which occurred in September 2017) and the implementation of GASB 
Statement 75, which adjusted our OPEB. An expense of $26,068 for OPEB was recorded in the current 
year.  See Note 8 in the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements for more information.   

District-wide, legal services decreased due to attempts to reduce legal costs.  Administration operating 
expenses decreased due to there being no election for the District in the fiscal year.  Pillar Point Harbor 
operating expenses increased mainly due to repairs and maintenance costs related to the demolition of 
Romeo Pier, for which final billing was completed in September 2018.  Oyster Point Marina operating 
expenses increased slightly in salaries and wages due to the increased cost of labor and an increase in 
professional services (Dornbusch Financial Analysis and a topographical survey) that were needed 
throughout the year. 

The increase in loss on disposition of assets in the chart above is due to the disposal of a Gatehouse at 
Oyster Point Marina.  The asset was lost in the termination of several land leases related to executing the 
Implementation Agreement with the City of South San Francisco in September 2017.  There were no 
sales of capital assets in fiscal year 2017/18.  The increase in termination benefit expense is due to 
implementing the new GASB 75 standard which required us to record a more accurate OPEB expense 
based off an actuarial study that was completed during the year.   

10



The following is a graphic illustration of District expenses for the current and previous fiscal years: 

Expenses 
Both Operating & Non-Operating 

11



Capital Assets and Long-Term Debt Activity 

The District's investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of June 30, 2018 was 
$30,911,023.  The total decrease in net capital assets from the prior year was 0.9%.  This decrease was due to 
asset acquisitions being offset by the annual depreciation expense, and due to the loss of certain assets at 
Oyster Point Marina.  See below for more explanation.  There were no sales or significant dispositions of 
capital assets during the year.  The table below shows the ending balances of District capital assets, as well as 
variance information to illustrate what changed year over year.   

Construction in progress increased due to various ongoing projects such as electric transformers on docks 
at both harbors, and the west trail shoreline protection project and Dock H replacement at projects at Pillar 
Point Harbor. Autos and trucks increased due to two 2017 Ford F250 Supercab’s being placed into service 
at both harbors. Boats and radar increased due to a new 32-foot Radon boat being placed into service at 
Pillar Point Harbor. The decreases in Piers is due to the demolition of Romeo Pier, which was completed 
during the year. Buildings and improvements and Parking lots decreased due to the loss of certain assets at 
Oyster Point Marina which were part of a conveyance of land parcels associated with the Implementation 
Agreement with the City of South San Francisco.  

12



Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 

The District’s Fiscal Year 2018/19 Operating and Capital Budget estimate Operating Revenues of 
$4,815,000 and Non-Operating Revenues of $8,336,245 for a total of $13,151,245. This is a $1,359,154 or 
11.5% increase primarily due to $1,000,000 in budgeted Federal Emergency Management Agency 
reimbursements for additional dredging costs caused by a 2017 storm and $275,000 for expected 
reimbursement from the City of South San Francisco to offset the cost of the repair of a fuel system.  

In the Original Budget the Expenditures, not including capital asset expenditures, are expected to be 
$9,310,506. In October 2018 the District approved additional appropriations and made a one-time lump 
sum payment of $2,300,000 to CalPERS in order to pay down part of the unfunded accrued liability for the 
District’s employee pension plan.  

Estimated revenues of $13,151,245 less estimated expenditures of $11,610,506 provide an estimated 
$1,540,739 that may be used for funding of one-time costs including capital project costs  

Contacting the District 

This financial report is designed to provide our customers and creditors a general overview of the District’s 
finances and to demonstrate the District’s accountability for the money it receives and is allocated to it.  If 
you have any questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information, please contact: 

San Mateo County Harbor District 
PO Box 1449 
El Granada, CA 94018 

John Moren, Interim General Manager 

13



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

2018 2017*
ASSETS

21,178,216$              17,447,445$              

Customers 179,500 131,288 
Interest 79,151 43,484 
Other 2,647 55,000 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 257,054 98,174 

Total current assets 21,696,568 17,775,391 

Land 13,081,020 13,081,020 
Construction in progress 1,089,538 712,419 
Depreciable assets 44,981,622 44,813,320 
Less accumulated depreciation (28,241,157) (27,415,568) 

Total non-current assets 30,911,023 31,191,191 

TOTAL ASSETS 52,607,591 48,966,582 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related (Note 7) 1,628,502 1,632,913 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 54,236,093$              50,599,495$              

LIABILITIES

2,575,824$                430,464$  
65,948 51,452 

365,881 335,672 
254,279 262,741 

Total current liabilities 3,261,932 1,080,329 

2,994,545 3,061,091 
263,167 250,467 

3,644,385 
Net OPEB Liability (Note 8) 2,532,946 

5,012,108 4,497,813 

Total non-current liabilities 10,802,766 11,453,756 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,064,698 12,534,085 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
184,636 223,392 

NET POSITION (Note 5)
Net investment in capital assets 30,911,023 31,191,191 
Unrestricted 9,075,736 6,650,827 

TOTAL NET POSITION 39,986,759 37,842,018

54,236,093$              50,599,495$              

* Not restated for the provisions of GASB Statement No. 75 discussed in Note 8

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Unearned revenue (Note 4)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll
Customer deposit
Unearned revenue (Note 4)

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and investments (Note 2)
Accounts receivables:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets (Note 3):

Termination benefits payable (Note 8)
Compensated absences

Net pension liability (Note 7)

Pension related (Note 7)

See accompanying notes to financial statements

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET 
POSITION

16



2018 2017*

Berth Rental 3,257,846$          3,206,453$           
139,950 96,086
98,135 104,970                

631,890 737,383
39,227 55,507 
96,707 104,022

Total operating revenues 4,263,755            4,304,421             

1,971,327            2,655,622             
5,393,957            2,979,984             
2,207,245            2,071,477             
1,108,660            1,095,508             

Total operating expenses 10,681,189          8,802,591             

Operating income (loss) (6,417,434)          (4,498,170)           

238,193               92,955 
235,352               137,914                

7,006,800            6,415,569             
(18,563)               4,240 
(26,068)               132,484                
(59,037)               (59,667)

Miscellaneous revenue 47,991 50,376 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 7,424,668            6,773,871             

1,007,234            2,275,701             

38,979,525          35,566,317           

39,986,759$        37,842,018$         

* Not restated for the provisions of GASB Statement No. 75 discussed in Note 8

See accompanying notes to financial statements

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

OPERATING REVENUES

Launching fees
Recreational vehicles
Rents and concessions
Events and permits
Other operating revenues

Depreciation and amortization

OPERATING EXPENSES

Investment earnings
Property taxes
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets

Administration
Pillar Point Harbor
Oyster Point Marina

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Grants

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, AS RESTATED (NOTE 1L)

Termination benefits
Payments to other agencies

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

17



2018 2017

Receipts from customers 4,232,229$    4,306,967$    
(2,556,793)     (3,430,579)     
(4,548,347)     (4,002,244)     

Other receipts and payments 47,991           50,376           
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (2,824,920) (3,075,480)

7,006,800      6,415,569      
238,193         92,955           
(59,037)          (59,667)          

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities 7,185,956      6,448,857      

(865,617)        (663,448)        
- 4,240

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (865,617)        (659,208)        

235,352         137,914         
Net cash provided (used) in investing activities 235,352         137,914         
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,730,771      2,852,083      

17,447,445    14,595,362    
21,178,216$  17,447,445$  

Operating income (loss) (6,417,434)$   (4,498,170)$   
Nonoperating income (loss), other than those from 

financing, capital related, or investing activities 1,159,430 182,860         

by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,108,660      1,095,508      

(Increase) in accounts receivable (31,526)          2,546             
(Increase) in prepaid expenses (158,880)        86,660           
(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,163,922      139,753         
(Decrease) in accrued payroll 14,496           4,138             
(Decrease) in deposits and unearned revenue (44,799)          (82,976)          
(Decrease) in termination benefits payable (3,644,385)     (132,484)        
Increase in accrued vacation and sick leave 12,700           33,496           
(Decrease) in net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows 479,950         93,189           
(Decrease) in net OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows 2,532,946      
Net cash (used) by operating activities (2,824,920)$   (3,075,480)$   

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Property taxes net of collection fees
Receipts from grants
Payments to other agencies

Payments to suppliers
Payments to or on behalf of employees

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions and construction on capital assets

Interest received on investments

CASH AND INVESTMENTS:
Beginning of year
End of year

Proceeds from the sale of assets

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used)
by operating activities:

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used)

Change in assets, liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources:

18



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The basic financial statements of the San Mateo County Harbor District (District) have been prepared 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as applied to government units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The District is accounted for 
as an enterprise fund and applies all applicable GASB pronouncements in its accounting and reporting. 
The more significant of the District’s accounting policies are described below. 

The District’s resources are allocated to and accounted for in these basic financial statements as an 
enterprise fund type of the proprietary fund group. The enterprise fund is used to account for 
operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the 
intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or 
services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user 
charges, or where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, 
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, 
management control, accountability, or other policies. Net position for the enterprise fund represents 
the amount available for future operations. 

A. Description of the Entity and its Programs

The District is organized under the Harbor and Navigation provisions of the general laws of the State
of California and is governed by a five-member Board of Commissioners elected at large by the
registered voters of the District. The District has three locations: Pillar Point Harbor, located in the
unincorporated area of Princeton, Oyster Point Marina, located in South San Francisco, and an
Administrative Office located in Half Moon Bay.  The District serves the entire County of San Mateo.

Oversight responsibility, the ability to conduct independent financial affairs, issue debt instruments,
approve budgets, and otherwise influence operations and account for fiscal matters is exercised by the
District's Board of Commissioners. The District is a separate reporting entity for financial reporting
purposes and the accompanying financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, Net Position,
revenues, and expenses of the District only.

As defined by GASB Statements No. 14 and 39, The Financial Reporting Entity, the District is not
financially accountable for any other entity other than itself, nor are there any other entities for which
the nature and significance of their relationship with the District are such that exclusion would cause
the District's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.

In addition, based upon the above criteria, the District is not aware of any entity which would be
financially accountable for the District which would result in the District being considered a
component of the entity.

19



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Fund Accounting Classification and Basis of Accounting

On the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net
Position, business-like activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus. The
accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of net income, financial position,
and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities
are reported. Fund equity is classified as Net Position.

District funds are classified as enterprise funds, which account for operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent is that the costs (expenses,
including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be
financed or recovered primarily through user changes. The acquisition and capital improvement of the
physical plant facilities required to provide these goods and services are financed from existing cash
resources, the issuance of bonds, and cash flow from operations.

C. Cash and Investments

For the purposes of the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Cash Flows, “cash equivalents and
investments” includes all demand, savings accounts, and certificates of deposits or short-term
investments with an original maturity of three months from operations.

D. Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The District categorizes its
fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting
principles.  The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable
in the market.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 inputs are inputs – other than quoted prices included within level 1 – that are observable for 
an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.   

If the fair value of an asset or liability is measured using inputs from more than one level of the fair 
value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. 

20



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

E. Capital Assets

Capital assets are carried at cost or estimated cost if actual cost was not available. Contributed capital
assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date contributed. Depreciation is calculated on a
straight-line basis using the following useful life schedule:

Asset Useful Life 

Autos and trucks 3 to 10 years 
Boats and radar 3 to 10 years 
Signs   10 years 
Breakwater 50 years 
Utilities 20 years 
Channels 20 years 
Launch Ramps 20 years 
Piers 25 to 50 years 
Bulkheads 50 years 
Buildings and improvements 10 to 40 years 
Docks 20 to 30 years 
Parking Lots 10 to 25 years 
Walkways/Paths 25 to 30 years 
Machinery and Equipment 3 to 20 years 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized. 

F. Property Taxes

The State of California (State) Constitution Article XIIIA provides that the combined maximum
property tax rate on any given property may not exceed one percent (1%) of its assessed value unless an
additional amount for general obligation debt has been approved by voters. Assessed value is calculated
at 100% of market value as defined by Article XIIIA and may be adjusted by no more than two percent
(2%) per year unless the property is sold, transferred, or improved. The State Legislature has
determined the method of distribution of receipts from a one percent (1%) tax levy among counties,
cities, school districts, and other districts.

San Mateo County assesses, bills for, and collects property taxes as follows:

Secured Unsecured 
Lien dates March 1 March 1 
Levy dates July 1 July 1 
Due dates 50% on November 1 and 

50% on March 1 
July 1 

Delinquent as of December 10 (for November) and 
April 10 for (March) 

August 31 

21



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

F. Property Taxes (continued)

The term “unsecured” refers to taxes on personal property other than real estate, land, and buildings.
These taxes are secured by liens on the property being taxed.

Property taxes levied are recorded as revenue when received in the fiscal year of levy because of the
adoption of the “alternate method of property tax distribution,” known as the Teeter Plan, by the District
and the County of San Mateo (County). The Teeter Plan authorizes the Controller of the County to
allocate 100% of the secured property taxes billed, but not yet paid.  The County remits tax monies to
the District in three installments, as follows:

55% remitted on December 15 
40% remitted on April 15 
5% remitted on June 15 

G. Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave

The liability for vested vacation (PTO) is recorded as an expense when the hours are earned. When PTO
is used it offsets the PTO liability account. For “represented” employees, unused balances of PTO are
carried over from year to year but cannot exceed 480 hours.  For “management” employees, unused
balances of PTO are carried over from year to year but cannot exceed 540 hours.  District employees’
sick leave accrues from year to year with no cap. Employees can use their sick leave upon the approval
of a physician’s note or documented FMLA supporting information.

H. Comparative Data

Comparative data for the prior year has been presented in the accompanying financial statements in
order to provide an understanding of changes in the District's financial position and operations.

I. Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position or balance sheet reports a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and
so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that time.

J. Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or balance sheet reports a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so will not
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

22



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

K. New Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Pronouncements

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) releases new accounting and financial
reporting standards which may have a significant impact on the District’s financial reporting process.
New standards which may impact the District include the following:

GASB Statement No. 75 – Accounting and Financial Reporting for Post-employment Benefits Other
than Pensions. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and financial reporting
by state and local governments for post-employment benefits other than pensions (other post-
employment benefits or OPEB). It also improves information provided by state and local governmental
employers about financial support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This Statement replaces
the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by
Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB. Statement No. 74, Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, establishes new accounting and
financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans.  This statement is effective for the 2017-2018 fiscal
year and required a prior period adjustment as discussed in Note 1L.

GASB Statement No. 81 – Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements. This statement requires that a
government that receives resources pursuant to an irrevocable split-interest agreement recognize assets,
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the inception of the agreement. Furthermore, this
statement requires that a government recognize assets representing its beneficial interests in irrevocable
split-interest agreements that are administered by a third party, if the government controls the present
service capacity of the beneficial interests. This statement requires that a government recognize revenue
when the resources become applicable to the reporting period. This statement is effective for the 2017-
2018 fiscal year and had no effect on the District’s financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 85 – Omnibus 2017. The objective of this Statement is to address practice issues
that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This
Statement addresses a variety of topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill,
fair value measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other
postemployment benefits [OPEB]). This statement is effective for the 2017-2018 fiscal year and
reflected in Notes 7 and 8.

GASB Statement No. 86 – Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues.  The primary objective of this
Statement is to improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of
debt by providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only
existing resources—resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt—are placed in an irrevocable
trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt.  This Statement also improves accounting and financial
reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt
that is defeased in substance. This statement is effective for the 2017-2018 fiscal year and had no impact
on the District’s financial statements.

23



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

L. Fund Balance and Net Position Restatements

Management adopted the provisions of the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other
than Pensions (OPEB), which became effective during the year ended June 30, 2018.  In June 2015,
GASB issued Statement No. 75 and the intention of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of
information for decisions made by the various users of the financial reports of governments whose
employees – both active employees and inactive employees – are provided with postemployment
benefits other than pensions by requiring recognition of the entire net OPEB liability and a more
comprehensive measure of OPEB expense.

The implementation of the Statement required the District to make prior period adjustments.  As a
result, the beginning net position was restated and increased by $1,137,507.  See Note 8.

NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

A. Summary of Cash and Investments

The District's cash and temporary investments are carried at market, and include:

2018 2017

Cash in bank 2,310,593$       1,191,118$       
Investments 18,865,373       16,254,077       
Cash on hand 2,250               2,250               

21,178,216$      17,447,445$      

California Law requires banks and savings and loan institutions to pledge government securities with a 
market value of 110% of the District's cash on deposit or first trust deed mortgage notes with a value of 
150% of the District's cash on deposit as collateral for these deposits. Under California Law this 
collateral is held in an investment pool by an independent financial institution in the District's name and 
places the District ahead of general creditors of the institution pledging the collateral. The District has 
waived collateral requirements for the portion of deposits covered by federal deposit insurance. 

The District's investments are carried at fair value, as required by generally accepted accounting 
principles. The District adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at each 
fiscal year end, and it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal year. 

24



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

B. Authorized Investments

The District's Investment Policy and the California Government Code allow the District to invest in the
following, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable to the District and approved
percentages and maturities are not exceeded.

The table below also identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code, or the District's
Investment Policy where the District's Investment Policy is more restrictive.

Minimum
Maximum Authorized Credit

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Limit (%) Quality
Local Agency Bonds 5 Years None N/A
U.S. Treasury Bills, Notes, or Bonds 5 Years None N/A
State Warrants 5 Years None N/A
Notes & Bonds of other Local Agencies 5 Years None N/A
U.S. Agencies 5 Years None N/A
Bankers Acceptance 180 Days 40% N/A
Prime Commercial Paper 270 Days 25% A1, P1
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 Years 30% N/A
Repurchase Agreement (A) 1 Year 20% N/A
Medium Term Corporate Notes 5 Years 30% A
Money Market Mutual Funds & Mutual Funds 5 Years 20% AAA
Collateralized Bank Deposits 5 Years None N/A
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 Years 20% AAA
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A None N/A
County Pooled Investment Funds N/A None N/A

(A) See California Government Code 53601 (I) for limits on the use of Reverse Repurchase Agreements

(B) Mutual Funds maturity may be defined as the weighted average maturity. Under SEC Regulations,

Money Market Mutual funds must have an average maturity of 90 days or less

25



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)  

C. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair
value to changes in market interest rates.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments to market interest rate
fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the District’s investments
by maturity date:

June 30, 2018

12 Months
Investment Type or less Total June 30, 2017

California Local Agency Investment Fund 7,054$          7,054$           6,972$           
San Mateo County Investment Fund 18,858,319 18,858,319 16,247,105

Total Investments 18,865,373$  18,865,373 16,254,077

Cash in banks and on hand 2,312,843 1,193,368

Total Cash and Investments 21,178,216$   17,447,445$   

The District is a participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by California 
Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The 
District reports its investment in LAIF at the fair value amount provided by LAIF, which is the same as 
the value of the pool share. The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records 
maintained by LAIF, which are maintained on an amortized cost basis. Included in LAIF's investment 
portfolio are collateralized mortgage obligations, mortgage-backed securities, other asset-backed 
securities, loans to certain state funds, and floating rate securities issued by federal agencies, 
government-sponsored enterprises, United States Treasury Notes and Bills, and corporations. At June 
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, these investments matured in an average of 193 and 194 days. 

The District invests in the San Mateo County Treasury (County), which sponsors an investment pool to 
invest funds of the County and external public entities, such as the District. The County's pool activity is 
governed by California Government Code Sections 27000.1 and 53607 as well as the County's 
Investment Policy, which delegate the County Treasurer to invest in securities issued by the United 
States, certain corporate bonds and notes, bankers' acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial 
paper, repurchase agreements, the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund, and securities 
lending transactions. Participants' equity in the County's investment pool is determined by the dollar 
amount of participant deposits, adjusted for withdrawals and distributed investment income. Investment 
income is determined on an amortized cost basis. Interest payments, accrued interest, accreted 
discounts, amortized premiums, and realized capital gains and losses, net of administrative fees, are 
apportioned to pool participants every quarter. 

26



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

D. Fair Value Hierarchy

The San Mateo County Investment Fund and the Local Agency Investment Fund are exempt from fair
value hierarchy.

E. Credit Rate Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization. The District's only investments are in the California Local Agency Investment Fund and
San Mateo County Investment Fund which are not rated at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

NOTE 3 – CAPITAL ASSETS 

Changes in capital assets and depreciation for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

Balance Transfers and Balance
June 30, 2017, Additions Retirements Adjustments June 30, 2018

Capital assets 
Nondepreciable

Land 13,081,020$          -$  -$ -$ 13,081,020$          
Construction in progress 712,419 819,360 - (442,241) 1,089,538              

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 13,793,439            819,360 - (442,241) 14,170,558            

Depreciable
Autos and Trucks 94,733 - 100,618 195,351 
Boats and radar 537,775 - (15,000) 341,623 864,398 
Breakwater 12,896,267            - - -         12,896,267            
Utilities 636,669 - - -            636,669 
Launch Ramps 3,957,424              - - -         3,957,424              
Piers 6,216,940              - (85,104) - 6,131,836 
Bulkheads 100,000 - - -            100,000 
Buildings and improvements 5,494,528              - (30,000) - 5,464,528 
Docks 11,271,880            - - -         11,271,880            
Parking lots 2,102,389              - (171,529) - 1,930,860 
Walkways/Paths 1,191,625              - - -         1,191,625              
Machinery and equipment 313,090 27,694 -             -            340,784 

Total capital assets being depreciated: 44,813,320            27,694 (301,633) 442,241   44,981,622            

Accumulated depreciation (27,415,568)           (1,108,660)             283,071 - (28,241,157) 
Total depreciable assets (net) 17,397,752            (1,080,966)             (18,562) 442,241   16,740,465            

Total capital assets 31,191,191$          (261,606)$              (18,562)$  -$              30,911,023$          

27



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 3 – CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

Beginning values reflects amounts as valued on a consolidated basis. The total valuation amounts are 
presented in representative categories and have been redistributed to reflect balances at June 30, 2018. 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2016, Additions Retirements June 30, 2017

Capital assets 
Nondepreciable

Land 13,081,020$          -$  -$ 13,081,020$         
Construction in progress 83,971 628,448 - 712,419 

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 13,164,991            628,448 - 13,793,439 

Depreciable
Autos and Trucks 115,994 - (21,261) 94,733 
Boats and radar 537,775 - - 537,775                
Breakwater 12,896,267            - - 12,896,267           
Utilities 636,669 - - 636,669                
Launch Ramps 3,957,424              - - 3,957,424             
Piers 6,216,940              - - 6,216,940             
Bulkheads 100,000 - - 100,000                
Buildings and improvements 5,494,528              - - 5,494,528             
Docks 11,271,880            - - 11,271,880           
Parking lots 2,102,389              - - 2,102,389             
Walkways/Paths 1,191,625              - - 1,191,625             
Machinery and equipment 278,090 35,000 - 313,090 

Total capital assets being depreciated: 44,799,581            35,000 (21,261) 44,813,320           

Accumulated depreciation (26,341,321)           (1,095,508)             21,261 (27,415,568)          
Total depreciable assets (net) 18,458,260            (1,060,508)             - 17,397,752 

Total capital assets 31,623,251$          (432,060)$              -$ 31,191,191$         

NOTE 4 – UNEARNED REVENUE 

On September 10, 2009, the District entered into an Oyster Point Marina lease agreement with 
Department of Boating and Waterways (DBW) for a period of fifty-five (55) years.  Conditionally, the 
DBW received a payment in the amount of $3,660,000 from California Emergency Management 
Agency on the Water Emergency Transportation Authority’s (WETA) behalf.  This payment was 
allocated to the District’s outstanding debt principal of the consolidated loan agreement between the 
District and DBW.  The District recognizes income for this payment proportionally over the life of the 
lease and on an annual basis.  As of June 30, 2018, the District’s total unearned revenues was 
$3,248,824 of which $2,994,545 was related to WETA. 

NOTE 5 – NET POSITION 

The District’s Reserve Policy requires minimum reserves to equal at least 20% of annual revenue 
projections, 50% of which shall be unassigned.  

28



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 6 – RISK MANAGEMENT 

The District insurance, workers’ compensation, and employer’s liability through the Special District 
Risk Management Authority risk pool (SDRMA). SDRMA is a risk pooling self-insurance authority, 
created under the provisions of California Government Code Section 6500, et. seq. The purpose of 
SDRMA is to arrange and administer programs of self-insured losses and to purchase excess insurance 
coverage. Maximum coverage and deductible amounts are as follows:  

Type of Coverage Coverage Limit Retention/Deductible

Property 1,000,000,000$     1,000$  
Boiler & Machinery 100,000,000 1,000
Pollution 2,000,000 1,000
Cyber Limits on File 1,000
Mobile Equipment 1,000,000,000 No deductible 
General Liability 10,000,000 500
Employee/Public Officials Dishonesty 1,000,000 No deductible 
Auto Liability 10,000,000 1,000
Trailer Limits on File No deductible 
Employers' Liability 5,000,000 No deductible 
Workers' Compensation Statutory No deductible 

Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past five 
fiscal years. 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) 

      General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Description – All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the 
District’s Miscellaneous Employee Pension Rate Plan. The District’s Miscellaneous Rate Plans are part 
of the public agency cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (PERF C), which is 
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). PERF C consists of a 
miscellaneous pool and a safety pool (also referred to as “risk pools”), which are comprised of 
individual employer miscellaneous and safety rate plans, respectively.  Individual employers may 
sponsor more than one miscellaneous and safety rate plan.  The employer participates in one cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan regardless of the number of rate plans the 
employer sponsors. The District sponsors two miscellaneous rate plans. Benefit provisions under the 
Plan are established by State statute and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports 
that include a full description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and 
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

Benefits Provided – CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living 
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.  
Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment.  Members 
with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All 
members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service.  

29



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued) 

The death benefit is one of the following:  the Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the 
Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit.  The cost of living adjustments for the plan are applied as 
specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  The Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) 
Assembly Bill 340 is applicable to employees new to CalPERS hired after December 31, 2012. 

The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2018, are summarized as follows: 

Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous PEPRA

Hire date

Prior to             
January 1, 2013

On or after          
January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2.5% @ 55 2% @ 62

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life

Retirement age 55 62

Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2.0-2.5% 1.0-2.0%

Required employee contribution rates 8.000% 6.250%

Required employer contribution rates 9.539% 6.533%  

Beginning in fiscal year 2016, CalPERS collects employer contributions for the Plan as a percentage of 
payroll for the normal cost portion as noted in the rates above and as a dollar amount for contributions 
toward the unfunded liability and side fund.  The dollar amounts are billed on a monthly basis.  The 
District’s required contribution for the unfunded liability and side fund was $317,048 in fiscal year 
2018. 

Contributions - Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees' Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary 
and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for 
the Plan are determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The District is 
required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of 
employees. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the contributions recognized as part of pension expense for the Plan 
were $543,950. 

Net Pension Liability – For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred 
outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the CalPERS Plan and additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the CalPERS Financial Office.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

30



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2018, and 2017, the District reported a net pension liability of $5,012,108 and 
$4,497,813, respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the Plan as follows: 

The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability.  The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension 
liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of June 30, 2016 rolled forward to June 30, 2017 using standard update procedures.  The District’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on projection of the District’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, 
actuarially determined.  The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of 
June 30, 2016 and 2017 was as follows: 

Miscellaneous

Proportion - June 30, 2016 0.12480%

Proportion - June 30, 2017 0.12714%

Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.00234%

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the District recognized pension expense of $557,463. At June 30, 
2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions form the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 543,950$  -$  

Differences between actual and expected experience 5,684 (81,432) 

Changes in assumptions 705,228 (53,774) 
Change in employer's proportion and differences between
     the employer’s contributions and the employer’s
     proportionate share of contributions 214,146 (49,430) 
Net differences between projected and actual earnings 
     on plan investments 159,494 - 

Total 1,628,502$             (184,636)$               

31



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued) 

The $543,875 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended 
June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended Annual

June 30 Amortization

2019 331,535$                  

2020 404,991

2021 258,084

2022 (94,694)

Actuarial Assumptions - For the measurement period ended June 30, 2017, the total pension liability 
was determined by rolling forward the June 30, 2016 total pension liability.  The total pension liability 
for the measurement date June 30, 2017 was based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

Valuation Date June 30, 2016

Measurement Date June 30, 2017

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%

Inflation 2.75%

Projected Salary Increase Varies by Entry Age and Service

Mortality
Derived using CalPERS' Membership Data for all Funds (1)

Post Retirement Benefit Increase Contract COLA up to 2.75% until Purchasing Power
Protection Allowance Floor on Purchasing Power applies,
2.75% thereafter 

(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS' specific data.  The table includes 20 years of
mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale BB.  For more details on this table, please refer to the
CalPERS 2014 experience study report available on CalPERS website.

All other actuarial assumptions used in both valuations were based on the results of a January 2014 
actuarial experience study for the period 1997 to 2011, including updates to salary increase, mortality 
and retirement rates. Further details of the Experience Study can be found on the CalPERS website 
under Forms and Publications. 

Change in Assumptions – In 2017, the accounting discount rate was reduced from 7.65% to 7.15%. 

32



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued) 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15% for the Plan. To 
determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for the 
plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different 
from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run out of 
assets. Therefore, the current 7.15% discount rate is adequate, and the use of the municipal bond rate 
calculation is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15% will be applied to all plans 
in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The stress test results are presented in a detailed 
report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building- 
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows.  Using historical 
returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term 
(first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach.  Using the expected 
nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each 
fund.  The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that 
arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term 
and long-term returns.  The expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate 
calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent. 

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class.  The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 

Asset Class

New
Strategic

Allocation
Real Return

Years 1 - 10(a)
Real Return

Years 11+(b)

Global Equity 47.0% 4.90% 5.38%

Global Fixed Income 19.0% 0.80% 2.27%

Inflation Sensitive 6.0% 0.01% 1.39%

Private Equity 12.0% 6.60% 6.63%

Real Estate 11.0% 2.80% 5.21%

Infrastructure and Forestland 3.0% 3.90% 5.36%

Liquidity 2.0% -0.40% -0.90%
Total 100%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for these periods.

(b) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for these periods.

33



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 7 – PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – 
The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the next pension liability for the Plan 
calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the 
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower 
or 1-percentage point higher than the current rate: 

Miscellaneous

1% Decrease 6.15%

Net Pension Liability 7,336,742$        

Current Discount Rate 7.15%

Net Pension Liability 5,012,108$        

1% Increase 8.15%

Net Pension Liability 3,086,806$        

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 

NOTE 8 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

A. General Information about the District’s Post Employment Benefit Plan

Plan Description - Eligible District employees receive Post Employment Benefits through a single
employer defined benefit plan upon termination. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the
criteria in paragraph 4 of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75.

Benefits Provided – The following is a summary of Plan benefits by employee group as of June 30,
2018:

All San Mateo County Harbor District Employees

Eligibility

Employees hired after January 1, 1981 but prior to July 1, 2009, with no 
less than 12 years of service at the time or termination. Employee must not 

have been terminated for good cause.

Benefit

At the time of termination, the individual and their dependents may 
continue their then existing health, dental, and vision benefits, and life 

insurance, at the District's expense. These benefits may only be collected 
for a period that is equal to half of the time the individual was employed 

with the District.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the District’s contributions to the Plan were $141,302. 

34



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 8 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 

Employee Covered by Benefit Terms – Membership in the plan consisted of the following at the 
measurement date of June 30, 2018: 

Active employees 12
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently

receiving benefit payments 9
Total 21

B. Total OPEB Liability

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The District’s total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30,
2018 and the total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2018 based
on the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Actuarial Assumptions
Valuation Date June 30, 2018
Measurement Date June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 3.62%
Long-Term Expected Return of Plan Investm 4.00%
Payroll Growth 3.00%
Healthcare Trend Rates 6.00%

The discount rate was based on the Municipal Bond 20-Year High Grade Rate Index.  

The underlying mortality assumptions were based on the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table for Males 
or Females and all other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on the 
results of a plan experience during the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2018.  

C. Changes in Net OPEB Liability

The changes in the Net OPEB liability follows:

Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB 
Liability  (a)

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position (b)

Net OPEB 
Liability (a)-(b)

Balance at 6/30/17 2,506,878$       -$  2,506,878$           
Changes Recognized for the Measurement Period:

Service costs 79,156 - 79,156
Interest on the total OPEB liability 88,214 - 88,214
Employer contributions - 141,302 (141,302)
Benefit payments (141,302) (141,302) -

Net Changes 26,068 - 26,068

Balance at 6/30/18 2,532,946$       -$  2,532,946$           

35



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE 8 – OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 

D. OPEB Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

The District did not have any deferred inflows/outflows in the first year of implementation. Under
GASB 74 and 75, OPEB expense includes service cost, interest cost, change in total OPEB liability due
to plan changes; all adjusted for deferred inflows and outflows. San Mateo County Harbor District
determined that it was not reasonable to rerun prior valuations under GASB 75, therefore, the District
used the transition approach provided in GASB 75, Paragraph 244.

E. Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate and Healthcare Cost Trend
Rates

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.62%) or
1-percentage-point higher (4.62%) than the current discount rate:

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)
Discount Rate -1% Current Discount Rate Discount Rate +1%

(2.62 %) (3.62%) (4.62%)
$2,785,891 $2,532,946 $2,315,164

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower 
(5% decreasing to 4%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7% decreasing to 6%) than the current healthcare 
cost trend rates: 

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)

1% Decrease
Current Healthcare Cost 

Trend Rates 1% Increase

(5.00% decreasing to 
4.00%)

(6.00% decreasing to 
5.00%)

(7.00% decreasing to 
6.00%)

$2,260,679 $2,532,946 $2,861,314

NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The District is subject to general risk and exposure due to normal operations in the course of business.  
These risks involve various claims against the District, both asserted and unasserted, all of which 
management considers to be immaterial to these financial statements. 

36



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



2014 2015 2016 2017
Plan's proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.04848% 0.13453% 0.10624% 0.12714%

Plan's proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability 3,016,578$        3,690,808$        4,497,813$        5,012,109$        

Plan's Covered Payroll 2,064,270$        2,000,338$        2,022,481$        2,361,865$        

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset)
  as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll 146.13% 184.51% 222.39% 212.21%

Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position as a 
Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 81.15% 79.89% 75.87% 75.39%

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only four years are shown.

the Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios as of the Measurement Date

Last 10 Years*

Schedule of the Plan's Proportionate Share of

San Mateo County Harbor District
a Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Pension Plan

As of fiscal year ending June 30, 2018
Last 10 Years*

38



2015 2016 2017 2018

Actuarially determined contribution 376,892$      409,949$      474,656$      543,875$      
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contributions (376,892) (409,949) (464,656) (543,875)
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$              -$  -$  -$              

Covered payroll 2,000,338$   2,361,865$   2,361,865$   2,814,510$   

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 18.84% 17.36% 20.10% 19.32%

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only four years are shown.

Last 10 Years*

San Mateo County Harbor District
Cost-Sharing Multiple Employer Defined Pension Plan - Miscellaneous Plans

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Contributions

39



SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Single Employer Longevity Health Insurance Premium Payment Program

Last 10 fiscal years*

Measurement Date 6/30/18

Total OPEB Liability (1)
Service Cost $79,156
Interest 88,214
Benefit payments (141,302)
Net change in total OPEB liability 26,068
Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,506,878
Total OPEB liability - ending (a) $2,532,946

Covered-employee payroll $3,007,506

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll -84.22%

Notes to Schedule:

(1) No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75.

* Fiscal year 2018 was the first year of implementation.

40



SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
Single Employer Longevity Health Insurance Premium Payment Program

Last 10 fiscal years*

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Actuarially required contribution $141,302

Contributions in relation to the

actuarially required contributions 141,302

Contribution deficiency (excess) $0

Covered-employee payroll $3,007,506

Contributions as a percentage of

covered-employee payroll 4.70%

Notes to Schedule:

Valuation Date : June 30, 2018

* Fiscal year 2018 was the first year of implementation.

41



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 



San Mateo County Harbor District
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Administration
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

2018 2017

OPERATING EXPENSES:  
Advertising and promotion  3,824$                3,085$           
Bank charges  505 509
Contractual services  125,476 510,509
Dues and subscriptions  16,353 15,565
Insurance  40,673 21,770
IT 62,080 79,937
Legal fees 169,526 214,956
Personnel expenses  1,295 2,401
Operating expenses 31,669 36,937
Rent  91,500 87,900
Repairs and maintenance  3,032 3,408
Salaries and benefits  1,395,320 900,016
Training, seminars and professional development  29,784 25,606
Elections - 752,490
Miscellaneous expense 290 533
Depreciation and amortization  808 - 

Total operating expenses  1,972,135           2,655,622      

Operating income (loss)  (1,972,135)         (2,655,622)     

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):  
Grants  - - 
Investment earnings  235,352              137,914         
Property taxes  894,350              1,709,562      
Termination benefits  62 146,703         
Shared revenues  716,433 708,570
Payments to other agencies (59,037)              (59,667)          
Miscellaneous revenue 39,031 5,667

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  1,826,191           2,648,749      

Net Income  (145,944)$          (6,873)$          

44



San Mateo County Harbor District
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Pillar Point Harbor
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

2018 2017

OPERATING REVENUES:  
Berth rental, transient fees and dockage 1,931,592$          1,856,832$          
Launching fees  117,461               74,250
Recreational vehicles  98,135 104,970               
Rents and concessions  461,373 422,549               
Events and permits 39,977 53,867
Other operating revenues  64,993 72,266

Total operating revenues  2,713,531            2,584,734            

OPERATING EXPENSES:  
Advertising and promotion  8,214 5,243
Bad debts (recoveries)  52,066 52,903
Bank charges  34,461 32,958
Contractual services  246,615               139,023
Claim settlements - 4,140
Dues and subscriptions  338 200
Insurance  23,377 53,208
IT 34,241 48,527
Legal Fees 95,655 154,309
Personnel expenses  222 1,966
Operating expenses  106,956               101,387
Repairs and maintenance 2,261,800            194,218               
Salaries and benefits  2,147,822            1,897,233
Travel, training, seminars and professional development  10,979 10,683
Utilities  268,515               275,604
Vessel destruction  96,691 - 
Miscellaneous expenses 6,005 8,382
Depreciation and amortization  475,899               456,578

Total operating expenses  5,869,856            3,436,562            

Operating income (loss)  (3,156,325)           (851,828)              

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):  
Grants  193,200 44,379
Property Taxes 4,587,564            2,837,074            
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets - 4,240
Termination benefits  (19,873) (45,209) 
Shared revenues  (425,063) (416,972)              
Interest expense  - - 
Miscellaneous revenue 3,150 40,085

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  4,338,978            2,463,597            

Net Income  1,182,653$          1,611,769$          

45



San Mateo County Harbor District
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Oyster Point Marina
For the year ended June 30, 2018
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2017)

2018 2017

OPERATING REVENUES:  
Berth rental, transient fees and dockage  1,326,254$          1,349,621$          
Launching fees  22,489 21,836
Rents and concessions  170,517 314,834 
Events and permits (750) 1,640
Other operating revenues  31,714 31,756

Total operating revenues  1,550,224 1,719,687 

OPERATING EXPENSES:  
Advertising and promotion  3,515 3,323
Bad debts  27,052 33,201
Bank charges  28,019 20,450
Contractual services  193,556 139,682
Dues and subscriptions  850 200 
Insurance  28,887 34,903
IT 31,928 31,389
Legal fees 68,278 49,094
Personnel expenses  1,436 2,199
Miscellaneous expenses 7,957 110
Repairs and maintenance 41,177 156,826
Operating expenses  52,536 53,338
Salaries and benefits  1,512,351 1,335,818
Travel, training, seminars and professional development  12,691 13,150 
Utilities  146,842 145,494
Vessel destruction  50,170 52,300
Depreciation and amortization  631,953 638,930

Total operating expenses  2,839,198 2,710,407 

Operating income (loss)  (1,288,974)           (990,720)              

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):  

Grants  44,993 48,576
Property taxes 1,524,886 1,868,933 
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets (18,563) - 
Termination benefits  (6,257) 30,990 
Shared revenues  (291,370) (291,598)
Interest expense  - - 
Miscellaneous revenue 5,810 4,624 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)  1,259,499 1,661,525 

Net Income  (29,475)$              670,805$             

46



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON  
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE  

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Commissioners of the 
San Mateo County Harbor District 
El Granada, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the San Mateo 
County Harbor District (District), South San Francisco, California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2018 and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 29, 
2019.  Our report included an emphasis of a matter paragraph disclosing the implementation of new 
accounting principles. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  

47



Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our testing disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 

We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated April 29. 2019 which is an 
integral part of our audit and should be read in conjunction with this report 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
April 29, 2019 

48



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
 

MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
AND 

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 
 



SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
 

MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
AND 

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 
 

Table of Contents 
 

    Page 
 
Memorandum on Internal Control .................................................................................................. 1 

 
Schedule of Other Matters ...................................................................................................... 3 
 
Status of Prior Year Other Matters ......................................................................................... 7 
 

Required Communications ............................................................................................................... 9 
 

Significant Audit Findings ............................................................................................................. 9 
 

Accounting Policies ............................................................................................................... 9 
 
Unusual Transactions, Controversial or Emerging Areas ..................................................... 9 
 
Accounting Estimates .......................................................................................................... 10 
 
Disclosures ........................................................................................................................... 10 
 
Difficulties Encountered Performing the Audit ................................................................... 10 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements .......................................................................... 11 
 
Disagreements with Management ........................................................................................ 11 
 
Management Representations .............................................................................................. 11 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants ..................................... 11 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues ............................................................................................ 11 

 
Other Information Accompanying the Financial Statements ....................................................... 11 

 



 

 

This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

To the Board of Commissioners of 
 the San Mateo County Harbor District, 
El Granada, California 

In planning and performing our audit of the basic financial statements of the San Mateo County Harbor 
District (District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the District’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis.   

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses.  In 
addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of management 
override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected by such controls.  
Given these limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified. 

Included in the Schedule of Other Matters are recommendations not meeting the above definitions that 
we believe are opportunities for strengthening internal controls and operating efficiency.  

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, Board of 
Commissioners, others within the organization, and agencies and pass-through entities requiring 
compliance with Government Auditing Standards and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
April 29, 2019 

1



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS 

2018-01: Upcoming Governmental Accounting Standards Board Pronouncements 

EFFECTIVE FISCAL YEAR 2018/19: 

GASB 83 – Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 

This Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations 
(AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital 
asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its 
tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. 

This Statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and 
a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs. This Statement requires that recognition occur 
when the liability is both incurred and reasonably estimable. The determination of when the liability is 
incurred should be based on the occurrence of external laws, regulations, contracts, or court judgments, 
together with the occurrence of an internal event that obligates a government to perform asset retirement 
activities. Laws and regulations may require governments to take specific actions to retire certain 
tangible capital assets at the end of the useful lives of those capital assets, such as decommissioning 
nuclear reactors and dismantling and removing sewage treatment plants. Other obligations to retire 
tangible capital assets may arise from contracts or court judgments. Internal obligating events include the 
occurrence of contamination, placing into operation a tangible capital asset that is required to be retired, 
abandoning a tangible capital asset before it is placed into operation, or acquiring a tangible capital asset 
that has an existing ARO. 

This Statement requires the measurement of an ARO to be based on the best estimate of the current 
value of outlays expected to be incurred. The best estimate should include probability weighting of all 
potential outcomes, when such information is available or can be obtained at reasonable cost. If 
probability weighting is not feasible at reasonable cost, the most likely amount should be used. This 
Statement requires that a deferred outflow of resources associated with an ARO be measured at the 
amount of the corresponding liability upon initial measurement. 

This Statement requires the current value of a government’s AROs to be adjusted for the effects of 
general inflation or deflation at least annually. In addition, it requires a government to evaluate all 
relevant factors at least annually to determine whether the effects of one or more of the factors are 
expected to significantly change the estimated asset retirement outlays. A government should remeasure 
an ARO only when the result of the evaluation indicates there is a significant change in the estimated 
outlays. The deferred outflows of resources should be reduced and recognized as outflows of resources 
(for example, as an expense) in a systematic and rational manner over the estimated useful life of the 
tangible capital asset. 

A government may have a minority share (less than 50 percent) of ownership interest in a jointly owned 
tangible capital asset in which a nongovernmental entity is the majority owner and reports its ARO in 
accordance with the guidance of another recognized accounting standards setter. Additionally, a 
government may have a minority share of ownership interest in a jointly owned tangible capital asset in 
which no joint owner has a majority ownership, and a nongovernmental joint owner that has operational 
responsibility for the jointly owned tangible capital asset reports the associated ARO in accordance with 
the guidance of another recognized accounting standards setter. In both situations, the government’s 
minority share of an ARO should be reported using the measurement produced by the nongovernmental 
majority owner or the nongovernmental minority owner that has operational responsibility, without 
adjustment to conform to the liability measurement and recognition requirements of this Statement.  

3



MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS 

GASB 83 – Certain Asset Retirement Obligations (Continued) 

In some cases, governments are legally required to provide funding or other financial assurance for their 
performance of asset retirement activities. This Statement requires disclosure of how those funding and 
assurance requirements are being met by a government, as well as the amount of any assets restricted for 
payment of the government’s AROs, if not separately displayed in the financial statements.  

This Statement also requires disclosure of information about the nature of a government’s AROs, the 
methods and assumptions used for the estimates of the liabilities, and the estimated remaining useful life 
of the associated tangible capital assets. If an ARO (or portions thereof) has been incurred by a 
government but is not yet recognized because it is not reasonably estimable, the government is required 
to disclose that fact and the reasons therefor. This Statement requires similar disclosures for a 
government’s minority shares of AROs. 

Effective Date 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. 

How the Changes in This Statement Will Improve Financial Reporting 

This Statement will enhance comparability of financial statements among governments by establishing 
uniform criteria for governments to recognize and measure certain AROs, including obligations that may 
not have been previously reported. This Statement also will enhance the decision-usefulness of the 
information provided to financial statement users by requiring disclosures related to those AROs.  

EFFECTIVE FISCAL YEAR 2019/20: 

GASB 84 – Fiduciary Activities 

The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities 
for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported.  

This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. 
The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the 
fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are 
included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are 
fiduciary activities.  

An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements. 
Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary net position and 
a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. An exception to that requirement is provided for a 
business-type activity that normally expects to hold custodial assets for three months or less.  

This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and 
other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and (4) 
custodial funds. Custodial funds generally should report fiduciary activities that are not held in a trust or 
equivalent arrangement that meets specific criteria.  

A fiduciary component unit, when reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements of a primary 
government, should combine its information with its component units that are fiduciary component units 
and aggregate that combined information with the primary government’s fiduciary funds. 

4



MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS 

GASB 84 – Fiduciary Activities (Continued) 

This Statement also provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an 
event has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Events that compel a 
government to disburse fiduciary resources occur when a demand for the resources has been made or 
when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken or met by the beneficiary to release 
the assets. 

Effective Date 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2018.  

How the Changes in This Statement Will Improve Financial Reporting 

The requirements of this Statement will enhance consistency and comparability by (1) establishing 
specific criteria for identifying activities that should be reported as fiduciary activities and (2) clarifying 
whether and how business-type activities should report their fiduciary activities. Greater consistency and 
comparability enhances the value provided by the information reported in financial statements for 
assessing government accountability and stewardship. 

5



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR OTHER MATTERS 

2017-01: Review of Accounts Payable   

Criteria:  It is necessary for accounts payable batches to be reviewed and approved before they are 
posted to the General Ledger, and monthly reconciliation between accounts payable sub ledger and 
General Ledger should be performed to ensure the accuracy of processing disbursements. 

Condition:  It was noted that the Accounting Manager signed off on each disbursement request forms, 
and reviewed the check run total, but was not reviewing the GL. Additionally; accounts payable was able 
to post directly into the GL after entering disbursements in the accounts payable module in Fundbalance. 

Cause:  The District is limited in staff, and the task transition between the new Accounting Manager and 
the former Accounting Manager was done with a short timeframe therefore task handover was not 
thorough performed. As of result, accounts payable batches were not reviewed before they are posted to 
the General Ledger. 

Potential Effect: Accounts payable batches posted to General Ledger without proper review and 
approval can cause a potential risk of improper processing disbursements due to processing errors, 
unauthorized transactions, and unauthorized adjustments to the general ledger. 

Recommendation:  Accounts payable batches should be reviewed and approved before they are posted 
to General Ledger. As our discussion with the District at the time of audit, the new Accounting Manager 
will review an individual accounts payable processing and accounts payable batch reports before they 
are posted to General Ledger. It appears that the District will perform accounts payable processing 
efficiency. 

Current Status:  Implemented. 

7



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 

To the Board of Commissioners of 
the San Mateo County Harbor District 
El Granada, California 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the San Mateo County Harbor District (District) for the 
year ended June 30, 2018. Professional standards require that we communicate to you the following 
information related to our audit under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Accounting Policies 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the 
year, except as follows: 

 GASB Statement No. 75 –Accounting and Financial Reporting for Post-employment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions 

The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements became effective, 
but did not have a material effect on the financial statements: 

GASB Statement No. 81 – Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements 

GASB Statement No. 85 – Omnibus 2017 

GASB Statement No. 86 – Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues 

Unusual Transactions, Controversial or Emerging Areas 

We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

9



Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the District’s financial 
statements were: 

Estimated Fair Value of Investments: As of June 30, 2018, the District held $21.2 million of 
cash and investments as measured by fair value as disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.  Fair value is essentially market pricing in effect as of June 30, 2018.  These fair 
values are not required to be adjusted for changes in general market conditions occurring 
subsequent to June 30, 2018. 

Estimate of Depreciation:  Management’s estimate of the depreciation is based on useful lives 
determined by management.  These lives have been determined by management based on the 
expected useful life of assets as disclosed in Note 1.E. to the financial statements.  We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the depreciation estimate and determined that it 
is somewhat reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Estimate of Compensated Absences:  Accrued compensated absences which are comprised of 
accrued vacation, holiday, and certain other compensating time is estimated using accumulated 
unpaid leave hours and hourly pay rates in effect at the end of the fiscal.  We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop the accrued compensated absences and determined that 
it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Estimated Net Pension and Net OPEB Liabilities and Pension-Related Deferred Outflows and 
Inflows of Resources:  Management’s estimate of the net pension and net OPEB liabilities and 
deferred outflows/inflows of resources are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 8 to the financial 
statements and are based on actuarial studies determined by a consultant, which are based on the 
experience of the District.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the 
estimate and determined that it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as 
a whole. 

Disclosures 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 

10



Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  Management has corrected all such misstatements.  In addition, none of the misstatements 
detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually 
or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole.  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely uncorrected misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate 
level of management.  We have no such misstatements to report to the Board of Commissioners. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in a management 
representation letter dated April 29, 2019. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 

Other Information Accompanying the Financial Statements 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information that accompanies and 
supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the required supplementary information 
and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the required supplementary information.  

11



We were engaged to report on the supplementary information, which accompanying the financial 
statements but are not required supplementary information.  With respect to this supplementary 
information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of 
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, 
and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

****** 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Commissioners and management and is 
not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
April 29, 2019 

12



 

 
 

Staff Report 
TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: Julie van Hoff, Director of Administrative Services 
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Approve Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement 

Program; Adopt Resolution No.19-09 
 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Motion: Approve Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) and adopt Resolution No.19-09. 
 
Policy Implications: 
Harbors and Navigation Code 6093 (et. seq.) provides statutory requirements for 
budget development. Policy 4.9.1 provides the process for preparing the Budget 
and Policy 4.9.2 establishes the level of appropriation authority (see page 4 of 
attached document for further detail) 
 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status: 
The Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and CIP presents $12,005,000 in total 
revenues, and $8,350,000 in total operating expenditures. Revenues less 
operating expenditures equals $3,655,000, which represents the estimated 
amount to be added to the available working capital balance. 
 
The Five-Year CIP estimates use of $7,279,800 of the working capital balance to 
fund capital projects/assets in FY 2019/20. The estimated working capital 
balance at the end of FY 2019/20 is estimated at approximately $11 million. 
 
Background/Discussion: 
The following timeline represents work completed to date on the District’s 
2019/20 Budget: 
 
On March 20, 2019, staff presented a ‘First Look’ Preliminary 2019/20 Operating 
and Capital Budget to this Board.  
 
 



On April 11, 2019, staff presented a Draft Preliminary Budget to the Finance 
Committee.   
 
On April 17, 2019, staff presented the same Draft Preliminary Budget as 
reviewed by the Finance Committee and presented staff and Finance Committee 
recommendations for updating the Preliminary Budget. The recommendations 
included separating the Operating Budget and the Capital Improvement Program, 
or CIP, and allowing unspent contract amounts to be carried forward and 
eliminating the need to adopt other CIP appropriations prior to approval of a 
contract, unless it falls within the General Manager’s authority of $25,000 or 
below. The Preliminary Budget was adopted with recommended changes. 
 
On April 24 and May 1, 2019, staff published a Public Notice (Attachment 1), as 
required by Harbors and Navigation Code 6093.1, stating that the Preliminary 
Budget was adopted. 
 
A Finance Committee was noticed on April 30, 2019 to allow for additional input 
in the Budget development. Staff has further refined the Budget document based 
on more recent financial information and additional input.   
 
The Draft Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and CIP was presented to the Board 
for review and consideration.  
 
On May 20, 2019, this Commission approved an Administrative Analyst 
Communications position and the transfer of $265,000 of appropriations from 
Salaries/Wages & Benefits to Non-Personnel Operating Expense for FY 2018/19. 
These changes have been incorporated into the attached Final 2019/20 Budget 
Document. 
 
On June 6, 2019, a Special Meeting was held to discuss, among other topics, 
current CIP priorities. Based on Board direction staff added the following projects 
to the CIP: 1) PPH Habitat Restoration at West Trail, 2) PPH EV Parking Places, 
3) PPH RV Restroom, and 4) PPH Coastal Trail Improvements.  In addition, 
direction was given to move Dock improvement project at Oyster Point Marina to 
begin in fiscal year 2020/21.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the Board of Commissioners review the Final 2019/20 
Operating Budget and CIP, receive public comment, make any changes as may 
be desired and adopt Resolution No.19-19 adopting the FY 2019/20 Operating 
Budget and CIP.   
 
Attachments: 
1. Resolution No.19-09 
2. Presentation 
3. Final 2019/20 Operating Budget and CIP 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/f6fef1d81/2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_Reso.19-09.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/2937a6023/2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_PP.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/c10ab25a5/2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20.pdf


 

Resolution No. 19-09 Adopting the Fiscal Year 2019-20 Final Operating Budget and CIP – June 19, 2019 

Resolution No. 19-09 
to 

Adopt the Fiscal Year 2019/20 
Final Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program 

of the 
San Mateo County Harbor District 

Whereas, in accordance with Section 6093 of the Harbors and Navigation Code of the State of California, 
the Board of Harbor Commissioners of the San Mateo County Harbor District (Board), introduced and 
adopted the Preliminary Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program (CIP) for FY 2019/20 on April 
17, 2019; and 

 
Whereas, in accordance with Section 6093.1 of the Harbors and Navigation Code, the Board published a 
notice in the Half Moon Bay Review on April 24, 2019 and May 1, 2019 specifying that: 
 

(a) The Preliminary Budget had been adopted as set forth above; and 
(b) Copies of the Preliminary Budget were available for public inspection on the District's 

website, as well as at the District's Administrative Office.  

Whereas, a public hearing was held at 6:30 PM on June 19, 2019 at the Regular Meeting of the Board 
at the San Mateo County Harbor District Office located at 504 Avenue Alhambra, El Granada, CA, at 
which time the Board heard from any taxpayer that chose to appear and be heard; and 

Whereas, it is in the best interest of the taxpayers of the District that the Final Operating Budget and CIP for 
FY 2019/20 be adopted in the format as set forth, and 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Board hereby fixes and adopts a Final Operating Budget and CIP 
for FY 2019/20 as follows: 

1. $5,270,000 in appropriations for Salaries/Wages and Benefits. 
2. $3,080,000 in appropriations for Non-Personnel Operating Costs. 
3. $200,000 in appropriations for vehicles, vessels and CIP projects not greater than $25,000. 
4. CIP revenue (grants and FEMA funding) and all CIP encumbrances (contract commitments) as of 

June 30, 2019 are hereby incorporated as part of the 2019/20 approved budget, and 

Be It Further Resolved, that the Board shall report the Final Budget to the Board of Supervisors of the 
County of San Mateo in accordance with Section 6093.3 of the Harbors and Navigation Code of the State of 
California. 

 
Approved this 19th day of June 2019 at the Regular Meeting of the Board of Harbor Commissioners by a 
recorded vote as follows: 

 
For: 

Against: 

Absent: 

Abstention: 

Attest    BOARD OF HARBOR COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 _____________________________   ______________________________________ 
Debbie Gehret      Sabrina Brennan 
Deputy Secretary      President 



Fiscal Year 2019/20
Operating Budget & 
Capital Improvement 

Program

San Mateo County Harbor District
06/19/2019



SECTIONS OF BUDGET DOCUMENT

Introduction

Section One- 2019/20 Operating Budget 

Section Two- Five-Year Capital Improvement Program

Section Three- Policies & Definitions



Operating Budget at a Glance

2019/20 PRELIMINARY BUDGET 
COMPARISON TO 2018/19 

PROJECTIONS

Operating Revenues $      4,441,000 $      4,382,000  1.35%

Non-Operating Revenues 7,564,000 7,444,000  1.61%

Total Revenues 12,005,000 11,826,000 1.51%

Salaries/Wages/Benefits Expenditures 5,270,000 4,952,000 6.42%

Non-Personnel Expenditures 3,080,000 3,112,700 -1.05%

Total Expenditures 8,350,000 8,064,700 3.54%

Total Revenues less Expenditures 3,655,000 3,761,300 -2.83%

One-time Expenditures (3,150,000) -100.00%

Working Capital Increase $3,655,000 $611,300 497.91%



Public & Enterprise Services

10%

9%

31%

50%

Property Tax $7,285,000

PPH OPM Administration Working Captial



District Revenue (in millions)

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

FY 2017/18 FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20

Property Tax Berth/Slips Leases/CAPS Grants Other



District Expenditures (in millions)

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

FY 2017/18 FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20

Labor Costs Contract Services Legal Utilities Operating/Other Settlement



Capital Improvement Program (in 
millions)

0

5

10

15

20

25

FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
PPH OPM Admin



Five-Year Forecast (in millions)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
Revenues Expenditure One-time Inc in Working Capital



CIP & Working Capital Forecast (in 
millions)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

FY 2018/19 FY 2019/20 FY 2020/21 FY 2021/22 FY 2022/23 FY 2023/24
CIP funded by Working Capital Working Capital Balance



Pillar Point Harbor

Surfers Beach Restoration

Fishing Pier Repair
Launch Ramp Restroom/ 
Boat Wash/ Ramp 
Improvements

West Trail Erosion Protection

Harbormaster Building

Launch Ramp Dredging



Pillar Point Harbor

Parking Lots B, C2, C3

Johnson Pier Terminus, Fuel Dock Replacement & 
H-Dock Replacement



Re-appropriations of Encumbrances
Project Approval 

Date(s)
Contractor Original 

Contract
Change 
Orders

Total 
Contract

Estimated 
Spending

thru 6/30/19

Estimated 
Encumbrance

Re-appropriation

West Trail Erosion 
Protection

04/04/16
11/01/17
04/17/19

GHD, Inc $184,086
$249,722
$618,145

$1,051,953 $433,713 $618,240

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment 

11/16/17
04/17/19

Damitz $50,000 $56,000 $106,000 $66,000 $40,000

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment

09/19/18 Environmental 
Science

$105,000 - $105,000 $38,000 $67,000

Surfers Beach 
Replenishment

04/11/19 Kinetic Labs $15,080 $15,080 $7,080 $8,000

Johnson Pier Pile Repairs 03/20/19 Moffatt & 
Nichol

$42,300 - $42,300 $10,300 $32,000

PPH RV Park Restroom 04/11/19 Matthews 
Architects

$13,000 - $13,000 $13,000 -

PPH Office Remodel 12/20/17 Matthews 
Architects

$34,100 - $34,100 $34,100 -

Johnson Pier & H-Dock 
Replacement

03/15/17
03/20/19

Moffatt & 
Nichol

$143,700 $1,318,000 $1,461,700 $181,492 $1,280,208

Launch Ramp Dredge 01/18/17 Moffatt & 
Nichol

$24,900 - $24,900 $24,900 -

Launch Ramp Dredge 01/18/17
04/17/19

Damitz $13,993 $47,700 $61,693 $34,693 $27,000

Fishing Pier Rehab 10/18/17 Moffatt & 
Nichol

$82,600 - $82,600 $82,600 -

TOTAL ESTIMATED RE-APPROPRIATION $2,072,448



Summary
• Adopt Fiscal Year 2019/20 Appropriations:

• Salaries/Wages & Benefits $5,270,000

• Non-Personnel Operating Costs 3,080,000

• Capital Appropriations 200,000

• Estimated CIP Encumbrances 2,072,448



 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim General Manager  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Pillar Point Harbor Launch Ramp Dredge Project Invitation for Bid 

Approval 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Motion: (i) Authorize the Interim General Manager, pursuant to an Invitation for Bid (IFB) 
response evaluation from qualified firm(s) and/or individual(s) to assist the San Mateo 
County Harbor District (District) with dredging of the Pillar Point Harbor launch ramp, to 
execute an Agreement with the sole bidder, Dixon Marine Services Inc.(Dixon), for the 
negotiated amount of $344,480.98, and, subject to continued due diligence and 
verification of insurance and other obligations outlined in the IFB, award the contract to 
Dixon Marine Services Inc. 
 
Policy Implications: 
This dredge episode is necessary to clear the launch ramp for public use.  
 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status:  
No negative fiscal impact, $427,000.00 has been budgeted for the launch ramp and 
Surfers Beach dredging in FY19-20. 
 
Background: 
In May 2016 the District entered into a Professional Services Agreement with consultant 
Brad Damitz to coordinate a routine maintenance dredge episode at the PPH Launch 
Ramp.  
 
The historic severe storm events which occurred in Feb of 2017 caused the eastern 
launch ramps to be covered in sand very rapidly. The storms were deemed qualified for 
emergency disaster relief funds from FEMA/CalOES. Therefore, staff and Damitz 
worked to apply for debris removal emergency grant funding and were awarded up to 
$395,504 for reimbursement. Staff have already successfully submitted soft cost 
invoices for FEMA/CalOES reimbursement and will continue to do so. Costs for design, 
engineering, construction/dredging and debris/sediment removal/storage will be 
submitted for reimbursement by FEMA/CalOES emergency grant funding.  



PAGE 2 OF 3 
 

 

 
Photo showing shoaling at the PPH Boat Launch Facility 
 
Damitz began the permitting process and set to work on identifying a temporary staging 
site for sand removed from launch ramp so that it could later be used for beach 
nourishment at Surfers Beach.  
 
To date, all dredging/stockpile permit applications have been submitted and the 
required environmental documentation has been completed, including eelgrass surveys, 
bathymetric surveys, wetland delineations, and sediment sampling/analysis. A stockpile 
site at HMB Airport has been secured and permitted.  
 
The project Invitation for Bid was issued. Bids were due on May 1, 2019. Dixon was the 
sole bidder and initially proposed $482,809.35. In accordance with the IFB terms, the 
District’s design/engineering team determined most efficient work plan and staff 
negotiated with the sole bidder. As a result, Dixon submitted a revised cost proposal for 
$344,480.98 to remove, dewater and stage the 1,600 cubic yards of sediment.     
 
 
 



PAGE 3 OF 3 
 

 

Summary/Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the Interim General Manager, pursuant to an 
Invitation for Bid (IFB) response evaluation from qualified firm(s) and/or individual(s) to 
assist the San Mateo County Harbor District (District) with dredging of the Pillar Point 
Harbor launch ramp, to execute an Agreement with the sole bidder, Dixon Marine 
Services Inc.(Dixon), for the negotiated amount of $344,480.98, and, subject to 
continued due diligence and verification of insurance and other obligations outlined in 
the IFB, award the contract to Dixon Marine Services Inc. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Exhibit A: Dixon revised cost proposal 
2. Exhibit B: Invitation for Bid, 2019-03 PPH Launch Ramp Dredge Project 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/6726aec3f/2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_Exhibit+A%2C+Dixon+Revised+Bid+Form.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/2da225253/2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_Exhibit+B%2C+2019-03+PPH+Boat+Launch+Ramp_IFB.pdf


TO:

SAN MATEO COUNTY HAItBOR DISTRICT

CONTRACT NO. 2019-03
Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging

Bffl FORM

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT
EL GRANADA, CA

Pursuant to the Notice Inviting Bids, the undersigned bidder herewith submits a bid on the bidding fonn or
forms attached hereto and made a part hereof and binds itself on award by the San Mateo County Harbor
District under this bid to execute a contract in accordance with its bid, the bid documents and the award. The
attached Notice Inviting Bids, General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, Technical
Specifications, Bid Fonns, and Addenda, if any, are made a part of this bid and all provisions thereof are
accepted, and all representations and wan-anties required thereby are hereby affinned.

Bids below include all applicable charges, including labor, insurance, bonding, and other costs necessary for
the funiishing of all equipment and the perfonnance of all services called for under the Contract. Prices
quoted shall include all sales or use taxes.

BmDER SHALL SUBMIT QUOTES FOR ALL ITEMS

CONTRACT NO. 2019-03
PILLAR POINT HARBOR BOA T LA UNCH SAMP DREDGING

LINE #
1

2

3

4

5

ITEM #

Task 1

Task 2

Task3

Task 4

Task 5

DESCRIPTION

Mobilization

Silt Curtains

Dredging and Disposal

Designated Upland Disposal Area

Demobilization

TOTAL BID PRICE

AMOUNT

$ I &
$ ^
S l^T
$ J <&
$ ^-60 .
s 80

»0

The Bid Fonn must be signed below in accordance with the General Conditions and Special Provisions. Bids
submitted in any other form will be considered non-responsive and may be rejected.

2019-03 Bid Form BF-1 ft^f^ -5/31/2019



Name Under Which Business is Conducted:

-0 ̂  ̂ ^. ^A-ft. i ^1 p. ̂ </-a.^/^^^s ,Z;zc.
Business Address: P <3 e '' j

Telephone Number: t+/^"- C6ci-~^-i6ct Facsimile Number: ^( - ^ - ^ <?
E-Mail Address: t^\ A^tJ-^a-i. fO^ ^i^oi -\ t^\4~ftj*^<_ <ScA^Ace& . Co (~i

MANDATORY SIGNATURE(S)
(See General Condition 3 and Special Provision 1.3)

IF SOLE OWNER, sign here: I sign as sole owner of the business named above.

IF PARTNERSHIP, one or more partners sign here: The undersigned certify that we are
partners in the business named above and that we sign this Contract proposal with full authority to
do so.

IF CORPORATION OR LCC, sign here: The undersigned certify that they sign this Contoi-act
proposal with full and proper authorization to do so.

Entity Nanae: '"

By:
*By:

Incorp ated under the laws of the State of

Title:

Title: .
ft

* Jfth Bidder is a corporation, this Bid Form must be executed by two coiporate officers, consisting of: (1) the
president, vice president or chair of the board; and (2) die secretaiy, assistant secretary, chief financial officer or
assistant treasurer. In the alternative, tliis Bid Form may be executed by a single officer or a person other than an
officer provided that evidence satisfactoi-y to die District is provided, demonstrating that sucli individual is
authorized to bind the corporatioii (e.g. a copy of a certified resolution from the corporation's board or a copy of
the coi-poration's bylaws).

IF JODNT VENTURE, officers of each participating firm sign here: The undersigned certify
that they sign this Contract proposal with full and proper authorization to do so:

Joiiit

By
By

Venture Name composed of:

Title

Title

2019-03 Bid Form BF-2 &vtS^o - 5/31/2019



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INVITATION FOR BIDS 
CONTRACT No. 2019-03 

 
for 

 
PILLAR POINT HARBOR BOAT LAUNCH 

RAMP DREDGING 



N-1 
 
 

 NOTICE INVITING BIDS 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that sealed bids will be received in the Harbor District Administrative 
Offices, San Mateo County Harbor District (District), either by U.S. Postal Service addressed to its 
mailing address, PO Box 1449, El Granada, CA 94018, or by courier or personal delivery to 504 Avenue 
Alhambra, 2nd Floor, El Granada, CA 94018, on May 01, 2019, by 2:00 p.m., Pacific Standard Time, 
at which time bids will be publicly opened and read for the following: 

CONTRACT NO. 2019-03 
Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging 

The District seeks bids for dredging of sediment that has accumulated on and adjacent to the Pillar 
Point Harbor boat launch ramps. Dredging shall be performed using land-based equipment (e.g. long-
reach excavator). Bids shall be submitted on the District’s “Bid Form” and enclosed in a sealed envelope 
marked “CONTRACT NO. 2019-03 Pillar Point Harbor Launch Ramp Maintenance Dredging” and 
plainly endorsed with Bidder’s name and address.  

Bidders bidding as the prime contractor must possess a valid State of California Contractor’s License at 
the time of contract award.  All subcontractors, if any, must be properly licensed by the State of 
California to perform specialized trades. 

A recommended pre-bid conference and site visit will be held prior to the date of bid opening. District 
staff and consultants will be available to answer general questions pertaining to the solicitation 
documents and the specifications. Any questions that may require staff research to answer or that will 
otherwise modify the meaning or intent of this solicitation shall be submitted to the District in writing 
as described in Special Provision 1.8.  The pre-bid conference will take place on April 8, 2019 at 
10:30 AM at 1 Johnson Pier, Half Moon Bay, CA 94019. There will be a site visit immediately 
following the pre-bid conference.   
 
Bids must be accompanied by a deposit either in the form of a certified or cashier’s check or Bidder’s 
Bond, as described in the documents, which shall be applied to damages sustained by the District in the 
event that the successful Bidder fails or refuses to enter into a contract awarded to it by the District. 

Requests for modifications or clarifications of any requirement must be submitted in writing to San 
Mateo County Harbor District, Interim General Manager, John Moren by e-mail at 
jmoren@smharbor.com or by facsimile at (650) 583-4614 by April 12, 2019 at 4:30 p.m., Pacific 
Standard Time. 

This is a Public Works Contract.  The general prevailing rates of per diem wages and the general 
prevailing rates for regular (straight) time, holiday and overtime work in San Mateo County for each 
craft, classification and type of worker needed to execute the Contract shall be set forth in the current 
General Prevailing Wage Determinations made by the Director of Industrial Relations pursuant to 
California Labor Code Sections 1720 et seq.  The current General Prevailing Wage Determinations are 
incorporated into the Contract, and are available at the California Department of Industrial Relations' 
website (www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr/DPreWageDetermination.htm).   Should the general prevailing wage rates 
not specify a wage determination for a particular type of worker, attention is directed to 8 CCR 16202(b) 
regarding petitioning the Director of the California Department of Industrial Relations for a special wage 
determination.   



N-2 
 
 

The successful Bidder will be required to furnish a Performance Bond and a Payment Bond, both in the 
amount set forth in the Special Provisions. 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 22300, the successful Bidder may submit certain securities in 
lieu of the District withholding funds from progress payments (retention) during the Project. 

Bids will be examined and reported to the Interim General Manager within ninety (90) calendar days 
after the bids have been opened.  The District reserves the right to reject any and all bids, or to waive 
any irregularities or informalities in any bid or in the bid procedure, or to postpone the bid opening for 
good cause.  No Bidder may withdraw its bid for a period of ninety (90) calendar days after the date of 
opening of the bids.  Each Bidder will be notified of award of contract, if award is made. 

Contractors and subcontractors must be registered with the Department of Industrial Relations (DIR) at 
the time of bid, or else the bid may be rejected as non-responsive. (See Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 
1771.1.)  For federally funded projects, the contractor and subcontractors must be registered at the time 
of contract award. (See Labor Code section 1771.1(a).  Each bidder must submit proof of contractor 
registration with DIR (e.g. a hard copy of the relevant page of the DIR's database found at: 
https://efiling.dir.ca.gov/PWCR/Search).  This Contract is subject to monitoring and enforcement by the 
DIR pursuant to Labor Code Section 1771.4. 

To inspect and obtain the Bid Documents or for additional information, please contact San Mateo County 
Harbor District, Interim General Manager, John Moren by telephone at (650) 583-4962, by facsimile at 
(650) 583-4614, or by e-mail at jmoren@smharbor.com. 

 

              
 
Dated at El Granada, this March 28, 2019. 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS FOR BIDDERS 



 

2019-03 GC-1 3/28/2019 
 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS FOR BIDDERS 

 
These General Conditions and Instructions apply to all bids, except insofar as they may 
be modified by the Special Provisions, Technical Specifications or Bid Forms. 

1. Definition of Terms.  Whenever in the Bid or Contract Documents the following terms 
or pronouns in place of them, or abbreviations are used the intent and meaning shall be 
interpreted as follows: 

"District" shall mean San Mateo County Harbor District. 

"Board," "Director," "Directors," or "Board of Directors" shall mean the five (5) member 
governing board of the San Mateo County Harbor District or members thereof. 

"Secretary" means the Administrative Assistant/Deputy Secretary of the Board of the San 
Mateo County Harbor District. 

"General Manager" means General Manager of the San Mateo County Harbor District. 

"Contractor" means the successful bidder to whom a contract is awarded.  

"Written Order" means a written order signed by the General Manager or properly 
authorized representative or agent, mailed to the Contractor at the address designated in 
the firm's Bid, or to such other address as may be designated in writing as its official 
place of business. 

"Bid Documents" or "Contract Documents" mean the Notice Inviting Sealed Bids, 
General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, Technical 
Specifications, Bid Forms and Addenda, if any. 

“Bidder” or “Bid” means Proposer or Proposal, respectively. 

2. Explanations and Clarifications 

A. Request for Interpretation or Correction.  Prospective Bidders must examine the 
Contract Documents carefully.  It shall be the duty of every person contemplating 
submitting a Bid for the proposed Contract, to contact the Secretary and request 
in writing, before bidding, an interpretation or correction of every discrepancy, 
ambiguity, error or omission in any of the Contract Documents which should 
have been discovered by a reasonably prudent Bidder. 

Any interpretation, change, or correction of said Contract Documents will be 
made by addenda only, duly issued by the District.  Copies of such addenda will 
be mailed or delivered to each firm receiving a set of said specifications.  Upon 
such mailing or delivery, such addendum will become a part of the Contract 
Documents, and binding on all Bidders whether or not actual notices of such 
addenda are shown. 



 

2019-03 GC-2 3/28/2019 
 

B. Interpretations or Corrections Binding.  Only the written interpretation or 
correction so given by the District shall be binding.  All oral modifications of the 
Contract Documents are void and ineffective. 

3. Form of Bid and Signature.  The Bid shall be made on the form provided and shall be 
enclosed in a sealed envelope marked and addressed as required.  If the Bid is made by a 
sole owner, it shall be signed with the firm's full name and its address shall be given; if it 
is made by a partnership, it shall be signed with the partnership name by a member of the 
firm, who shall also sign its own name, and the name and address of each member of the 
firm shall be given; and if it is made by a corporation it shall be signed by two officers of 
the corporation, consisting of (1) the chairman of the board, president, or vice president, 
and (2) the secretary, assistant secretary, chief financial officer, assistant financial 
officer, or by a person authorized by the corporation to execute written Contracts on its 
behalf.  If the Bid made by a corporation is signed by a person other than an officer, or 
by only one officer, there must be attached to the Bid a certified copy of a resolution of 
the corporation authorizing such officer or person to sign Bids on behalf of the 
corporation.  If it is made by a joint venture, it shall be signed on behalf of each 
participating company by officers or other individuals who have the full and proper 
authorization so to do.  If it is made by an LLC, it must be signed by an officer or other 
member who has full and proper authorization to execute contracts on behalf of the LLC. 
 Bids submitted in any other form will be considered non-responsive and may be 
rejected. 

4. Bid Form.  Blank spaces in the Bid shall be properly filled.  The phraseology of the Bid 
must not be changed and no additions shall be made to the items mentioned therein.  
Alterations by erasure or interlineations must be explained or noted in the Bid over the 
signature of the Bidder.  If the unit price and the total amount named by a Bidder for any 
item do not agree, the unit price alone will be considered as representing the Bidder's 
intention. Any mathematical errors apparent on the face of the Bid shall be corrected and 
the mathematically correct total shall be used to determine the lowest Bidder. 

5. Unauthorized Conditions.  Unauthorized conditions, limitations or provisions attached 
to a Bid will render it informal and may cause its rejection.  No telegraphic Bids or 
modifications will be considered. 

6. Submission of Bid.  Prior to the hour specified in the notice inviting sealed Bids, all 
Bids shall be delivered to the Secretary at the address shown in the Notice.  All Bids shall 
be in a sealed envelope properly endorsed as to the item being Bid and the Bidder's name 
and address.  No Bids received after said time or at any place other than the time and 
place as stated in the notice will be considered. 

7. Withdrawal of Bid.  Any Bid may be withdrawn at any time prior to the time fixed in 
the public notice for the opening of Bids only by written request for the withdrawal of 
the Bid filed with the District. The request shall be executed by the Bidder or its duly 
authorized representative. 

A telephonic request is not acceptable.  The District will accept facsimile or email 
transmissions of properly executed requests that are received by the District prior to the 
time fixed in the public notice for the opening of Bids.  The District will not be 



 

2019-03 GC-3 3/28/2019 
 

responsible for interruptions, delays, or any other unsuccessful facsimile or email 
transmission of Bid withdrawals, whether or not caused by the District’s facsimile 
equipment.  The withdrawal of a Bid does not prejudice the right of the Bidder to file a 
new Bid.  Whether or not Bids are opened exactly at the time fixed in the public notice 
opening Bids, a Bid will not be received after that time, nor may any Bid be withdrawn 
after the time fixed in the public notice for the opening of Bids. 

8. Canvass of Bid.  At the hour specified in the notice, the Secretary will open, examine 
and publicly declare all Bids received.  Bidders, their representatives, and others 
interested are invited to be present at the opening of Bids.  Award will be made or Bids 
rejected by the District within the time specified in the Specifications or Bid Forms or, if 
not specified, within a reasonable time after Bids have been opened.  The District 
reserves the right to postpone the Bid opening for its own convenience. 

9. Award of Contract.  The award of the Contract, if awarded, will be made to the lowest 
responsible Bidder whose Bid complies with the requirements prescribed and whose 
qualifications are satisfactory to the District.  Such award, if made, will be made within 
ninety (90) days after the opening of the Bids.  If the lowest responsible Bidder refuses or 
fails to execute the Contract or file the required bonds, the District may award the 
Contract to the second lowest responsible Bidder. The periods of time specified above 
within which the award of Contract may be made shall be subject to extension for such 
further period as may be agreed upon in writing between the District and the Bidders 
concerned.  All Bidders shall be notified of the award. 

10. Rejection of Bids.  The District may reject any and all Bids, and must reject the Bid of 
any party who has been delinquent or unfaithful in any former Contract with the District. 
 The District also reserves the right to waive any irregularities or informalities in any Bid 
or in the bidding procedure.  All Bidders shall be notified of the award.  All Bids must 
remain in effect at least ninety (90) days from the Bid opening date. 

11. Taxes.  The supplies, materials or equipment called for under the Specifications will be 
used by the District in the performance of a governmental function and are exempt from 
taxation by the United States Government, and the District will, if requested, furnish a 
tax exemption certificate and any and all affidavits and documents that may be necessary 
to establish such exemption.  California State sales or use taxes shall be included in the 
Bid price. 

12. Additional Taxes.  Any sales tax, use tax, imposts, revenues, excise, or other taxes 
which may hereafter be imposed by the State of California or any political subdivision 
thereof, and applicable to the sale of the material delivered as a result of the Bidder’s Bid 
and which, by the terms of the tax law may be passed directly to the purchases, will be 
included in the Bid price. 

13. Alternative Bid.  Submission of alternative Bid or Bids, except as specifically called for 
in the Specifications or Bid Forms, will render it informal and may cause its rejection. 

14. Bidder's Security.  Each Bidder shall submit with its Bid one of the following forms of 
Bidder's security: 



 

2019-03 GC-4 3/28/2019 
 

(a) An unconditional Certified or Cashier's Check on a solvent bank, in an amount 
equal to at least ten percent (10%) of the amount Bid, payable to the order of San 
Mateo County Harbor District; or 

(b) A Bidder's Bond, in an amount equal to at least ten percent (10%) of the amount 
Bid, using the form entitled "Bidder's Bond," provided with the Bid documents, 
and properly executed and acknowledged by the Bidder and by a corporate surety 
authorized to transact such business in the State of California and acceptable to 
the District. 

Any condition or limitation placed upon said check or any alteration of said form of 
bond, or imperfection in the execution thereof, as herein required will render it informal 
and may, at the option of the District, result in the rejection of the Bid under which such 
check or bond is submitted.  Said check or Bidder's Bond shall be a guarantee that the 
Bidder(s), if awarded the Contract, will execute the required Contract and bonds within 
fifteen (15) days after receipt of the contract and bond forms from the District or such 
additional time as may be allowed by the District.  If the Bidder(s) fails or refuses to 
execute the required Contract and bonds within said time, the money and proceeds from 
the check or bond as the case may be, shall be applied towards payment of the damage to 
the District on account of the delay in the execution of the Contract and bonds and the 
performance of the work thereunder, and the necessity of accepting a higher or less 
desirable Bid resulting from such failure or refusal to execute the Contract and bonds 
required.  The amount of the check or bond as the case may be, shall not constitute a 
limitation upon the right of the District to recover for the full amount of such damage.  
The check or bond of the successful Bidder(s) and the next two highest Bidders will be 
returned after the execution of the Contract with the successful Bidder(s) and the 
approval of its bonds on behalf of the District, and the checks or bonds of the other 
Bidders will be returned promptly after the Bids have been opened and reviewed by the 
District. 

15. Permits.  The District is responsible for obtaining all required permits for the project.  

16. Statement of Experience and Qualifications.   Upon request, the Bidder may be 
required to prove to the District’s satisfaction that it has the skill and experience and that 
it has the necessary facilities and ample financial resources to perform the Contract in a 
satisfactory manner and within the required time. 

17. Waiver.  The Bidder shall represent and warrant that it has sufficiently informed itself in 
all matters affecting the performance of the work or the furnishing of the labor, supplies, 
material or equipment called for in the Specifications; that Bidder has checked its Bid for 
errors and omissions; that the prices stated in its Bid are correct and as intended by it and 
are a complete and correct statement of its prices for performing the work or furnishing 
the labor, supplies, materials or equipment required by the Contract Documents. 

The Bidder waives any claim for the return of its Bid deposit if, on account of errors or 
omissions claimed to have been made by it in its Bid, or for any other reason, it should 
refuse or fail to execute the Contract. 

18. Non-Collusion Certification.   By submitting a Bid, the Bidder represents and warrants 
that such Bid is genuine and not sham or collusive or made in the interest or in behalf of 



 

2019-03 GC-5 3/28/2019 
 

any person not therein named, and that the Bidder has not, directly or indirectly, induced 
or solicited any other Bidder to put in a sham Bid, or any other person, firm or 
corporation to refrain from bidding, and that the Bidder has not in any manner sought by 
collusion to secure to the Bidder an advantage over any other Bidder. 

19. Penalty for Collusion.  If at any time it shall be found that the person, firm or 
corporation to whom a Contract has been awarded has, in presenting any Bid or Bids, 
colluded with any other party or parties, then the Contract so awarded shall be null and 
void and the Contractor and its bondsmen shall be liable to the District for all loss or 
damage which the District may suffer thereby and the District may advertise for a new 
Contract for said labor, supplies, materials or equipment. 

20. Interest of District Personnel.   By submitting a Bid, the Bidder represents and warrants 
that neither the General Manager, nor any Director, officer or employee of the District is 
in any manner interested directly or indirectly in the Bid or in the Contract which may be 
made under it, or in any expected profits to arise therefrom, as set forth in Article 4, 
Division 4, Title 1 (commencing with Sec. 1090) or Title 9 (commencing with Section 
8100 of the Government Code of the State of California. 

21. Representation Before the District.  No person previously in the position of Director, 
Officer, employee, or agent of the District may act as an agent or attorney for, or 
otherwise represent, a Bidder or Contractor by making any formal or informal 
appearance, or any oral or written communication, before the District, or any officer or 
employee of the District, for a period of twelve months after leaving office or 
employment with the District, if the appearance or communication is made for the 
purpose of influencing any action involving the issuance, amendment, award, or 
revocation of a permit, license, grant or Contract. 

22. Time for Execution of Contract and Filing Bond.  The Bidder(s) to whom award is 
made shall execute a written Contract with the District on the form of Contract of the 
District and furnish a good and approved bond as herein required within fifteen (15) days 
after receiving the forms of Contract and bond for execution. 

If the Bidder to whom award is made fails to enter into the Contract as herein provided 
and furnish the said bond, the award will be annulled and an award may, in the discretion 
of the District, be made to the Bidder whose Bid is next most acceptable; and such 
Bidder shall fulfill every stipulation embraced herein as if it were the party to whom the 
first award was made. 

23. Documents Deemed Part of Contract.  The Notice Inviting Sealed Bids, General 
Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, Bid Form, Technical 
Specifications and Addenda, if any, and the Agreement will be deemed a part of the 
Contract. 

24. Governing Law; Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor hereunder shall be governed 
by the laws of the State of California.  The Contractor must comply with all local, state 
and federal laws, rules and regulations applicable to this Contract and to the work to be 
done hereunder, including, all rules and regulations of the District. 



 

2019-03 GC-6 3/28/2019 
 

25. Manner of Execution of Contract.  If the Contractor is an individual, the Contract shall 
be executed by the Contractor personally. If the Contractor is a co-partnership, it is 
desirable that the Contract be executed by all of the partners, but it may be executed by 
one of them.  If the Contractor is a corporation, it must be executed by two officers of the 
corporation consisting of (1) the Chairman of the Board, President or Vice President; and 
(2) the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, Chief Financial Officer or Assistant Treasurer, or 
by a person authorized by the corporation to execute written Contracts on its behalf, and 
the corporate seal affixed thereto.  If the corporate seal is not affixed to the Contract, or if 
it is executed by a person other than an officer, or by only one officer there must be 
attached to the Contract a certified copy of a resolution of the corporation authorizing 
such officer or person to execute written Contracts for and on behalf of the corporation.  
If the Contractor is a joint venture, the Contract must be executed on behalf of each 
participating firm by officers or other individuals who have the full and proper 
authorization so to do.  If the Contractor is an LLC, the Contract must be executed by an 
officer or other member who has full and proper authorization to execute contracts on 
behalf of the LLC. 

26. Faithful Performance Bond.  Upon execution of the contract, the Contractor shall 
furnish a bond to guarantee the faithful performance of the contract. The amount of the 
bond shall be stated in the Special Provisions. The bond shall be with a California-
admitted corporate surety, or with two or more sufficient sureties to be approved by the 
District.  As an alternative to furnishing a bond, Contractor may guarantee faithful 
performance of the contract by (1) depositing with the District a certified check or 
cashier’s check from a solvent bank for the prescribed amount. 

27. Effect of Extensions of Time.  Granting, or acceptance, of extensions of time to 
complete the work or furnish the labor, supplies, materials or equipment, or any one of 
the aforementioned, will not operate as a release to Contractor or the surety on 
Contractor's faithful performance bond from said guarantee. 

28. Changes by the Contractor.  If the Contractor, on account of conditions developing 
during the performance of the contract, finds it impracticable to comply with these 
Specifications and applies in writing for a modification of requirements, such change 
may be authorized only in writing by the General Manager, if not detrimental to the 
District. 

29. Changes by the District.  In case any work, materials or equipment shall be required 
which are not mentioned, specified or indicated or otherwise provided for herein, the 
Contractor shall, if ordered in writing by the General Manager, do and perform such 
work and furnish such materials or equipment at the Contractor's catalogue prices, less 
discounts ordinarily allowed to users of such materials or equipment or at regular labor 
charges less customary discounts, or both. 

The Contractor’s Bid to perform any changes requested by the District shall include the 
cost of the material, engineering time, labor for installation if required and a reasonable 
markup, it any. 

In case any work, materials or equipment which are mentioned, specified or indicated or 
otherwise provided for in the contract or in the Specifications forming a part of the 



 

2019-03 GC-7 3/28/2019 
 

contract shall be required to be omitted from, in or about the work, the Contractor shall, 
if ordered by the General Manager, omit the performance of such work and the 
furnishing of such materials or equipment and there shall be deducted from the amount to 
be paid to the Contractor the amount which the General Manager and the Contractor shall 
determine and mutually agree to be the reasonable value of such work, materials or 
equipment, and such determination and agreement shall be final and conclusive upon the 
Contractor. 

It is understood, however, that the amount of work, materials or equipment required by 
the Contract shall not, in accordance with the above provisions referring to additions or 
omissions, be so increased or diminished as substantially to alter the general character or 
extent of the Contract. 

30. Change Orders.  The Contract may be modified or changed by the District from time to 
time, in order to carry out and complete more fully and perfectly the work agreed to be 
done and performed.  An order that modifies or changes work to be performed under the 
Contract shall be valid only if issued in writing and signed by the General Manager and 
shall designate (1) the change in cost or manner of payment, if any and (2) the effect on 
time for Contract performance, if any.  Work so ordered must be performed by the 
Contractor.   

31. Disputed Work/Claims.  The Contractor must promptly comply with the following 
procedures in the event the Contractor has any dispute regarding (1) the District's 
determination on any change orders relative to adjustments in Contract price, time for 
performance or any other requirement or (2) whether a determination or order by the 
District violates the provisions of the Contract.  Before proceeding with such work or 
complying with such determination or order, or simultaneously, the Contractor must 
notify the General Manager in writing of the reasons for the Contractor's opinion with 
respect to the dispute and request a final determination.  The General Manager shall 
render the final determination within a reasonable time of receipt of such written request. 

If the General Manager determines that the work in question is Contract work and not 
extra work, or that the determination or order complained of is proper, he/she will direct 
the Contractor to proceed, and the Contractor must promptly comply.  However, in order 
to reserve its right to claim compensation for such work or damages resulting from such 
compliance, the Contractor must, within ten (10) days after receiving notice of the 
General Manager's determination and direction, notify the General Manager in writing 
that the work is being performed, or that the determination direction is being complied 
with under protest. 

If the Contractor fails to so appeal to the General Manager for a determination, or having 
so appealed, should the Contractor thus fail to notify the General Manager in writing of 
its protest, the Contractor shall be deemed to have waived any claim for extra 
compensation or damage therefore.  Oral appeals or oral protests, no matter to whom 
made, shall not be deemed even substantial compliance with the provisions of this 
Section. 

32. Notice of Potential Claim.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to the payment of any 
additional compensation or damages for any cause, including any act or failure to act by 



 

2019-03 GC-8 3/28/2019 
 

the District, or the happening of any event, thing or occurrence, unless, it shall give the 
District due written notice of potential claim as described below.  Compliance with this 
section shall not be a prerequisite as to matters within the scope of the protest provisions 
in General Condition 31, "Disputed Work/Claims." 

The written notice of potential claim shall set forth the reasons for which the Contractor 
believes additional compensation or damages will or may be due, the nature of the cost 
involved and, insofar as possible, the amount of the potential claim.  The notice must be 
given to the General Manager prior to the time that the Contractor shall have performed 
the work giving rise to the potential claim for additional compensation or damages, if 
based on an act or failure to act by the District, or in all other cases, within fifteen days 
after the happening of the event, thing or occurrence giving rise to the potential claim. 

It is the intention of this section that differences between the parties arising under and by 
virtue of the Contract be brought to the attention of the District at the earliest possible 
time in order that such matters may be settled, if possible, or other appropriate action 
promptly taken.  The Contractor agrees that it shall have no right to additional 
compensation or damages for any claim that may be based on any such act, failure to act, 
event, thing or occurrence for which no written notice of potential claim as required was 
filed. 

33. Contractor’s Liability.  The Contractor will indemnify, keep and save harmless the 
District, its agents, officials and employees, against all suits or claims arising out of any 
injury or death to persons or property caused by, resulting from, relating to, or alleged to 
have been caused by, result from, or relate to, the acts or omissions of the Contractor 
(including its employees and subcontractors) , whether or not it has been alleged that the 
injury was caused through a negligent act or omission of the Contractor (or its employees 
or subcontractors), unless the injury was caused by the willful misconduct or the sole or 
active negligence on the part of the District, its agents, officials or employees. The 
Contractor will, at its own expense, defend any and all such actions, and will at its own 
expense pay all charges of attorneys and all costs and other expenses arising therefrom or 
incurred in connection therewith. If any judgment is rendered against the District in any 
such action, the Contractor will at its own expense satisfy and discharge the same. 

34. Approval by the General Manager.  The work shall be executed under the direction 
and supervision of the General Manager or his designee, on whose inspection all work 
shall be accepted or condemned.  The General Manager shall have full power to reject or 
condemn any materials furnished or work performed under the Contract which do not 
conform to the terms and conditions set forth in the Contract Documents. 

35. Defective or Damaged Work.  The Contractor agrees that within ten calendar days after 
being notified in writing by the District of any work not in accordance with the 
requirements in the Contract or of any defects in the work, it will commence and 
prosecute with due diligence all work necessary to fulfill the requirements of the 
Contract or correct the defect, and will complete such work in a reasonable period of 
time and at no additional cost to the District. 

If the Contractor fails to promptly comply with this provision, the Contractor hereby 
authorizes the District to proceed to have such work done at the Contractor’s expense, 



 

2019-03 GC-9 3/28/2019 
 

and Contractor agrees to honor and pay the costs and charges upon the District’s demand. 
 In the alternative, the District may elect to deduct the costs and charges from any 
compensation due or to become due to the Contractor.  The District shall be entitled to all 
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees, necessarily incurred upon the 
Contractor’s refusal to pay the above costs and charges.  Nothing in the provision shall 
limit or restrict the warranty provisions set forth in the General Conditions, Special 
Provisions, and Technical Specifications. 

36. Independent Contractor.  Neither Contractor nor any of the Contractor's employees is, 
or shall be deemed, an agent or employee of the District, and in the performance of all 
work hereunder, Contractor shall be an independent Contractor, shall comply with all 
applicable Worker's Compensation laws, shall pay all required Social Security taxes and 
Unemployment Compensation taxes, and shall pay or perform all other obligations 
imposed upon an employer of labor, all at Contractor's expense, and, furthermore, shall 
indemnify the District against any and all liability as a result of Contractor's failure to 
perform any of the foregoing requirements. 

37. Protection of Work and of Persons and Property.  During performance and up to the 
date of final acceptance by the District, the Contractor shall be under an absolute 
obligation to protect the finished and unfinished work against any damage, loss or injury. 
 In the event of damage, loss or injury to the finished and unfinished work, the 
Contractor shall promptly replace or repair such work, whichever the District shall 
determine to be preferable.  The obligation to deliver finished work in strict accordance 
with the Contract shall be absolute and shall not be affected by the District's approval of 
or failure to prohibit means and methods of construction used by the Contractor. 

During the performance of this Contract and up to the date of final acceptance, the 
Contractor must take all reasonable precautions to protect the persons and property of 
others from damage, loss or injury. Within three (3) days after notice to it of the 
happening of any such loss, damage or injury to work, persons and property, the 
Contractor shall make a full and complete report thereof in writing to the District. 

Under this article the Contractor assumes the following distinct and several risks, 
whether they arise from acts or omissions (whether negligent or not) of the Contractor, or 
the District, or the District's Representative, or of third persons; or from any other cause, 
and whether such risks are within or beyond the control of the Contractor, excepting risks 
which arise solely from District or District Representative's active negligence or 
affirmative acts  with actual and willful intent to cause the loss, damage and injuries, and 
professional errors and omissions of the District or of the District's Representative: 

a. The risk of loss or damage to the finished and unfinished Work prior to final 
acceptance by the District; 

b. The risk of claims, just or unjust, by third persons against the Contractor, the 
District or the District's Representative on account of injuries (including wrongful 
death), loss or damage of any kind whatsoever arising or alleged to arise out of or 
in connection with the performance of the Work (whether or not actually caused 
by or resulting from the performance of the Work) or out of or in connection with 
the Contractor's operations or presence at or in the vicinity of the work site, 



 

2019-03 GC-10 3/28/2019 
 

whether such claims are made and whether such injuries, damage and loss are 
sustained at any time both before and after final acceptance of the Work;  

c. The risk of loss or damage to any property, including the loss of use thereof of 
the Contractor, and of claims made against the Contractor, the District, or the 
District's Representative for loss or damage to any property, including the loss of 
use thereof of subcontractors, material men, workmen and other performing the 
Work, occurring at any time prior to completion of removal of such property 
from the premises or in the vicinity thereof. 

Neither the acceptance of the completed Work or payment therefore shall release the 
Contractor from its obligations under this article.  The enumeration elsewhere in this 
Contract of particular risks assumed by the Contractor or of particular claims for which it 
is responsible shall not be deemed to limit the effect of the provisions of this article or to 
imply that it assumes or is responsible for only risks or claims of the type enumerated; 
and neither the enumeration in this article nor the enumeration elsewhere in this Contract 
of particular risks assumed by the Contractor or of particular claims for which it is 
responsible shall be deemed to limit the risks which the Contractor would assume or the 
claims for which it would be responsible in the absence of such enumerations. 

Except as these specifications otherwise may provide, all loss or damage of any sort or 
nature arising from any unforeseen obstruction or difficulties, either natural or artificial, 
or from any act or omission not authorized by these specifications on the part of the 
Contractor, or any agent or person employed by it, shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor. 

The provisions of this Article shall not be deemed to create any new right of action in 
favor of third parties against the Contractor, or the District. 

38. Damages.  All loss or damage arising from any unforeseen obstruction or difficulties, 
whether natural or artificial, which may be encountered in the prosecution of the work, or 
the furnishing of the supplies, materials or equipment, or from any action of the elements 
prior to the final acceptance of the work or of the supplies, materials or equipment, or 
from any act or omission not authorized by these Specifications on the part of the 
Contractor or any agent or person employed by it shall be sustained by the Contractor. 

39. Failure to Complete Contract-Effect.  In case of failure on the part of the Contractor to 
complete its Contract within the specified time or within authorized extensions thereof, 
the Contract may be terminated and the District shall in such event not thereafter pay or 
allow to the Contractor any further compensation for any labor, supplies or materials 
furnished by it under said Contract; and the District may proceed to complete such 
Contract either by reletting or otherwise, and the Contractor and its bondsmen shall be 
liable to the District for all loss or damage which it may suffer on account of the 
Contractor's failure to complete its Contract within the specified time. 

40. Non-Performance of Contract.   

a. Right to Stop Work.  Authority to stop the work, in whole or in part is vested in 
the District and may be invoked whenever it deems such action necessary to 



 

2019-03 GC-11 3/28/2019 
 

insure proper execution of the Contract; work may not be resumed until the 
District has given written consent. 

b. Rejection of Materials and Workmanship.  The District has the right to reject 
defective material and workmanship and to require its replacement or correction 
without additional cost to District. Defective material and workmanship includes, 
but is not limited to, materials and workmanship that does not meet the 
requirements of the specifications of this Contract reasonably interpreted in the 
sole discretion of the District.   Contractor shall promptly segregate and remove 
rejected work.  All adjacent work disturbed by removal of such work shall be 
replaced in accordance with this Contract and without expense to the District 
including work of other Contractors disturbed by such removals and 
replacements. 

(1) If Contractor fails to proceed at once with replacement of rejected work, 
District may, by Contract or otherwise, replace such material and correct 
such workmanship and charge the cost to the Contractor, or District may 
terminate right of the Contractor to proceed.  The Contractor and its surety 
shall be liable for any damage to same extent as provided for by 
terminations hereunder. 

(2) If rejected materials are not removed within a reasonable time, District 
may cause them to be removed and stored at Contractor's expense three 
days after issuing written notice to so remove them.  If Contractor does 
not pay for such removal and storage within six days thereafter, District 
may, six days after further written notice, sell the materials and credit 
Contractor with net proceeds after all costs of removal and sale are 
deducted.  If materials so removed are valueless or sale does not meet cost 
of removal, Contractor shall bear all resultant loss. 

c. Neglected Work.  District may perform or employ others to undertake portions of 
the work persistently neglected by the Contractor if work is still proceeding 
unsatisfactorily three days after written notice to the Contractor.  In such case 
work will be done according to the Contract Documents and the cost deducted 
from next payment falling due to the Contractor.  Such action shall in no way 
affect status of either party under Contract, nor be held as basis of any claim by 
the Contractor or for extension of time. 

d. Right to Withhold Payment.  Part or whole of any payment or any certificate may 
be withheld by District if such course is deemed necessary to protect District from 
loss on account of Contractor's failure to meet its obligations or if balances 
unpaid to Contractor are insufficient to complete the work.  This right may also 
be exercised if in District's opinion the work will not be completed in time 
specified for performance of the Contract. 

41. Termination of Right to Proceed.  If the Contractor should appear to the District to be 
in default and the Contractor fails to remedy its default within five (5) days after receipt 
from the District of notice of such default, the District may terminate the Contractor's 



 

2019-03 GC-12 3/28/2019 
 

right to proceed with work or that portion which the District determines is most directly 
affected by the default. 

The term "default" for purposes of this provision includes, but is not limited to, the 
performance of work in violation of the terms of the Contract; abandonment, assignment 
or subletting of the Contract without approval of the District, bankruptcy or appointment 
of a receiver for Contractor's property; failure to maintain the schedule of work; refusal 
or failure to maintain the schedule of work; refusal or failure properly to prosecute the 
work; use of materials, supplies, plant or equipment of improper quality or quantity; 
refusal or failure to provide proper workmanship; failure to take effective steps to end a 
prolonged labor dispute; and the performance of the Contract in bad faith. 

Upon the District's termination of the Contractor's right to proceed with the work or a 
portion of it, the District will have the right to complete the work or the portion by 
whatever means and methods it deems expedient, including the hiring of others on such 
terms as the District deems advisable. 

The expense of completing such work or portion thereof, together with a reasonable 
charge for managerial and administrative services as certified by the District, will be 
charged to the Contractor, and the expense so charged will be deducted by the District 
out of such monies as may be due or may at any time thereafter become due to the 
Contractor.  In case such expense is more than the sum which otherwise would have been 
payable to the Contractor under the Contract, then the Contractor or its surety or sureties 
shall promptly pay the amount of such excess to the District, upon notice from the 
District of the excess so due.  The District may, in its sole discretion, withhold all or any 
part of any progress payments otherwise due to the Contractor until completion and final 
settlement of the work covered by such notice of default. 

42. Payments.  Unless otherwise stated in the Specifications or Bid forms, the District shall 
pay the Contractor within thirty (30) days after the District issues a written notice of final 
acceptance. 

43. Liquidated Damages.  It is agreed by the parties to the Contract that time is of the 
essence, and in event of delay in completion of the work or the delivery of the supplies, 
materials or equipment beyond the date set forth in the Contract documents, or beyond 
authorized extensions thereof, damage will be sustained by the District and that it is or 
will be impracticable to determine the actual amount of the damage by reason of such 
delay, and it is, therefore, agreed that the District shall be paid an amount as set forth in 
the Special Provisions as liquidated damages.  If no amount is set forth, Contractor shall 
be liable for actual damages for each and every calendar day that the time consumed in 
said completion extends beyond the date herein specified in that the District will suffer 
by reason of said delay or default.  If the delay in delivery is caused by strikes, 
government controls or other causes beyond the control of the Contractor, an extension 
of time without liquidated damages liability shall be granted by the District upon a 
proper showing and finding by the District that the extension is justified. 

44. Insurance Certificates.  Certificates of insurance required by the Special Provisions 
shall be delivered to the District concurrently with the executed Contract. The District 
reserves the right to request certified copies of an insurance policy if questions arise. 



 

2019-03 GC-13 3/28/2019 
 

All required insurance under this Contract shall provide adequate protection for the San 
Mateo County Harbor District, its Officers, Agents, Representatives and Employees, 
while acting in such capacity and their successors or assignees, as they now or as they 
may hereinafter be constituted singly, jointly or severally, and the Contractor, against all 
claims, liability damages and accidents of any kind. 

45. Infringement of Patents.  The Contractor agrees that it will, at its own expense, defend 
all suits or proceedings instituted against the District and pay any award of damages 
assessed against the District in such suits or proceedings, insofar as the same are based on 
any claim that the materials or equipment, or any part thereof, or any tool, article or 
process used in the manufacture thereof, constitutes an infringement of any patent of the 
United States provided the District gives to the Contractor prompt notice in writing of the 
institution of the suit or proceeding and permits the Contractor through its counsel to 
defend the same and gives the Contractor all needed information, assistance and authority 
to enable the Contractor so to do. 

46. Assignment.  The Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, sublet or otherwise 
dispose of the Contract or its right, title or interest in or to the same, or any part thereof, 
without previous consent in writing of the General Manager endorsed thereon or attached 
thereto. 

47. Warranty of Title.  Contractor shall warrant to the District, its successors and assigns, 
that the title to the material, supplies or equipment covered by the Contract, when 
delivered to the District or to its successors or assigns, is free from all liens and 
encumbrances.  

48. Warranty of Fitness.  Contractor hereby warrants that all materials furnished shall meet 
the requirements and conditions of the Bid documents; shall be fit for the purposes 
intended and fulfill its design functions; shall be free of all patent and latent defects in 
design materials, and workmanship and perform satisfactorily. 

It is understood and agreed that by acceptance of this warranty and the acceptance of 
materials or supplies to be manufactured or assembled pursuant to these Specifications, 
District does not waive any warranty, either expressed or implied in Sections 2312 to 
2317, inclusive, of the Commercial Code of the State of California or any products 
liability of the Contractor as determined by any applicable decision of a court of the State 
of California or of the United States. 

49. Time of Completion.  The Contractor shall complete all or any designated portion of the 
work called for under the Contract in all parts and requirements within the time set forth 
in the Special Provisions. 

Time shall be computed starting the first day after the effective date of the Notice to 
Proceed.  The effective date of the Notice to Proceed will be the date stated as such in the 
Notice to Proceed, provided that in no case will such effective date be earlier than the 
date of the issuance of such Notice to Proceed. 

50. Or Approved Equal Clause.  In order to establish a basis of quality, certain materials, 
processes and type of machinery and equipment, or kinds of materials may be specified 
on the plans or herein, either by description of process or by designating a manufacturer 



 

2019-03 GC-14 3/28/2019 
 

by name or by referring to a brand of product designation, or by specifying a kind of 
material.  It is not the intent of these Specifications to exclude other processes, equipment 
or materials of equal Value, Utility or Merit which are approved by the District. 

51. Antitrust Claims.  The Contractor's attention is directed to California Government Code 
Section 4552, which shall be applicable to the Contractor and its subcontractors: 

In submitting a Bid to a public purchasing body, the Bidder offers 
and agrees that if the Bid is accepted, it will assign to the 
purchasing body all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of 
action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act  (15 U.S.C. 
Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 (commencing 
with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and 
Professions Code), arising from purchases of goods, materials, or 
services by the Bidder for sale to the purchasing body pursuant to 
the Bid.  Such assignment shall be made and become effective at 
the time the purchasing body tenders final payment to the Bidder. 

52. Environmental and Safety and Health Standards Compliance.  Contractor shall 
comply with applicable environmental statues, regulations and guidelines in performing 
the work under this Contract.  The Contractor shall also comply with applicable 
Occupational Safety and Health standards, regulations and guidelines in performing the 
work under this Contract. 

53. Equal Employment Opportunity.  In connection with the performance of this Contract, 
the Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or an applicant for 
employment because of race, color, religion, gender, national origin, ancestry, age, 
marital status, pregnancy, medical condition, disability, or sexual orientation as provided 
for in Federal, State and local laws in consideration of an award. 

The Contractor shall take affirmative action to insure that applicants are employed, and 
that employees are treated during their employment, without regard to the above factors. 
 Such actions shall include but not be limited to the following: demotion or transfer; 
recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay; other forms of 
compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

54. Rights and Remedies of the District.  The rights and remedies of the District provided 
herein shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies 
provided by law or under the Contract. 

55. Qualification Questionnaire.  The Contractor shall submit, prior to execution of this 
Agreement, documentation showing whether or not the Contractor, any officer of the 
Contractor, or any employee of the Contractor, has ever been disqualified, removed, or 
otherwise prevented from bidding on or completing any federal, state or local 
government project because of a violation of law or safety regulation.  For this purpose, 
Contractor must complete the bidders statement of Qualification Questionnaire and 
Financial Statement with Business Reference, which is included in the Bidder’s 
Statement of Qualifications Questionnaire and Financial Statement with Business 
References. 



 

2019-03 GC-15 3/28/2019 
 

56. Bid Protest Procedures.  FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH ANY OF THE 
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN THE DISTRICT'S BID PROTEST 
PROCEDURES MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF THE PROTEST.   

a. Protests Based Upon the Specifications. 

(1) Pre-Protest Procedures.  Bidders must first utilize any procedures in the 
specifications for Approved Equals or Requests for Clarifications or 
Modifications, prior to submitting a protest.  If the bidder disagrees with 
the District’s decision on such requests, the bidder may then avail itself of 
the bid protest procedures.   

(2) Submission of Protest. Protests based upon restrictive specifications or 
alleged improprieties in the bidding procedure or contract specifications, 
which are apparent or reasonably should have been discovered prior to bid 
opening, shall be filed in writing with the District not later than five 
calendar days before the bid opening or proposal due date.  The protest 
must clearly specify in writing the grounds and evidence on which the 
protest is based.  If the protestor later raises new grounds or new evidence 
that reasonably could have been raised, the District will not consider such 
new grounds or evidence in the determination on the protest.  Staff shall 
respond to the protest with its written determination prior to bid opening 
or proposal due date.  Where the staff determination could affect bid 
responses, an appropriate extension of the bid opening or proposal due 
date may be granted. 

(3) Review by the General Manager.  If the protest is denied, the bidder may 
pursue its protest to the General Manager.  Within forty-eight (48) hours 
of receipt of the staff's written determination to deny the protest, the 
bidder must submit in writing to the General Manager a statement of the 
reasons for the protest, with supporting evidence, and document that it has 
exhausted all administrative remedies at the District staff level.  The 
General Manager will issue a written decision prior to the bid opening, 
which shall be final. 

b. Protests Based Upon Contract Award. 

(1) Notice of Staff Recommendation for Award of Contract.  Upon 
conclusion of the bid evaluation for each contract, the District shall send a 
notice to all bidders of the staff’s recommendation for contract award.  
Such notice shall be sent at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the Board 
or Committee meeting, if applicable, at which the recommendation will be 
considered. 

(2) Submission of Protest; Initial Procedures.  Protests based upon alleged 
improprieties that are not apparent or which could not reasonably have 
been discovered prior to bid opening, such as disputes over the staff 
recommendation for contract award, shall be submitted in writing to the 
District by the deadline specified in the notice from the District advising 
of the staff’s recommendation for award of contract. 



 

2019-03 GC-16 3/28/2019 
 

(3) The protest must clearly specify in writing the grounds and evidence on 
which the protest is based.  If the protestor later raises new grounds or 
new evidence not previously set forth in written submissions that 
reasonably could have been raised earlier, the District will not consider 
such new grounds or evidence in the determination on the protest.   

(4) The Deputy Secretary of the District will make best efforts to notify the 
other bidders of the protest, and the time and place it will be considered 
by the Board. 

c. Proceedings Before the Board.  The protestor may appear before the Board to 
present evidence in support of its appeal.  After consideration of the protestor’s 
evidence, the staff recommendation, and any other relevant information, the 
Board may determine whether to reject or allow the protest.  Upon Board action, 
a written statement of the reasons therefore shall be included in the record. 

 The decision of the Board on the protest and the award of contract, if such a 
decision is made, shall be final.  

d. Protests after Contract Award. No protests will be considered after contract 
award, except for compelling reasons whereby the lateness is due to the District’s 
untimely handling of the protest submission.  In no event will the District consider 
protests filed after contract award due to the neglect of the protestor.  Failure to comply 
with the time periods for filing protests as set forth herein shall be a basis for rejection of 
the protest. 

57. Air Pollution Control.  The Contractor shall comply with all air pollution control rules, 
regulations, ordinances and statutes which apply to any work performed pursuant to the 
Contract, including any air pollution control rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes, 
specified in Section 11017 of the Government Code.  Material to be disposed of shall not 
be burned, either inside or outside the work site. 

58. Water Pollution Control.  The Contractor shall comply with all water pollution control 
rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes which apply to any work performed pursuant 
to this Contract. 

The Contractor shall exercise every reasonable precaution to protect streams, lakes, 
reservoirs, bays, coastal waters and other bodies of water from pollution with fuels, oils, 
bitumens, calcium chloride and other harmful materials, and shall conduct and schedule 
its operations so as to avoid or minimize muddying and silting of said waters. 

59. Compliance with Law. 

(a) The Contract documents, and the rights of the parties thereunder, shall be 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

(b) The Contractor warrants that all operational practices of the Contractor, and all 
workmanship and material, equipment and articles used in the performance of the 
work hereunder shall be in accordance with the rules and requirements of the 
United States Coast Guard in effect at the time of Contractor's submission of Bid. 



 

2019-03 GC-17 3/28/2019 
 

 In addition, all safety orders, rules and recommendations of the State of 
California, Division of Industrial Safety, and the United States Department of 
Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration applicable to the work to 
be done under this Contract shall be obeyed and enforced by the Contractor. 

60. Discharge of Liens.  The Contractor shall pay all costs and expenses incident to any 
work performed by it or for its account, and shall not create, incur, suffer or permit to be 
placed or imposed any lien or encumbrance or charge in any way arising from any act or 
omission of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall orally or in writing inform all persons 
dealing with it in performing the work of the provisions of this paragraph. 

The Contractor shall immediately discharge or cause to be discharged any lien or right in 
rem of any kind, other than in favor of the District, and if any such lien or right in rem is 
not immediately discharged, the District may, after notification to the Contractor, 
discharge or cause to be discharged such lien or right at the expense of the Contractor. 

 
 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-1 3/28/2019 
 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
 
 

CONTRACT NO. 2019-03 
Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging 

  
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
Coordination of General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, and 
Technical Specifications.  The General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, 
and Technical Specifications are intended to be complementary and to describe and provide for a 
complete work.  In the event that there are inconsistencies or discrepancies between provisions 
contained in these components of the Contract Documents, the Special Provisions and Technical 
Specifications shall govern over the General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders. 
 
SECTION 1. BID REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1.1 Bid Invited.  The San Mateo County Harbor District (District) invites bids for Pillar Point 

Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging, in full accordance with these specifications.  
 
1.2 Schedule of Activities.  Listed below is the “Schedule of Activities” which outlines 

pertinent dates of which Bidders should make themselves aware.  These dates may be subject 
to change. 

 
DATE ACTIVITY 

April 8, 2019 @ 10:30 a.m. Recommended Pre-Bid Conference and site visit 
at 1 Johnson Pier, Half Moon Bay, CA 94019 

April 12, 2019 @ 4:30 p.m.  Written requests for approved 
equals/modifications/clarifications are due. 

April 19, 2019  District will respond to requests for approved 
equals (Postmarked). 

May 1, 2019 @ 2:00 p.m.  

Bid Opening 
 
San Mateo County Harbor District  
 

 
1.3 Bid Form.  Bids shall be submitted on the District’s “Bid Form” attached hereto, enclosed 

in a sealed envelope marked “CONTRACT NO. 2019-03, Pillar Point Harbor Boat 
Launch Ramp Dredging,” and plainly endorsed with the Bidder’s name and address.  Bids 
must be received by the Deputy Secretary, San Mateo County Harbor District, at its mailing 
address PO Box 1449, El Granada, CA 94018, or by courier or personal delivery to 504 
Avenue Alhambra, 2nd Floor, El Granada, CA 94018 by May 1, 2019, at 2:00 p.m. Pacific 
Time, at which time they will be publicly opened and read in the Board Room of said 
building.  
 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-2 3/28/2019 
 

The Total Bid Price shall include all labor, equipment, materials, applicable taxes, delivery 
charges, warranties, insurance, license fees, bonds, and all other costs necessary for removal 
of and relocation of dredged materials from Pillar Point Harbor boat launch ramps.  

 
Each Bid Form must be signed on Bid Form page 2 by one or more individuals with 
authority to bind the Contractor to the bid.  Please refer to General Condition 3 and the Bid 
Form.  All bids without the appropriate signature(s) on Bid Form page 2 may be deemed 
non-responsive and may result in the rejection of the bid.  Bidder must submit the three-page 
Bid Form properly executed. 

 
1.4 Examination of Contract Documents and Site of Work.  The Bidder shall have examined 

carefully the Contract Documents.  The submission of a Bid shall be conclusive evidence 
that the Bidder has investigated and is satisfied as to the conditions to be encountered, the 
character, quality and scope of work to be performed, the quantities of materials to be 
furnished and the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 

1.5 Pre-Bid Conference and Site Visit.  A recommended pre-bid conference and site visit will 
be held prior to the date of bid opening. District staff will be available to answer general 
questions pertaining to the solicitation documents and the specifications. Any questions that 
may require staff research to answer or that will otherwise modify the meaning or intent of 
this solicitation shall be submitted to the District in writing as described in Special Provision 
1.8. The pre-bid conference will take place on April 8, 2019, at 10:30 a.m., Pacific 
Standard Time, 1 Johnson Pier, Half Moon Bay, CA 94019.   
 

1.6 Documents to Accompany Bid.  The bid shall be accompanied by the following: 
 

(1) The Bidder’s Bond or certified or cashier’s check required by Section 14 of the 
General Conditions and Section 1.10 of the Special Provisions in an amount equal to 
at least ten percent (10%) of the proposed Total Contract Price 

(2) Certificate of Insurance in accordance with Special Provision 4.1.C 
(3) List of Subcontractors 
(4) Acknowledgement of Addenda, if any 
(5) Qualification Questionnaire 
(6) Proof of DIR Registration in accordance with Special Provision 5.15 
(7) Non-Collusion Declaration 

 
1.7 Approved Equals and Qualified Products.  It should be understood that specifying a brand 

name or specific types of components and/or equipment in these specifications shall not 
relieve the Bidder from its responsibility to furnish the end product in accordance with the 
warranty and contractual requirements.  The Bidder is responsible for notifying the District 
of any inappropriate brand names, or types of components and/or equipment that may be 
called for in these specifications and to propose a suitable substitute for consideration. 
Unless otherwise specifically provided in the specifications, reference to any equipment, 
material, article or patented process by trade name, make, or catalog number shall be 
regarded as establishing a standard of quality and shall not be construed as limiting 
competition; and a Bidder may, at its option, use any equipment, material, article or process 
which, in the judgment of the District, is equal to that designated. 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-3 3/28/2019 
 

The Bidder shall furnish, at its own expense, all test results, technical data, and background 
information required by the District in making the determination as to whether the proposed 
equipment, material, article or process is an approved equal.  The District shall be the sole 
judge as to the comparative equality and suitability of alternative equipment, article, material 
or process and its decision shall be final. 
 

1.8 Request for Approved Equals/Questions/Clarifications.  A Bidder may submit to the 
District requests for approved equals, modifications, or clarifications regarding any 
requirements, terms, or conditions contained herein. Any such requests must be received in 
writing by April 12, 2019 at 4:30 p.m., Pacific Time.  Any requests of approved equals 
must be fully supported with samples, technical data, test results, or other pertinent 
information as evidence that the substitute offered is essentially equal or better than that 
specified in the Contract Documents.  The District shall make a determination on each 
Bidder’s request under this procedure in writing.  The written determination shall be mailed 
or otherwise furnished to the Bidder by April 19, 2019.  Failure of the District to respond 
within the time limit shall be deemed to be a denial of request.  In the event that a request for 
an approved equal, modification, or clarification is granted, an addendum detailing the 
approved equal, modification, or clarification will be mailed or otherwise furnished to all 
potential Bidders who received bid packets. 

 
1.9 Single-Bid Response.  In the event of a single-bid response, the District reserves the right to 

conduct a price and/or cost analysis of the bid to verify that the bid price is fair and 
reasonable.  The Bidder will be expected to cooperate in this process and to submit cost and 
pricing data to verify that the bid price is fair and reasonable.  The right of examination shall 
extend to all documents necessary to permit adequate evaluation of the cost of the 
replacement and the prices quoted and shall include the computations and projections used 
by the Bidder. 

 
Failure to submit the data as requested by the District within ten (10) calendar days of 
receipt of written notification to the sole offeror shall result in the Bidder being declared 
non-responsive. 

 
1.10 Bidder’s Bond.  As required by Section 14 of the General Conditions and Instructions for 

Bidders, the Bidder’s Security to be submitted with the Bid shall be in the amount of at least 
ten (10) percent of the Total Bid Price as specified on the Bid Form. 
 

SECTION 2. AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 
2.1 Award of Contract.  The award of Contract, if any, will be made within ninety (90) 

calendar days after the date of bid opening to the lowest responsible Bidder based on the 
Total Bid Price. Each bid as submitted shall remain in effect for ninety (90) calendar days 
after the date the bids are opened.  No Bidder may withdraw its bid during this time period.  
The lowest responsive and responsible Bidder shall be determined by comparing and 
evaluating the Total Bid Price as set forth in the Bid Form. The District reserves the right to 
reject any and all bids or to waive any irregularities in any bid or in the bidding procedure. 
 

2.2 Contract Bonds 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-4 3/28/2019 
 

 
A. Performance Bond.  The Performance Bond as described in Paragraph 26 of the 

General Conditions shall be in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) of the 
total contract price, as awarded by the District.  Said bond shall guarantee the 
Contractor’s faithful performance of the Contract and compliance with all terms, 
conditions and requirements specified in the Contract Documents and shall remain in 
full force and effect for a period of twelve (12) months after the District’s final 
acceptance of the Contractor’s work in accordance with Special Provision 3.2 
hereof.  The Contractor shall use the form entitled “Performance Bond” included in 
the Contract Documents. 
 

B. Payment Bond.  The Contractor shall provide a payment bond in the amount equal 
to one hundred percent (100%) of the total contract price and issued by California 
admitted surety. The payment bond shall provide security for Contractor's full 
payment to all subcontractors for costs of materials, equipment, supplies, and labor 
furnished in the course of the performance of the Contract. Full compensation for 
furnishing the payment bond is included in the total contract price. 

 
SECTION 3. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 
 
3.1 General.  The Contractor shall perform all work and undertake all services detailed in the 

Contract Documents in accordance with the specified requirements, terms and conditions. 
 
3.2 Acceptance and Payment.  The Contractor shall notify the District once it has completed 

all work and services detailed in the Contract Documents in accordance with the specified 
requirements, terms and condition.  Following the Contractor's notification, the District shall 
undertake a thirty (30)-calendar-day period for inspection.  The District will notify the 
Contractor in writing within said thirty (30) calendar days as to whether the work and 
services have been accepted. 

If the District determines that the work and services are not in conformity with the 
specification requirements, or that there are defects or deficiencies requiring correction, the 
District will notify the Contractor of such deficiencies or nonconformity in writing within 
the aforementioned thirty (30)-day period.  The Contractor shall promptly correct or remedy 
any and all deficiencies or defects noted by the District at no cost to the District.  The 
Contractor shall complete the necessary corrections within fifteen (15) days of the District's 
notification of deficiencies or nonconformity.  At such time as the Contractor has made all 
necessary corrections to the satisfaction of the District, the District shall issue the Contractor 
a written notice of final acceptance.  In the event the Contractor fails to remedy the 
deficiencies, the District shall have the right to reject the work and terminate the Contract for 
breach as provided below in Special Provision Section 3.7, Termination.  Alternatively, the 
District may cause the repair to be made by its own or other forces, whereupon the cost of 
the repair shall be deducted from sums otherwise due the Contractor. 

After final acceptance by the District, the Contractor may thereupon furnish to the District 
satisfactory evidence that all liens, claims and demands of Subcontractors, laborers and 
materialmen, arising out of such work, are fully satisfied, and that all of the work is fully 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-5 3/28/2019 
 

released from all liens, claims and demands of whatever kind and nature and whether just or 
otherwise. 

In accordance with Paragraph 42 of the General Conditions, the District shall make payment 
to the Contractor following the receipt of proper statements or invoices for the work within 
thirty (30) days of the date of final acceptance of the work by the District.  The acceptance 
by the Contractor of the final payment, whether such payment be made pursuant to any 
judgment of any court, or otherwise, shall constitute and operate as a release to the District 
of any and all claims of the Contractor and liability to the Contractor for anything 
theretofore done or furnished for or relating to or arising out of this Contract and the work 
done hereunder, and for any prior act, neglect or default on the part of the District or any of 
its directors, officers, agents or employees excepting only claims against the District for the 
amounts deducted or retained in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Contract 
by law. Should the Contractor refuse to accept the final payment as tendered by the General 
Manager, it shall constitute waiver of any right to interest thereon. 

3.3 Liquidated Damages.  Liquidated Damages totaling the dollar amount loss to District per 
occurrence of specific event shall be assessed for this Contract. 

 
3.4 Time of Performance.  Said project will be completed in full no later than (6) six weeks 

after receiving Notice to Proceed. 

3.5 Interference with District Operations.  Any and all work must not interfere with the 
District's normal operations including operation of Pillar Point Harbor, except as necessary 
to complete the dredging activities at the launch ramps as detailed in the technical 
specifications.  

3.6 Warranty. All work, including all installation work or repairs, is guaranteed by the 
Contractor against failure, damage, defect, or non-compliance with the Contract of any kind 
for a period of one (1) year from the date of District's final acceptance. The Contractor must 
furnish a Performance Bond therefor as provided in the Special Provisions.  In addition to 
said guarantee, the District will have the benefits of any manufacturer's or builder's 
guarantee given by a manufacturer or builder.  Where any individual work item is 
incomplete at the time of acceptance by the District, the guarantee will run from the date of 
completion of such item.  If the Contractor fails to proceed promptly with any repairs as 
directed by the District, such corrections and repairs shall be effected at the Contractor's 
expense at such time as the District may determine.  The District may deduct the cost of such 
repairs from any amount owed to the Contractor or require the Contractor to reimburse such 
costs to the District. 

 
It is understood and agreed that the District does not waive any warranty, either express or 
implied, in Sections 2312 through 2317, inclusive, of the California Commercial Code, or 
any liability of the manufacturer or Contractor as may be determined by a decision of the 
court of the State of California or of the United States. 
 

3.7 Termination.  The District may terminate the Contract for convenience for any reason at 
any time by giving the Contractor fifteen (15) days’ notice thereof.  Notice of termination 
shall be by Certified Mail. Upon termination for the convenience of the District, the District 
shall pay the Contractor the allowable costs incurred to the date of termination and those 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-6 3/28/2019 
 

costs deemed reasonably necessary by the District to effect the termination.  In the event that 
the Contractor breaches the terms or violates the conditions of this Contract and does not 
correct such breaches or violations within ten (10) days following notice thereof from the 
District, the District may immediately terminate the Contract and shall pay the Contractor 
only for work performed in full conformance with the specifications to the date of 
termination, less any costs incurred by the District to repair and complete any remaining 
work under the Contract.  The District reserves the right to pursue any and all remedies 
available in equity or law in the event the District suffers any damages due to the 
Contractor’s breach of terms or violation of the conditions in this Contract. 

 
3.8  Protection of Property. The Contractor shall exercise every precaution to ensure that no 

injury or damage occurs to District property as a result of its operations. Should any existing 
property be damaged by or through any of the Contractor's operations, such injury or 
damage shall be replaced or repaired immediately by the Contractor, at Contractor's sole 
cost, in a manner satisfactory to the District. 
     

SECTION 4. INSURANCE   
 
4.1 Insurance Requirements 
 

A. Types of Insurance 
 
 Contractor shall not commence work until proper evidence of insurance coverage of 

the types and amounts specified in this Section has been provided to District.  
Contractor shall not violate or permit to be violated any conditions or provisions of 
said policies of insurance, and at all times shall satisfy the requirements of the 
insurer for the purpose of maintaining said insurance in effect. 

 
 If any claim is made by any third person against Contractor on account of any 

incident connected to the Contract, Contractor shall promptly report the fact in 
writing to District, giving full details of the claim. 

 
 Any person, firm, or corporation that Contractor authorizes to work upon the 

District’s property, including any Subcontractor, shall be deemed to be Contractor’s 
agent and shall be subject to all applicable terms of this Contract.  Prior to the 
Contractor’s start of the work or entry onto the District’s property, Contractor agrees 
to require its Subcontractors to procure and maintain, at Contractor’s (or its 
Subcontractor(s)’) sole cost and expense (and to prove to the District’s reasonable 
satisfaction that it remains in effect throughout the performance of the work under 
this Contract), the kinds of insurance described below.  Such insurance must remain 
in effect throughout the term of this Contract and will be at the sole cost and expense 
of Contractor (or its Subcontractor(s)). 

 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance 

 
 The Contractor shall, at its own expense, procure and maintain Commercial 

General Liability insurance providing bodily injury and property damage 
coverage with a combined limit of at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-7 3/28/2019 
 

each occurrence.  This insurance shall include but not be limited to premises 
and operations, contractual liability covering the indemnity provisions 
contained in this Contract, personal injury, products and completed 
operations, and broad form property damage, and include a Cross Liability 
endorsement. 

 
 Said Policy shall protect Contractor and District in the same manner as 

though a separate policy had been issued to each, but nothing in said policy 
shall operate to increase the insurance company’s liability as set forth in its 
policy beyond the amount or amounts shown or to which the insurance 
company would have been liable if only one interest had been named as an 
insured. 

 
2. Business Automobile Liability 

 
 Contactor shall, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain Business 

Automobile Liability insurance providing bodily injury and property damage 
with a combined single limit of at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) 
per occurrence for all owned, non-owned and hired automobiles.  This 
insurance shall provide contractual liability covering all motor vehicles and 
mobile equipment to the extent coverage may be excluded from general 
liability insurance. 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability Insurance 

 
 If Contractor employs any person to perform work in connection with this 

Contract, Contractor shall procure and maintain at all times during the 
performance of such work Workers’ Compensation Insurance, in 
conformance with the laws of the State of California, and Federal laws where 
applicable.  Employers’ Liability Insurance shall not be less than Five 
Million Dollars ($5,000,000) for each accident and Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000) for each disease, with a policy limit of Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000). 

 
 The policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation in favor of the San Mateo 

County Harbor District and its officers, directors, employees, volunteers, and 
agents, while acting in such capacity, and their successors and assignees, as 
they now or as they may hereafter be constituted, singly, jointly, or severally. 

 
4. Protection & Indemnity. 
 

The Contractor shall provide Protection and Indemnity (including crew), 
Collision Liabilities and Vessel Pollution insurance covering all vessels, 
barges or other marine equipment that will be used in connection with this 
project.  The limits of liability shall be not less than $5,000,000. 

 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-8 3/28/2019 
 

B. General Insurance Requirements 
 

1. Acceptable Insurance 
 

 All policies will be issued by insurers acceptable to the District.  This 
insurance shall be issued by an insurance company or companies authorized 
to do business in the State of California with minimum “Best’s” rating of A- 
and with minimum policyholder surplus of Fifty Million Dollars 
($50,000,000) or a company acceptable to District in its sole discretion.  All 
policies shall be issued in a form satisfactory to the General Manager of the 
District and shall be issued specifically as primary insurance.  Workers’ 
Compensation coverage requirements may be met with the California State 
Compensation Fund. 

 
2. Procure and Maintain Insurance 

 
 Contractor must, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain at all 

times during the performance of this Contract, all of the required policies 
specified above.  The failure to procure or maintain the required insurance 
policies and/or an adequately funded self-insurance program acceptable to 
the District will constitute a material breach of the Contract. 

 
3. Terms of Policies 

 
 All insurance specified above shall remain in force until all work to be 

performed is satisfactorily completed.  If the insurance is provided on a 
claims-made basis it must remain in force for the entire term of the Contract 
and a minimum of three (3) years thereafter. 

 
4. Self-Insurance 

 
Upon evidence of financial capacity satisfactory to the 
District and Contractor’s agreement to waive subrogation against 
the District respecting any and all claims that may arise, the Contractor's 
obligations hereunder may be satisfied in whole or in part by adequately 
funded self-insurance.   

 
  5) Deductibles and Retentions 

 
The Contractor shall be responsible for payment of any deductible or 
retention on the Contractor’s policies without right of contribution from the 
District.  Deductible and retention provisions shall not contain any 
restrictions as to how or by whom the deductible or retention is paid.  Any 
deductible or retention provision limiting payment to the Named Insured is 
unacceptable. 
 
In the event that the policy of the Contractor or any subcontractor contains a 
deductible or self-insured retention, and in the event that the District seeks 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-9 3/28/2019 
 

coverage under such policy as an additional insured, the Contractor shall 
satisfy such deductible or self-insured retention to the extent of loss covered 
by such policy for a lawsuit arising from or connected with any alleged act or 
omission of the Contractor, subcontractor, or any of their officers, directors, 
employees, agents, or suppliers, even if the Contractor or subcontractor is not 
a named defendant in the lawsuit. 
 

C. Evidence of Insurance and Endorsements 
 
Prior to commencing of work or entering onto the District’s property, Contractor 
shall file a Certificate of Insurance with the District evidencing the foregoing 
coverages, including the following endorsements: 

 
1. The insurance company(ies) issuing such policy(ies) will provide at least 

thirty (30) days’ notice to the District of cancellation or non-renewal. 
 

2. That the policy(ies) is primary insurance and the insurance company(ies) 
providing such policy(ies) shall be liable thereunder for the full amount of 
any loss or claim that Contractor is liable for under this Section, up to and 
including the total limit of liability, without right of contribution from any 
other insurance maintained or which may be maintained by the San Mateo 
County Harbor District. 

 
3. Such insurance shall include as additional insureds the San Mateo County 

Harbor District, and its respective directors, officers, employees, and agents 
while acting in such capacity, and their successors or assignees, as they now 
or as they may hereafter be constituted, singly, jointly, or severally. 

 
4. The policy must also contain either a Cross Liability endorsement or 

Severability of Interests Clause and stipulate that inclusion of the District as 
an additional insured will not in any way affect the District’s rights as 
respects any claim, demand, suit or judgment made, brought, or recovered 
against the Contractor.  Said policy shall protect Contractor and the District 
in the same manner as though a separate policy had been issued to each, but 
nothing in said policy shall operate to increase the insurance company’s 
liability as set forth in its policy beyond the amount or amounts shown or to 
which the insurance company would have been liable if only one interest had 
been named as an insured. 

 
D. Consequence of Lapse 

 
Should any required insurance not be procured or lapse during the term of this 
Contract, requests for payment originating after such lapse will not be processed 
until the District receives satisfactory evidence of reinstated coverage as required by 
the Contract.  If insurance is not reinstated, the District, may, at its sole option, 
terminate this Contract effective on the date of such lapse of insurance. 

 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-10 3/28/2019 
 

SECTION 5. PUBLIC WORKS PROVISIONS 

5.1 Labor Compliance Requirements 
 

In the performance of this Contract, Contractor’s attention is directed to the following 
requirements of the Labor Code: 

A. Hours of Labor.  Eight hours labor constitutes a legal day’s work.  Contractor 
shall forfeit, as penalty to District, $25 for each worker employed in the performance of 
the Contract by Contractor or by any subcontractor under it for each calendar day during 
which such worker is required or permitted to work more than eight hours in any one day 
and 40 hours in any one calendar week in violation of the provisions of the California 
Labor Code and in particular, Sections 1810 to 1815, inclusive.  Work performed by 
employees of the Contractor in excess of eight hours per day and 40 hours during any 
one week shall be permitted upon compensation for all hours worked in excess of eight 
hours per day at not less than one-and-one-half times the basic rate of pay, as provided in 
Section 1815. 

B. Prevailing Wages.  Contractor shall comply with California Labor Code Sections 
1770 to 1780, inclusive.  In accordance with Section 1775, the Contractor shall forfeit as 
a penalty to District an amount as determined by the Labor Commissioner not to exceed 
$200 for each calendar day or portion thereof for each worker paid less than stipulated 
prevailing wage rates for such work or craft in which such worker is employed for any 
work done under the contract by him or by any subcontractor under it in violation of the 
revisions of the Labor Code and in particular, Labor Code Sections 1770 to 1780, 
inclusive.  In addition to said penalty and pursuant to Section 1775, the difference 
between such stipulated prevailing wage rates and the amount paid to each worker for 
each calendar day or portion thereof for which each worker was paid less than the 
stipulated prevailing wage rate shall be paid to each worker by Contractor.  Pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 1773 of the Labor Code, the District has obtained the general 
prevailing rate of per diem wages and the general prevailing rate for holiday and 
overtime work applicable to the work to be done from the Director of the Department of 
Industrial Relations.  Copies of the prevailing wage rates are on file at the District and 
are available for review upon request.  Pursuant to §1773.2 of the Labor Code, the 
Contractor shall post general prevailing wage rates at a prominent place at the site of the 
work.  

C. Payroll Records.  Contractor and each subcontractor shall submit electronic 
certified payroll records to the California Labor Commissioner in the manner and format 
set forth in California Labor Code section 1771.4. 

The Contractor's attention is directed to the following provisions of Labor Code Section 
1776.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the compliance with these provisions by 
its subcontractors. 

(a) Each contractor and subcontractor shall keep an accurate payroll record, 
showing the name, address, social security number, work classification, straight 
time and overtime hours worked each day and week, and the actual per diem 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-11 3/28/2019 
 

wages paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee employed 
by him or her in connection with the public work. 

(b) The payroll records enumerated under subdivision (a) shall be certified 
and shall be available for inspection at all reasonable hours at the principal office 
of the Contractor on the following basis: 

(i) A certified copy of an employee's payroll record shall be made 
available for inspection or furnished to such employee or his or her 
authorized representative on request. 

(ii) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in subdivision 
(a) shall be made available for inspection or furnished upon request to the 
District, the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement and the Division of 
Apprenticeship Standards of the Department of Industrial Relations. 

(iii) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in subdivision 
(a) shall be made available upon request to the public for inspection or 
copies thereof made; provided, however, that a request by the public shall 
be made through either the District, the Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement.  If the 
requested payroll records have not been provided pursuant to paragraph 
(2), the requesting party shall, prior to being provided the records, 
reimburse the costs of preparation by the Contractor, subcontractor and 
the entity through which the request was made.  The public shall not be 
given access to such records at the principal office of the Contractor. 

(c) Unless required to be furnished directly to the Labor Commissioner in 
accordance with Labor Code Section 1771.4(3)(b), the certified payroll 
records shall be on forms provided by the Division of Labor Standards 
Enforcement or shall contain the same information as the forms 
provided by the Division. 

(d) The Contractor shall file a certified copy of the records enumerated in 
subdivision (a) with the entity that requested such records within ten (10) days 
after receipt of a written request. 

(e) Any copy of records made available for inspection as copies and furnished 
upon request to the public or the District, the Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall be 
marked or obliterated in such a manner as to prevent disclosure of an 
individual's name, address and social security number.  The name and 
address of the Contractor shall not be marked or obliterated. 

(f) The Contractor shall inform the District of the location of records 
enumerated under subdivision (a), including the street address, city and county, 
and shall, within five working days, provide a notice of a change of location and 
address. 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-12 3/28/2019 
 

(g) In the event of noncompliance with the requirements of this Section, the 
Contractor shall have ten (10) days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of 
written notice specifying in what respects such contractor must comply with this 
Section.  Should noncompliance still be evident after such 10-day period, the 
Contractor shall, as a penalty the State or the District, forfeit One-Hundred 
Dollars ($100) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker, until 
strict compliance is effectuated.  Upon the request of the Division of 
Apprenticeship Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, such 
penalties shall be withheld from progress payments then due.  The penalties 
specified in subdivision (g) of Labor Code Section 1776 for noncompliance with 
the provisions of said Section 1776 may be deducted from any monies due or 
which may become due to the Contractor. 

(h) The Contractor and each subcontractor shall preserve their payroll records 
for a period of three (3) years from the date of completion of the Contract. 

 

D. Labor Non-discrimination.  Attention is directed to Section 1735 of the Labor 
Code which provides that Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, religious creed, color, national origin, 
ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, 
marital status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or 
military and veteran status of any person, except as provided in Section 12940 of the 
Government Code.  Contractor further agrees to include a similar provision in all 
subcontracts, except subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. 

E. Apprentices.  The Contractor and all subcontractors shall comply with the 
requirements of California Labor Code sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 regarding the 
employment of apprentices. 

 
5.2 Prohibition Against Contracting with Debarred Subcontractors 

Contractor is prohibited from performing work on a public works project with a 
subcontractor who is ineligible to perform work on the public works project pursuant to 
Section 1777.1 or 1777.7 of the Labor Code. 

5.3 Use of Subcontractors 

Contractor shall not subcontract any work to be performed by it under this Agreement 
without the prior written approval of the Agency.  Contractor shall be solely responsible for 
reimbursing any subcontractors and the Agency shall have no obligation to them.  Attention 
is directed to the requirements of Section 4100 to 4113, inclusive of the California Public 
Contract Code which may be applicable to the work covered by this section of the 
Agreement. Each Contractor shall list the name and business address of each subcontractor 
to whom the Contractor proposes to subcontract a portion of the work in an amount in excess 
of one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the Total Contract Price, along with a description of the 
portion of the work which shall be done by each subcontractor, by executing the “List of 
Subcontractors” form attached to this Contract. 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-13 3/28/2019 
 

 
5.4 Prompt Payment to Subcontractors 

Pursuant to Business and Professions  Code Section 7108.5, the Contractor shall pay each 
first tier Subcontractor under this Contract for satisfactory performance of work under its 
subcontract no later than 7 days from the Contractor’s receipt of payment from the District 
for such work. The Contractor shall require each first tier Subcontractor to make payments 
to lower tier Subcontractors in a similar manner. The District shall have no obligation 
to pay or to verify the payment of money to any Subcontractor, except as may 
otherwise be required by law. 
 
 
 
The Contractor, not the District, shall be solely responsible for payment to Subcontractors at 
any tier for any amounts owing from the Contractor. All such Subcontractors agree that they 
shall have no claim, and shall take no action against the District or its 
officers, directors, employees or sureties, for non-payment by the Contractor. 
 
 

5.5 Non-Collusion Declaration 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code section 7106, Contractor shall execute a Non-Collusion 
Declaration, in a form provided by the Agency, which is attached and incorporated herein. 

5.6 Third-Party Claims 

Pursuant to Public Contracts Code Section 9201, the District shall have full authority to 
compromise or otherwise settle any claim relating to the Agreement at any time.  The 
District will provide for timely notification to the Contractor of the receipt of any third-party 
claim, relating to the Agreement.  Notice shall be in writing and will be provided within 
thirty (30) days.  The District shall be entitled to recover its reasonable costs incurred in 
providing such notification. 

5.7 Claims Procedures 

In the event the District and Contractor cannot resolve claims of $375,000 or less, the claims 
provisions of California Public Contract Code sections 20104-20104.6 shall apply, which 
provisions are summarized below.  Any claim submitted by the Contractor shall be in 
writing and include the documents necessary to substantiate the claim.   

For claims of less than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000), the District shall respond in 
writing within 45 days of receipt of the claim, or request additional documentation 
supporting the claim within 30 days of receipt of the claim.  If additional documentation is 
requested, District will respond in writing to the claim within 15 days of receipt of the 
additional documentation, or within a period of time no greater than that taken by the 
claimant in producing the additional information, whichever is greater. 

For claims of over $50,000 and less than or equal to $375,000, District shall respond in 
writing within 60 days of receipt of the claim, or request additional documentation 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-14 3/28/2019 
 

supporting the claim within 30 days of receipt of the claim.  If additional documentation is 
requested, District will respond in writing to the claim within 30 days of receipt of the 
additional documentation, or within a period of time no greater than that taken by the 
claimant in producing the additional information, whichever is greater.   

For claims over $375,000, District shall respond in writing within 90 days of receipt of the 
claim, or request additional documentation supporting the claim within 45 days of receipt of 
the claim.  If additional documentation is requested, District will respond in writing to the 
claim within 30 days of the additional documentation, or within a period of time no greater 
than that taken by the claimant in providing the additional information, whichever is greater.  

For claims of any amount, if the Contractor disputes the District’s response, or the District 
fails to respond within the time prescribed, the Contractor may demand an informal 
conference to meet and confer for settlement of the issues in dispute within 15 days of the 
District’s response or failure to respond.  In the event that the meet and confer conference is 
unsuccessful, Contractor must file a government claim pursuant to Government Code section 
910 et seq. in order to initiate a civil action.  In any civil action filed to resolve claims for 
$375,000 or less, the court shall submit the matter to nonbinding mediation within 60 days 
following the filing or responsive pleading.  If the matter remains in dispute after 
nonbinding mediation, the court shall submit the matter to judicial arbitration pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure section 1141.10 et seq.  If the matter remains in dispute after 
judicial arbitration, the District or the Contractor may request a trial de novo.  

5.8 Contractor’s License Requirements 

Contractor and any approved subcontractors shall hold such current and valid Contractor’s 
Licenses as required by California Law. 

5.9 Payment of Workers’ Compensation 

Contractor shall sign and file with the Agency the following certification prior to performing 
the work of the Agreement: 
 

"I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which 
requires every employer to be insured against liability for workers' 
compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the 
provisions of that code, and I will comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the work of this Agreement." 

5.10 Examination and Audit of Records 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 8546.7, Contractor shall retain all project-related 
records for a period of 3 years after final payment on this Agreement, which shall be subject 
to audit or inspection by the Agency or the State Auditor during this period. 

5.11 Anti-Trust Claim Assignment 

 Pursuant to Public Contract Code 7103.5, the contractor offers and agrees to assign to the 
District all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-15 3/28/2019 
 

of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 (commencing 
with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code), arising 
from purchases of goods, services, or materials pursuant to this Contract. This assignment 
shall be made and become effective at the time the District tenders final payment to the 
Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties.  

5.12 Utility Relocation 

If applicable, pursuant to California Government Code Section 4215, if during the course of 
the work the Contractor encounters utility installations which are not shown or indicated in 
the contract plans or in the specifications or which are found in a location substantially 
different from that shown, and such utilities are not reasonably apparent from visual 
examination of the work site, then it shall promptly notify the District in writing.  Where 
necessary for the work of the Contract, the District will amend the contract to adjust the 
scope of work and the compensation to allow the Contractor to make such adjustment, 
rearrangement, repair, removal, alteration, or special handling of such utility, including 
repair of the damaged utility.  If the Contractor fails to give the notice specified above and 
thereafter acts without instructions from the District, then it shall be liable for any or all 
damage to such utilities or other work of the Contract which arises from its operations 
subsequent to the discovery, and it shall repair and make good such damage at its own cost. 

5.13 Excavation 

If applicable, in accordance with state law (Public Contract Code Section 7104), with respect 
to any work involving digging trenches or excavations that extend deeper than four feet, the 
Contractor shall notify the District promptly in writing of any of the following conditions:  
(a) material that the Contractor believes may be hazardous waste, as defined in California 
Health and Safety Code Section 25117, that is required to be removed to a Class I, Class II 
or Class III disposal site in accordance with provisions of existing law; (b) subsurface or 
latent physical conditions at the site differing from those indicated; (c) unknown physical 
conditions at the site of any unusual nature, differing materially from those ordinarily 
encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in 
the Contract Documents.  Contractor shall notify the District of such conditions prior to 
disturbing them, and shall await direction from the District as to how to proceed. 

5.14 Trench Safety 

If applicable, excavation for any trench 5 feet or more in depth shall not begin until the 
Contractor has received approval from the District, of the Contractor’s detailed plan for 
worker protection from the hazards of caving ground during the excavation of such trench.  
Such plan shall be submitted at least 5 days before the Contractor intends to begin 
excavation for the trench and shall show the details of the design of shoring, bracing, sloping 
or other provisions to be made for worker protection during such excavation.  No such plan 
shall allow the use of shoring, sloping or a protective system less effective than that required 
by the Construction Safety Orders of the Division of Industrial Safety; and if such plan 
varies from the shoring system standards established by the Construction Safety Orders, the 
plan shall be prepared and signed by an engineer who is registered as a Civil or Structural 
Engineer in the State of California.  Attention is directed to the provisions of Section 6705 
of the Labor Code concerning trench excavation safety plans. 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-16 3/28/2019 
 

5.15 Public Works Registration 

The Contractor must be registered with the California Department of Industrial Relations 
pursuant to Labor Code Section 1725.5.  BIDDERS MUST SUBMIT PROOF OF 
CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION WITH THE DIR IN THE FORM OF A HARD 
COPY OF THE RELEVANT PAGE OF THE DIR'S DATABASE FOUND AT: 
https://efiling.dir.ca.gov/PWCR/Search.   

This Contract is subject to monitoring and enforcement by the DIR pursuant to Labor 
Code Section 1771.4.  The Contractor must post job site notices, as prescribed by 
regulation.  The Contractor shall furnish the records specified in Labor Code Section 
1776 directly to the Labor Commissioner, monthly in a format prescribed by the Labor 
Commissioner.  

5.16 Compliance With All Applicable Laws 

Contractor shall comply with all the applicable requirements of federal, state and local 
laws, statutes and ordinances relative to the execution of the Construction Work.  In the 
event Contractor fails to comply with these requirements, the District may stop any 
Construction Work until such noncompliance is remedied.  No part of the time lost due 
to any such cessation of the Construction Work shall be made the subject of a claim for 
an extension of time or increase in the compensation. 

 

5.17 Iran Contracting Act 

 The undersigned Bidder certifies that it is not, at the time of bidding, on the 
California Department of General Services (DGS) list of persons determined to be engaged 
in investment activities in Iran or otherwise in violation of the Iran Contracting Act of 2010 
(Public Contract Code Section 2200-2208). 

5.18 Safety Requirements  

The Contractor shall promptly and fully comply with and carry out, and shall without 
separate charge therefore to the District, enforce compliance with the safety and first aid 
requirements prescribed by applicable State and Federal laws and regulations, rules and 
orders and as may be necessary to ensure that all Construction Work shall be done in a 
safe manner and that the safety and health of the employees, agents and the people of 
local communities is safeguarded.  Compliance with the provisions of this Section by 
subcontractors shall be the responsibility of the Contractor.  All installed, dismantled, 
and removed material, equipment and facilities, without separate charge therefore to the 
District, shall fully conform with all applicable State and Federal safety laws, rules, 
regulations and orders and it shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to furnish only such 
material, equipment and facilities. 

5.19 Retention on Progress Payments 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-17 3/28/2019 
 

If the Contract utilizes progress payments, five percent (5%) will be deducted from each 
progress payment and held in retention by the District. The remainder less any other 
deductions taken in accordance with this article will be paid to the Contractor as progress 
payments. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, pursuant to Public Contract Code 
section 7200, the percentage of retention amounts withheld by the Contractor from its 
Subcontractors may not exceed the percentage withheld by the District from the Contractor 
as specified herein.  

Contractor shall release retention to a Subcontractor within 30 days of the Subcontractor 
satisfactorily completing all required work. Upon satisfactory completion of a 
Subcontractor's work, including provision of appropriate releases, certificates, evidence of 
the Subcontractor’s compliance with all applicable requirements of the Contract Documents, 
and all other documents as may be required by the Contractor and the District to close-out 
the subcontract, the Contractor may submit an application to the District for the release of 
the portion of the retention attributed to the Subcontractor’s work. The Contractor’s 
application shall certify that the Subcontractor has: 

a) Completed all work required to be performed under its subcontract; 

b) The amount withheld by the Contractor under the subcontract; and 

c) That the Subcontractor has provided all backup information, stop payment notice, 
and lien releases required to close-out the subcontract. 

Within 7 days following receipt of payment from the District for the completed 
Subcontractor Work, the Contractor shall release all monies withheld as retention from the 
Subcontractor, even if the Work to be performed by the Contractor or other Subcontractors 
is not completed and has not been accepted. The Contractor shall, by appropriate agreement 
with each Subcontractor, require each first tier Subcontractor to make payments to lower tier 
subcontractors in a similar manner. 

5.20 Release of Retention 

Upon the District’s issuance of Notice of Final Acceptance the District will release the 
amount retained. 

5.21 Securities in Lieu of Retention 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 22300, the successful Bidder may submit 
Securities in lieu of retention payments by the Owner. Upon Contractor’s request, the 
District will make payment of funds withheld from progress payments, pursuant to the 
requirements of California Public Contract Code Section 22300, if Contractor deposits in 
escrow with the District or with a bank acceptable to the District, securities eligible for 
investment under California Government Code Section 16430, bank or savings and loan 
certificates of deposit, interest bearing demand deposit accounts, standby letters of credit, 
or any other security mutually agreed to by Contractor and the District, upon the 
following conditions: 

(1) Contractor shall bear the expenses of the District and the escrow agent in 
connection with the escrow deposit made. 



2019-03 Special Provisions   SP-18 3/28/2019 
 

(2) Securities or certificates of deposit to be placed in escrow shall be of a value at 
least equivalent to the amounts of retention to be paid to Contractor pursuant to this 
article. 
(3) Contractor shall enter into an escrow agreement satisfactory to the District, which 
agreement shall be substantially similar to the form provided in California Public 
Contract Code Section 22300. 
(4) Contractor shall obtain the written consent of the surety to such agreement. 

SECTION 6.  HAZARDOUS CHEMICALS AND WASTES 
 
For the purposes of this Section only, the term "claims" shall include (a) all notices, orders, 
directives, administrative, or judicial proceedings, fines, penalties, fees, or charges imposed by any 
governmental agency with jurisdiction, and (b) any claim, cause of action, or administrative or 
judicial proceeding brought against the District, its directors, or employees, or for any loss, cost 
(including reasonable attorney's fees), damage, or liability, sustained or suffered by any person or 
entity, including the District.  The Contractor shall bear full and exclusive responsibility for any 
release of hazardous or nonhazardous chemicals or substances during the course of performance of 
this Contract.  The Contractor shall immediately report any such release to the District.  The 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for all claims and expenses associated with the response to, 
removal and remediation of the release, including, without limit, payment of any fines or penalties 
levied against the District by any agency as a result of such release and shall hold harmless, 
indemnify, and defend the District from any claims arising from such release. 
 
If the performance of the work outlined by these Contract specifications creates any hazardous 
wastes, those wastes shall be properly disposed of according to federal, state, and local laws, at the 
expense of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall dispose of the wastes under its own EPA generator 
number.  In no event shall the District be identified as the generator.  The Contractor shall notify the 
District of any such hazardous wastes and the District reserves the right to a copy of any test 
conducted on the wastes and, at its cost, to perform additional tests or examine those wastes, prior to 
disposition.  The Contractor shall hold harmless, indemnify, and defend the District from any claims 
arising from the disposal of the hazardous wastes, regardless of the absence of negligence or other 
malfeasance by the Contractor. 
 

 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-1 3/28/2019 

 

 

PART 1   GENERAL 

 

1. SUMMARY 

A. Dredging includes the removal and upland disposal of all materials encountered, 
as specified and indicated. No payment will be made for dredging outside the 
limits of dredging.  

B. Dredged material will be loaded into dump trucks, dewatered at the designated 
drying area (as outlined in section 2-Q), and transported approximately 1.5 miles 
via existing roadways to the designated upland disposal site, as shown on the 
Project Plans. 

C. The Contractor shall provide all labor, materials, tools, equipment, insurance, 
licenses, transportation, and any related services necessary for the proper and 
complete dredging operations. 

D. The design depth of the dredge area is -6.0 feet MLLW. The regulatory permitted 
allowable overdepth dredging is an additional 1 foot below the design depth. 

E. The Contractor shall be liable for any fees imposed by regulatory agencies as a 
result of dredging, or excavation of sediment, beyond the limit of dredging or 
below the regulatory permitted allowable overdepth dredging. 

F. A silt curtain shall be installed and maintained in the approximate areas shown on 
Project Plans whenever dredging occurs in this area. 

G. Dredging shall be performed using land-based equipment (i.e. long-reach 
excavator). 

H. A Pre-dredge Hydrographic survey will be performed by the San Mateo County 
Harbor District (District). The results of the survey will be provided to the 
successful bidder and are to be used as the pre-dredge survey submittal to the 
regulatory agencies. Dredge quantities will be based on said survey. The 
Contractor at its option may perform its own independent pre-dredge 
hydrographic survey in advance of dredging activities. 

 

 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-2 3/28/2019 

 

 

 

2. REQUIREMENTS 

A. Material to be Removed: Shallow boring samples taken in the area to be dredged 
indicate the sediment to be removed consists mostly of sandy material. Tests were 
performed on the sediments as required by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and 
the sampling procedures, locations, and test results are available for review at the 
Harbor District office. 

B. Hard Material: It is not anticipated that the Contractor will need to remove 
hard material. Hard material is defined as soil or rock material requiring the 
use of special equipment for its economical removal and includes boulders or 
fragments too large to be removed in one piece by the dredge. Blasting is not 
permitted. 

C. Artificial Obstructions: Except as indicated, the Harbor District has no 
knowledge of the existence of wrecks, wreckage, and other material of a size 
or character that will necessitate the employment of special or additional 
equipment for their economical removal or knowledge of the presence of 
cables, pipes, or other artificial obstructions. However, a small percentage of 
small debris and garbage that is routinely found in the harbor such as tires and 
driftwood should be anticipated, and no additional compensation shall be 
made for removal and disposal of such debris and/or garbage. 

D. Contractor shall inform the Harbor District ten (10) calendar days in advance 
of performing dredging. This notification shall include the Contractor's 
schedule of dredging. 

E. Dredging Limits: The limits of dredging are as shown on the Project Plans. 

1. Design Depth: The design depth for the dredging is elevation -6.0 feet 
MLLW. 

2. Regulatory Permitted Overdepth Dredging: Regulatory permits allow 
overdepth dredging of 1.0 feet below the design depth (to an elevation 
of -7.0 feet MLLW). 

3. Payment Limits: Measurement of depths to be used for calculating 
dredge payment volumes shall be limited to no deeper than -7.0 feet 
MLLW in areas shown on Project Plans. Any dredged material 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-3 3/28/2019 

 

 

removed deeper than said elevations shall be at the Contractor's 
expense. 

4. Any fees assessed by the regulatory agencies for dredging outside the 
limits of dredging or below the regulatory permitted overdepth 
allowance shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. 

F. Estimated Quantity of Material: The estimated quantity of material to be dredged 
is listed below and is based on a hydrographic survey conducted on April 27, 
2017. The estimated quantities will be updated based on the pre-dredge survey to 
be performed. 

1. Dredging Depth: The total quantity of material within the design 
dredging limit is as follows: 

a) Within Concrete Launch Ramp:  230 cubic yards; 

b) Beyond Concrete Launch Ramp, (including the side slopes) to 
the design depth of -6’ MLLW:  950 cubic yards; 

c) 1’ overdepth:  420 cubic yards. 

G. Side Slopes: The Contractor shall dredge side slopes. The design side slope is 
1 vertical to 2 horizontal. No overdepth dredging of the side slopes is allowed. 

H. Silt Curtain: The regulatory permits require that a silt curtain be installed and 
maintained in the approximate area shown on the Project Plans during 
dredging of the Boat Ramp area. The curtain may be removed after dredging 
is completed. 

I. Permits: The Harbor District will secure required permits for dredging and 
upland disposal of material, as indicated. Contractor shall comply with all 
regulatory permit conditions and be responsible to obtain other permits that 
are required for his/her operations. The permits obtained or applied for by the 
Harbor District include: 

1. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Section 404 Individual Permit. 
Application in process. 

2. California Coastal Commission, Coastal Development Permit. 
Application in process. 

3. San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board, 401 Water 
Quality Certification. Application in process. 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-4 3/28/2019 

 

 

4. San Mateo County – Half Moon Bay Airport , permission to occupy and 
use property as a disposal site for dredged material; Permit Agreement No. 
5400. 

J. The Contractor shall observe the rules and regulations of the State of 
California and agencies of the United States Government prohibiting the 
pollution of the coastal waters by dumping refuse, rubbish, debris, etc., and 
the menace to navigation, by permitting piles and debris to go adrift in 
navigable waters. 

K. Charges: The Contractor shall pay for any charges, including fines, assessed 
by the regulatory agencies for dredging outside the limits of dredging, for 
dredging below the regulatory permitted overdepth allowance, or for other 
noncompliance with permit conditions caused by the Contractor's operations. 

L. Dredging Plan of Operation: Within five (5) days after award of the contract, 
the Contractor shall be required to submit to the Harbor District a Dredging 
Operations Plan as outlined by the Corps of Engineers (USACE) in the permit 
for review and acceptance. The Contractor shall, if required by the Harbor 
District, revise and resubmit the Plan at the Pre-Dredge meeting; respond to 
comments and questions from the Harbor District. The accepted Dredging 
Plan of Operation will be submitted by the Harbor District to the USACE. 
Dredging shall not commence until all comments and questions have been 
addressed and answered to the satisfaction of the Harbor District and USACE. 
The Plan at a minimum shall include the following: 

1. USACE Permit Number and Dredging Episode Number; 

2. Identification of work as maintenance dredging, and quantity of 
material to be removed; 

3. Name and telephone number of the Contractor's onsite representative; 

4. Schedule, including mobilization date, silt curtain installation date, 
start and completion dates for the dredging and disposal operations and 
demobilization date; 

5. List and technical specifications of equipment to be used, including, if 
applicable, the names of vessels, bin or barge capacities, and radio 
telephone frequencies and call signs of any marine equipment; 

6. Vessel and barge anchoring locations, if applicable; 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-5 3/28/2019 

 

 

7. Description of dredging and disposal operations, including estimated 
daily production rate; 

8. Description of silt curtain operation, including technical specifications 
of the curtain, and installation, maintenance, and removal procedures; 

9. Description of horizontal and vertical positioning systems to be used, 
including coordinates and elevations of all control points to be used for 
the work; 

10. Method of determining electronic positioning of the dredge during the 
entire dredging operation at the dredge site; 

11. Description of controls to ensure that dredging operations occur within 
the limits of dredging; 

12. Description of controls to ensure that disposal of the dredged material 
at the upland disposal site is at the assigned location; 

13. Method for estimating daily dredge quantities;  

14. Quality control survey procedures. 

M. Contractor shall not receive NTP until the Dredging Operations Plan 
described above has been approved by the Army Corps of Engineers. 

N. The Contractor shall provide and be responsible for all survey and layout 
work required for dredging operations and shall be responsible for the 
correctness of all final grades and lines. The Contractor shall layout the work 
as shown on the drawings and shall have the Harbor District approve its 
location, sequence, time and schedule prior to commencing any dredging. 
Notice for layout review and approval shall be received in writing by the 
Harbor District a minimum ten (10) calendar days in advance of commencing 
with any proposed dredging. 

O. The plan shall be updated on a daily basis (or as necessary) to allow 
notification to the Harbor District of dredging progress. 

P. Solid Debris Management Plan: Contractor shall submit no later than twenty 
(20) days prior to commencement of work. A Solid Debris Management Plan 
which describes measures to ensure that solid debris generated during dredging 
or any other aspect of the work is retained and properly disposed of in areas not 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-6 3/28/2019 

 

 

under Corps of Engineers jurisdiction. At a minimum, the plan shall include the 
following: 

1. USACE Permit Number and Dredging Episode Number; 

2. The source and expected type of debris; 

3. Debris retrieval method; 

4. Disposal method and site(s); 

5. Schedule of disposal operations; 

6. Debris containment method to be used, if floatable debris is involved. 

Q. Material Drying Prior to Transport: After dredging, Contractor shall place 
dredged material in the designated drying area in the area directly north of the launch 
ramps. The Contractor shall secure the drying area so as to prevent dredged material from 
running back into Half Moon Bay. Prior to loading and hauling to the disposal area, the 
dredged material shall be dried sufficiently to allow hauling per state and local 
requirements. Contractor shall employ BMPs at the drying area to prevent the dredged 
sediment from re-entering the water. This includes typical BMPs, where applicable, for 
work in a marine environment such as: EC-1 Scheduling, SE-1 Silt Fence, SE-2 Sediment 
Basin, SE-5 Fiber Rolls, SE-6 Gravel Bag Berm, SE-8 Sandbag Barrier, SE-9 Straw Bale 
Barrier, and WE-1 Wind Erosion Control. For a detailed description of each of these 
BMPs, individual fact-sheets are available online at the California Stormwater Quality 
Association (CASQA) Stormwater Best Management Handbook Portal at: 
https://media.ocgov.com/gov/pw/watersheds/documents/bmp/constructionactivities.asp 

The designated drying area shall be removed completely after the dredged sediment is 
hauled to the disposal area. 

 
R. Disposal Area: Prior to placing any material at the disposal area, the Contractor 

shall install and secure a protective membrane (“membrane”) approved by the 
Harbor District across the entirety of the disposal area to ensure no water or 
contaminants that may be present in the dredged material are absorbed into the 
ground. Prior to the placement of any dredged material, the membrane shall be 
secured to the disposal area using a method approved by the Harbor District in 
writing. Further, once all of the dredged material that is permitted to be placed at 
the disposal area has been placed, the Contractor shall secure a sheeting over the 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-7 3/28/2019 

 

 

dredged material stockpile to ensure it does not create a nuisance or hazard to 
aircrafts or patrons using the Airport. The sheeting shall be of a type approved in 
writing by the Harbor District and shall be installed in a manner satisfactory to the 
Harbor District. The Contractor shall place the dredged material evenly within the 
disposal. As specified in the Project Plans, a hard barrier must be in place prior to 
any placement of material. When the Airport Operations Area (AOA) gate is 
open, the Contractor shall provide security personnel to operate the gate approved 
by the Harbor District. This individual must meet with Airport Operations prior to 
job commencement to confirm rules for manning the gate. Prior to opening the 
AOA gate, the Contractor must notify Airport Operations of all work at (650) 
454-0469. 

S. Access to disposal area:  The Contractor will only utilize the haul route indicated 
on the Plans when transporting the dredged material to the disposal area. As the 
Airport is an operating general aviation airport, for safety purposes, no other route 
is authorized. Access to other portions of the Airport is not granted. The 
Contractor shall maintain the access route free of sand and debris during dredged 
material transport activities through applicable means and to conditions 
acceptable to the Harbor District.  

T. Work within the Disposal Area:  Access to the disposal area is permitted only 
during the hours of 0830 to 1630 and the Contractor will ensure that its staff and 
agents are aware of, and comply with, these access hour limitations. Work in the 
disposal area during other times must be coordinated with prior approval from the 
Airport Operations Manager at (650) 372-3298. All personnel working within the 
AOA will be required to provide a valid government issued identification and be 
escorted at all times by airport staff when inside the AOA but outside of the 
temporary hard barriers placed around the disposal area. 

U. Maintenance of the Access Route and Disposal Area:  The Contractor shall 
maintain and repair the disposal area at its sole cost and effort. The Contractor 
shall keep the disposal area in good and safe condition, free from waste and 
hazardous materials, and in compliance with state and federal stormwater 
pollution prevention plan (SWPPP) best management practices, as approved by 
the Harbor District. If the Contractor fails to keep the disposal area in good and 
safe condition, free from waste or hazardous materials, and in compliance with 
SWPPP best management practices, San Mateo County officials may perform the 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-8 3/28/2019 

 

 

necessary remediation work at the expense of the Contractor, which expense the 
Contractor agrees to pay within fifteen (15) days of receipt of notice.  

 
V. Repair of Damages:  Any and all damage caused to Airport roads by the 

Contractor’s transportation of dredged material to the disposal area and from the 
disposal area shall be repaired by the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of written notice from San Mateo County officials or the Harbor District. The 
Contractor acknowledges that the roads that provide access to the disposal area 
have not been designed to support heavy loads or high traffic conditions and any 
damage incurred during the term of the Contract shall be deemed the fault of the 
Contractor and shall be repaired at the Contractor’s sole effort and cost. 

 
W. Laws and Regulations:  The Contractor shall at all times maintain, occupy, and 

use the disposal area in compliance with all laws, rules, ordinances, resolutions, 
and regulations which may be applicable thereto, including but not limited to 
storm water runoff, environmental, San Mateo County Airports, and FAA 
regulations. 

 

 

PART 2 – PRODUCTS 

1. SILT CURTAIN 

A. Submittal: The Contractor shall submit silt curtain technical information with the 
Preliminary Dredging Plan of Operation. The information shall include the silt 
curtain material, method of floating the curtain, method of anchoring the curtain, 
method of marking the curtain as a warning to navigation, and method of 
connecting sections of the curtain. 

B. Product: Silt curtain shall be a product that has been designed as a silt curtain to 
be used in tidal areas. 

C. Floatation: Sufficient floatation shall be provided so that the top of the curtain 
does not submerge below the water surface. 

D. Anchorage: Sufficient anchorage shall be provided so that the curtain extends 
from the top of the water to the ground at all anticipated water levels. 

PART 3 – EXECUTION 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-9 3/28/2019 

 

 

1. INSPECTION 

A. Contractor's Quality Control: The Contractor shall inspect the work, keep records 
of the work done, and see that the gages, targets, range, and other markers are in 
place and in proper order and condition. The Contractor at a minimum shall: 

1. Check the depth of dredging in each section prior to moving; 

2. Maintain daily dredging records of areas by Station and estimated quantity 
dredged; 

3. Maintain daily records of disposal operation including the estimated 
quantity of material taken to the designated upland disposal site; the time 
the dump truck leaves the dredging area, disposes of material, and returns 
to the dredging area; the horizontal coordinates at the time of disposal; and 
any other reporting conditions required by the permits. 

4. Maintain daily records of any problems including spills, damage to 
existing facilities, etc. The Contractor shall submit daily reports by noon 
of the following day. 

B. Owner Inspection:  From time-to-time the Harbor District or the Harbor District's 
representative will inspect boatmen, laborers, and material forming a part of the 
ordinary and usual equipment and crew of the dredging plant as may be 
reasonably necessary for inspecting and observing the work. 

2. DREDGING WORK 

A. Interference with Navigation: Conduct operations so as to interfere as little as 
possible with the use of boat ramp and harbor channels and passages. Channels 
shall not be blocked by the Contractor unless requested in writing and approved 
by the Harbor District. The Harbor District will coordinate with the Contractor to 
accommodate the movement of vessels and floating equipment should that 
become necessary. 

B. Lights: Each night between sunset and sunrise keep proper lights upon all floating 
plants, ranges, and other markers, and all buoys whose size and location would 
endanger or obstruct navigation as required by the State of California and the U.S. 
Coast Guard. The Contractor shall be responsible for all damages resulting from 
any neglect or failure in this respect. Maintain lights on or about the plant from 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-10 3/28/2019 

 

 

sunset to sunrise as may be necessary for the proper observation of dredging 
operations when work at night is in progress. 

C. Ranges: If desired the Contractor shall furnish, set and maintain in good order all 
necessary ranges, buoys, and other markers needed to define the work to facilitate 
the work and inspection. 

D. Establish and maintain continuous recording gages for measuring the water depth 
within 0.10 feet. Reading of the continuous water level shall be transmitted to 
the dredge. Suspend dredging at any time when the gage is not working 
correctly. 

E. Plant: The Contractor's plant, coamings, barges, and associated equipment to be 
used in performing the work shall be of sufficient size and efficiency to meet the 
job requirements and will be subject to approval by the Harbor District. The plant 
and equipment shall be kept at all times in condition for efficient work. Remove 
any dredged material improperly placed due to leaks, breaks or failure of 
equipment. 

F. Disposal of Excavated Material: Provide for the proper and safe transportation 
and disposal of dredged materials. Transport and dispose of all dredged 
material in the designated disposal area at the Half Moon Bay Airport as 
indicated on the Project Plans. Deposition or placement of dredged materials 
in unauthorized places is strictly forbidden. Any material that is intentionally 
or unintentionally deposited elsewhere than in places authorized by the 
permits will not be paid for until all requirements to mitigate the action as 
required by the enforcing agencies are complied with. Any expense required 
to mitigate the occurrence   shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. The 
Contractor shall comply with rules and regulations of County of San Mateo, 
Pillar Point Harbor, and governing authorities. 

G. Overflow Requirements: 

1. No overflow or decant water shall be discharged, with the exception of 
spillage incidental to mechanical dredge operations; 

2. During transportation from the dredging site to the disposal site, no 
dredged material shall be permitted to overflow, leak or spill from truck or 
other equipment. 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-11 3/28/2019 

 

 

H. Method of Disposal: Dredged material shall be transported by truck and deposited 
in disposal as shown in Project Plans. No debris or material other than natural 
sediment (clay, sand or silt) shall be deposited in the designated disposal area. 

I. Navigation Warnings: Furnish and maintain suitable navigation warning signs on 
all Contractor's equipment and as required by the State of California and the U.S. 
Coast Guard to prevent hazards to navigation. 

J. Disposal Site Verification Log (DSVL): Contractor shall furnish to the Harbor 
District by the end of work week on each Friday a "Disposal Site Verification 
Log" which enumerates the dredging accomplished during the week (form to be 
provided by Corps of Engineers after approval of Dredging Plan of Operation). 

K. Salvaged Material: Anchors, chains, firearms, and other articles of value which 
are brought to the surface in the course of dredging operations shall become the 
property of the Contractor. 

L. Safety of Structures: Contractor shall use care in the prosecution of work to assure 
the stability of boat ramp, floating docks, bulkheads, and other structures lying on 
or adjacent to the site of the work insofar as they may be jeopardized by the 
operation of dredging and by moving or mooring the equipment. Make good all 
damage resulting from the moving or mooring of equipment and from the 
dredging operation. 

M. Removal of Plant: Upon completion of the work, promptly remove plant, 
including ranges, buoys, piles, and other markers or obstructions placed by or for 
the Contractor in navigable waters or on shore. 

3. SILT CURTAIN 

A. Description: A silt curtain is required by the regulatory agencies to prevent 
dredging induced suspended sediment from impacting adjacent areas. 

B. Installation: The silt curtain shall be installed in approximate locations shown on 
Project Plans. The Contractor may propose an alternative location as long as the 
location does not impact navigation or dredging. A sufficient number of anchors 
shall be installed to keep the curtain in-place and to keep the bottom of the curtain 
approximately on the bottom. 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-12 3/28/2019 

 

 

C. Demarcation: The curtain shall be marked as required by the U.S. Coast Guard. If 
no requirements are dictated by the Coast Guard, the Contractor at a minimum 
shall install Coast Guard approved lighting at the ends of the curtain. 

D. Inspection & Maintenance: The silt curtain shall be maintained in-place while any 
dredging is being performed. The Contractor shall inspect the curtain daily, at a 
minimum, to ensure it is in-place and to perform any required maintenance. The 
Contractor shall note the inspection in the daily Quality Control Report. 

4. HYDROGRAPHIC SURVEYS 

A. Pre and Post Surveys:  The Harbor District will perform one (1) pre-dredge 
survey (to be performed no earlier than sixty (60) calendar days and no later than 
20 calendar days before commencement of dredging) and one (1) post-dredge 
survey for the purpose of calculating final pay quantities. 

B. Post-Dredge Survey: The Harbor District will perform one (1) post-dredge survey 
at their cost within seven (7) days of the dredging being completed. Additional 
post-dredge surveys may be performed by the Harbor District if requested, but the 
cost will be deducted from any payment owed the Contractor. 

C. All vertical control shall be accurate to the nearest hundredth of a foot, including 
levels for the setting of tide gage to MLLW elevation. 

D. Survey data shall include tidal elevation. 

E. Horizontal control shall be based on NAD88 and shall be accurate to the nearest 
one tenth (0.1) of a foot. 

F. Dredge quantities shall be computed to the nearest cubic yard based on the 
sounding lines surveyed during the pre- and post-dredge surveys.  

5. MEASUREMENT 

A. The Harbor District shall conduct the pre-dredge and post-dredge surveys. 

B. Method of Measurement: The material removed will be measured by cubic yard 
in place by means of soundings taken during pre- and post-dredge surveys. The 
Project Plans represent the conditions prior to the pre-dredge survey. A post-
dredge survey will be conducted within seven (7) days of the dredging work being 
completed.  



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-13 3/28/2019 

 

 

C. The average end area method shall be used to calculate dredge quantities, with 
sufficient cross-sections taken along the project control line (launch ramp 
centerline) to determine quantities. Spacing between cross-sections shall not 
exceed 20-ft. A tabular summary shall be submitted with payment request to show 
project depth, overdepth, and total dredging quantity. 

D. Calculated dredge quantities based on the pre- and post-dredging surveys will be 
the basis for final payment. 

6. PAYMENT 

A. MOBILIZATION 

1. Mobilization shall consist of all work required in preparing the 
Contractor's dredging plant and equipment for shipment, moving plant, 
equipment labor, supplies and incidentals to the job site making ready for 
and starting of continuous dredge operations, and all work required to 
maintain plant and equipment in working condition at the site during the 
dredging period. 

2. Payment for mobilization will be made at the contract lump sum price for 
"Mobilization". This price and payment shall be full compensation for 
"Mobilization" as defined above and no additional compensation shall be 
allowed or paid for. 

B. SILT CURTAINS 

1. Silt Curtain shall consist of all work required to provide, install, maintain, 
and remove a temporary silt curtain as required by the Project Plans and 
contract documents. 

2. Payment for Silt Curtain will be made at the contract lump sum price for 
"Silt Curtain". This price and payment shall be full compensation for "Silt 
Curtain" and no additional compensation shall be allowed or paid for. 

C. DREDGING AND DISPOSAL 

1. The total amount of material removed and disposed of will be measured 
by the cubic yard, by computing the volume between the bottom surface 
shown by soundings of the pre-dredge survey and the bottom surface 
shown by soundings of the post-dredge survey. 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-14 3/28/2019 

 

 

2. No payment shall be made for dredging of materials in excess of the 
project pay limits as specified in these specifications and on the Project 
Plans. 

3. Soundings taken from the pre-dredging survey conducted by the Harbor 
District prior to commencement of dredging will be used in determining 
quantity of material removed for payment. The determination of quantities 
to be paid, after having once been made, will not be reopened, except on 
evidence of collusion, fraud or obvious error. 

4. Payment for dredging shall be made at the contract price per cubic yard 
paid for "Dredging and Disposal", under which contract award is made, 
which price and payment thereof shall constitute full compensation for 
dredging, loading, transporting, and disposing of materials removed above 
project payment overdepth dredging elevations. 

D. DESIGNATED UPLAND DISPOSAL AREA 

The bid cost for the designated disposal area shall include all costs associated 
with preparing and maintaining the disposal area as shown on the Project Plans. 
Costs include, but are not limited to, installation and removal of hard barrier, 
installation of the protective membrane, and perimeter chain link fence. 

E. DEMOBILIZATION 

1. Demobilization shall consist of all work required to prepare plant and 
equipment for moving offsite to normal legal berth including removing all 
plant, equipment, labor and unused supplies and incidentals from the job 
site at the completion of the contract work, including cleaning up any land 
based staging site used for the execution of the work. 

2. Payment for demobilization shall be made at the contract lump sum price 
for "Demobilization". This price and payment shall be full compensation 
for "Demobilization" as defined above and no additional compensation 
will be allowed or paid for. 

F. Retention: Ten percent (10%) of progress payments will be withheld as per the 
agreement until final acceptance of the project. 

7. FINAL EXAMINATION AND ACCEPTANCE 



 
 

 

 

2019-03 Technical Specification   TS-15 3/28/2019 

 

 

A. Post-Dredge Survey:  As soon as practicable after the completion of dredging, but 
no later than seven (7) days after work is complete, the Harbor District will 
conduct a post- dredge survey. The Contractor shall remove all shoals and lumps 
disclosed by this survey by dragging the bottom or by dredging at no additional 
cost to the Harbor District. However, if the shoal areas are so small as to form no 
material obstruction to navigation, their removal may be waived at the discretion 
of the Harbor District. The Contractor or his authorized representative will be 
notified when the post- dredge survey is to be made and will be permitted to 
accompany the survey party and to inspect the data and methods used in preparing 
the final estimate. 

B. Acceptance by Harbor District:  When the area within the Limits of Dredging is 
found to be in a satisfactory condition, and between the design depth and the 
payment overdredge depth the work therein will be accepted by the Harbor 
District as complete. 

C. Regulatory Approval: Final acceptance of the project is also dependent on review 
and approval by the Corps of Engineers of the Post-Dredge Survey and any 
reports to have been submitted by the Contractor to the Corps during the project. 

D. Notice of Completion:  Upon acceptance of the work as complete by the Harbor 
District, the Harbor District shall file a Notice of Completion at the office of the 
San Mateo County Clerk 

8. FINAL PAYMENT 

A. Final payment will be based on quantities calculated from pre- and post-dredge 
surveys conducted by the Harbor District. 

B. Retention:  Ten Percent (10%) of the payment amount will be withheld and will 
be released to the Contractor after the 35 calendar days posting period of the 
Notice of Completion provided that no Stop Notices have been received from 
subcontractors or suppliers. In addition, if the post dredge survey reveals that the 
Contractor violated the terms of the Permits and dredged material below the 
allowable overdredge limits or, if the Regulators claim that any provisions of the 
Permits have been violated, the retention shall be withheld until it is certain that 
the regulators will not impose a penalty for said violation. 

 

END OF SECTION 



2019-03 Bid Form BF-1 3/28/2019 
 
 

 

SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT  
 

 
CONTRACT NO. 2019-03 

Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging 
  
 

 
BID FORM 

 

TO: SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT 
 EL GRANADA, CA 
 
Pursuant to the Notice Inviting Bids, the undersigned bidder herewith submits a bid on the bidding form or 
forms attached hereto and made a part hereof and binds itself on award by the San Mateo County Harbor 
District under this bid to execute a contract in accordance with its bid, the bid documents and the award.  The 
attached Notice Inviting Bids, General Conditions and Instructions for Bidders, Special Provisions, Technical 
Specifications, Bid Forms, and Addenda, if any, are made a part of this bid and all provisions thereof are 
accepted, and all representations and warranties required thereby are hereby affirmed.    
 
Bids below include all applicable charges, including labor, insurance, bonding, and other costs necessary for 
the furnishing of all equipment and the performance of all services called for under the Contract.  Prices 
quoted shall include all sales or use taxes.  
 

 
BIDDER SHALL SUBMIT QUOTES FOR ALL ITEMS 

 
CONTRACT NO. 2019-03 

PILLAR POINT HARBOR BOAT LAUNCH RAMP DREDGING 
 

 
 

 
LINE # ITEM # DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

1 Task 1 Mobilization $ 
2 Task 2 Silt Curtains $ 
3 Task 3 Dredging and Disposal $ 
4 Task 4 Designated Upland Disposal Area $ 
5 Task 5 Demobilization $ 
  TOTAL BID PRICE $ 
 
 
The Bid Form must be signed below in accordance with the General Conditions and Special Provisions.  Bids 
submitted in any other form will be considered non-responsive and may be rejected. 
 

 



2019-03 Bid Form BF-2 3/28/2019 
 
 

 

Name Under  Which Business is Conducted: 

_________________________________________ 

Business Address: ______________________________________________________________ 

  

Telephone Number: ______________________    Facsimile Number: _____________________ 

E-Mail Address:  
 
 

 
MANDATORY SIGNATURE(S) 

(See General Condition 3 and Special Provision 1.3) 
 
IF SOLE OWNER, sign here:  I sign as sole owner of the business named above. 
 
                      
 
IF PARTNERSHIP, one or more partners sign here:  The undersigned certify that we are 
partners in the business named above and that we sign this Contract proposal with full authority to 
do so. 
 
                      
 
IF CORPORATION OR LCC, sign here:  The undersigned certify that they sign this Contract 
proposal with full and proper authorization to do so. 
 
Entity Name:                   

By:            Title:          

*By:           Title:          

Incorporated under the laws of the State of              
           
* If the Bidder is a corporation, this Bid Form must be executed by two corporate officers, consisting of: (1) the 

president, vice president or chair of the board; and (2) the secretary, assistant secretary, chief financial officer or 
assistant treasurer. In the alternative, this Bid Form may be executed by a single officer or a person other than an 
officer provided that evidence satisfactory to the District is provided, demonstrating that such individual is 
authorized to bind the corporation (e.g. a copy of a certified resolution from the corporation’s board or a copy of 
the corporation’s bylaws). 

IF JOINT VENTURE, officers of each participating firm sign here:  The undersigned certify 
that they sign this Contract proposal with full and proper authorization to do so: 
 
Joint Venture Name composed of:              

By           Title          

By           Title          

 
 



2019-03 Bid Form BF-3 3/28/2019 
 
 

 

 
DOCUMENTS TO ACCOMPANY BID: 
 
______  The Bidder’s Bond or certified or cashier’s check required by Section 14 of the General 

Conditions and Special Provision 1.10, in an amount equal to at least ten percent (10%) of 
the Total Bid Price 

 
  Certificate of Insurance in accordance with Special Provision 4.1.C 
 
   List of Subcontractors 
 
  Acknowledgment of Addenda, if any 
 
______  Qualification Questionnaire 
 
______  Proof of DIR Registration in accordance with Special Provision 5.15 
 
______  Non-Collusion Declaration 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



BB 
 

BIDDER'S BOND 
 
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 
That                                                                                                                               , as Principal, and   
                                                                                                                                    , as Surety, are held 
and firmly bound unto the SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT, hereinafter called the 
District, in the sum of        ($  ) being at least ten 
percent (10%) of the total amount of the bid of the Principal above named for Contract # 2019-01 
Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging, for the payment of which sum in lawful money of 
the United States, well and truly to made to the District, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 
 
The condition of the above obligation is such that, whereas the Principal has submitted said bid to 
the District; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, if the Principal is awarded a contract by the District and, within the time and 
in the manner required by the Specifications, enters into a written contract with the District and 
furnishes the requisite bond or bonds, then this obligation shall become null and void, otherwise to 
remain in full force and effect. 
 
In the event suit is brought upon this bond by the District and Judgment is recovered, the Surety 
shall pay all costs incurred by the District in such suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee to be 
fixed by the Court. 
 
Dated                                             2017.                                                                                                
 
      Principal: 
 
                                       By:                                                                                                   
(SEAL)                      
                                    By:         
  
 
      Surety: 
(SEAL AND NOTARIAL 
ACKNOWLEGEMENT OF   By:                            
SURETY) 
                  By:         
        
                                            
                                            
 
 
Note:  Signatures of those executing for surety must be properly notarized. 



SAMPLE CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

CI 
 

  

 
 



 

2019-03 List of Subcontractors  1 3/28/2019 
 

 

LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS 
 

The Bidder is required to furnish the following information in accordance with the provisions of 
Sections 4100 to 4114, inclusive, of the Public Contract Code of the State of California. This list and 
information shall include all subcontractors that will perform work, provide labor or render services 
to the Bidder in connection with the project in an amount in excess of one-half of one percent of the 
total amount of Bidder's proposal. 

Do not list alternative subcontractors for the same work.  Use additional sheets if necessary. 

NAME OF 
SUBCONTRACTOR 

LICENSE 
NUMBER 

LOCATION OF/ 
PLACE OF 
BUSINESS 

PORTION OF 
WORK 

1.     

2.     

3.     

4.     

5.     

6.     

7.     

8.     

9.     

10.     

11.     

12.     

13.     

14.     

15.     

16.     

 



2019-03  Payment Bond PB-1 3/28/2019 

PAYMENT BOND 

 
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that _______________________ called the 
PRINCIPAL, and ______________________________a corporation duly organized under the laws 
of the State of ________ _, having its principal place of business at 
_____________________________ in the State of                          , and authorized to do business 
in the State of California, hereinafter called the SURETY, are held and firmly bound unto the San 
Mateo County Harbor District (District), hereinafter called the OBLIGEE, or order in the sum of 
                                            ($                  .00) lawful money of the United States, 
for the payment of which, well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 
 
THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH THAT: 

 
WHEREAS, the PRINCIPAL has entered into a Contract with the OBLIGEE for  
Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging and said PRINCIPAL is required under the 
terms of said Contract to furnish a bond securing payment of claims to which reference is made 
in Section 9554 of the Civil Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, if said PRINCIPAL or any of its subcontractors fails to pay any of the 
persons named in Section 9100 of the Civil Code, or amounts due under the Unemployment 
Insurance Code with respect to work or labor performed under the Contract, or any amounts 
required to be deducted, withheld and paid over to the Employment Development Department from 
the wages of employees of the Contractor and his subcontractors pursuant to Section 13020 of the 
Unemployment Insurance Code with respect to such work and labor, the SURETY, will pay for the 
same, in an amount not exceeding the sum specified in this bond, and also will pay, in case suit is 
brought upon this bond, a reasonable attorney's fee, to be fixed by the court. 
 
This bond will inure to the benefit of any of the persons named in Section 9100 of the Civil Code so 
as to give a right of action to such persons or their assigns in any suit brought upon this bond. 
 
This bond is given to comply with Sections 9550 and 9554 of the Civil Code.  The liability of the 
PRINCIPAL and SURETY hereunder is governed by the provisions of said Code, all acts 
amendatory thereof, and all other statutes referred to therein. 
 
SURETY, for value received, hereby agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition 
to the terms of the Contract or to the work to be performed thereunder or to the Contract Documents 
accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligations on this bond, and it does hereby 
waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the 
Contract or to the work or to the other portions of the Contract Documents. 
 



2019-03  Payment Bond PB-2 3/28/2019 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the above-bounded parties have executed this instrument this   
   day of      , 2017, the name and corporate seal of 
each corporate party being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its undersigned 
representatives, pursuant to authority of its governing body. 
 
          
             
                                    (Principal)  
                                                                 
                             
NOTE:                          By:         
To be signed by Principal      
and Surety and acknowledgement  By:         
and notarial seal attached.        
             
                                      (Surety) 
 
             
                                   (Address) 

 
By:         

 
                               By:         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
 ) ss. 



2019-03  Payment Bond PB-3 3/28/2019 

CITY AND COUNTY OF ________ ) 

On _________________, 2017 before me, _________________, Notary Public, personally 
appeared _________________, personally known to me (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which 
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the 
laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 

 
 

Signature ________________________________ 
   Notary Public 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
 ) ss. 
CITY AND COUNTY OF ________ ) 

On _________________, 2017 before me, _________________, Notary Public, personally 
appeared ___________________, personally known to me (or proved to me on the basis of 
satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument 
and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), 
and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of 
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the 
laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 
 
Witness my hand and official seal. 

 
 

Signature ________________________________ 
   Notary Public 

 
TO BE CONSIDERED COMPLETE, BOTH THE BIDDER AND AN ADMITTED SURETY 
INSURER AUTHORIZED BY THE CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMMISSIONER TO 
TRANSACT SURETY BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA MUST SIGN THIS 
PERFORMANCE BOND. IN ADDITION, BOTH THE PRINCIPAL’S AND THE SURETY’S 
SIGNATURES MUST BE NOTARIZED AND A COPY OF THE SURETY’S POWER OF 
ATTORNEY MUST BE ATTACHED. 



 
 

2019-03  Performance Bond PB-1 3/28/2019  

PERFORMANCE BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that  

 
 WHEREAS THE SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT, (hereinafter referred to as 

"District") has entered into a Contract with          
(hereinafter referred to as "Principal") for the Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging 

("Contract"); and  
 

WHEREAS, said Principal is required under the terms of said Contract to furnish a bond of 
faithful performance of said Contract; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, we, the Principal, and       , as 

Surety are held and firmly bound unto the District, in the penal sum of 
___________________________________________________ Dollars ($_____________) 

lawful money of the United States, being a sum equal to one hundred  percent (100%) of the total 
amount payable under the Contract, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to be made, we 

bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly 
by these presents. 

 
THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that if the above-bound Principal, or its 

heirs, executors, administrators, successors, or assigns approved by the District, shall promptly 
and faithfully perform the covenants, conditions and agreements in the Contract during the 

original term and any extensions thereof as may be granted by the District, with or without notice 
to Surety, and during the period of any guarantees or warranties required under the Contract, and 

shall also promptly and faithfully perform all the covenants, conditions, and agreements of any 
alteration of the Contract made as therein provided, notice of which alterations to Surety being 

hereby waived, on Principal’s part to be kept and performed at the time and in the manner therein 
specified, and in all respects according to their true intent and meaning, and shall indemnify, 

defend, protect, and hold harmless the District as stipulated in the Contract, then this obligation 

shall be removed; otherwise it shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

No extension of time, change, alteration, modification, or addition to the Contract, or of the work 
required thereunder, shall release or exonerate Surety on this bond or in any way affect the 

obligation of this bond; and Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension of time, 
change, alteration, modification, or addition. 

 
Whenever Principal shall be and declared by the District to be in default under the Contract, 

Surety shall promptly remedy the default, or shall promptly do one of the following at District’s 

election: 

1. Undertake through its agents or independent Contractors, reasonably acceptable to the 
District, to complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions and to pay 

and perform all obligations of Principal under the Contract, including without limitation, 
all obligations with respect to warranties, guarantees, and the payment of liquidated 

damages. 



 
 

2019-03  Performance Bond PB-2 3/28/2019  

2. Reimburse the District for all costs the District incurs in completing the Contract, 
including consequential damages and costs associated with resoliciting the Contract, if 

applicable, negotiation, and completion of the project, and in correcting, repairing or 
replacing any defects in materials or workmanship and/or materials and workmanship 

which do not conform to the specifications in the Contract. 

Surety’s obligations hereunder are independent of the obligations of any other surety for the 

performance of the Contract, and suit may be brought against Surety and such other sureties, 
jointly and severally, or against any one or more of them, or against less than all of them without 

impairing the District’s rights against the others. 

No right of action shall accrue on this bond to or for the use of any person or corporation other 

than the District or its successors or assigns. 

In the event suit is brought upon this bond by the District, Surety shall pay reasonable attorney’s 

fees and costs incurred by the District in such suit.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the above bounded parties have executed this instrument under their 

seals this  day of     , 2017, the name and corporate seal of each 
corporate party being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its undersigned 

representative, pursuant to authority of its governing body. 
          

                                                
 (Principal)  

                                                                 
                             

NOTE:                          By:         
To be signed by Principal      

and Surety and acknowledgement  By:         
and notarial seal attached.        

                                                  
 (Surety) 

 
                                               

 (Address) 
 

By:         
 

                               By:         
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

2019-03  Performance Bond PB-3 3/28/2019  

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
 ) ss. 

CITY AND COUNTY OF ________ ) 

On _________________, 2017 before me, _________________, Notary Public, 

personally appeared _________________, personally known to me (or proved to me on the basis 
of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the 

laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 

 
Witness my hand and official seal. 

 
 

Signature ________________________________ 
   Notary Public 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
 ) ss. 

CITY AND COUNTY OF ________ ) 

On _________________, 2017 before me, _________________, Notary Public, 

personally appeared ___________________, personally known to me (or proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or 

the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the 

laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 

 
Witness my hand and official seal. 

 
 

Signature ________________________________ 
   Notary Public 

 
TO BE CONSIDERED COMPLETE, BOTH THE BIDDER AND AN ADMITTED SURETY 

INSURER AUTHORIZED BY THE CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMMISSIONER TO 
TRANSACT SURETY BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA MUST SIGN THIS 

PERFORMANCE BOND. IN ADDITION, BOTH THE PRINCIPAL’S AND THE SURETY’S 
SIGNATURES MUST BE NOTARIZED AND A COPY OF THE SURETY’S POWER OF 

ATTORNEY MUST BE ATTACHED. 
 



 
 

SAMPLE CONTRACT



2019-03 Sample Contract SC-2 [DATE] 

SAMPLE CONTRACT 
 
THIS CONTRACT is made and entered into this                  day of          , by 
and between SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT (referred to as "District") and 
_________________________________ (referred to as "Contractor").  

The Contractor and the District, for the consideration hereinafter named, agree as follows: 

1. Scope of Work.  The Contractor shall furnish the District all the labor, materials and 
equipment required to complete the work more particularly described in the 
specifications approved by the District entitled: 

CONTRACT NO.  2019-03 
 

 Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging 
 

and which are appended hereto and made part of the Contract. 

The Contractor shall perform the following work listed on the Bid Form. 

  

The District has the right to inspect the ongoing installation process on a daily basis, if 
necessary, and there will be a final inspection by a District representative. 

2. Time of Performance.  The Contractor shall begin work upon issuance of the Notice to 
Proceed, and shall diligently prosecute all of the work under this Contract in all parts and 
requirements to completion by [INSERT TIME OF PERFORMANCE], as provided in 
the Specifications.  

3. Contract Price.  The Contractor shall faithfully perform each and every item required of 
it in this Contract for the sum of        
  Dollars ($    ), which includes all applicable charges, including 
taxes, freight and delivery charges, insurance and all other costs necessary for the 
furnishing of all material and the performance of all the services called for under the 
Contract.  Payments to Contractor shall be made at the time and in the manner provided 
in the Contract. 

4. Term of Contract.  The term of this Contract shall commence upon District’s issuance 
of a Notice to Proceed.  Following District’s final acceptance of the debris removal work, 
all work, including all installation work or repairs, is guaranteed by the Contractor 
against failure, damage, defect, or non-compliance with the Contract of any kind for a 
period of one (1) year from the date of District's final acceptance. 



2019-03 Sample Contract SC-3 [DATE] 

5. Component Parts.  This Contract shall consist of the following documents, each of 
which is on file in the Office of the Secretary and all of which are incorporated herein 
and made a part hereof by reference thereto: 

A. Contract 
B. Bid Documents: Notice Inviting Bids, General Conditions and Instructions for 

Bidders, Special Provisions and Technical Specifications 
C. Bid Form (As Accepted by the District) 
E. Addenda No.    to     
F. Performance Bond 
G. Payment Bond 
H. Insurance Certificates 

 
6. Service Notice.  Any notice required or permitted to be given by this Contract shall be 

deemed given when personally delivered to recipient thereof or mailed by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, to the appropriate recipient 
thereof, in the case of the Contractor, at the business address specified in its proposal, and 
in the case of the District, at PO Box 1449, El Granada, CA, 94018, or at any other 
address which either party may subsequently designate in writing to the other party. 

7. Publicity.  The Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, and agents shall not refer to 
the District, or use any logos, images, or photographs of the District for any commercial 
purpose, including, but not limited to, advertising, promotion, or public relations, without 
the District's prior written consent.  Such written consent shall not be required for the 
inclusion of the District's name on a customer list. 

8. Governing Law.  This Contract shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of California. Any action relating to, and all disputes arising under, this 
Contract shall be instituted and prosecuted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the 
State of California.  Each party hereby appoints the individual listed opposite its name to 
act as its initial agent for service of process relating to any such action. 



2019-03 Sample Contract SC-4 [DATE] 

SAMPLE CONTRACT 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the District has caused these presents to be executed by the District’s 
officer thereunto duly authorized, and the Contractor has subscribed same, all on the day and 
year first above written. 

FOR THE CONTRACTOR: 

Name Under Which Business is Conducted:          
 
Business Address:             
 
City/State/Zip:             
 
Telephone No.       Facsimile No.      
 
If SOLE OWNER, sign here: 
 
I sign as sole owner of the business named above. 
 
        
 
If PARTNERSHIP, sign here:   
 
The undersigned certify that they are partners in the business named above and that they sign this 
contract bid proposal with full authority to do so (One or more partners sign). 
 
        
 
        
 
If CORPORATION OR LLC, execute here:   
 
The undersigned certify that they sign this contract bid proposal with full and proper 
authorization to do so. 
 
Entity name:  
 
By: Title:  
 
* By: Title:  
 
Incorporated under the laws of the State of:  
 
* If the Contractor is a corporation, this Contract must be executed by two corporate officers, consisting of: (1) the 

president, vice president or chair of the board; and (2) the secretary, assistant secretary, chief financial officer or 
assistant treasurer. In the alternative, this Contract may be executed by a single officer or a person other than an 
officer provided that evidence satisfactory to the District is provided demonstrating that such individual is 
authorized to bind the corporation (e.g. a copy of a certified resolution from the corporation’s board or a copy of 
the corporation’s bylaws.) 



2019-03 Sample Contract SC-5 [DATE] 

 
If JOINT VENTURE, Sign Here:   
 
The undersigned certify that they sign this contract bid proposal with full and proper 
authorization to do so. 
 
Joint Venture Name Composed of:          
 
By:      Title:        
 
By:      Title:        
 
Incorporated under the laws of the State of:         
 
 
FOR THE SAN MATEO COUNTY HARBOR DISTRICT: 
 
        
 
General Manager 
 
 
 

 



2019-03 Non-Collusion Declaration NC 3/28/2019 

NON-COLLUSION DECLARATION TO BE EXECUTED BY BIDDER 
AND SUBMITTED WITH BID 

 

The undersigned declares: 

I am the ___________________ of ___________________, the party making the foregoing bid. 

The bid is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, 
company, association, organization, or corporation. The bid is genuine and not collusive or 
sham. The bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to put in a 
false or sham bid. The bidder has not directly or indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or 
agreed with any bidder or anyone else to put in a sham bid, or to refrain from bidding. The 
bidder has not in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or 
conference with anyone to fix the bid price of the bidder or any other bidder, or to fix any 
overhead, profit, or cost element of the bid price, or of that of any other bidder. All statements 
contained in the bid are true. The bidder has not, directly or indirectly, submitted his or her bid 
price or any breakdown thereof, or the contents thereof, or divulged information or data relative 
thereto, to any corporation, partnership, company association, organization, bid depository, or to 
any member or agent thereof to effectuate a collusive or sham bid, and has not paid, and will not 
pay, any person or entity for such purpose. 

Any person executing this declaration on behalf of a bidder that is a corporation, partnership, 
joint venture, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or any other entity, hereby 
represents that he or she has full power to execute, and does execute, this declaration on behalf 
of the bidder. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 
true and correct and that this declaration is executed on ____________________[date], at 
___________________[city], ___________________[state]." 

 
 
__________________________________ 
Signature of Bidder 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Title 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Date 
 

 



 

QQ-1 
 
 
 

QUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE AND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT WITH BUSINESS REFERENCES 

 
 
 
       ( )      
Name of Applicant or Firm     Telephone   
  
       ( )      
       Facsimile 
 
                                                                                                                                      
Street Address  (NOTE:   If using a P.O. Box, please list both P.O. Box No. AND Street Address) 
  
  
City, State, Zip 
 
      Date Submitted: 
 
                                                                                   
 
      Fiscal Year Ending: 
 
            
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                          
 
The above applicant or firm is: 
 
 A parent firm of:            
 
            
 
 A subsidiary division of:             
 
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

QQ-2 
 
 
 

 
1. How many years has your organization been in business as a dredging, excavation or debris 

removal contractor under your present name? 
 
              
                                                                                                                            
2. How many years experience: 
 

a) As a prime contractor:           
 

b) As a subcontractor:            
  
3. Are you registered as a contractor or subcontractor with the California Department of 

Industrial Relations?  ________ 
 

Registration No.: ____________   Registration expiration date: ____________ 

**BIDDER MUST SUBMIT PROOF OF CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION WITH 
THE DIR IN THE FORM OF A HARD COPY OF THE RELEVANT PAGE OF 
THE DIR'S DATABASE FOUND AT: https://efiling.dir.ca.gov/PWCR/Search** 
 

4. List below at least three contracts your organization has performed in the last five years 
involving similar dredging, excavation or debris removal projects.   

 
CONTRACT 
$ AMOUNT 

PERCENT       
COMPLETED 

CONTRACTING AGENCY AND ADDRESS, NAME AND PHONE 
OF OWNER/AGENCY  REPRESENTATIVE 

   

   

   

   

   

 
 (Use separate sheet if more listing space is needed.) 
 
5. Have you ever failed to complete any work awarded to you, or have you ever been 

disqualified, removed, or otherwise prevented from bidding on or completing any federal, 
state or local government project because of a violation of law or safety regulation. 
 
        (    ) Yes  (   ) No  

   
 If so, where and why?           
 
             
 
             



 

QQ-3 
 
 
 

 
             
 
             
 

              
 
 
6. The Contractor shall dispose of any hazardous wastes under its own EPA generator 

number.  Please provide your EPA Generator Number: 
 
              
  
7. What is the construction experience of the principal officers and key employees (including 

superintendents) of your organization? 
 

INDIVIDUAL’S 
NAME 

PRESENT 
POSITION 

OR OFFICE 

YEARS OF 
CONSTRUCTION 

EXPERIENCE 

MAGNITUDE & 
TYPE OF WORK 

IN WHAT 
CAPACITY 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     
 



 

QQ-4 
 
 
 

 
8. List facilities that are available for anticipated work.  (In Column 3, indicate ownership status 

of equipment and facilities if available:  O-Own, L-Lease.)   
 

QTY. 
ITEM  

(DESCRIPTION, SIZE, 
CAPACITY, ETC.) 

OWNERSHIP        CONDITION YEARS OF 
SERVICE           

  PRESENT 
LOCATION 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      
 
 
9. Give information below about all your contract work underway or to which you are   

committed. 
 

TYPE OF 
WORK LOCATION VALUE PERCENT 

COMPLETE 

SCHEDULED 
COMPLETION 

DATE 

FOR WHOM 
PERFORMED 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      
 



 

QQ-5 
 
 
 

 
10. References:  Give only engineers, architects, or owners, including public bodies, for whom 

you have done work. 
 

NAME ADDRESS BUSINESS 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 



 

QQ-6 
 
 
 

REFERENCES 
 
 
1. Please list 3 bank references familiar with the Bidder’s accounts: 
 

a) Name of Bank:              
 

Street Address:             
 
  City and State:        Telephone:        
  
  Officer Familiar with Bidder's Account:         
  

b) Name of Bank:             
 

Street Address:             
 
  City and State:        Telephone:        
  
  Officer Familiar with Bidder's Account:         
 

c) Name of Bank:             
 

Street Address:              
 
  City and State:        Telephone:        
  
  Officer Familiar with Bidder's Account:         
 
 
  
 
 
 



AA 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF ADDENDA 
 

 
The undersigned Bidder acknowledges receipt of the following addenda, if issued, to the Bid 
Documents.  If none received, write “None Received”. 
 
 
Addendum No.   , dated      
 
Addendum No.   , dated      
 
Addendum No.   , dated      
 
 
 
Date:               
 
Firm:               
 
Signature:              
 
Print Name:              
 
Title:               
 



 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim General Manager  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Public Outreach Services 
 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Motion:  Authorize the Interim General Manager to execute a Professional Services 
Agreement (PSA) for Public Outreach Services with Phondini Partners LLC for an 
amount not to exceed $39,900.   
 
Background: 
The District has desired and considered opportunities to have a Social Media presence 
for many years. At the District Special Meeting on January 10, 2019 the Board decided 
to form a Social Media/Public Outreach Standing Committee. Representatives from 
Phondini Partners LLC (Phondini) provided a proposal to assist the District in creating a 
Social Media presence. At this meeting the Board directed the Interim General Manager 
(IGM) to enter into an initial Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Phondini for 
an amount not to exceed the IGM’s procurement authority, see attached 1/10/19 
Meeting Minutes. Subsequently, the District entered into an initial PSA with Phondini for 
an amount not to exceed $15,600, see attached Phondini PSA. 
 
Phondini had previously worked with the District to formulate a Social Media Policy, 
which they helped staff perfect and has since been approved. Phondini has successfully 
worked to set up several social media sites for the District, e.g., Facebook, Twitter, 
Instagram, LinkedIn, populated, monitored and maintained these sites. Phondini has 
organized multiple outreach and educational tours, e.g., Sheriff’s Activities League 
Coastside Empowering Young Women, Stanford Coastside Club.  
 
Phondini has submitted the attached proposal to continue public outreach and social 
media efforts, for an amount not to exceed $39,900. 
       
 
 
 
Summary/Recommendation: 



PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

 

Authorize the Interim General Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement 
(PSA) for Public Outreach Services with Phondini Partners LLC for an amount not to 
exceed $39,900.   
 
Attachments: 
1. January 16, 2019 Phondini Partners LLC - Professional Services Agreement  
2. January 10, 2019 District Special Meeting Minutes 
3. June 10, 2019 Phondini Partners LLC - Proposal, Exhibit A 
4. Phondini Partners, LLC - Presentation 
 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/b94d25e4e/2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_PSA_2019_01_16.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/b6743d4e5/2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_01_10_SpecialMeetingMinutes.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/d4383fd45/2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_Partners_Proposal.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/c5ba58baf/2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_PP.pdf


AGREEMENT

PUBLIC OUTREACH SERVICES

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of this 16th day of January. 2019, by and between the San
Mateo County Harbor District FDistrict") and Phondini Partners LLC, ("Contractor").

WHEREAS, the District desires to obtain professional services to assist the District with
public outreach, education prt^rams and a social media policy; and

WHEREAS, Contractor desires to perform such services and has represented that it is
experienced and qualified to perform such services. It has submitted a written proposal, dated
January 10, 2019, a copy ofwhrch is attadied and incorporated as Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the District's Board of Harbor Commissioners, at its meeting on January 10,
2019, authorized the Interim General Manager to enter into this Agreement; and

1.

NOW, THEREFORE. THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

RENDITION OF SERVICES

The Contractor agrees to provide professional services to the District in accordance with
the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the performance of its work, the Contractor
represents that it (1) has and will exerdse the degree of professional care, sS^W, efficiency, and
judgment of contractors with special expertise in providing such sennces; 02) carries all applicable
licenses, certificates, and registrations in current and good standing that may be required to
perform the work; and (3) will retain alt such licenses, certificates, and registrations in active status
throughout the duration of this engagement.

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES

Contrador will provide District the scope of services set forth in Exhibit A, as supplemented
by Exhibit 8, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the event of any
inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of Exhibit A, this agreement
shall prevail.

3. SCHEDULE

Contractor will commence work upon District's issuance of a Notice to Proceed and,
unless the Agreement is terminated sooner pursuant to Section 20 will endeavor to complete all
work within one year.

4. KEY PE SONNEL

It is understood and agreed by the parties that at all times during the term of this
Agreement that Joe Falcone, shall serve as the primary staff person of the Contractor to
undertake, render and oversee alt of the services under this Agreement. Upon written notfce by
the Contractor and approval by the District, which will not be unreasonably withheld, the
Contractor may substitute this person with another person, who shall possess similar
qualifications and experience for this position.



5. COMPENSATION

The Consultant agrees to perform all the services included in Exhibit A for the total not-to-exceed
amount of eight thousand dollars ($8. 000). The amount includes alt labor, materials, taxes, profit.
overhead, insurance, travel, and subconsultant costs. The not-to-exceed amount is not
guaranteed: compensation will be based on services actually rendered.

6. NOTICES

All communications relating to the day-to-day activities of the Project shall be exchanged
between the District's General Manager and Board President (or their designees), and the
Contractor.

All other notices and communications regarding interpretation of the terms of this
Agreement and changes thereto shall be given to the other party in writing and may be given by
personal delivery to a representative of the parties or by mailing the same, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows:

If to the District: San Mateo County Harbor District
504 Ave. Alhambra, 2nd Poor
P.O. Box 1449
B Granada, CA 94018
Attention; John Moren, Interim General Manager

If to the Contractor Phondini Partners LLC

Address: p>o 7^^ l5'7
H<^n'»^^^<^cA ffr^o\cz

Attentton:^^^^ R,^o^^ ^^^
The address to which mailings may be made may be changed from time to time by notice

mailed as described above. Any notice given by mail shall be deemed given on the day after that
on which it is deposited in the United States Postal Service as provkted above.

7. OWNE SHIP OF WORK

Ati reports, designs, drawings, plans, photographic images, video and sound recording,
specifications, analyses, charts, tables, schedules and alt other materials prepared, or in the
process of being prepared, for the services to be performed by the Contractor shall be and are
the property of the District. The District shall be entitled access to and copte of these materials
during the progress of the work. Any such materials remaining in the hands of the Contractor or
in the hands of any subcontrador upon completion or termination of the work shall be immediately
delivered to the District. If any materials are tost, damaged or destroyed before final delivery to
the District, the Contractor shall replace them at its own expense, and the Contractor assumes all
risks of loss. damage or destruction of or to such materials. The Contractor may retain a copy of
all materials produced under this Agreement for its use in its general business activities.

Any and all rights, title. and interest (including, without limitation, patent righte, copyright
and any other intellectual-property or proprietary right) to materials prepared under this



Agreement are hereby assigned to the District. The Contractor agrees to execute any additional
documents which may be necessary to evidence such assignment.

The Contractor represents and warrants that all materials prepared under this Agreement
are original or developed from materials in the public domain (or botii) and that all materials
prepared under and services provided under this Agreement do not infringe or violate any
copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret, or other intetlectual-property or proprietary right of any
third party.

8. CONFIDENTIALITY

Any District materials to which the Contractor has access or materials prepared by the
Contractor during the course of this Agreement ("confidential information") shall be held in
confidence by the Contractor, who shall exercise all reasonable precautions to prevent the
disclosure of corrfidential information to anyone except the officers, employees, and agents of the
Contractor as necessary to accomplish the rendition of services set forth in Section 2 of this
Agreement.

The Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, and agents shall not release any reports,
information or other materials prepared in connection with this Agreement, whether deemed
confidential or not, to any third party without the approval of the District.

9. SUBCONTRACTORS

The Confractor shall not subcontract any sen/ices to be performed by it under this
Agreement without the prtor written approval of the District, except for service firms engaged in
drawing, reproduction, typing, and printing. Any subcontractors must be engaged under written
contract with the Contractor with provisions allowing the Contractor to comply with all
requirements of this Agreement, including without limitation the "Ownership of Work" provisions
in Section 7. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for reimbursing any subcontractors, and
the District shall have no obligation to them.

10. CHANGES

The District may, at any time, by written order, make changes within the scope of work
and services described in this Agreement. If such changes cause an increase in the budgeted
cost of or the time required for performance of the agreed upon work, an equitable adjustment as
mutually agreed shall be made in the limit on compensation as set forth in Section 5 or in the time
of required performance as set forth in Section 3, or both. In the event that the Contractor
encounters any unanticipated conditions or contingencies that may affect the scope of work or
services, schedule, or the amount of compensation specified herein, the Contractor shall so
advise the District immediately upon notice of such condition or contingency. The written notice
shall explain the circumstances giving nse to the unforeseen condition or contingency and shall
set forth the proposed adjustment in schedule or compensation. This notice shall be gwen to the
District prior to the time that the Contractor performs work or services related to any proposed
adjustment. The pertinent changes shall be caressed in a written supplement to this Agreement
prior to implementation of such changes.



11. RESPONSIBILrTY- INDEMNtFlCATION

The Contractor shall indemnity, keep and save harmless the District and its
Commissioners, officers, agents and employees against any and all suits, claims or actions
arising out of any of the following:

A. Any injury to persons or property that may occur, or that may be alleged to have
occurred, arising from the performance of this Agreement by the Contractor caused
by a negligent act pr omission or willful misconduct of the Contractor or its employees,
subcontractors or agents; or

B. Any allegation that materials or services provided by the Contractor under this
Agreement infringe or violate any copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret, or any other
inteltectua(-property or proprietary right of any third party.

The Contractor further agrees to defend any and all such actions, suits or claims, with
counsel acceptable to the District in its sole discretion and pay alt charges of attorneys and all
other costs and expenses of defenses as ftiey are incurred. If any judgment is rendered, or
settlement reached, against the District, or any of the other individuals enumerated above in any
such action, the Contractor shall, at its expense, satisfy and discharge the same. This
indemnificatton shall survive termination or expiration of the Agreement.

12. INSURANCE

A. T es of Insurance

The Contractor shall not commence work until proper evidence of insurance
coverage of the types and amounts specified in this section has been provided to
the District. The Contractor shall not violate or permit to be violated any conditions
or provisions of said policies of insurance, and at all times shall satisfy the
requirements of the insurer for the purpose of maintaining said insurance in effect.

If any daim is made by any third person against the Contractor on account of any
incident connected to the Agreement. the Contractor shad promptly report the fact
in writing to the District, giving M[ details of the daim.

Any person, firm, or corporation that the Contractor authorizes to work upon the
District's property, including any subcontractor, shall be deemed to be the
Contractor's agent and shall be subject to all applicable terms of this Agreement.
Prior to the Contractor's start of the work or entry onto the District's property, the
Contractor agrees to require its subcontractors to procure and maintain, at the
Contractor's (or its subcontr8Ctor(s)') sole cost and expense (and to prove to the
District's reasonable satisfaction that it remains in effect throughout the
performance of the work under this Agreement), the kinds of insurance described
below. Such insurance must remain in effect throughout the term of this Agreement
and will be at the sole cost and expense of the Contractor (or its subcontnactor(s)).

1) Commercial General Liabilit Insurance

The Contractor shall, at its own expense, procure and maintain Commercial
General Liability insurance providing bodily injury and property damage
coverage with a combined limit of at least One Million Dollars ($1, 000, 000)



each occurrence and a general aggreg^e limit of at least Two Million
Dollars ($2,000,000). Tltis insurance shall indude, but not be limited to,
premises and operations, contractual liability covering the indemnity
provisions contained in this Agreement, personal injury, products and
completed operations, and broad form property damage, and include a
Cross Liability endorsement.

Said Policy shall protect fte Contractor and the District in the same manner
as though a separate pdicy had been issued to each, but nothing in said
policy shall operate to increase the insurance company's liability as set
forth in its policy beyond the amount or amounts shown or to which the
insurance company would have been liable if only one interest had been
named as an insured.

2) Business Automobile Liabil'

The Contractor shall, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain
Business Automobile Liability insurance providing bodily injury and
property damage with a combined singte limit of at least One Million Dollars
($1,000, 000) per occurrence for all owned, non-owned and hired
automobiles. This insurance sh^f provide corrtractual tiabiltty covering ati
motor vehicles and mobile equipment to the extent coverage may be
excluded from general liability insurance.

3) Workers' Corn nsation and Em lo ere1 Liabi it Insurance

If the Contractor employs any person to perform work in connection with
this Agreement, the Contractor shaft procure and maintain at all times,
during the performance of such work, WorkCTS' Compensation Insurance
in conformance wth the laws of the State of California, and federal laws
where applicable. Employers' Liabitity Insurance shall not be tess than
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for each accident and One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000) for each disease, with a policy limit of One Million
Dollars ($1.000,000).

The policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation in favor of the District
and its ofRcers, Commissioners, employees, volunteers, and agents,
white acting in such capacity, and their successore and assignees, as
they now or as Uiey may hereafter te constituted, singly, jointly, or
severally.

4) Professional Liabilit Insurance

The Contractor shall also maintain Professional Liability Insurance
covering the Contractor's performance under this Agreement with a limit of
liability of One Million Dollars ($1, 000, 000) for any one claim. This
insurance shall be applicable to claims arising from the work performed
under this Agreement. Prior to commendng work under this Agreement,
the Contractor shall furnish to the District a Certificate of Insurance or
certified copy of the insurance policy if requested, indicating canpliance
with the requirements of this paragraph. This certificate or pdicy shall



further stipulate that thirty (30) days' advance written notice of cancellation,
non-renewal or reduction in limits shall be given to the District.

B. General Insurance Re uirements

1) Acce table I nsurance
All policies will be issued by insurers acceptable to the District. This
insurance shall be issued by an insurance company or companies
authorized to do business in the State of California with minimum "Best's"
rating of B+ and with minimum policyholder surplus of Twenty-Five Million
Dollars ($25, 000,000) or a company acwptable to the District in its sole
discretion. Alt policies shall be issued in a form satisfactory to the Interim
General Manager of Uie District and shall be issired spedfically as primary
insurance. Workers' Compensation coverage requirements may be met
with the California State Compensation Fund.

2) Procure and Maintain Insurance
The Contractor must, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain at
all times during the performance of this Agreement, all of the r^uired
policies specified above. The faiiure to procure or maintain the required
insurance policies and/or an adequately funded self-insurance program
acc^table to the District will constitute a material breach of tfie Agreement.

3) Terms of Poticies
All insurance specified above shall remain in force until all work to be
performed is satisfactorily completed. If the insurance is provided on a
claims-made basis, rt must remain in force for the entire term of the
Agreement and a minimum of three (3) years thweafter.

4) Self-lnsurance
Upon evidence of financial capacity satisfactory to the
District and Contractor's agreement to waive subrogation against
the District respecting any and all claims that may arise, the Contractor's
obligations hereunder may be satisfied in whole or in part by adequately
funded seif-insurance.

5) Deductibtes and Retentions
The Contractor shall be responsible for payment of any deductible or
retention on the Contractor's policies without right of contribution from the
District. Deductible and retention provisions shall not contain, any
restrictions as to how or by whom the deductible or retention is paid. Any
deductible or retention provision limiting payment to the Named Insured is
unacceptable.

In the event that the policy of the Contractor or any subcontractor contains
a deductible or self-insured retention, and ir> the event that
the District seeks coverage under such policy as an additional insured, the
Contractor shall satisfy such deductible or self-insured retention to the
extent of loss covered by such policy for a lawsuit arising from or connected
with any alleged act or omission of the Contractor, subcontractor, or any
of their officers, directors, employees, agents, or suppliers, even if the
Contractor or subcontractor is not a named defendant in the lawsuit.



Evidence of Insurance and Endorsements

Prior to commencing work or entering onto the District's property, the Contractor
shall file a Certificate of Insurance wifti the District evidencing the foregoing
coverage's, including the following endorsements:

5) The insurance company(ies) issuing such policy(ies) will provide at least
thirty (30) days' notice to the District of cancellation or non-renewal.

6) That the policy(ies) is primary insurance and the insurance company(ies)
providing such po)icy(ies) shall be liable thereunder for the full amount of
any loss or claim that the Contractor is liable for under this section, up to
and including the totat limit of liability, without right of contribution from any
other insurance maintained or which may be maintained by the District.

7) Such insurance shall include as additional insureds the District, and its
respective Connmisstoners, offteers, employees, and agents white acting in
such capacity, and their successors or assignees, as they now or as they
may hereafter be constituted, singfy, jointly, or severally.

8} The policy must also contain either a Cross Liability endorsement or
Severability of Inter^ts Clause and stipulate that inclusion of the District
as an additional insured will not in any way affect the District's rights as
respecte to any ciaim, demand. suit or judgment made, brought, or
recovered against the Contractor. Said policy shall protect the Contractor
and the District in the same manner as though a separate policy had been
issued to each, but nothing in said policy shall operate to increase the
insurance company's liability as set forth in its policy beyond the amount or
amounts shown or to which tfie insurance company would have been liable
if only one interest had been named as an insured.

C. Conse uenceofLa se

Should any required insurance not be procured or lapse during the term of this Agreement,
requests for payment originating after such lapse will not be processed until the District receives
satisfactory evidence of reinstated coverage as required by the Agreement. If insurance is not
reinstated, the District, may, at its sole option, terminate this Agreement effective on the date of
such lapse of insurance.

13. MANNER OF PAYMENT

Contractor will submit detailed monthly invoices at the end of each month describing the
work performed and the assodated deliverable, which will be consistent with Exhibit A & 8.
Invotoes will also include total expenditures to date and the remaining balance on the budgeted
or not-to-exceed amount. Invoices will be prepared in a format acceptable to District. The District
shall endeavor to pay approved invoices within thirty (30) days of their receipt.



14. CONTRACTOR'S STATUS

Neifrier the Contractor nor any party conto-acting with the Contractor shall be deemed to
be an agent or employee of the District The Contractor is and shall be an independent Contractor,
and the legal relationship of any person performing services for the Contractor shall be one solely
between that person and the Contractor

15. ASSIGNMENT

Contractor shall not assign any of its rights nor transfer any of its obligations under this
Agreement without the prior written consent of District.

16. DISTRICT WARRANTIES

The District makes no warranties, representations or agreements, either express or
implied, beyond such as are exptiatly stated in this Agreement.

17. DISTRICT REPRESENTATIVE

Except when approval or other action is required to be given or taken by the Board of
Harbor Commissioners of the District, the General Manager of the District, or such person or
persons as he/she shaU designate in writing from time to time, shall represent and act for the
District.

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

The District and Contractor agree to attempt in good faith to resolve all disputes infonnally.
If agreed to by both parties, alternate methods of dispute resolution, sudi as mediation, may be
utilized. Unless otherwise directed by the District, the Contractor shall continue performance
under this Agreement while matters in dispute are being resolved.

19. MAINTENANCE AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS

Ati Contractor and subcontractor costs incurred in the perfonmance of this Agreement
will be subject to audit. The Contractor and ite subcontractors shall permit the District or its
authorized representatives to inspect, audit and verify statements, invoices or bills submitted
by the Contfactor pursuant to this Agreement The Contractor shall also provide such
assistance as may be required in the course of such audit. The Contractor shall retain these
records and make them available fw inspection hereunder for a period of four (4) years
after expiration or ternination of the Agreement.

If, as a result of the audit, it is determined by the District's auditor or staff that
reimbursement of any costs including profit or fee under this Agreement was in excess of that
represented and relied upon during price negotiations or represented as a basis for payment,
the Contractor agrees to reimburse the District for those costs within sixty (60) days of written
notification by the District.



20. TERMINATION

The District shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for cause or for
convenience by giving written notice to the Contractor. Upon receipt of such notice, the Contractor
shall not commit itself to any further expenditure of time or resources.

If the Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a breach or default by the
Contractor, the Distrid shall pay to the Contractor in accordance with the provisions of Sections
5 and 13 all sums actually due and owing from the District for all services performed and all
expenses incurred up to the day written notice of termination is given, plus any costs reasonably
and necessary incurred by the Contractor to effect such termination. If the Agreement is
terminated for breach or default, the District shall remit final payment to the Contrador in an
amount to cover only those services performed and expenses incurred in full accordance with the
terms and conditions of this Agreement up to the effertive date of termination.

The District shall not in any manner be liable for the Contractor's actual or projected lost
profits had the Contractor competed the sen/ices required by this Agreement.

21. NONDISCRIMINATION

In connection with the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not
discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race. color, religion,
citizenship, political activity or affiliation, national, origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability,
marital status, age, medical condition (as defined under California law), veteran status, sexual
orientation, gender identity, gender expression. sex or gender (which includes pregnancy,
childbirth, breastfeeding, or related medical conditions), taking or requesting statutorily protected
leave, or any other characteristics protected under federal, state, or local laws. The Contractor
shall take affirmative actions to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are
treated during their employment, without regard to their race, religion, color, sex, disabUity.
national on'gin, or any other characteristic protected under state, federal, or local laws. Such
actions shall include, but not be limited to, the fotlowing: employment, upgrading, demotion or
transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms
of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor further
agrees to insert a similar provision in all subcontracts, except subcontracts for standard
commercial supplies or raw materials.

22. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Contractor warrants and represents that it presently has no interest and agrees that
it will not acquire any interest that would present a conflict of interest under California Government
Code §§ 1090 et seq. or §§ 87100 et seq. during the performance of services under this
Agreement. The Contractor further covenants that it will not knowingly employ any person having
such an interrat in the performance of this Agreement. Violation of this provision may result in
this Agreement being deemed void and unenforreabte.

23. PUBLICITY

The Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, and agents shall not refer to the District,
or use any logos, images, or photographs of the District for any commercial purpose, including,
but not limited to, advertising, promotion, or public relations, without the District's prior written
consent. Such written consent shall not be required for Vhe inclusion of the District's name on a
customer list.

. k



24. ATTORNEY'S FEES

If any legal proceeding should be instituted by either of the parties to enforce the terms of
this Agreement or to determine the rights of the parties under this Agreement, the prevailing party
in said proceeding shall recover, in addition to all court costs, reasonable legal fees.

25. WAIVER

Any waiver of any breach or covenant of this Agreement must be in a writing executed by
a duly authorized repre^ntative of the party waiving the breach. A waiver by any of the parties of
a breach or covenant of this Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver of any succeeding
breach or any other covenant unless specifically and explicitly stated in such waiver.

26. SEVERABILITT

If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable, that prowsion
shall be reformed and/or construed consistently with applicable law as nearly as possible to reflect
the original intentions of this Agreement, and in any event, the remaining provisions of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

27. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES

28.

This Agreement is not for the benefit of any person or entity other than the parties.

APPLICABLE W

This Agreement, its interpretation and all work performed under it shall be governed by
the laws of the State of California.

29. BINDING ON SUCCESSORS

Alt of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors; assigns and legal
representatives.

30. ENTIRE AGREEMENT- IWODIFICATION

This Agreement, including any attachments, constitutes the entire Agreement between the
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be amended except by a written
amendment executed by authorized representatives of both parties. In the event of a conflict
between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the attachments, the terms of this
Agreement will prevail.



IN WITNES HEREOF ?he parties have executed this Agreement by their duly authorized
officers a f th^d and/^ear first above written.

^ 7' "

SAN ATE? UNT9 HARBOR DISTRICT

IM. Date: /^-/9

Title: Int "m General Manager

.PH NDINI PARTNERS LLC

By:
Tftle: CQ^L/H

Date: //^ /^
-f-

By:
Title:

Date:: / /^ /

"This Agreement must be executed by two corporate officers, consisting of: (1) the pwskfent. vice
president or chair of the 6oa/d; and (2) the secretary, assistant secfetary, chief Rnancial officer or
assistant treasurer. In the alternative, this Agreement may be executed by a single officer or a
person other than an officer provided that evkience satisfactory to the Distnct is prw'ided
demonstrating that such individual is authorized to bind the corporation (e.g. a copy of a cerWied
resolution from the corporation's board or a copy of the corporation's bylaws).



EXHIBIT A
Agreement between the San Mateo County Harbor District and Phondini Partners

LLC

Revised: February 5, 2019

1. Descri tion of Services t be Performed b Contractor

In consideration of the payments setfori:h in Section 2, Amount and Method of
Pa ment, Contractor shall provide the following services:

Social Media Policy

1. Work with the District General Manager or designee ("District") to develop a Social
Media Guidelines document for the District.
a. The project allows for Two (2) review cycles for the document.
b. In 2015, Contractor worked with the District Management, Counsel and

Transparency Officer to produce a revised Electronics Communications and Social
Media Policy.

Social Media Program

1. Select Three (3) Social Media services for an initial focus in consultation with the District
(e. g. Facebook, Twitter & Instagram).

2. Create a Social Media presence on each service plus Linkedln for the District for a total
of Four (4) accounts

3. Design the mobile and desktop environment for each of the Social Media accounts.
a. District will facilitate the design process by providing access to graphics assets that

represent the District including logos, maps, and pictures.
b. Contractor has access to a number of libraries containing current and historical

photos of the harbor.
4. (optional) Develop a training program for selected District Staff and possibly Tenants on:

a. the proper and optimal use of Social Media for communications
b. the importance of good pictures in Social Media
c. the role of concise and clear text in Social Media

d. social media etiquette and permission, and
e. the District Social Media Guidelines.

5. (optional) Deliver a training session on subject matter identified in 4. above at District
facilities.

6. Establish channels via email to acquire content from
a. District Staff,
b. Commissioners,
c. Tenants and
d. the General Public.

7. Visit District facilities to acquire content from:
a. District office or Harbor: Four (4) times per month
b. additional visits to the District office or Harbor to acquire content can be arranged on

a time and materials basis.



8. Curate content from District Staff and Commission to ensure that it:
a. meets the Social Media Guidelines of the District,

b. delivers the information clearly and concisely, and
c. fits into the schedule of content delivery to avoid over-posting and saturation.

9. Ensure the delivery of, on average, Five (5) posts per week to each of the Social Media
services for Ninety (90) days after launch with at least:
a. One (1) item from the Harbor,
b. One (1) item from the District management and operations
c. By default, all official District communication will be distributed via social media.
d. Content may be from current activities, archives or related news items depending on

what is happening that week.
e. Within reason, and, as needed, provide content to meet these requirements based

on the visits to District facilities in 7. above.
10. Develop a following for the District Social Media presence by:

a. creating Advertising on the District website and Social Media services to inform the
local community of the existence of the District and Harbor Social Media presence.

b. sending emails using the District distribution list to cultivate followers from the local
community.

c. leveraging the over 50,000 users and followers of the FishLine Community Program
developed and managed by the Contractor.

Outreach and Education Program
1. Recruit volunteer docents from the community

a. With at least one bilingual docent
b. With knowledge of the harbor and local history and habitat .

2. (optional) Develop a training program for docents, including:
a. history & culture
b. operations & business
c. fisheries
d. boating & recreational activities
e. biology & ecology
f. harbor patrol & safety

3. (optional) Deliver a training session on subject matter identified in 2. above for docents
4. Develop Outreach and Education program activities

a. Tours of Harbor and surrounding area
b. Associated information on social media and website

5. Select Three (3) community groups for initial Outreach and Education program activities
per 4.

a. One (1) Coastside school or community group
b. One (1) Bayside San Mateo County school or community group (preferably from

an underserved school district or SAL)
c. One (1) Government & Community group composed of elected and appointed

officials as well as community leaders from San Mateo County
6. Engage the Three (3) community groupswith the Outreach and Education program

activities identified in 4 in a Ninety (90) day period.

Analysis

1 Deliver the following Thirty (30) days prior to the completion of the contract:
a. a written analysis of the District Social Media program



2.

b. a written analysis of the District Outreach and Education program
c. a written proposal on how best to continue the District Social Media program

beyond this contract.
d. a written proposal on how best to continue the District Outreach and Education

program beyond this contract.
Additional services are available on a time and materials basis.

2. Amount and Method of Pa ment

In consideration of the services provided by Contractor pursuant to Section 1,
Descri tion of Services to be Performed b Contractor, and subject to the terms of
the Agreement, District shall pay Contractor based on the following schedule and terms:

Contractor shall submit an itemized invoice on a monthly basis and will be paid
accordingly for work completed.

Deliverable

Development of Social Media
Guidelines

Creation & Design of Social
Media Presence

Social Media Trainin o tional

Content Acquisition, Curation and
Delive for 90 da s

Social Media Advertising for 90
da s

Docent Trainin o tional
Outreach and Education Services
for 90 da s
Transportation for Outreach and
Education Tours estimate

Bilingual Services for Social
Media, Outreach & Education

Management, Software
Subscri tions, and Corn liance
TOTAL

Estimated Cost

$500

$600

$1000
$4500

$1500

$1500
$3000

$1500

$600

$900

$15600



Board of Harbor Commissioners

Virginia Chang Kiraly, President
Vice President

Edmundo Larenas, Secretary
Tom Mattusch, Treasurer

Sabrina Brennan, Commissioner

Nancy Reyering, Commissioner

John Moren, Interim General Manager
Steven D. Miller, District Counsel

San Mateo County Harbor District
Board of Harbor Commissioners

"To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially
sound and environmentally pleasant marinas."

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES

January 10, 2019
5:30 PM

San Mateo County Harbor District
Conference Room

504 Avenue Alhambra, Ste. 200
El Granada, CA 94018

A) Roll Call 5:36 PM Commissioners Brennan, Larenas, Reyering present.
Commissioners Chang Kiraly, Mattusch absent.

5:55 PM Commissioner Chang Kiraly arrives.

B) Closed Session 5:38 PM No public comments. Adjourn to closed session.

1. TITLE: Conference with Legal Counsel-Anticipated Litigation
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Government Code
Section §54956.9(d)(2); Claim by John Schulz.

1. No reportable action.

2. TITLE: Public Employee Performance Evaluation
pursuant to Government Code Section 54957; General Counsel.

2. No reportable action.

6:23 PM Motion: (Larenas/Brennan) Adjourn Closed Session.
Ayes: Brennan, Chang Kiraly, Larenas, Reyering
Nays: None
Absent: Mattusch
Motion passed

C) Open Session 6:25 PM

San Mateo County Harbor District-Special Meeting Minutes - January 10, 2019
Page 1 of 4



1. Board Retreat - Consider Hiring a Facilitator

. Set Goals and Priorities for 2019

. Schedule Retreat (in advance of Strategic Planning meetings)

. Retreat open to the public

Board discussion to have a Board Retreat to discuss goals and priorities for
2019, held possibly at the Admin office or hlalf Moon Bay Yacht Club.
February 8th is the date that works for all commissioner's present. Board
discussion regarding the current contract with Martin Rauch of Rauch
Communication Consultants; direct staff to see if the current contract can be
amended allowing for change order to have the consultant facilitate a Board
Retreat. Commissioners in agreement to hold the Board Retreat at Half
Moon Yacht Club if available.

Motion: (Reyering/Brennan) Direct the Interim General Manager to amend
Martin Rauch's contract to facilitate an all-day Board Retreat to be held on
February 8th.
Ayes: Brennan, Chang Kiraly, Larenas, Reyering
Nays: None
Absent: Mattusch

Motion passed

2. Public Outreach, Education Program and Social Media Policy: Consider
Hiring a Director of Community Engagement- Discussion and Possible
Action

. Outreach and Education Program Plan
o Bilingual

. Social Media Program Plan
oFacebook, Instagram, Twitter and Linkedln

. Social Media Policy
o Review San Mateo County Policy
o Deadline

. Consider hiring a Director of Community Engagement
o This role may include developing countywide outreach

program, education programs, social media content and
email news blasts

. Consider hiring a consultant to act as Director of Community
Engagement

o This role may include developing countywide outreach
program, education programs, social media content and
email news blasts

Board discussion to form a Social Media committee, to be populated at the
regular Board meeting of January 16, 2019. Also, discussion to obtain the



services of Phondini Partners, who previously brought a proposal to the
Harbor District.

Commissioner Brennan introduced Dan Blick, of Phondini Partners, who
explained Phondini Partners services, including the setup of the FishLine
Community Program, which has been available on the District's website.

Board of Commissioner directed the Interim General Manager to enter into a
Professional Services Agreement with Phondini Partners, not to exceed the
General Manager's procurement authority without further approval.

3. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Hiring a New General

Counsel
Board discussion led by Commissioners Larenas and Brennan of obtaining
new General Counsel for the Harbor District. Commissioners Larenas and

Brennan suggested Wittwer Parkin LLP of Santa Cruz, who also represents
Granada Community Services District. Commissioner Larenas stated that
this firm has extensive experience with land use law and is very familiar with
the Coastal Act. Commissioners Chang Kiraly and Reyering suggested an
RFP process for the hire of new General Counsel. Commissioner Brennan
suggested that commissioners contact other law firms and have interested
firms submit a proposal before the January 16th Board meeting rather than
have an RFP.

Public Comments:

. T.J. Gauthier - Suggested the Board take their time to get
qualifications of other law firms.

. John Ullom - Agrees with previous speaker. Stated that the optics
of this do not look good. Take the time to do it right. The Harbor
District already has issues with credibility.

. Mary Larenas - The new firm has worked with other agencies on
the coast; is not an unknown firm.

4. Committee Policy - Discussion and Possible Action
Board discussion to approve amending Policy 3. 0 Standing Committees to
reinstate members of the public to serve on Standing Committees, per the
policy guidelines.

Public Comment:

. John Ullom - Community members are a useful tool. Suggests
eliminating the OPM Committee.

Motion: (Larenas/Reyering) Approve amendment to Policy 3. 0 on Standing
Committees, with minor amendments.

Ayes: Brennan, Chang Kiraly, Larenas, Reyering
Nays: None



Absent: Mattusch

Motion passed

5. Future Agenda Items - Discussion re: Placing Items orLFytyj^ Agenda

. Commissioner Larenas - Hire new employment/labor counsel.

. Commissioner Reyering - Consider the Lease Amendment with
Oyster Point Yacht Club

. Commissioner Brennan - Resolution to hold all Regular meetings
only at the District office in El Granada.

Motion: (Brennan/Reyering) Adjourn meeting.
Ayes: Brennan, Chang Kiraly, Larenas, Reyering
Nays: None
Absent: Mattusch

Motion passed

D) Adjournment 8:50 PM

Debbie Gehret
Deputy Secteta'ry

t^y 'w
iabrina Brenn^n^
resident

(aw^ --^



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 1 

 
EXHIBIT A 

Agreement between the San Mateo County Harbor District and Phondini Partners 
LLC 

 
Revised: June 10, 2019 
 
1. Report and Analysis on Services Performed by Contractor 
 
During the Initial Phase of the Public Outreach Project, Contractor has provided the 
following services: 
 
Social Media Policy 
 

1. Worked with the District staff to update the Computers, Electronic Communications, and 
Social Media policy for the District.  Policy was approved by the Board of Commissioners 
and Contractor has been following the guidelines. 

 
Social Media Program 

1. Selected Three (3) Social Media services in consultation with the District: Facebook, 
Twitter & Instagram. 

2. Created a Social Media presence for the San Mateo County Harbor District on those 
services plus a presence for Pillar Point Harbor on Facebook.  Verified ownership of the 
properties with Facebook. 
• Facebook: smharbor 
• Facebook: pillarpoint 
• Instagram: smharbor 
• Twitter: smharbor 
• LinkedIn: smharbor 

3. Designed the mobile and desktop environment for each of the Social Media accounts. 
a. District facilitated the design process by providing access to graphics assets that 

represent the District including logos, maps, and pictures. 
b. Contractor accessed a number of libraries containing current and historical photos 

of the harbor and surrounding area.  Thanks to the Half Moon Bay History 
Association and Dave Cresson for access to their archives. 

c. Contractor has created a shared Google Photos library with 1,676 photos of the 
harbor and marina.   

d. Contractor shared folder with the consultant conducting the search for the new GM. 
4. Communicated with local community and met with District Staff to discuss: 

a. the proper and optimal use of Social Media for communications 
b. the importance of good pictures in Social Media 
c. the role of concise and clear text in Social Media 
d. social media etiquette and permission, and 
e. the District Social Media Guidelines.  

5. Established channels via email to acquire content from  
a. District Staff,  
b. Commissioners,  
c. Tenants and  



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 2 

d. the General Public. 
6. Visited District facilities on a regular basis and Monitored District website and emails to 

acquire content from District Staff and Commission to ensure that it: 
a. meets the Social Media Guidelines of the District, 
b. delivers the information clearly and concisely, and 
c. fits into the schedule of content delivery to avoid over-posting and saturation. 

7. Ensured the delivery of, on average, Five (5) posts per week to each of the Social Media 
services for Ninety (90) days after launch (March 6, 2019).  This target (60 posts) was 
exceeded significantly on Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. 
a. Actual number of posts to June 7, 2019: 

• Facebook – smharbor: 103 posts 
• Facebook – pillarpoint: 57 posts (started posting April 2, 2019) 
• Instagram – smharbor: 100 posts 
• Twitter – smharbor: 109 tweets 
• LinkedIn – smharbor: 49 posts (started posting April 30, 2019) 

a. All official District communication (meeting announcements, job listings, requests for 
bids, etc) was distributed via social media. 

b. Major emphasis during National Safe Boating Week and Wear Your Life Jacket To 
Work Day with 23 posts during the 8-day period. 

c. About 20% of Facebook posts were made in both English and Spanish which 
increases rank and visibility to Spanish users. 

8. Developed a following for the District Social Media presence by: 
a. created Advertising on the District website and Social Media services to inform the 

local community of the existence of the District and Harbor Social Media presence. 
b. qualified to run Advertising on Social Media for the District in compliance with the 

Facebook program to eliminate rogue advertisers (required to provide identity and to 
show that District was a legitimate entity) 

c. leveraged the over 50,000 users and followers of the FishLine Community Program 
developed and managed by the Contractor to increase the followers and reach of 
District Social Media. 

d. followed (where reasonable and possible) the social media pages of local 
institutions, local leaders, local businesses, and similar institutions. 

e. experienced virtually no trolls or abusive posts. 
f. total followers across all Social Media is 805 

• Facebook – smharbor: 515 followers; following 91 
• Facebook – pillarpoint: 61 followers; following 91; 97 check-ins 
• Instagram – smharbor: 173 followers; following 318 
• Twitter – smharbor: 48 followers; following 350 
• LinkedIn – smharbor: 8 followers 

9. Monitored analytics on the social media sites.  A summary of the analytics information: 
a. Facebook 

• Monthly post reach (unique individuals, both organic and paid) ranged from 
about 17K to 21K people. 

• 90% of followers are from the San Mateo County area led by Half Moon Bay, 
San Mateo, and Redwood City. 

• Gender mix of followers is 54% women; of people reached is 53% 
• Age distribution of followers is 38% under 45; of people reached is 38% 
• Approximately 10% of those reached declared Spanish as their language 

b. Instagram 
• In the most recent 7-day period, 144 accounts reached with 584 impressions of 



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 3 

content 
• Gender mix is 53% women 
• Age distribution is 64% under 45 

c. Twitter 
• subscribed to Twitter Promote Mode since April 26 which significantly 

increases the exposure of tweets beyond followers 
• Tweets earned 54.1K impressions (number of times users saw the Tweet) 

since March 6, 2019.  Since Promote Mode was activated, a typical Tweet gets 
1.2K impressions. 

d. LinkedIn 
• LinkedIn posts have 266 impressions since April 30 

10. Facebook support 
a. The Contractor has met with Facebook 3 times, once in person, to discuss the 

District social media presence.  
b. Facebook’s analysis of the progress so far is that we’ve outperformed expectations 

because the District Social Media appeals primarily to San Mateo County adult 
residents which number about 500,000. 

c. Facebook also accepted feedback on how their tools work for a special district 
government organization which is an unusual customer for them. 

 
Outreach and Education Program 

1. Recruited volunteer docents from the community 
a. Identified several individuals in the local community 
b. Candidates experienced harbor tours and other activities 

2. Developed Outreach and Education program activities 
a. Focused on Tours of Harbor and surrounding area 
b. Worked with District to identify and design promotional items (keychains, coffee 

mugs, notebooks, tote bags, bookmarks).  1200 bookmarks were given out in goody 
bags at Pacific Coast Dream Machines. 

c. Created tour survey form. 
3. Selected 2 community groups for initial Outreach and Education program activities. 

a. May 5, 2019: Sheriff’s Activities League Coastside Empowering Young Women (20) 
for education session inside the Harbormaster office because of inclement weather 
(would have been a harbor tour).  We arranged a bus for transport which turned out 
to be prescient because of the bad weather. 

b. May 29, 2019: Stanford Coastside Club (13) for harbor tour with discussions with 
three members of the commercial fishing community along the way.  Survey results 
gave tour guide, tour length, tour content, tour satisfaction, and recommend to a 
friend all 5 stars out of 5.  Tour location easy to find (Harbormaster building) got one 
4-star rating.  Comments: “Excellent” “Enjoyed it” “Fascinating! Loved it!”  “Very 
Informative” “Thank you!”  “Great information!”   

c. A third tour was planned for El Granada Elementary School 3rd Grade Class but we 
ran out of time because of the end of the school year and the end of the contract. 

 
Tenant communications system 

1. Identified DialMyCalls as suitable vendor 
2. Consulted with district staff on implementation 



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 4 

2. Description of Services to be Performed by Contractor 
 
In consideration of the payments set forth in Section 3,  Amount  and Method of 
Payment, Contractor shall provide the following services: 
 
Public Outreach Plan and Training 
 

1. Develop a Public Outreach Plan for the District.   
a. Develop plan based on the Institute for Local Government TIERS Public 

Engagement Framework  
b. TIERS provides a step-by-step approach to public engagement using the five (5) 

pillars of Think, Initiate, Engage, Review and Shift. 
c. The District is already at Engage so we will Review what has been done and then 

follow the TIERS process to develop the Outreach Plan 
2. Train a District Communications representative, to be hired. 

a. Provide training and mentoring for all the functions provided in this project 
b. Register two District representatives for the TIERS Public Engagement Learning Lab 

which consists of training and support over a six-month period for an agency team. 
• Two-day immersive off-site Public Engagement Workshop in San Diego, 9/5-6 
• Private initial kickoff consultation with ILG 
• Monthly ‘Open Lab’ calls for problem solving, peer-to-peer learning and 

coaching (post workshop) 
• TIERS material and online tools 

 
Continue Social Media Program 

1. Provide Social Media services for Facebook, Instagram, Twitter and LinkedIn for a 
period of Six (6) months. 

2. Visit District facilities to acquire content from District office, Harbor & Marina as required. 
3. Curate content from District Staff and Commission to ensure that it: 

a. meets the Social Media Guidelines of the District, 
b. delivers the information clearly and concisely, and 
c. fits into the schedule of content delivery to avoid over-posting and saturation. 

4. Ensure the delivery of, on average, Five (5) posts per week to each of the Social Media 
services: 
a. One (1) item from the Harbor,  
b. One (1) item from the District management and operations 
c. By default, all official District communication will be distributed via social media. 
d. Content may be from current activities, archives or related news items depending on 

what is happening that week.   
e. Within reason, and, as needed, provide content to meet these requirements based 

on the visits to District facilities in 7. above. 
5. Develop a following for the District Social Media presence by: 

a. creating Advertising on the District website and Social Media services to inform the 
local community of the existence of the District and Harbor Social Media presence. 

b. following relevant local, regional and state individuals and institutions on Social 
Media 

c. leveraging the over 50,000 users and followers of the FishLine Community Program 
developed and managed by the Contractor. 



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 5 

 
Diversity Outreach and Education Program 

1. Investigate and Develop Outreach and Education program activities, including the 
following 
a. Boat excursions for underserved community groups for fishing or wildlife viewing 
b. Public art project involving local community groups (permanent or temporary) 
c. Speakers on relevant topics either at the District Office, a Pop-up Tent at the Harbor 

or Marina, or another location.  Topics can include all of the areas listed in (2). 
d. Activities in conjunction with community groups & organizations (e.g. Local Schools 

& Colleges, Sheriff’s Activities League, Coastside Fishing Foundation, Local 
Fishermen Groups, Golden Gate Audubon, Pacific Beach Coalition, HMB Yacht 
Club, Half Moon Bay History Association, Sea Hugger, Marine Mammal Center, Cal 
SeaGrant, …) 

e. Tours of Harbor and surrounding area 
f. Associated information on social media and website 
g. Organize at least One (1) activity per month 

2. Recruit volunteer docents to assist with the activities in (1) 
3. Survey participants in all activities where possible. 
4. Maintain a record of the activities for publicity and potential grant applications. 
5. Investigate grant funding from Coastal Commission, Coastal Conservancy and other 

sources. 
6. Maintain inventory of promotional logo items 

 
Analysis 

1. Deliver the following before the completion of the contract: 
a. a written analysis of the District Public Outreach Program 
b. a written proposal to continue the District Public Outreach Program 

2. Additional services are available on a time and materials basis. 
 
 
 
  



June 10, 2019  Phondini Partners 6 

3. Amount  and Method of Payment 
 
In consideration of the services provided by Contractor pursuant to Section 2, 
Description of Services to be Performed  by Contractor, and subject to the terms of 
the Agreement, District shall pay Contractor based on the following schedule and terms: 
 
Contractor shall submit an itemized invoice on a monthly basis and will be paid 
accordingly for work completed.  
 

Deliverable Estimated Cost 

Development of Public Outreach 
Plan 

$7500 

Training for District 
Communications representative 

$2000 

TIERS Public Engagement 
Learning Lab for 2 persons 

$3500 

Social Media Content Acquisition, 
Curation and Delivery 

$6000 

Social Media Management & 
Advertising 

$3000 

Docent Recruitment & Training $2000 

Outreach and Education Services  $6000 

Transportation & Other 3rd-Party 
Expenses for Outreach and 
Education Activities  

$6000 

Bilingual Services for Social 
Media, Outreach & Education 

$1500 

Promotional Items $600 

Management and Compliance $1800 

TOTAL $39,900 

 



Public Outreach for
San Mateo County 

Harbor District
Joe Falcone

CEO, Phondini Partners LLC
Half Moon Bay, California

joe@Phondini.com

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 1



Pilot Program Results for 90 days

• Worked with District to update Electronic 
Communications policy
• Created 5 new social media sites with over 800 

followers
• Facebook: SMHarbor & PillarPoint
• Instagram: SMHarbor
• Twitter: SMHarbor
• LinkedIn: SMHarbor

• Published over 100 posts
• Averaged over 8 per week
• Commitment was 5 posts per week

• Reached about 20,000 people / month

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 2



6/10/19 Phondini Partners 3



Pilot Program Results for 90 days

• Translated posts into Spanish
• 20% of Facebook posts

• Coordinated two harbor tours
• Sheriff’s Activities League Coastside Empowering Young

Women
• Stanford Coastside Club

• High survey ratings & reviews: “Excellent”

• Selected new promotional items
• Investigated Coastal Conservancy grants
• Investigated and Selected Vendor for Tenant 

Communication System

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 4



6/10/19 Phondini Partners 5



Continuation of Public Outreach 
Project
• Period of 6 months: July to December
• Same Phondini team: 
• Joe Falcone
• Amy Broome
• Dan Blick

• Designated District Communications representative
• To be hired and trained

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 6



Public Outreach Plan and Training

• Develop Public Outreach Plan for District 
• Use Institute for Local Government TIERS Public Engagement 

Framework as model
• TIERS provides a step-by-step approach to public 

engagement 
• using the 5 pillars of Think, Initiate, Engage, Review and Shift.
• we’re at Stage 3, so we’ll do the Review first

• Train District Communications representative in existing 
environment
• Social media policy, photo library, Hootsuite dashboard

• Attend TIERS Public Engagement Learning Lab
• consists of training and support over a six month period

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 7



Continue Social Media

• Continue delivery of at least 5 posts per week
• District business, history, events, safety, recreation, etc

• Continue boosting posts of significant importance 
to a wider audience
• Including job postings, interesting events, safety

• Continue advertising to attract more followers
• Translate all posts into Spanish
• Investigate other languages for County audience

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 8



Diversify Outreach and Education

• Boat excursions for underserved community groups for
fishing or wildlife viewing
• Potential for Coastal Commission/Conservancy grants in 2020

• Speakers on relevant topics at the District Office, Pop-
up Tent at Harbor or Marina, or another location
• Activities in conjunction with Community Groups

• Local Schools & Colleges, Sheriff’s Activities League, Coastside
Fishing Foundation, Local Fishermen, Golden Gate Audubon, 
Pacific Beach Coalition, Cal SeaGrant, HMB Yacht Club, Sea 
Hugger, HMB History Association, Marine Mammal Center…

• And also Tours of Harbor or Marina
• Organize at least one activity per month

6/10/19 Phondini Partners 9



 

 
Staff Report 

 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim General Manager  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 

SUBJECT: Pillar Point RV Lot: Coastal Development Permit, First Look at Public 
Restroom, Green Space and Increased ADA Parking Preferred Alternative 
and Authorize Interim General Manager to Take All Actions Reasonably 
Necessary to Apply for Grant Funding, Including the Filing of an 
Application and Contract with Architectural and Engineering Firms 

 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Staff recommends District Board; i) receive public input on the proposed new Pillar 
Point Harbor (PPH) RV Park public restroom, green space and increased ADA parking 
(Project) preferred alternative; ii) authorize a Priority Conservation Area Grant 
application to cover 1/3 of project costs; iii) authorize the Interim General Manager to 
contract with architectural and engineering firms for plans and cost estimates necessary 
for the grant application. 
 
Policy Implications: 
Consistent with District’s desire to provide the public with restroom/parking amenities 
and comply with California Coastal Commission’s (CCC) Coastal Development Permit 
(CDP) requirements. 
 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status: 
In an effort to professionally move forward with design alternatives for a new public 
restroom adjacent to the K&N leased RV park, and to comply with the required CDP, 
the Interim General Manager has enlisted the assistance of an architectural firm for an 
amount not-to exceed $13,000. Additional costs associated with architectural and 
engineering services are necessary to support the grant application. Should the 
District’s Board of Harbor Commissioners desire to move forward with the Project, staff 
will work with the City of Half Moon Bay, K&N Properties and other stakeholders to seek 



PAGE 2 OF 3 
 

 

grant funding and cost share. Any grant opportunity that is approved or significant 
proposed design changes will be brought back to the Board for consideration.    
Background:  
In 1987, the District received a “Use Permit” from the City of Half Moon Bay (HMB) for 
an unimproved parking area for recreational vehicles (RVs). 
 
In 1998,  

1 HMB affirmed that the Use Permit was still active  
2 The District entered into a lease with Keet Nerhan, K&N Properties (K&N) for 

improvements to the site and operation of an RV park  
3 The District communicated with the Department of Boating and Waterways 

(DBW) regarding the lack of necessity for DBW approval of the lease  
4 K&N subsequently received necessary building permits from HMB for 

development of the site 
 

In order to issue a CDP, a city must have an adopted Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
Otherwise, a CDP is issued directly by the Coastal Commission.  HMB adopted its LCP 
after the K&N RV lot had been developed.   
 
In 2016, the District and K&N received a Compliance Order from HMB, requiring the 
application for a CDP. 
 
Currently, K&N operates the Pillar Point RV lot, under the terms of its lease with the 
District. The lease was initially effective on October 1, 1998, with a term of 25 years and 
an option to extend for an additional 25 years. Currently the lease expires September 
30, 2023. 
 
Over the last several years, issues have been raised concerning the absence of a CDP, 
and K&N’s non-compliance with the terms of the lease. 
 
The District has worked in good faith with K&N and HMB to resolve this issue. While the 
installation of a new restroom at the site is not a specific requirement of the CDP, the 
District and HMB agree that a new restroom, outdoor shower, green space and 
additional ADA parking at this site would benefit the public and be favorable in the CDP 
application process. 
 
The District and HMB have worked together to present site improvement alternatives to 
the public and, based on public input, have developed the attached preferred 
alternative.  
 
Pursuant to Board direction at its December 20, 2017 meeting (see attached minutes), 
HMB has worked with the District to identify potential grant opportunities to fund this 
project and has found that the Priority Conservation Area (PCA) grant has a likelihood 
for success in funding 1/3 of the project costs. HMB plans to bring the preferred 
alternative to the Planning Commission for consideration on July 9, 2019. This grant 
application must be submitted by July 15th.  Should the grant application be approved, 



PAGE 3 OF 3 
 

 

staff will bring back to the District Board for final approval. District and HMB will continue 
to look for additional project grant funding. 
 
Summary/Recommendation: 
Staff recommends District Board; i) receive public input on the proposed new Pillar 
Point Harbor (PPH) RV Park public restroom, green space and increased ADA parking 
(Project) preferred alternative; ii) authorize a Priority Conservation Area Grant 
application to cover 1/3 of project costs; iii) authorize the Interim General Manager to 
contract with architectural and engineering firms for plans and cost estimates necessary 
for the grant application. 
 
Attachments: 
1. New Restrooms/outdoor shower/drinking fountain/green space drawing of proposed 

preferred alternative for public input.  
2. HMB Compliance Order 
3. K&N/District Lease Agreement 
4. Dec 20, 2017 District Board Meeting Minutes 
5. PCA Grant Letter of Interest 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/41d692823/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_Restroom+preferred+alternative.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/41d692823/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_Restroom+preferred+alternative.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/f54072617/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_HMB+Compliance+order+2016_12_14.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/e78e7f67e/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_KN+RV+Lot+lease.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/21dc62fdd/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_12_20_RegularMeetingMinutes.pdf
https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/4e5e8f678/2019_06_19_RV_Lot_PCA+Grant+Letter+of+Interest_HMB_2.25.19.pdf


PILLAR POINT HARBOR RV PARK 
PUBLIC RESTROOM AND GREEN SPACE 

PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE





Proposed sites from Jan 8, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting



Preferred Alternative Under Consideration



Preferred Alternative Under Consideration



Preferred Alternative Under Consideration



Preferred Alternative Under Consideration





















































San Mateo County Harbor District 
Board of Harbor Commissioners 

"To assure the public is provided with clean, safe, well-managed, financially 
sound and environmentally pleasant marinas." 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
December 20, 2017 

6:30 PM 

San Mateo County Harbor District 
Conference Room 

504 Avenue Alhambra, 2nd Floor 
El Granada, CA 94018 

A.) Roll Call 6:45 PM- All Commissioners present. 

B.) 1. Public Comments/Questions 
• Mary Larenas - asked to move Item 13 after Item 7. 
• Lisa Fernandez - supportive of moving up Item 13. 
• Harvey Rarback - comments regarding the future Mavericks event. 
• Ashley Gray- asked to move up Item 13. 
• Kris Lannin Liang - supportive up moving up Item 13. 

2. Commissioner Comments 
• Commissioner Chang Kiraly - thanked staff and community for 

participation in the Lighted Boat Festival. 
• Commissioner Larenas - comments regarding the current sexual 

harassment claim, the process and possible conflict of interest with 
counsel. Feels the process is flawed. 

• Commissioner Brennan - comments regarding the Lighted Boat Festival 
and regarding the current sexual harassment claim. Feels the process is 
flawed, not independent and not a transparent process. 

• Commissioner Larenas - asked to have Item 13 move up. 

C.) Consent Calendar 

ITEMS PULLED FROM THE CONSENT CALENDAR WILL BE HEARD AFTER 
DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

Items 2, 4, 5 were pulled from the Consent Calendar. 

~ ,;n Mateo CcJLmty I lat bur D1 .. t1 ic I Regular l\~E~eting Minutes U~;l onibc1 : u. 2017 
r)age 1 (Jf ~ 



1. Bills and Claims (Chan) 
Recommendation: Review Pre-Approved Bills and Claims in the amount of 
$375,921.58. Pre-Approve Bills and Claims not to exceed up to $350,000. 

3. Minutes - Special Meeting Minutes November 15, 2017 (Gehret) 
Recommendation: Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of November 15, 2017. 

6. SMCHD Administration Building - Lease Renewal (Pyle) 
Recommendation: Authorize the General Manager to exercise the option to extend 
the lease for the SMCHD Administrative Offices, located at 504 Avenue Alhambra, 
2nd Floor in El Granada, CA for a 12-month period beginning on June 1, 2018. 

Motion: (Bernardo/Chang Kiraly) Approve Consent Items 1, 3 and 6. 
Ayes: All in favor. 
Motion passed. 

D.) Discussion 

7. Lost Fishing Gear Recovery Program: Presentation by the Half Moon Bay 
Seafood Marketing Association (McGrath) 
Receive presentation. 

13. Wildlife Protection: Request for Standing Committee (Larenas) 
Information only. 

Public Comment: 

• Marshall Dinowitz - representing the Sequoia Audubon Society. 
Supportive of new committee. 

• Barbara Dye - supportive of committee as a member of the Audubon 
Society. Offers suggestions of signage. 

• Barbara Kossy - supportive of committee and helping wildlife. 
• Mary Larenas - supportive of new committee. 
• Christine Corwin - representing Coastside Dog of San Mateo County. 

Looking forward to dog walkers working with group. 

Motion: (Brennan/Larenas) Move to form a Wildlife Protection standing committee. 
Ayes: All in favor. 
Motion passed. 

7:35 PM - Commissioner Chang Kiraly leaves the room. 
7:40 PM - Commissioner Chang Kiraly returns. 

8. Pillar Point (Surfers Beach/KN) RV Lot: CDP Application and Restroom Facility 
(McGrath) 

( : 

Public Comment: 

• Dave Olson - not supportive. Poor location. Feels the tenant should open 
the restrooms to the public. 

I dll' , 1j.J1' 1 I l , I l(' I it' I 



Motion: (Bernardo/Chang Kiraly) Authorize staff to continue to work with the City of 
Half Moon Bay and KN Properties on site planning, grant funding and permit 
application for a restroom facility adjacent to Surfers Beach. 

Ayes: Bernardo, Chang Kiraly, Mattusch 
Nays: Brennan, Larenas 
Motion passed. 

8: 15 PM - Commissioner Bernardo leaves the room. 
8:20 PM - Commissioner Bernardo returns. 

9. Commercial Activity Permit Revisions (CAP}: Blue Water Ventures and 
Princeton Waters (Pyle} 

Public Comment: 

• Cynthia Kuhr - owner of Princeton Waters. Willing to answer any 
questions regarding her Airbnb business. 

Motion: (Chang Kiraly/Bernardo) 1) Approve the 2018 term revisions of the Blue 
Water Ventures Commercial Activity Permit. 2) Approve a 3-month extension of 
Princeton Waters' 2017 CAP allowing it to remain under current terms through March 
31,2018. 

Ayes: All in favor. 
Motion passed. 

10. Proposed Scope and Name Change for the San Mateo County Harbor District 
Beach Replenishment Committee (Moren) 
Motion: (Bernardo/Brennan) Approve the proposed Scope and Committee Name 
Change from "Beach Replenishment Committee" to San Mateo County Harbor 
District Climate Change Resilience Committee." 
Ayes: Bernardo, Brennan, Larenas 
Nays: Chang Kiraly, Mattusch 
Motion passed. 

11. Pillar Point Harbor Office Alteration Proiect (Moren) 
Motion: (Chang Kiraly/Bernardo) Authorize the General Manager to enter into an 
Agreement with John Matthews Architects (Consultant) to produce design and 
construction documents supporting alterations to the Pillar Point Harbor (PPH) Office 
improving staff security, ADA compliance, public access, workflow and efficiency of 
the building for an amount not-to-exceed $31,000 and establish a contract 
contingency in the amount of 10% of the contract amount for unanticipated additional 
expenses associated with the contract and authorize the General Manager to issue 
change orders up to the contingency amount. 
Ayes: All in favor. 
Motion passed. 

12. Policy 3.2, Brown Act Compliance (McGrath} 
Motion: (Brennan/Chang Kiraly) Adopt Resolution No.17-21 and Policy 3.2; Brown 
Act Compliance. 
Ayes: All in favor 
Motion passed. 

l, T I I ,I 



E.) Commissioner Item 

Item 13, Wildlife Protection; Request for Standing Committee, moved after Item 7. 
See above. 

F .) Discussion/Action on Pulled Consent Items (if any) 

2. Minutes - Special Meeting August 16, 2017 (Gehret) 
Commissioner Larenas - commented that he abstained from the vote in Closed 
Session - that it was not unanimous. 
Motion: (Chang Kiraly/Bernardo) Approve Special Meeting Minutes of August 16, 
2017. 
Ayes: Bernardo, Chang Kiraly, Larenas, Mattusch 
Nays: None 
Abstain: Brennan 
Motion passed. 

4. Minutes - Regular Meeting November 15, 2017 (Gehret) 
Commissioner Brennan - read emails from members of the public who felt their 
comments from November 15th , were not accurately reflected. Emails, and 
Commission Larenas' comments, attached to website as Distributed Materials. 

Motion: (Chang Kiraly/Brennan) Approve Regular Meeting Minutes of November 15, 
2017. 
Ayes: All in favor. 
Motion passed. 

5. Emergency Oyster Point Marina Fuel Dock Electric Repairs Proiect: 
Termination of Emergency per Public Contract Code 22050 (Moren) 
Commissioner Brennan commented regarding underground tank and the need for 
removal. 
Receive and file. 

G.) November Activity Reports: General Manager, Administration, 
Operations 

H.) Adjournment: 9:26 PM 
Motion: (Chang Kiraly/Bernardo) Adjourn meeting. 
All in favor. 

Debbie Gehre · 
Deputy Secret 

' t I l ( 

1 l , 

I I q , l . 













 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim General Manager  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Portola Avenue Lot Purchase Update and Designation of New District 

Administration Office Design Ad Hoc Committee   
 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
Staff recommends District Board; i) receive update on the Portola Avenue vacant lot 
purchase; ii) form a District Administration Office Design Ad Hoc Committee and assign 
two Board members. 
 
Policy Implications: 
The District has a long-standing desire for ownership of an Administration Office 
Building instead of continuing to rent.  
 
Fiscal Implications/Budget Status: 
The District has historically had a committed reserve of $1,526,217 for a new District 
Administration Office. The Portola Avenue property was purchased for $1.3 million from 
this committed reserve. The proposed new Five-Year CIP Program allots $80,000 for 
design/engineering in 2019/20 and $2 million in 2020/21 for construction. After 
consultation with the new Ad Hoc Committee, staff will return to full Board for direction 
prior to additional expenditures for the Administration Office design and lot 
development. 
 
The District currently rents office space at an annual cost of $91,200, which will be 
eliminated when the new office is constructed and occupied. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PAGE 2 OF 5 
 

 

 
Background:  
 
                                                      Summary of History 
 
2005: Bid of $1.9 million for new building across from Harbormasters’ office rejected. 
 
2007: Consideration was given to development of a site at Oyster Point Marina and a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued to prepare tentative and final parcel maps. 
Since that time, the City of South San Francisco (SSF) prepared a Precise Plan for the 
area, completed an Environmental Impact Report (EIR), executed a Disposition and 
Development Agreement (DDA) with the District lessee at the time, Oyster Point 
Ventures (OPV). Concurrently, in 2011, the District and SSF executed an MOU 
regarding the implementation of the DDA.  
 
2009: The District pursued two possible sites in Princeton.  
 
2011: Consideration was given to possible sites: Public meeting(s) were held, with 
public opposition to the location of a building on Perched Beach.  
 
2012: The District moved forward with preliminary planning for development of a new 
building, on the ‘B Lot’ at Pillar Point Harbor. The District commissioned a massing 
study, and in April authorized issuance of an RFP for architectural services. The RFP 
was not issued.  
 
2015: The District considered purchase of the El Granada building in which 
Administration offices are currently located. 
 
2015: The District moved from South San Francisco to El Granada in leased space at 
an initial cost of $7,000 per month. 
 
2017-2018: The District considered additional vacant lot and improved property 
purchases to no avail. 
 
June 6, 2019: At Board direction, District finalized purchase of the .31 acre Portola 
Avenue vacant lot property.  
 
Relieving the District of the burden of lease payments and securing a permanent home 
for the District are clearly long held goals of this District. As evidenced above, the 
District has had many false starts on this project and the District continues to pay in 
excess of $90,000 annually in rent. The current Administration Office lease will require 
re-negotiation beginning in late 2020, or early 2021. 
 
 
 

 



PAGE 3 OF 5 
 

 

The land parcel on Obispo Road, which the new Coastside Fire Protection District (FD) 
headquarters is in the process of being built, was subdivided into two parcels and it 
came to the attention of the District that the western parcel would be made available to 
be developed. The parcel is identified as APN # 047-261-030-2, located at the corner of 
Obispo Road and Portola Avenue, an ideal location for the District Administration Office. 
The District was able to make an offer of $1.3 million prior to the parcel being offered to 
the public. The offer was subsequently accepted, and, after substantial due diligence, 
the District closed on the .31 acre vacant lot property on June 6, 2019, see attached 
Purchase Agreement.  
 
 

 
 
 



PAGE 4 OF 5 
 

 

 
 

 



PAGE 5 OF 5 
 

 

Now that the District has successfully purchased the lot, a District Administration Office 
Design Ad Hoc Committee, comprised of two Board members, should be created and 
populated to direct staff in advising the full Board on the best alternative to move 
forward with new building design and to discuss potential partnering with the Granada 
Community Services District (GCSD), who has already formed a like Ad Hoc Committee 
for this purpose. GCSD has expressed interest in potentially partnering with the District 
in some manner, as they too are renting office space and desire to develop a 
permanent home with sufficient community meeting space. If possible, it is believed that 
the two Districts partnering in the site development would be most efficient use of public 
funds, benefit both Districts and the public.   
 
Summary/Recommendation: 
Staff recommends District Board; i) receive update on the Portola Avenue vacant lot 
purchase; ii) form a District Administration Office Design Ad Hoc Committee and assign 
two Board members. 
 
Attachments: 
Purchase Agreement APN # 047-261-030-2 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/1e78d25a9/2019_06_19_Portola_Lot_Purchase+Agreement.pdf


CALI FOR.NIA
.;;<-S^ ASSOCIATION
''r^/ 0^ )<, V, A I, T U R S

\''

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT
AND JOINT ESCROW iNSTRUCTSO^S

(C. A.R. FormVi-PA, Revised 12/18)

Data Prepamd: l^afeh S3 £019
1. 6 ER:

A. THIS IS AN OFFER FROM Ss.i Svs^o C «ar&y J&fefrfe.' b- Jofcf .>'ia/&?i _ ("Buyer"),
B, "THE REAL PROPERFf to be acquired ® Ays Portaie- APhl S 647'2ei-030 , sttuated in

.

£/Grenada (City), Saiil'alw County), Cdiftnnta, E4018 {Zq» Code), Asaessoi's Parcel No. <K7-2£S-ffi-n .CPropBrty^.
Further Described As >e,iesM . __. _ __. _.._L

C. THE PURCHASE PRICE offer is ffiie K&'JS"):I. Thies HuntSFCiS T'tousan

D. CLOSE OF ESCROW shall occur on i
.
(datB)(o^tei"

DoBars $ f 300. S33M
S3 Days After Acceptance).

E. Buyer and Seller are referred to herein as the "Parties. " Brokers are not Parties to Ihis Agreement
2. AGENCY:

A. DISCLOSURE: The Parties each acknowledge receipt of a jg "Disclosure Regarding Real Estate Agency Relattonsblps"
(CJLft. Form AD).

B. CONFIRMATION: Tfte fblloiwing agency relafionships are confiflned for this transaction:
Seller's Brokerage Firm  o r S: Efinkei' License Number
Is the broker of (check one): the saUer; or ;J both the buyer and setter. (dual agent)
Setter's Agent _ License Number
Is (check one): the Seller's Agent, (salesperson or bmker associate) L both the Buyer's and Seller's Agent (dual agent)

Buyor's Brokarage Finn
Is  e broker of (check one):
Buyei's Agent.

Tunisr Resl £sfe(e
the buyer; or J both the buyer and setter, (dual agent)

firent Tvf^er

Ucense Number

License Number

OISZ'S&Sk

Q39S3635
Is (check one): [SQ the Buyer's Agent, (salesperson or broker associate) both the Buyer's and SeUer's Agent

C. POTENTIALLY COR1PETING BUYERS AND SELLERS: The Parties each acknowledge receipt of a
of More than One Buyer or Seller - Disclosure arid Consenf (C. A.R. Form PRBS).

3. FINANCE TERMS: Buyer represents that funds will be good when deposited with Escrow Holder.
A. INITIAL DEPOSIT; Depositshatl be in tire amount of........................................ $

(1) Buyei_Direct Deposit Buyer shell deliver deposit direcUy to Escrow Holder by electronic funds
fransfsr, Q cashier's check, [_| personal check, Pother ^ _within 3 business days
afterAcceptance (or ;

OR (2)D Buyer Deposit with Agent Buyer has given the deposit by personal check (or ^. ^)
to the agent submitting the offer (or to . ^ ^ ), made payable to

. The deposit shall be hekl uncashed until Acceptsnoe and then deposited
with Escrow HoUer within 3 business days after Acceptance (or ).
Deposit checks given to agent shall be an original signed check and not a copy.

(Note; Initial and increased deposits checks received by agent shaU be recorded in Broker's trust fund log.)
8. INCREASED DEPOSFT: Buyer shall depositwith Escrow Holder an increased deposit in the amount of. .. $ _

within ̂ Days After Acceptance (or ^ ^^_^.. _._._ "_..___ ).
If the Partes agree to liquidated damages in this Agreement, they also agree to Incorporate the Increased
deposit into the Ihiuldated daimages amount in a separate flquidated damages dause (CA.R. Form RID)
at the time the increased deposit is deliveredto Escrow Holder.

C. IgALL CASH OFFER: No loan is needed to parchase the Property. This offer is NOT contingent on
Buyer obtainhg a loan. Written verification of sufficient funds to dose this transaction IS ATTACHED to
this offer orQ Buyer shall, within 3 (or _) Days After Acoeptence, Deliver to Seller such verifteation.

D, LOANfS):
(1) FIRST LOAN: in the amount of......... .. ^... ,. ^,...., ^.............................S

nils loan will be'conventional Bnancing OR D FHA, D VA. D Seller flnanting (C.A.R. Form SFA),
[] assumed finsndng (CAR. FomiAFA), Dsttojactto'flnandng, D Other . . This
toan shall be at a fixed rate not to exceed Z. __ % or. D sn adjwtabte rate loan with initial rate not
to exceed _ %. Regardless of the type of loan. Buyer shall pay points not to exceed _ %
of the ban amount

(2) n SECOND LOAN in the amount of........................ ................... ".......$
This loan will be convantfanal_finandng OR Q Sejler tinancing (C.A. R. Form SFA), Q assumed
flnanclng (CAR. Fomn AFA). Q subfedtofinandng [] Other ", ' _ . This |oan~shaB be at
a fixed rate not to exceed __ ~ % or. D an edjustablerate loan wtthhitiat rate not to exceed _ %.
Regardless of the type of loan. Buyer shall pay points not to exceed _% of the loan amount.

(3) FHAWA: For any FHA or VA ban spedfied in 3D{1), Buyer has 17 (w^_) Days After Acceptance to
Deliver to Setter written notk» {CAR. Form R/A) of any lendewequired repEdis or costs Ihat Buyer requests
SeBer to pay <br or otherwse oorrecL Seller has no ablation to pay or safisly lender PBquBsments unless
sigreed in writing. A FHA/VA anBndatoiy dause (CAR. Fonn R/AC) shall be a part: of this transa?4pn.

Buyer's Initials ( ^-YT- »( , __ _,) Seller's Initials ( (fcZ- i(
® 1996.2018. CalifSBiKA^Siaton of SgSL¥6'R?®;lnc .
VLPA REVISED 12/18 (PAGE 1 OF 11)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 1 OF ̂ 1

(dual agent)
Representation

3S 0&3. 0C

Tnmer Real Eatatt, SO N. CabrillD ttwj, tW3 HBU'Mom BAy CA MM» Phans: fSSTlSltSS'
Bnatltinicr Pnxfuced wflhzipRinn® by vpU>SK 18070 RBBWI Mile Road, Fraaer, Michigan WIOS lulcadAs

FBC M17443428



Property Address: riys.'-y^te- AW ̂647 .261^3^ EiG^f,.-.^. KA £4i;-:'*:.
E. ADDITiONAI. HNANCING TERBIS:

Data: ?&.";>? S3 20i9

F. BALANCE OF DOWN PAYMENT OR PURCHASE PRICE in the amount of..,. .....,.,......... $ .! 2^1 QtM:
to be deposited with Escrow Holder pursuant to Escrow Hdder InstrucUons.

G. PURCWUUae PRICE fTOTAL):.......................................................... $ 1 SCCMQ. QQ
H. VERIRGATION OF DOWN PAYBffiNT AND CLOSWG COSTS: Buyer (arBuya's tender or taen brokBr pureuarrt to paragraph

3J{1)) 8^(, wlthfn 3 (or _) Day After Acceptenoe, Deliver to Seller vwitten verifioatton of Buyer's down payment and ctoshig
costs. (Dverificatton attached.)

L APPRAISM. CONTINGENCY AW) REMOVAL: This AgnBement te <or @ ia NOT) contingent upon a written appraisal of the
Property by a Bcenssd or oerh'fied appraiser at no less ttian the purchaBe price. Buyer shdl, as spedfied In paragraph 19B(3>,

. In wrtlng, remove the appraisal contingency or cancel this Agreement within 17 (or _) Days After AccBptance.
J. LOAN TERMS: ~ ~ -

(1) LOAN APPLICATIONS: Within 3 (or _) Day» After Acceptance, Buyer shall Deliwr to Seler a letter (hnn Buyei-s lender
or loan broker alattng that. based on fi review of Buyer's written application end credit report. Buyer te prequalifled or
preapprovad fbr any NEW loan specified In paragraph 3D. If any loan specified In paragraph 3D ls_an acflustablB rate loai, the
prequalfflcaUon or [Meapproval letter shall be based on the qualltytng rate, not the InKial toari rate. (D Letter attached.)
(2) LOAN CONTINGENCV: Buyer shall act dlliflenfly and in flood faith to obtain the desteinated toan(s). Buyer's qualHkatlon for Ihe
toaBi{6) fipeafied above is a contingency of this Agrwment unless oBwrwise agreed m writing. If there s no tCTraisal contingency w
tta apprated contingency has been v^ved or nemoved, then ̂ lure of the Prcperiy to appraise at the purchase price does not enBfle
Buyer to aren^ the cancelatfon right pureiauit to the toan contu^ency if Buyer is otherwise qualified for the epecified toan. Buyer's
contractual obBgattonsregarcfing d^iostt, balance of down p^nimt and ckKing coste an not confingmciw of ftte Agreement
(3) UOftM CONTINGENCY REUOVAL:
WKhin 21 (or __) ̂ siya After Acc^tance, Buyer shaB, as specified in paragraph 19, In writing, remaw the loan contingency
or cancel thfe Agreement If there is an appraisal contingency, removal of the loan contingent shall not be deemed removal of
the appraisal contlrgency.
(4) [_] NO LOAN CONTINGENCY: Obtaining any toan qsedfied abcw® Is NOT a conh'ngency rf <his Agpeemerrt. If Buyer does not
obtahttw^ and as a re$ult Buyer does not purchase tte Prqwrty, Seto may be entl^ to Buy^s deposit or other teg^
<s) LENDER uaarrs ON BUYER CREDITS: Any credit to Buyer, from any soiffce, for dosing or other costs that te agreed to by
fte Parties fContractual Credff) Bhall be disclosed to Buyer's tender. If ft® total ctedit allowed by Buyer's lender f Lender
Allowable Credit") is toss than the Contractual Credit, then (i) the Contractual Credit shall be reduced to the Lender AIIcwrabte
CiBtft, and (ii) In the absence of a separate written agr^Bment between the Partias, there »hafl be no automatic acflustment to
the purchase price to mate up for <he difference betuvaen the Contractual Credit and the Lender ABowabte Credit

K. BUYER STATED FINANCING: Se»w Is relying ui Buyei's representation of the type of financfog specified {including but not
limited to. as applkable, aR cash, eanount of down payment, or contingent or non-contingent loan). SsBer has agreed to a
spedflc dpsii^i date, purchase price and to Bell to Buyer in reliance on Buyer's covenant concerning financing. Buyer shaU
pursue the financing specified In this Agreement Setter has no otriteafion to csooperate with Buyer's efforts to obtain any
financing other than that specified in the Agrroment and the availability of any such alternate flnanclng does not excuse Buyer
from the obllgatton to purchase the Property andcto&e escrow as specified in this Agreement

L. SELLER FINANCING: The fbllawll^ teims (or Qthe terms spedfled h the aftachal Seller Financing Addendum) (CAR. Fomi
SFA) apply ONLY to friancing extended by Setter under this Agreonent.
(1) BUYER'S CREDTT-WORTHINESS: Buyer aufiwrizes Sdter andtor Brokers to obtain, at Buyei's expanea. a copy of Buyer's

credtt report. WiBiin 7 (or _____) Day After Acceptance, Buyer shall provide any supporfii^ documentation
raasonably requwted by Seller.

(2) TERMS: Buyer's pmnlssory note, daed of trust and other documerds as appropriatB shail incoiporate and implBment the IbltoiM'ng
additional tBmis:(0 the maximum intepBst rate specifiBd in paragraph 3D shaV be  e actual fixed uitae^ rate for Sefer fiiwdiw
®deed^f_tnJBt 8hdl contain a REQUEST FOR NOTICE OF DEFAULT on senior toans; (IR) Buyer shall sign aid pay <wa
REQUEST FOR NOTICE OF DEUNQUEMCY prior to Close Of Escrow and at any (uture fime if requwted by Sdten <lv) note and
deed of liuatshal contain an acoeteraBon clause maMng the toan due, vriien pennltted by tew and at Salted option, upm the sede
orti^^ofth0Propaty<)ranylntBred:hit;Mnote8ha8con<ainalat8ch»geof6%oftheinstalkn8ntdue(or._) if

the instaftnert is not reaBived within 10 days of fte date due; (vt) tUfe insurance coverage in tfie form of a jonit protectonpdhy
shaU be proyidwt insurirg Selenr's deed of trust interBst in the Property (any uicreased cost over owner's paUcy shaB be psM by
Buyer); and (^)tax seivice shafl be obtahed and paM for by Buyerto notify SeBer if property taxea have not been paM.

(3» ADDED, DELETED. OR SUBSTTTUTED BUYERS: The addition, ddeton or substitufion of any pereon or entity under thEe
Agreement or to title prior to Close Of Escrow shall require SBlter's writtBn conBent SBltor may grant or withhold coneerrt in
Seltort sde discretion. Any acUltional or substituted person or entity shaU, If requeated by Sfllter. submit to Seller the same
documentation as requirsd for the original named Buyer. Seller and/or Brokers may obtain a credit report, at Buyer's
expense, on any such person orsrrtity.

M. ASSUMED OR "SUBJECT TO" FINANCINO: Seller represents that SeUer to not deBnquent on any paymants due on any
loans. SeBer shan. within the time specified in paragraph 19, provide Copies of all appfcabte notes and deeds of trust, foan
balances and current interest rates to Buyer. Buyer shall then, as specified In paragraph 198(3), remave this conb'ngency or

Buyei's Initiate ( -)( J Seltert IniBate (
'12n®(PAGE20F11)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 2 OF 11)
FnduoailwlihzipRanntiiyzipi. ogix l«>7ureteenMlla-Ri>»(i, R»tsr, Mleniaan4nB8 tfww. riBtDdM-flBm Htrtw



Property/w 666: Ays fiorssls-/'.F^^e^T-^S^-QSe £!{^Sia<ls GA !^913 Dste:^.sh3:^';9 .
cancel this Agreement Differences between esfimate and actual loan balances shall be adjusted at Cteee Of Escrow by cash
down payment Impound accounts, if any, shall be 'assigned and diarged to Buyer antf aeditBd to Setter. Setter is' advised that
Buyei's assumption of an existing toan may not release Seller from lidtllHy on that loan. Ifttiis is an assumption of a VA Loan,
the sate is contingent upon Setter being provided a release of liabBify and substitution of eligibifity, initess otherwise agreed m
writing. If  e Property is acquired subject to an existing loan, Buyer and Seller are advised to consult with legal counsel
regarding the abiBty of ah erietlng tender to call the loan due, and the consequences thereof.

4. SALE OF BUYER'S PROPERTf:
A. This Agreement and Buyei's ability to obtain financing are NOT conflngent upon the sate of any property owned by Buyer.

OR B. D This Agwennent and Buyers aMI'ity to obtain financing are contingent upon the sate of property owned by Buyer as ̂»ecified
in &» attached addendum (C.A.R. Form COP).

6. Q MANUFACTUREfi HOME PURCHASE: The purchase of the Property Is contjngent yfion Buyer acquiring a personal property
manufactured home to be placed on the Property afler Close Of Escrow. Buyer |J has U has "ot entered Into a contract for the
purchase of a personal property manufactured home. Wtthln the time specified In paragraph 18, Buyer shall remove this
contingency or ̂ ncel this Agreement, (or D this conflngen^ shaH remain m effect until ttie Close Of Escrow of the Property).

6. D CONSTRUCTION LOAN FINANCING: The purchase offte Property is cwitingerrt upon Buyer obtaining a construction loan. A
draw from the oonBtructton loan Q wiB D will not be used to finance the Property. Within the Gme spedfied hi paragraph 19, Buyer
shall remove this contingency orcancdthis Agreement (or Qthte conUngency shaB remain in effect until Close Of Escrow of the
PMftwt/l^

7. ADDENDA AND ADVISORIES:
A. ADDENDA:_______ HAddendum# CAR. Form ADM

Back U Offer Addendum CAR. Fonn BUO) Court Confinnation Addendum CAR. Form CCA
i Se Well and Pro rt Monument Addendum CAR. FormSWPI
0 Short Sate Addendum (CAR. Form SSA) D Other

B. BUYER AND SELLER ADVISORIES: Bu er-s Ins ection Adviso CAR. Form BIA
d Probate Advisoiy (CAR. Fonn PA) DStatewide Buyer and SeUer Advisory (C.A.R. Fonn SBSA}

Trust Adviso CAR. Form TA REOAdvlso CAR. Foim REO
Short Sale Information and Advtso (CAR. Form SSIA) H Other

8. OTHERTERWB: ftn addtSonat cenSfn nc ^flhlsA reem'antlsthatBu sr's udcAase cfiffie Pr 6ri'lssub'scttofi>reiisl
a mval^i fheSu ef's Board of Cc'mmissioners. Ssidcontm enc will be Feiisovisc! vjiShin 14 da s afSer ̂ .cc tsnce

9. AU.OCATTON OF COSTS
A. INSPECTIONS, REPORTS AND CERTIFICATES: Unless otherwise agreed, in writing. this paragraph only detennines who is
to pay for the inspection, test, certificate or service ("Reportc) mentioned; it does not detarmine who fe to pay for any work
r»cwnm»nded or IdenUfisd in die Rspoii
(1) D Buyer Q Seller shall pay (or a natural hazard zone disclosure report, indudlng tax Q environmental Q Other

prepared by ~- __
(2) LJ Buyer Seltershall pay for the following Report.

(3) (J Buyer U Seller shaU pay for the ftrflowing Report
prepared by.

B. ESCROW AND TFTLE:
(1) (a) @ BuyerQ Seller shall pay escrow fee

(b) Escrow Holder shall be Soifar's vhafce
(c) The Partfes shall, within 5 <or_ > Days After receipt, s^n and reitum Escrow Holdei's general provisions,

<2) (a) @ Buyer Q Seller .shaU pay forownei's title insurance poBcy specified in paragraph 18E'
(b) Owner's We policy to be issued by Sei^r's eh^ice

c.
(Buyer shall pay for any titte Insurance pblfc^insurihg Buyer's lender, unless othenmse agreed In writing.)
OTHER COSTS:

Buyer[
Buyer)
Buyer)

Seller shall pay County transfer tax or fee
Seller shall pay City transfer tax or fee
I Seller shaU pay Homeownere' Assoclatton fHOA") transfer tee

(4) Seller shall pay HOA fees fiw preparing aH documents required to be delivered by Civil Code §4625.
W Buyer to pay tbr any HOA oertlflcation fee.

I Buyer[J Setter shall pay HOA fees for preparing all documents other than those required by CMI Code §4525.
I Buyer "] Seller shall pay for any private transfer fee.
I Buyer U Setter shall pay for.
i Buyer |J Seller shall pay for

SESSION: Possession shall be delivered to Buyer (I) jd at 6 PM or ( n AM/? PM) on the date of Close
Of Escrow; (If) Quo later than _calendar days after Close Of Escrow;'or (Ml) Qat D/MW PM on
The Property shall be unoiicupied, unless olherwise agreed in wrifiRfl. Seller shalt provide ki^s and/or means to operate all
Property locks. If Property is located in a common interest subdivision, Buyer may be reqi^red to pay a deposit to the Homeowners'
Association (XQA°) to obtain keys to accessibte HOA fadlWes.

jJ^sX Setter's tnlBat8( j^. ., )( , " )Buyers Initials (
VLPAW >^PA8E30FH)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 3 OF 11»
FlBducwtriailiiFcimBbydpLoglK 18B70 RHean Mile Rnad, FiaaBr. Ulcttfgan 0029 «u«uuli>Lonl».i



Property Address: WQ^gr^k^P^ S 047-S.S-S-9SO Sl ̂ rw.a,-.'s_-yi $*<??& Date: ft. s-c:? . 3 £y?3

II.TTEMS INCLUDgDJMAN'D'BtCLUDED FROM SALE:
A. MOTC TO BUYER AND SELLER: Items listed as induded or excluded h the MLS, flyers or marketing materials are not

induded in th® purchase price or excluded from the sate unless specified In 11B or C.
B. ITEMS INCLUDED d SALE: .

(1) fiS BU8TING ftdures and fltMngs that are attached to the Property;
(2)Theftiltawingitema:.

(3) Setter represents that all items included In the purchase prio6, unless otheiwfee specified, are owned by SeHer.
(4) All terns induded shall be transfenred free of Kens and without Sefer warranty.

C. ITEMS EXCLUDED FROM SALE:

A. NATURAL. AND ENVIRONMENTAL HAZAM) RISCLOSURE8 AND OTHER BOOKLETS: Within th® time specSed in paragraph ISA.
Setter shal, if required by Law; (1) Dalhw to Buyer earthquake guide(s) (end questtonnafre), envbonmentel hjeards booMet (II)
disctosa ff th» Property to tocated In a Special Ftood HBnid Area; .Potential RoocHng (Inundatton) Area; Vety H(gh Pre Hazafd Zone;
State Pre Responsibillly Area; Earthquake Fault Zone; and Seismic Hazard Zone: ami <iii) disctoss any other zone as required by Law
and provide any other information required for those zones,

B. WITHHOLDING TAXES: VWiin the'time specffied in paragraph 18A, to avoid required wilhholdlng, SeBer <ihalt Deliver to Buyer or
quaMed aubstltute, an Hffldavit sufRcient to comply with federal (FIRPTA) and California virtthhoUIng Law (CA.R. Fonn AS or QS).

C. MESAN'S LAW DATABASE DISCLOSURE: NoUce: Pursuant to Secb'on 280.46 of the Penal Code, Infomiation about Bpedfted
registered BBK offendere » made avaltabto to the public via an Internet Wab site maintained by the Deparbnent of Juatlce at
wwwjm^anslaw. cifcgw. Depending on an ofEenders crinnlnal hfefory, this infwmation wiB include either the address at wrttfeh the
offender resides or the coinmuAy of residence and ZIP Code In whteh he or she msfttos. (NBmw Setter nor Brokare ara required to
check this webste. If Buyer wants (urther. hrfonnation, Broker recoimnends that Buyer obtain infonnation ftom tWs websitB during
Buyer's inspection contingency period. Brokeredo not have expertise in this area.)

D. NOTICE REGARDING GAS AND HAZARDOUS UQUID TRANSMISSION PIPEUNES: Thie notioe te bBtng provkjed simply to irrfonn
you that infbnnatton about the general location cf gas and hazardouB-flquid transmteston pipelines Is available to the puUte via the
National Pipeline Mapping System (NPM8) Internet Wbb sRe maintained by the Unfted States Departmant of Transportation at
Mtp'JlwvHw. npmsfhinaadalt. swl. To seek further Information about'possible transmission pipelines near the Property, you rmy
contact your tocal ga» utility or other pipeline operators in the area. Contact Information for p^ellne operatore Is searehabte by ZIP
Code and county on the NPMS Internet V\feb aKe.

E. CONDOMINIUWPLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISCLOSURES:
(1) SEULBl HAS: 7 (or _ ) Days After Acceptance to disclose to Buyer whether the Property te a condominium, or is located in a
planned development or other common Interest eubdlvtelon (CAR. Form VLQ).
(2) If tt»e Property te a condominium or te located in a planned 'development or other common Interest subdMston, Setter has 3
(or _) Days After Aaaptance to request from the HdA (CAR. Form HOA1): (I) Copies of .any documents. FBquired by Law; (U)
disclosure of any pending or antlcpatad clahi or IIBgaBon by or against the HOA; (III) a etatament containing the tocatfon and number of
designated parking and atorage spaces; (h?) Copies of the most recent 12 months of HOA minutes for regular and spaual meetings;
and (v) the names and contact information of aU HOAs governing the Property (coHectiwly, "Cl Disdosures"). Seller shall itemize and
Denver to Buyer an Cl DisctosurBS recsivBd ftom UIB MOA and any Cl Disctosures fn Setei's possession. Buyei's approval of Cl
Disclosures is a contingency of this Agreement as spedfied In paragraph 18B(3), The Party specified In panagraph 8, as directed by
escrow, shall deposit ftinds Into escrow or direct to MOA or management company to pay fcr any of the above.

13. SBLLER DOCUMENTATION AND ADOn-IONAL DISCLOSURE:
A. Wlttiln the time specified h paragraph 19, If Seterhas actual knowladge. Seller shaH provide to Buyer, in wriHng, the foltowing fnfbnnafen:

(1) LEGAL PROCEEDINGS: Any lawsute by or against Seller, Ihreatming or affecCng fte Propeity, hdwfiig any teM FSuits ateging a defect

Of defidancy in the Property or common areas, or any known notices of abatement or citations filed or Issued against the Property.
(2) AGRTCULTURAL USE: Whether the Property is subject to restrictions for <^ricultural use pursuant to the waiiamson Act

(Government Code S§51200-51295).
(3) DEED RESTRICTIONS; Any dawl restricfions or obffgatlom.
(4) FARM USE: Whether the Property fe in, or adjacent to, an area with Right to Fanm rtghts (Civil pode §3482.5 and §3482.6).
(6) ENDANGERED SPECIES: Presence of endanosred, threatened, 'candidate' species, or wetlands on the Property.
(6) ENVIRONMENTAL HAZARDS: Any substances. materials, or producte that may be an envhonmentel hazard hckjding. but not Bmited

to, asbwtos, formaldehyde, racton gas, tea<M>aaed paftit, hiel or chemical storage tanks, and contaminated soft orwater on the Property.
(7) COMBtON WALLS: Any teatutea of the Property shared in coiwnon with adjoinirg landowoere, such as walls, fences, roads, and

drhmways, and agricuUufe and domestic welte whoae use or responsibility for maintenance may have an effect on the Property.
(8) LANDLOCKED: The absence oftogdor physical access to the Property.
(9) EASEMENTS/DICROACHMENTS: Any encroachments, easements or sirrilar mattere that may affect the Propefty.

(10) SOIL FILL: Any W (compacted or otherwlss), or abandoned mining operations on the Property.
(11) SOIL PROBLESS: Any sHppage. sliding, flooding, drainage, gradhg, or other soB probtems.
(12) EARTHQUAKE DABaAGE; Mqfor damage to the Property or any of the strwtures from fire, earthquake, floods, or landsBdes.
(13) ZONING'ISSUES: Any zoning iriolaUons, non-confbnnfng uses, or violations of "setback' requirements.
(14) NEIGHBORHOOD PROBLEMS: Any neighborhood notes problems, or other nuisances.

B. RENTAL AND SBWICE AGREEMENTS: Within th® time spadffed in paragraph 19, SellershaN make available to Buyer for Irepectton
and review, all current teases, rental agreements, service oonfracte and other related agreenisnts, licenses, and permits pertaining to
Ure operation or use ofth& Property.

C. Q TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATCS: Wlfliin the time specified in paragraph 19, Setter shall delhrer to Buyer tenant estoppel
certificates (CAR, Form TEC) comptetBd by Scllw or Sailer's agent, and s^ned by tenants, acknowledging: (I) that tenants' rental or
(Bass ̂ reemants are unmocTifled and in fuU force and effect (or If modified, stating all such modifications); (fi) that no lessor dsfeutts
exist; and (III) Btating the amount of any prepaid rent or security deposit

>( } Setert li«ials (
i8<PAOE40F11)

Buyafs Initials (
VLPAI

J( _)

VACANT LAND njRCHASE AGREENENT (VU*A PAGE 4 OF 11)
Produced wnhripFonnti by dpLoah 18D70FmsBnMI»ROKl, Fia»r, MlcN9an48B2B lUMtBl(LB(tuaan Hntw



Property Address: Avs^9ffa!»- A^ ff S.t7'3S'/-eSG Ei^-rsnBtSs C^ ̂ .^ ^ Date:{^h_39^eiS
D. MELUMl06STAX;1191S BOND ACT: Wmin  e Vms specified hi paragraph 19, SeUer dial): (I) make a good fetfth effortto obtain a notice

from any focal agencies that tevy a special tax or assessment on the Property (or, if alhwed. subslanb'ally equivalent nottee), pureuant to the
Melto^tbos CommunBy Fsdffles Act; and Improvement Bond Act of 1915, and (II) promptly delhmto Buyer any such notice obtdned.

E. SELLSt VACANT LAND QUESTIONNAIRE: Sdter shall, within the time specified In paragraph 19, comptate and provide Buyer with a
Seler Vacant Land QuesUonnalre (CJk.R. Fonn VLQ).

14. SUBSEQUENT DISCLOSURES: hi ttie event Seller, prtor to Close Of Escrow, bBcomes aware of adverse conditions materially affech'ng
the Property, or any material Inaccuracy in dlsdosures, hformaUon or representations prewouriy provkled to Buyer of which Buyer te
othewfse unaware. Seller shall promptly pwvrtde a subsequent or amended disclosure or noUce, In writing, covering those items. However,
a subaequent w amended disctoauro shaU not be requfred for conditions and material Inaccuracies ifisdosati in reports ordemd
and pidd forbyBtyer.

15. CHANCES DURINC ESCROW:
A. Priorto Ctose Of Escrow. Seller may engage in the followfr® acts, ("Proposed Changes"), sut(|ed to Bijyei's rights in paragraph 15B: (!)

rent or tease any part of tha premises; (II) alter, modHy or extend any existing rente) or lease agreement; (III) erdar Into, attar, modBy or
extend any wn/tee contracts); or <lv) change th* status of the condition of the Property.

B. At toast 7 (or _ ) Days prior to any Prepoeed Changes, Seller shall ghre written noflce to Buyer af such Proposed Changes. Within 5
(or_)Days^er receipt of such notice, Buyer, in writing, may flh® SeUer notice of Buyei'sobjecUon to the proposed Changes, in
which case Setter shall not make the Proposed Changes.

16. CONDITION OF PROPERTY: Unless othawise agreed In writing: (I) the Propeity ie aoM (a) "AMS" in Its PRESENT physical condition as
of the data of Acceptance and (b) subject to Buyer's InvesUgation rights; (U) the Property, indudhig pool, spa, landscaping and grounds, is
to be maintained In substantially the same condition as on the date of Acceptance; and (111) all debris and personal property not Included in
the eate shaD ba removed by Close Of Escrow.
A. Setter shdl, within the trma epedfied in paragraph 18A, DISCLOSE KNOWN MATERIAL FACTS AND DEFECTS ateding die Property,

indudlng known insurance claims within the past five years, and make any and dl other disdaeunw required by law.
B. Buyer has the right to conduct Buyer InvesUgattonB of the property and, as specified hi paragraph 19B, based upon Information

discavered In those invest^ations: (I) cancel thte Agreemant; or (B) requBBt that Seller make Repairs or tato other acBon.
C. Buyer Is strongly advised to conduct Invest^ations of the entire Property in ordw to detwmlne KB picsent condlHon. Sdter

may not be aware of all defects afihcdng the Property or other factors that Buyer considers Important Property Improvemente
may not ba built according to code. In com|rilance with cunent Law, or haw had p&rmKs Issued.

17. BUYER'S INVESTIGATION OF PROPERTT AND MATTERS EFFECTING PROPERTY:
A. Buyei's acceptance of the condition of, and any ottrer matter affecting the Property, Is a contingent of this Agreement ae spectfted in

this paragraph and paragraph 19B. Within the b'me specified in paragraph 19B(1). Buyer shaB have the right, at Buyert expense unless
othenvise agreed, to cwiduct (nspedlons, InvesftgaUons, tests, surve)B and other studies CBuyer InvesUgations*), including, but not
limited to, the right to: ff) Inspect for lead^ased paM and other lead-based pabit hatante; (II) Ihspect for wood destroyang pesta and
cuganisms; (iii) retrtew ths registered sex oitfender database; (Iv) confirm the insurabBify of Buyer and the Property; and (v) satisfy
Buyer as to any matter spedfied In the attached Buyei's Inspechon AdvlBory (CAR. Form BIA). Without Seller's prior written consent,
Buyer shaU nefther make nor cause to be made: (i) invasive or deslrucUve Buyer Investigations except for mlnbnally invashre tesUng; or
(if) Inspecttone by any govBmmantal bunding or zoning Inspector or government employee, untesB lequlred by Law.

B. Seller shaU make the Property avaBabto for all Buyer Investigattoiw. Buyer shaB (D as epflcined in paragraph 19B, complete Buyer
tnvestlgalione and, either remove the contingency or cancel this Agreement, and (II) ghre Seller, at no cost, complete Copies of afl
IrwesUgaBon reports obtained by Buyer, whteh obBgation shall survh/e ths temiination of thte Agreement.

C. Buyer Indemnity and Setter protectton for entry upon property: Buyer shaB; (I) keep the Property free and dear of liens; (II) repair
all damage arising from Buyer Investigations; and (til) Indemnity and hold SeBer hannless from aB resultmd llabaity, dalms, demands,
damages and cwte of Buyei*® Investigations. Buyw shall cany, or Buyar shall reqylia anyone acBng on Buyei's behalf to cany, polldes
of liability, workere' compensation and other appBcabte Insurance, dafending and protecting SeUBr from liability for any Injuries to
persons or properly occurring during any Buyer InveeUgattons or work done on the Property at Buyei's direoUon prior to Close Of
Escnw. SeVer ta advised that certain protections may be aff&rded Seller by recording a "Nob'ce of Non-resporTSibility" (CAR. Form
NNR) for Buyer Investlgattons and wori< done on th& Property at Buyer's dlnectton. Buyer's obllgattons under this paragnaph shall
survive the termination or cancellatton of this Agreement and Ctose Of Escrow.

D. BUYER IS STRONGLY ADVISED TO INVESTHSATE THE CONMTION AND SUITABILITY OF ALL ASPECTS OF THE PROPERTY
AND ALL MATTERS AFFECTINO THE VALUE OR DESIRABIUTr OP THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE
ITEMS SPECIFIED BELOW. IF BUYER DCffiS NOT EXERCISE THESE RIGHTS, BUYER IS ACTING AGAINST THE ADVICE OF
BROKERS. BUYER UNDERSTANDS THAT ALTHOUOH CONDITIONS ARE WTEN DIFFICULT TO LOCATE AND DISCOVER.
AU. REAL PROPERTTf CONTAINS CONDITIONS THAT ARE NOT READILY APPARENT AND THAT MAY AFFECT THE VALUE
OR DESIRABIUn OF THE PROPERTY. BUYER AND SELLER ARE AWARE THAT BROKERS DO NOT GUARANTEE, AND IN
NO WAY ASSUME RESPONSBIUTY FOR, THE CONDfffON OF THE PROPECTY. BROKERS HAVE NOT AND WILL NOT
VERIFY ANY OF TOE ITEMS IN THIS PARAGRAPH 17, UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED IN WRITING.

E. SEE, UNE8, ACCB8S AND BOUNDARIES: Lot size, property Unes, tegaror physical access and boundaries including features of the
Property shared In common with a<(|olning landowners, such as walls, fences, roads and driveways, whose use or responsibliny for
maintenance may have an effect on the Property and any encroachments, easements or similar matters that may affect the Pioperty.
(Fences, hedges, walls and other natural or constructed barriers or maikere do not necessarily jdenffiy true Propeity boundaries.
Property lines may be verified by survey.) (Unles$ otfteiwise spea'Bed in writing, any numerical stataments by Brotere reganling tot size
are APPROXIMATIONS ONLY. which have not been and will not be verified, and should not be refied upon by Buyer.)

F. ZONIMG AND LAND USE: Past, present, or proposed laws, ordinances, referendums. Initiatives, votes. appRcatlons and pennfts
affecBng the current use of the Property, ftituw development, zoning, building, size, govemmantal pemm'ts and inspBctions. Any zoning
violations, non-confonning uses, or vtolafions of "ee&ack" requirements. (Buyer ehouM also hvestfgate whether these mattBrs affect
Buyert intended use of the Property.)

0. UTIUTIE8 AND SBWtCES: Availability, costs, restrictlpne and location of utilities and services. Inducfing but not limited to, sewerage,
sanitation, s^tic and leach Bnes, water, electricity, gas, telephone, cable TV and drainage.

Buyei-slntUate( . TW-< »( _ SeHWs Initiate ( ^J^ )(
VLPA REVISED 1»18 (PAQE 6 OF 11)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 5 OF 11)
PnidueedwllhzipFomfBbyzlpLtish ieonRltemMI»Road, FraMr, MldilBsn48D25 uftuiuaftdiuihf^ftm Hurtwr



Property Address:-".'/s P->;-?w> AT;tf S <^7-38;-^0 ^iSr«,aaJa CA S^'S DahK^^ah^^ulS
H. ENVIRONMENTAL HAZARDS: Potential environinental hazante, Including, but not llmHsd to, asbestoB, lea<M>aaed paint and other

tead contamination, radon, methane, other gases, fuel, oH w chemical storege tanks, contaminated soil or water, -hazardous waste.
waste disposal sites, etedromsanette fiehte, nuctear souroee, and other substances, including mold (aiibome, taxte or othenvtee).
lungua or cfrnter contaminant, matBriate, producta orconditfons.

t. GEOLOGIC CONDmONS: Geotoflfefeeismfe conditfons. soy and terrain atabBify, suitabiHy and drainage Indudlng any sBppage.
BBdhg, flooding, drainage, gradbig, fIH (compacted or othawhe), or other soi pnibtems.

J. NATURAL HAZARD ZONE: Spadal Rood Hazard Amaa, Potential Ftooding (InundaBon) Areas, Veiy High Fire Hazard Zones, State
Fire Respon8ft){Bty Areas, Earthquake Fautt Zones, Setonto Hazaid Zones, or any other zone for whteh dtecfosure te required by Law.

K. PROPERTY DAMAGE! Major damage to the Propeity or any of the structures or non-structural systems and components and any
personal property included in the sale from flre, eartftquake, floods, lands Jdes or other causes.

L. NEIGHBORHOOD, AREA AND PROPEffTY CONDmONS: Ne^|hbo»hood or area conditions, Induding ̂ riculhiral U*e ResWcUofts
pursuant to the WIBamson Act (Government Code §§5120(W1295), Right To Fami Lawa (ChB Code §3482^ and g34B2.e),8choote,
pTOihiity and adequacy of bw enforcement, crime statisttes, the pTOdmKy of regteteral tetons or offiBndeia, fire protection, oBier

government ssrvteea, avallablMy, adequacy and cost of any speed^wlred, wtretess internet coimections or other telecommunications or
other techndogy aeivices and Instaltattons, proximity to commBrciaI, Indusbial or agricultural acthrittes, sdsting and proposed
transportation, conetructtan and ctewtopment that may affect rmtee, view, or traffic, afrport noiBe. noise or octor irom any source,
abandoned mtalng operaflons on the Property. wiU and dnnesuc antaiab, other nuteanoes, hazards, or ctruimstances, protected
species, wetland pmpertiee, bfltanteal diseaaw, ttiBtoric or other govammentally protected sites or improvements, cemBteries, lacBlties
and conctltton of conwion areas of conwion interest subdhriatenft, and possbte lack of compliance with any governing documents or
Homeawnere' Assodaton requirements, conditions and influences of a^ntficance to certain cultures andtor rel^tone, and personal
needs, requlremente and preferences of Buyar.

M. CONMON INTEREST SUBDIVISIONS: OWNER ASSOCIATIONS: Facilities and condlflon of common areas (fcwlBtiBB such as poote,
tennte courts, walkways, or other areas co<wned in undivided fntemst with othere). Ownere' Asaociafion that has any authflrity over the
subjed property, CC&fte, or other deed restricttons or obHgattons, and posstoto lack of compltence with any Ownere' Assocfatfon
requirementB.

N. SPECIAL TAX; Any tocal agencies that tevy a special tax on the Property pj fauant to the Melto^oos Community. Facilities Act or

Improvement Bond Act of 1915.
TAL PRDPERTV RESTRICFAL PRDPERTV RESTRICTIONS: Some cffies and counties Impose pBstricUor» that Innit the amount of rent that can be charged,

the maxhninn nwnbar of occiq»ants and the right of a landtord to temdnate a tenancy.
P. MANUFACTURED HOME PLACEMENT: CondHtons that may affect the ability to placa and usa a manufactured home on the Propeity,

18. TITLE AND VESTING:
A. Within the time spedfied in paragraph 19. Buyer shsN be provided a current prettnlnaiy ftte report fPrelimlnaiy RepoiT). Tha Preflnnlnaiy

Repontoontyan offer by the tilte Insurerto fssue a polfcy of title hsurance and may net contain ewiy item affecting tHte. Buyer^ review of
We PiaRminary Report and any other inatere wWch may afiect Btte are a contingency of thte Agreement as spedfied In paragraph 1 8B. The
company pnnABng the PneRmhary Rqiort shaN, prtor to isauhg a Preltminaiy Report, conduct a search of the Genaral Indux for all Setters
except tanks or athw insfituttonal toncton w ig propcrtlw they acquired through foreckwure (REOs), coqaoiafione, and gowmment
entities. SeBer ahaB wHWn 7 Day After Acceptance, yw Escrow Holder a completed StatBment cf Irtwmafion.

B. TItto te taken In Its present oondftton eublect to aB encunibrances, easements, couenantB, condWonB, restrictions, rights and other
niatore, whether of fecont or not, as of the date of Acceptance except for (I) nwneteiy liens of record (vMth SeUer is obl^ated to pay
dO unless Buyer is assumii^ ttose obDgaBons or taking the Property subject to those obBgations; and (ii) those mattere which Seller
haa agreed to rwnove.ht writEng.

C. VtfiBtinthe time specified hi paragraph ISA. Seller has s duty to dtodose to Buyer all matters known to Setter affecting tHte, whether of
record or not.

D. At Ctow Of Escrow, Buyer shall necalve a grant deed conveying Utte (or, for Btack cooperative or tong^torm teas®, an aasignment of
stock cerUficate or of Seltei's teasehoU htBreaO, toduding aS, mineral and water rights IT currently owned by Seler. Tltto shall vest as
designated hi Buyw'B supptomwrial escrow Instructions. THE MANNER OF TAKING TTTLE MAY HAVE SIQNIRCANT LEGAL AND
TAX CONSEQUENCES. CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL.

E. Buyer »haB recehw a "CLTA/ALTA Homeowner's PoUcy of Tltte Insurance", If appBcabte to the type of property and buyer. A Uto
company, at Buyw's request, can pn»vlcte Infcnnatlon about the availahiKty, desirability, covBragB, and cost of various tltte Insurance
cowrages and endorsements. If Buyer desires CUe covarage ottw than that required by this paiagraph, Buyer shall instruct Escnw

'Y Hokter In writing and ahaH pay. any increaBetn cost.
_^^9. TIME PERIODS; WEiNOVAL OF CONTINGENCIES; CANCEUATTON RIGHTS; Th» following Ume pwtotte may onhf be ertontted,
" y^ alt»nd, modlflad or changwl by mutual writtm agraamBirt. Any removal of conBnflenciBa or cancallaUon undar this paragraph by
<f either Buyer or Sailer must be sxereteed In good faUh and in wffthig (CAR. Form CR or CC).

A. SELLER HAS: 7 {or _) Days After Acceptance to DeBvw to Buyer aU Reporte, disclosures and information for which Seller te
reaponsBile under paragraphs 3M, 7A. 8, 8, 12A, B, and E, 13, ISA and 18A. Buyer aflsr firet DeHvering to SeRer a ^totjce to Setter to
Pertbrm (CA.R. Form NSP) may cancel this Agreement If QeVsr has not Ddnered the terns wtthfn the Ume spedfied.

B. (1) BUYER HAS: IT (or _) Days After Acceptance, unteas othsrwise agreed In wrWnfl, to:
(I) complete aB Buyerinwstigatfons; review aB disdoBures, reports, and other appilcabto Intonnatton, wNch Buyer rerohes from
SeDei: and approw all mattBrs affecting the Property; and (U) Delhw to Setter Signed Copies of Statutory Dtectosures and other
disctosurea DeBvered by Seller In accortance with paraBraph 12A.

(2) Within tha time specified in paragraph 18B(1), Buyar may mque»t that SsUsr make mpairs or (ake any other acUon regarding the
Property (CAR. Form RR). Setter has no obligation to agree hi or raspond to (CAR. Fonn RRRR) Buyeft requesta.

(3) By the end of the ftne-speafiad in paragraph 19B(1) (or as ofiiemfee spedfed in tills Aereement), Buyer shall Oelhiw to SBlter a
iBinoval (rf the applicable contingency or cahcellatton (CAR. Fonn CR or CC) offtis Agreement However, W any report, dfedosuis
or information for which Setter te responstole la not DeBvered wtthfn the tbne specified in paragraph 1BA, then Buyer has 6 (or _)
Day After Delivery of any such Kema, or the Ume epecifted In paragraph 188(1), whichever i8 later,, to Detiwr to Selter a removal of
flie appHcdite'conflngancy or canceB&Uon ofthteAareemenL

Bwei's Initials (i^5Vl- )( Selert Initials ( o^ )( "_}
VLPA REVISED 12/18 (PAGE 6 OF 11)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT <VLPA PAGE 6 OF 11)
Pni*icuiulthilpF»mi*itiyriptOBlxie070FmM nlM*Ro»ctF»ww;tfidiiBa>4ao» wwwdcLodx^ Urtwr



Property Address: Aw Poi'tota- AP^ S- G47-2S1-33A El Srar.a'ia. S.s. ff^tt'^ !: ws^st £y. 26J!6

(4). Continuation of ConUngen<y: Even after the end of the Bme epedffed in paiagraph 1SB(1) and before Seller cancels, ff at aB,
pursuant to paragraph 19C, Buyer retains the right, in writing, to either (I) remove remaining contlngencfes, or (U) cancel this
^reement based on a remaining contfngency. Once Buyci's twlttsn removal of aR contingencies is Delivered to SellBr, Seller may
not cancel this Agreement pureuant to par^raph 18C{1).

C. SELLER RIGHT TO CANCEL;
(1) Seller right to Cancel; Buyer Contingencies; If. by the time spedffed in this Agreement, Buyer does not Delher to SeUer a

removal of the appUcabte contogen^ or cancellation of this Agreament, then SeUer. after firet DBlhrering to Buyer a Notice to Buyer
to Perform (CAR. Fonn NBP),~may cancel this Agreement" In such event, Seller shall authorize the return of Byyei's deprelt.
except forfBes Incuired by Buyer.

(2) Sallar right to Cancel; Buyer Contract Obligations: Seller, after first ctelhrering to Buyer a NBP, may cancel this Agreement if. by
the time specified In thfe Agreement, Buyer does nut take the ftrflowlng adton(s): (I) Deposit ftinds as required by paragraph 3A or
3B or if the ftinds dqaosted pursuant to paragraph 3A or 3B are not good when deposited; (II) Deliver a notice of FHA or VA costs
or terms as required by paragraph 3D(3) (CAR. Fonn FVA): (HI) DeBver a tetter as roquired by paragraph 3J(1); (iv) Dethw
verification as requfred by paragraph 3C or3H or tf Salter reasonabty clteappmves of fne ueriRcatlon provided by paragraph 3C w
3H: (v) Return Stetutoiy Dlsclosyres as requhsd by paragraph 12A; or(vl) Sign or Inltel a separatB Kquldatod damages form (wan
Increased deposit as required by paragraphs SB and 27B; or (vll) Pmvide evidence of authority to sign tn a representaBue capacity
as specifled In paragraph 18. In such event, SeBer shell authorte the return of Byye»'s deposit, except for fees incurred by Buyer.

D. NOTICE TO BUYER OR SELLER TO PERFORM: The NBP or NSP shall: fl) be In writing; (II) be signed by the appBcable Buyer or
Setter, and flil) gh» the other Party at toast 2 (or _) Days After Delvsiy (or unUI the time spedfled In the appllcabte paragraph,
whichever occurs (ast) to take the applicable action. A NBP or NSP may not be Delivered any eartler than 2 Dsys Prior to the explratton
of the applicable tbns for the other Party to rwnove a contingent or cancel this Agreement or meet an obfjgatton spBcHied In paragraph
19.

E. EFFECT OF BUYER'S REMOVAL OF CONTINGENCIES: If Buyer removes, fn writing, any contingency or canceltetton rfghte, unless
otheiwiee Bpecffied In writing, Buyer shsfl condushrely be deemed to have: (i) completed all Buyer Investigations, and review of repoite
and other applicable information and dlBdosures peiteitaing to that contingency or cancellation light; pl) elected to proceed with the
bansacUon; and (HI) assumed all BablBty, re^onatbUlty and expense for Fiepaira or corrections pertaining to that contingency or
canoelteBon right, or for the inability to obtain financing.

F. CLOSE OF ESCROW; Before Buyer or Seller may cancel this Agreement for ftdlure of <he other Part/ to close escrow pursuant to this
Agreenwnt, Buyw w Seller must first Detlva- to Uie other Party a demand to dose escrow (CAR. Form DCE). The DOE shalt (f) be
signed by  e applicable Buyer or Seller; and (II) ghe the other Party at teast 3 (or. __) D»y» After DeBveiy to ctose escrcw. A DCE
may not be Delivered any carter than 3 Days Prior to the scheduled cfose of escrow.

G. EFFECT OF CANCELLATION ON DEPOSrTS: If-Buyer or Seller ghres written no8ce of cancdtatton pureuant to rtghte duty exerdsBd
under the terms of this Agreement, the Parties agree to Sign mutual InBtructtons to cancel the sate and escrow and retease deposifs, if
any, to the party entitled to the funds, tess fees and costs Incurred by that party. Fees and costs may be payable to senrice providers
and vendors for seivlces and products provided during escrow. Except as specified below, release of hmds wffl reipdre mutual
Signed relaase Instructions trom the Partisa, judtelal decision or arbHmtton award. If ehher Party faife to execute mutual
Instructions to cancel escrow, one Party may make a wrttteir demand to Escrow HoMer tor the cteposlt (CAR, Fonn BDRD or SDRD).
Escnw Hokter, upon receipt, shaB promptly deBver notice of the ctemand to the other Party. W, within 10 Days Alter Eccnw Holder's
notice, the other Party does not otgect to the demand, Escrow Holder shad disburse the deposit ta the Party mEddng the damand. tf
ESCTOW Holdsr'complies with the preceding process, each Party shaB be deeined to have released Escrow HoUer from any and dl
claims or liability related to the dteburaal of the deposit Escrow Holder, at its discretion, may nonetheless require mutual canoenauon
instructions. A Party may be subject to a civil penalty of up to (1^100 for rBfu$al to alfln cancellation Instructions If no good
faith dispute ffldsto as to who fe entitled to the deposited tunds (Civil Code S1057.3).

20. REPAIRS; Repairs ahall be pompteted prior to final verification of condition untew otherwise sgraed in wriBng. Repairs to be perfomied at
SeBer's expense may be performed by Seller or through ottiere, provfeled Ihat the woric compGes wlft appllcabte Law, -including
governmental permit, Inspection and approval requirements. Repalre shall be performed In a good, sklBful manner with materials of quality
and ̂ pearance comparable to existing materials, (t Is underetood (hgt exact restoration of appearance or cosmetic items foBowing ati
Repairs may not fae possible. Seller shal: (I) obtain Invoicss and paid receipts for Repairs periomrtecl by others; (11) prepare a written
statement bidfcatlng the Repairs perfbmried by Seltsr and the date of such Repaire: and (III) provide Copies of Invnices and paid receipts
and Btatements to Buyer prior to final veriBcatton of condition. '

21. RNAL VERIFICATION OF CONDITION: Buyer shall have the right to make a flnal verification of the Propertywithln 5 (or _) Days Prior
to Ctoas Of Escrow, NOT AS A CONTINGENCY OF THE SALE7 but solely to confirm: (I) the Property ia maintained pursuartto paragraph
16: (ft) Repairs have baen completBd as agreed; and (IU) Seter has complied with Seller^ other oMlgaltons undBr (his Agreement (CAR.
FomnVP).

22. ENVIRONMENTAL HAZATO CONSULTATION: Buyer and SeBer acknowledge: (1) Federal, state, and local tegtelatton impoBe liability
upon existing and -former owners and users of real property, in appBcabto stftiations, for certain legiBtetiuely defined, environmentally
hazardous substances; (II) Brokerjs) has/have made no representation concerning the appb'cablllty of any such Law to this transacUan'or to
Buyer or to Seller, except as olhaiwise indicated in this Agreement; (III) Broker(8) has/have made no representation concerning the
existence, tesfing, dteccnfery, tocatton and evaluation of/for, and ri*s posed by, envfronmsntafly haardous substanow, if any, located on
or potenflally aflecting the Propeity; ancf (tv) Buyer and Seller are each adviwd to coroult with techniral and legal aqaerts concerning the
existence, testing, discover, location and evaluation dr/for, and risks posed by, environmentally hazardous substanceB, ff any, located on
or potentially atfecUng the Property.

Buyer's IniUals i Seller's Iridate ( J(

VLPA REVISED 12/18 (PAGE 7 OF 11)
VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT <VLPA PAGE 7 OF 11)

Produc8dwt 2t>Fom)B>tqirip. Ll)al)(1807aFKteanMteReBd, nateT, MIAtean4«>28 uiiKr^Aadiuum H*rtW



ft^«C»-SS1-'?3a SIGr-nsvls. OA SSS'iS
Unless otherwise agreed

Property Address: Avs Forfota-
23. PROBATIONS OF PROPERTY TAXES AND OTHER ITEMS: in

Data: e&r^h S;?

writing,  e following

2fl<'&
items shaB be

PAID CURRENT and prorated between Buyer and SeBer as of Ctose Of Escrour. real .property taxes and assesanents, hterest, rents,
HOA regular, special, and ewetg&nc/ dues and assessments imposed prior to Close Of Escrow, premiums on ineunance assunned
by Buyw, payments on bonds and aesasanents assumed by Buyer, and payments on Mdto-Roos and^ottte^SpecM Asswsment
Dtetrfct bonds and asseBsments that are now a fen. Vw folkwing itema shafl be assumed by Buyer VWIHOUT CREUT toward the
purchase pifoe: prorated payments on MeBo-Roos and other Spectal Assessment Dtelrict bonds and assesBinCTts and HOA spedd
assessments that are now a lien but not yet due. Property will be reassessed upon change of ownerahip. Any supplemental tax UUs sSwSi
be paW a» follows: (I) for periods aftwr Close Of Escrow, by Buyer» and (II) for periods prior to dose Of Escrow, by SeUer (see ̂ AR.
Form SPT or SBSA tor farther inftmnafion). TAX BILLS ISSUED AFTER CLOSE OF ESCROW SHALL BE HANDLED DIRECTLY
BETWEEN BUYER AND SELLER. Prorationa shdl be made based on a 30-day month.

24. BROKERS:
A. COIBPENSATION: SeUer or Buyer. or both, as an»acabte, agrees to pay compensaUon to Broker BB spedfled h a separate wrttten

agreement between Broker and that Setter or Buyer. Compensation te payable upon Ctose Of Escrow, or if escrow does not dosp, as
oBrtrwise specified In the agreement between Broker and ftat Seter or Buyer.

B. SCOPE OF DUTY; Buyer and Setter acknowledge and agree that Brotor: (I) Does not dackte what price Buyer should pay or SeUer
should accept; (II) Does not guarantee the condition of the Proparty; (Hi) Does not guarantee the performance, adequacy or
con^teteness of inspecfiofis, senrices, products or repalts provided or made by Seller or others; (Iv) DOBS not have an obligafen to
conduct an inspsctton of common areas or apaas off Uie site of the Property; (v) Shall not be responsible for Wentitylng defects on ttie
Property, in common areas, or offeitB urtess such defects are visually obaeivabto by an inspacfion of reaaonably accesslbte areas oif
the Property or are known to Broker; (vl) Shall not be responsa)te for inspecting public records or peimlte concerning the title or use of
Property; ^H) ShaU not be responsible for ktentttylng the tocaUon of boundary Unes or other Hems affecdng titte; (vilt) Shall not be
fasponsibte for verifying aquare footage, representations of oftere or Information conteilned in InvasBgation reports. MuKipte Usting
Senrioe, advertisemants, flyere or othar proniottonal material; (te) Shall not be responsible for determining the fair market value of the
Property or any pereanad propeity induded in the sate; (x) Shall not be responstote for prcnddlng legal or tax afvlce regarding any
asped of a transaction entered Into by Buyer or S^er, and (xl) ShaB not be [esponstote for providing other advice or infoimatmn that
exceeds the knowledge, aducation and experience required to pBilomi real estate Bcensed actl\rity. Buyer and Setter agree to seek

legal, tax. Insurance, We and other desired assistance from appropriate profesaonate.
25. IffiPRESENTATIVE CAPACffY: If one or more Parties i» signing 'the Agreement In a representatiwB capadty and not for him/hersdf as an

individual then that Party shall so indteate In paragraph 37 or 38 and attach a Representathre Capacity Signature Disclosure (CAR. Form
RCSD). Wherever the s^nature or initials of <he rqiresentaUve identified in the RCSD appear on the Agreement or any related documarrts,
it shall be deemed to be ins representative capacity for the entity de&cribed and not in an ihdlvidual capaaty, unless ottieiwise bidhatBd.
The Party acting in a representative capacity (i) represents that the entity for which that party is ach'ng already exists and (ii) sha9 DeBver to
the other Party and Escrow Holder, within 3 Days After Acceptance, evidence of authority to act In that capacity (such aa but not limited to:
appllcabte portion of the trust or Certificab'on Of Trust (Probate Code §18100. 5), l&ttere testamentary, court older, power of attorney,
cwporate resolution, orfcmiatton documente of the busniess enUty).

26. JOINT ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS TO ESCROW HOLDER:
A. The fdlowing paragraphs, or apfit\caW9 portions thBreof, of this Agreement constitute the joint escrow instructtons of Buyer

and Ssltor to Escrow Hdctor, which Escrow HoMer is to use atong with any related counter offens and addenda, arid any addifional
inutual instructions to dose the escrow: paragraphs 1, 3, 4B, 6, 8, 7A, 8, 9, 12B, 18, 19G. 23, 24A, 2S. 28. 32, 35, 36, 37, 38 end
paragraph D of the section tided Real Estate Brokers on page 11. If a Copy of the Gsparate compensation agreement(s) provided for In
paragraph 24A, or paragraph D of the sectfon titted Real Estate Brokers on page TO is deposited with ESCTOW Holder by BnAer, Escrow
Holder shal accept such agre«nent{s} and. pay out from Buyer's or Seller's funds, or both, as applicable, the Broter's compensation
provkled for in such agnBement(s). The terms and cOTdlttens of fills Agreement not set forth in Uw specified paragraphs are additional
mattws for Vns Informgtton of Escrow Holder, but about whtoh Eficrow Holder need not be concerned. Buyer and Setter will receive
Escrow Holder's general proidslons, 'if any, dbectty from Escrow Holder and wi8 exacuta such provtstons within the Gme spsclfied In
paragraph 9B(1)(c). To the extent the general provtetons are Inconsistent or confltet with thte Affeement, the general provisions urin
control as to the duties and ebligatfons of Escrow Hokter onfy. Buyer and Setter w81 execute additional instnictions, documents and
forms provided by Escrow HoMer that are reasonably necessary to dose the escrow and, as directed by Escrow HoUer, within 3 (or

) Day, ahaH pay to Escrow Holder or HOA or HOA management company or others any fee required by paragraphs 9, 12 or
elsewhere in this Agreement

B. A Copy of this Agraement induding any countsr offer(8) and addenda shal be deliuenBd to Escrow Hoftter within 3 Days Aftar
Acceptance (or _ _). Buyer and Setter authorize Escrow Holder to accept and rely on Copies and
Signatures as defined In thte Agreement as origfnafe, to opan escnw and for other purposes of escrow. The validity of thte Agreement
as between Buyer and Seller (s not affectsd by whefter or when Escrow HoMer Signs thfe Agreement Escrow Holder ehal provide
Setter's Statement of Infionnaflon to Tltte company when received from Seller. If SeBer delivare an affidavit to Escrow HoMer to Batety
Solter's RRPTA obligaUon under paragraph 12B, Escrow HoUgr shal (teliwr to Buyef- a Qualified Substitute statwnBnt that complies
with federal Law.

C. Brokers are a party to the escrow for the sole puipose of compensation pursuant to patagraph 24A and paragraph D of the secUon
titled Real Estate Brokers on page 11. Buyer and SeBer Irrevocably assign to Brokere compensation spB dfjed in paragraph 24A, and

iirevocaMy Instruct Escrow HoMer to disburse those funds to Brokers at Close Of Escrow or pureuant to any other mirtually efficuted
cancellation agreement CompenBation instructions can be amended or revoked only with the written consent of Brokers. Buyer and
Seller shaH release and hold hanntess Escrow Holder from any liability FssutUng ft-om Escrow Holder's payment to Broker(s) of
compensation pursuant to this Agreement.

D. Upon receipt. Escrow Holder shall provide Seller and Seller's Broker verification of Buyer's deposit of funds pursuant to paragraph 3A
and 3B. Onoe Escrow Hokier becomes aware of any of the fblkwlng, Escrow Hohter Bhall Immediately noflty all Brokere: (i) if Buyei's
Initial or any additional deposit is rot made puisuant to this Agreement, or te not good at time of deposit with Escrow Holder or (ii) if
Buyw and Seller Instruct Escrow Holder to cancel escrow.

BuyW8lrftlate( ̂ p^-"K .
-J Seltei's InHials ( J(

VLPA REVISED-12/18 (PAGE 8 OF 11)
VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 8 OF 11)

Pnithndi«flhq>FonnBby2 !(ilaBl)t180TORItwnUtoRoad, FraMr, Mlchlaan4BQ28 wfM.s^s^x.aim Uirtm-



Date: ̂ ar«,-ft & MISProperty Address: AvsP^c-Sa-- APi^ S Qv7-2S-i-e36. £1 Gr&axis. C,\ S^»f3
E. A Copy of any amendment that affects any paragraph of this Agreanant for which Escrow Hokler is respon^bto shall be

delivered to Escrow Holder within 3 Days after muhial execution of the amendment
27. REMEDIES FOR BUYER'S BREACH OF CONTRACT:

A. Any clause added by the Parties apeeltylng a remedy (such ae release pr forfeHure of deposit or making a depoalt non-
refundable) for fallum of Buyer to complete the purchase In violation &f thte AgreBment shall be deemed Invalid unfws
the dausa Independently safisfise the statutory liquidated tiamages requlromente set forth in the ClvB Code.

B. UQUIDATED DABfiAGES; RBuyer faife to complete this purdiase because or Bvy^s defauH, S®Ber shaB reialn, as
liquidated damages, the deposit actually paM. Buyer and Sdter agree ttat this amount te a reasonable sum gh/en
that it is impractical or adremely diBRcuft to wtaUDsh the amount of damages that would actualy b® sufferad by
Sdter In the event Buyerwereto breach this /^reement Release of funds v/Sl require mutual, S^ned release instr
ucttons from both Buyer and Seller, Judicial decision or arbttraUon award. AT TIME OF ANY INCREASED DEPOSTT
BUYER AMD SELLER SHALL SIGN A SEPARATE UQUIDATED DAIMAGES PROVISION INCORPORATING TOE
INCREASED DEPOSTTAS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES (CA. R.FORfifl RID).

Buyer's Initials^'^T- /_ Seltei-s Inffii /

28. DISPUTE RESOLUTION:
A. BIEMATION: The Parties agree to mediafs any dispute or daim arising between them out of tiite Agreement, or any resulting

transaction, before resorting to arbitration or court action through tf»e CAR. Consumer Medtatton Center (www.
coneumennedladon. orB) or through any o er mediation provider or service muhially agreed to by the Parties. The Parties
also agma tn mediate any disputes ar claims with Bn>tor(s), who, in wrltlnfl, agree to such mediation prior to, or within
a reasonable time after, th® iBsputo or claim la prewntad to the Broker. JUIediation fBes, if any, shall be divided equally
among the Parties involved. If, for any dispute or daim to whteh this paragraph applies, any Party (i) commences an action
without flret attempUng to resolve the matter through mediation, or (ii) before commencement of an acUon, reRises to mediate
after a request has been made, then that Party shaB not be enGUe'd to recover attorney fees, even If they woukJ otherwise be
available to that Party in any such action. THIS MEDIATION PROVISION APPLIES WHETHER OR NOT THE ARBITRATION
PROVISION IS INITIALED. Exdualona from Ihia mediation agroenwntare speclfled In paragraph 28C.

B. ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES:
The ParUes agree that any dispute or claim in Law or equity arising betumen them out of Uite Agreement or any rosulting
transacUon, which is not settled thnwigh mediation, shall be decided by neutnsd, binding arbttntion. The Parties also
agree to arbitrate any disputes or claims with Brokerfs), who, In writing, agne to auch arbttration prior to, or vrithln a
reasonable .time after, the dispute or claim Is presented to the Broker. The arbitrator shall be a retired Judge or Justice. or
an attorney writh at leart 8 yeare of transacdonal real estate Law expertonc*, unless the parties mutually agree to a
different arbitrator. The Parties shall have the right to dlscoveiy to accordance with Cods of Civil Procedure S1283^»S. In
afl other respects, the arbitration shall be conducted In accordance wtth TKIe 9 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
Judgment upon tte award of the arbftrat6r(s) may be entered Into any court having Jurisdiction. Enfereement of this
agmemwit to arbltnata shall be governed by the Federal Artrftratton Act Exclusions from this arbElwCon asnement aro
specified in paragraph 28C.

"NOTICe: BYINITIAUNG IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE ARISING
OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE 'ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES' PROVISION DECIDED BY
NEUTRAL ARBITRATION AS PROVIDED BY CAUFORNIA LAW AND YOU ARE GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS
YOU MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE THE DISPUTE LFTIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL. BY INITIALING IN
THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE GIVING UP YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL,
UNLESS THOSE RIGHTS ARE SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED IN THE 'ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES'
PROVISION. IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS PROVISION, YOU
NIAY BE COMPEU.ED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL
PROCEDURE. YOUR AGREEMENT TO THIS ARBITRATION PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY."

"WE HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO SUBMIT DISPUTES ARISING OUT
OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE 'AI^RTTRATION OF DISPUTES' PROVISION TO NEUTRAL AJiBTTRATION."

Buyer's Ini Setter's Initials /

C. ADDITIONAL MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION TERN»:
(1) EXCLUSIONS; The following mattere are excluded from mediation and arbltnatloh: (I) a Judicial or non-judtelal

foreclosure or other action or procwdlng to enforce a dwd of trust, mortgage or installment tend sale contract
as defined in CMI Code 52985; (II) an uidawful detainer action; and (lit) any matter that Is within the Jurisdicflwi
of a probate, small claims or bankruptcy court.

(2) PRE^RVATION OF ACTIONSi.Thc fWlowlng ahatl not constitute a waiver nor violation of flie mediation and
arbitration provteiom; (1)  e flUng of a court action to preeerve a atatute of llmltaUons; (It) die filing <rf a court
action to anabto the recording of a notice of pending acUon, for order of attachment, »aceiverehip, tnjunctlon, or
other pravirtenal ramediw; orflll) the flMng of a mechanic's lien.

(3) BROKERS: Brokers shall not be obllgatwl nor compelled to madiata or ariaitrafB unlBM they agme to do so in
writing. Any Brokers) parttctpattng In mediation or arbitration shall not ba dBemftd a party to ttie Agreement

29. SELECTION OF SERVICE PROVIDERS; Brokers do not guarantee the performance of any vendore. service or product providers
('Providsre"), whetfier referred by Broker or selected by Buyer, SeBer or other person. Biyer and Setter may select ANY Providers
of their own 5t»oosing.

Buver-BlnHiaIs/^^V-- )( 1 Seller's InWats (
VLPA 12rt8{PA6E90F11)

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 9 OF 11)
PndinedwtthzlpFtmiitityzlpLogh 180701'meenMI* Road, Fiasef. tUchlaanWKB «nw»-2lBi.w)>i.ufm

J{ J

Htotw



^swh y^, ypf'jProperty Acklress: ̂ w.cefcfe-_A^ ̂  ̂ '".2eM(5(?, ff/OraHS'^. C,i 9.5<?//.^
30. MULTIPLE USTIMG SERWCE ("aiLS"): Brokere are authorized to report to the MLS a pending sate and, upon Close Of Escrow,

the sates price and other tsmis of this transaction shall be provided to the MLS to be published and disfieminated to persons and
entities authorteed to use the Information on tenns approvBd by the MLS.

31. ATTORNEY FEES: In any action, proceeding, or arbitration between Buyer and Seter arising out of this Agreement, the prevaUIng
Buyer or Setter shaff be entfSed to reasonable attorneys fees and costs from the noi^prevailing Buyer or Seller, waept as provided
in paragraph 28A.

32. ASSIGNITCOT: Buyer shal mrt ass^n a8 or any p^ of Buyei's interest in this/^emsrt wahout first tenrirg otferined the writtai cmsent
of Seller. Such consatf shal not be unreasonably wlthheM uriess qthenrise agreed In writng. Any totel or partial assignment shall not
retfeve Buyer of Buyw'B obllgatfons pureuant to this Agreemenf untesa othenmaa agreed in writing by Sella-(CAR. Ram AOAA).

33. EQUAL HOUSttlG OPPORTUNrTY: The Property Is sokl hi compliance with federal, state and tocal antWiscrfminaUon Laws.
34. TERGSS AW> CONDmONS OF OFFER: This is an offer to purchase the Property on the above terms and condlttone. Tha

liquidated dynages paragraph, or the arbitratton of disputss paragraph is Incorporated in tNs Agreement if initiated by all Partiaa or
ff incoiporsted by mutual agreement in a counteroffer or addendum. If at least one but not all Parties iititel, a counter offer is
required unUI agreemwrt Is reached. SeBBr has the right ta continue to offer the Property for sate and to accept any othar offer at
any ttne prior to notificatkm of Accqrtance. Buyer has read and acknowledges recent of a Cspy of the offer and agrees to the
confirtnatton of agency rdattonsh^n. If Biis after te acceptad and Buyw subsequently defaults. Buyer may be responsibJB for
payment of Bnrirers' compensation. .This Agreemant and any supplement, addendum or modification, indutfng any Copy.. may be
Signad In two or mom counhNparts, aU of which shatl oonsttute one and the 'eane willing.

36. TIME OF ESSENCE; ENTIRE CONTRACT; CHANGES: Time IB of the essence. AN uncteretandlngs between the Parties are
Incorporated hi fha Agreement KB terms am fntended by the Parties aa a flnal, complete and eiahislv® expression of their
Agreanent wrfth respect to its subjsct matter, and may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or contemporaneous
oral agmenwrt. If any provision of this Agrewnent te heU to be hieffertlve or invelld, tha remaining pro>rislons vrill nevBrthetess be
gimn full fbree and effect Except as otherwise specified, this ̂ reenr>ent shall be interprated and disputes shall be resolved in
accordance wth the Laws of the State of California. Neither this AgreBment nor any pnnriBion In it may be extended, amBnded,
modffted, aKerod or chai^ad, axMpt in writing Signed by Buyer and Seller.

38.  FINITK)NS: As used in ttte Agiroment;
A. "Acceptance" means the time the offer or final countw offer is accepted In writing by a Party and is deBvBred to and pBfsonally

reoehfKl by the other Party or that Party's authorized agent in accordance with the terms. of this offer or a final counter offer.
B. "Agroement" means tMs docunent and any counter offere and any incorporated addenda, collectively (bnning the bindmg

agreement between the Parties. Addenda are incorporated only whsn Signed by all Parties.
C, "CAJL Fonn" maans the most current version of the Bpedfic form refensnced or andhercomparabteftiim agreed to by flw parlies.
D. "Clow Of Escrow" means the date the grant deed, or other evktence of transfer oftttte, is recorded.

"Copy" means copy by any means including photocopy, NCR, faceimite. and electronic.
"Day" means calendar days. However, after Accqitanoe, 9\e test Day for perfoimanoe of any act required by this Agreement
(induding Close Of Escrow) shall not indude any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday and shall instead t» the next Day.

G. "Days Aftei" nneans the specified number of calendar days after the occurrence of fte event spedfled, not counting the
calendar date on wWch the specified event occurs, and ending at 11:59 PM on the final day.

H. "Ctaye Prioi" means the spedfled number of calendar days before the occurrence of the event spedfled, not counting the
calendar date on which tiw specified event to scheduled to occur.

1, "Delher", "Dcltvsred" or "DBlhwiy", unless othemflse spwified in writing, means and shall be Bfltoctiw upon: personal
receipt by Buyer or Seller or the Indh/klual Real Estate Ucensee for that prtusipal as specified 'm the sscfion titled Real Estate
Brokers on page11, regardtess of the method used (I.e., messengsr, mail, email, fax, other).
"Electronic Copy" or "Bectronlc SignatU " means, as applicabte, an electrora'c copy or s^nature complying with California
Law. Buyer and Seller agree that etectronte means wS not be used by either Party to modify or aHer the content or integrity of
this Agreement wrtthout the knowledge and consent of the other Party.
"Law" niBans any tew, code, statite. ordinance, regulation, rule or. onfer. whtoh fe adopted by a controlling dty, county, state or
federal teglslathre, Judfclal orexecutivs body or agancy.

L "Repairs" means any repaira (aiduding pest control), alterations, replacements, modfficatione or refroffiUng of the Property
provided for under this Agraemerrt,

M. "Slgnstf* means either a handwritten or ete.ctrohic elgntrtups on an original document, Copy or any countBrpart.
37. EXPIRATION OF OFFER: This offer shall be deemed revoked and the deposit, If any, shaU be netuiriBd to Buyer unless the offer is

S^ned by Seller and a Copy of the Signed o erte^Srconally recewed by Buyer, or by
who is authorized to recede It, by 5:0

Jd . ).
Q One or more Buyere b signing A^re lent In 'representative capacity and not for him/herself as an individual. See attached
Representative Capacity Signa Dlsclo re(CA . FonnRCSD-B) for additional tenmB.
Date - t. *< BUYER
(Mnt name) &»n Mf-fao
Date_BUYER
(Print name)

E.
F.

J-

K.

on the t^lrd Day after thte offer te signed by Buyer (or by AM/UPM. on

arbo D ct h JohnMoren

attacted (CAR. Foim ASA).

VLPA REVISED 12/18 (PAGE 10 OF 11» Seflertlni8d8( J<
VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PACE 10 OF 11)

PreducBd dpRimi»t>ydplo8i)(1W71>FIflwiWlleRt>«il, Fi»sar, MlcNaanW128 »m>AiLB?lK.f Hwlwr



Property Address: w/a rc. aofr AW « e47-^i-Q3G_ El Gfasw^s. CA S40V3 Date: «y&->-eA 26 S6'if,
38. ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER: Seller warfanteltiert Seller is the owner of the roperty, or has the authority to execute s Agreeinent

Seller accepts the above offer and agrees to sell the Property on  e above terms and coiidltions, and agrees to <he above
confirmatton of agency relationships. Seller has read and acknowledges receipt of a Copy of this Agnsement, and auUiorizes
Broker to Deliver a Signed Copy to Buyer.
D (ff dwcked) SELLER'S ACCB'TANCE IS SUBJECT TO ATTACHED COUNTER OFFER (CAR. Fomi SCO or SMCO) DATED:

Q One or more Sdtere is signing the Agreement in a representative capatily and not for hlm/hereelf as an Individual. See attached
itive Capacity Signatory Disctogqre/CAR. Form RCSD-S) fbraddttfonal terms.

Date ̂ /</hf SELLER
(Print n&m^
Date SELLER
<Printname)

QAcklitionaI Signature Addendum attached (CAR. Form ASA).
(Do not Initial if making a countar offer. ) CONFIRMATION OF ACCEPTAMCE: A Copy of Signed Acceptance was

sonaljy recehred by Buyer or Buyer's authorized agent on (date) at
JAM/ U PM. A binding Agreement is created whan a Copy of Signed Acceptance Is personally received by

Buyer or Buyert authorized agent whethBr or not conflnned In this docuinenfc Completton of thi8
confirmation Is not legally required In ordar to cnate a Wndlng Agreement It Is solely Intanded to evidence
the date that Confirmation of Acceptance has occurred.

REAL ESTATE BROKERS:
A. Real EsW» Brokers are not parties to the Agreement between Buyer and Seller.
S. Agency rataUonshlps are confirmed as atatad In paiagraph 2.
C. If speufied m paragraph 3A[2), Agent who submlftBd flie offer tor Buyer admowledges receipt of depoelt
D. COOPERATINO (BUYER'S) BROKER COMPENSATION: SeBefs Broker agrees to pay Buyer's Bnriwr and Buyefs Broker agrees

to accept, out of Seller's Bnrt<er^ proceeds In escrow, the amount spedfled In the MLS, provided Buyer's Broker is a Partia'pant of
the MLS in whfch the Property » offered for eate or a reciprocal MLS, If Seller's Broker arid Buyer's Broker are not both Participants
of the MLS, or a recipnoca[MLS.jn which the Property is offered far sate, then compensation must be spedfied in a separate written
agreement (CAR. Form CBC). Declaration of License and Tax (CAR. Form DLT) may be used to document thai tax" reporting wffl
be required or that an exemption existe. .

E. PRESENTATION OF OFFER: Pursuant to Standard of Practice 1-7, If BuyeTs Broker makes a written request, SeUers Broker shall
confirm In wrtfing that this offer has been presented to Seller.

Buye»'s Brokerage Flhii7t;."ner»ea; Estate ____.. _ ORE Uc. #ef32-?fi32
By,
By:
Address «OM Cabrfllo HI hwa ; ^613
Tetaphone  50726-r:33 FaM. (8887'f4-342K
Seller's Brokerage imn CoMw^ll Banker
By
By
Address T. Z.OO
Telephone fcSp -JZ& Utft Fax &?

Brer.t Turner ORE Lie; #00933535'
DRE Uc. #

City^ff£4oon Be
E-mail bren . fealestate. nei

Date
Date
State j£g_ZpS^S_

DREU&ff.
DRE -c.#

City
E-mail

oAY-'tf??
-oT^-
WK

7/&7"

. <AV

DREUc. #_
Date
Date
Steite C^

c-l^norc

<<7d»^C
73"

6Y<7d»^0<y

?/l//*r
^ eft

.
).

ESCROW HOLDER ACKNOWLED6UENT:
Escrow Holder acknowtedges receipt of a Copy of this Agreement. (If chected, Q a deposit h the amount of $
counter offer numbers ~ D Sefer's Statement of Jnfomwtton and

, and agrees to act as Escrow Holder subject to paragraph 26 of this Agreement, any
supplemental escrow InsfrucUona end the terms of Escrow HoMei's geneial provisions.
Escrow HoMer is advised that BIB date of Conffimatton ol Acceptance of the Agreement as betvwen Btyer and SeBerIs.
EacrowHoMer Escrow#_
By Date ~
Addreaa
Phone/Fax/EfliiaU
facnw Holder has the following license number #
D Depatmenl of Business Ovaslght D Department <rf Insurance. .Department of al Estate.
PRESENTATION OF OFFER! (,

REJECTION OF OFFER:
Broker or De . nee Initiate

seller's Brolar presented (Ms offer to Seller on

Bert
1 No counter offer la being made. This offer was rejected by Seller on.

(date).

.
(date).

©1986-2018, California AsBodrtton of REALTORS®, tnc. Utfltsd StatBS copyright law (TWe 17 U.S. Cotto) forbids Ihe unauthmfced dtoWbufion. -dtoptey and repwduellon of
ulte roItn'-OTany portion thereof, by photocopy machine »siy other mwn», iridudlne feeainine or computerteed ftnmatB.
THIS. FWM .HAS-BEEN.APPROWD.BY THE CAUFORNIA ASSOCIATION OP REALTORS® (CAR.). NO REPReSENTATtON IS MADE AS TO THE LEGAL VALIDITy
o?-]'UCCURACYPF-ANY_PROIy(SION IN ANYSPECIRC TRANSACTION. A REAL ESTATE'BRO R 18 THE PERSON QOALIFIED TO ADVISE QN'REAL'ESTATE
TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LEOAL OR TAX ADVICE, CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROPESSIOflAL.

PublteihetKindDiBWbttedby: Buyert Acknowledgejbjt page 11 It imt of
REAL ESTATE BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
a su6s*Jtefyo/(ha CAUFORMA ASSOCIATION OF RBM.7VRS®

^'M^^^w^m^r^wffl'
ttte Agnemertt ( /Tl^-" t (

,,a.T»5H(1

VACANT LAND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (VLPA PAGE 11 OF 11)
ProdueedwiaizlpFannBbyilplolx 1807DFffiBenMlteRoad, Fca»er, MichIg 'H02t www. rioLcabusnm



CALIFORNIA BUYER'S VACANT LAND ADDITIONAL INSPECTION
ASSOCIATION ADVISORY
OFREALTOK.S® (&A.R. Form BVUA, 11rt3)

Property Address: Ay.3^<H*>'a. Af^iSCi7-^-S-930. £tGrati'!<ia CM ^'WIS
.

rP ropsrty").

A. IMPORTANCE OF PROPERTY INVESTIGATION; The physical condition of the tand and improvmnentB being purohased is not
guaranteetl by etther SeUer or Brokers. For this reason, you should conduct thoroigh Investigations of the Property personalty and with
professionals who shoutel provkte written reports of their Investigations. A genentf phyelcal Inspection typically does not cover an
aspects of the Property nor items affecting the ftoperty that are nrt phystesdly located on the Property. If the profesatonBb recommend
ftirther iiwasttgaUons, including a recommendation by a pest control operator to inspect inaccessible areas of the Property, you should
contact qtalifed everts to conduct audi addib'wal invwdgations. AdcBtonally, some inspections, wjch BB those listed below, may be
of particular Importance when purchasing vacant land.

B. BUYER WOHTS AND DUTIES: You have an afBrmatlvs duty to exerdte reasonable care to protect youreetf, including discove»y
ofth8 legal, pracScal and (echnfcal implhsitrons of disclosed facts, and the Investigation and verfficatton of informatfon and feels that
you know or that are within your dBigent attention and observation. The purchasB agreement gives you the right to InvBstigats the
Property. If you exsrctee thte right, and you shouW. you must do so h accordance with the terms of that agreement This is  e best
way for you to proted yourself. It Is exbwnely important for you to read aff written naporte provided by profeesfonafe and to discuss the
results of InspecUons with the professloned who conducted the fnspecfion. You have the right to request that Setter mate waws,
correcBons or teke other action based upon items discovered In your investigattons or disctosed by SeBer. If Seller Is unwiBino or
uhabte to satisfy your requests, or you do not want to purchase the Property in to dudosed and discovered rt)ndjtk>n, you have the
right to cancel the agmwnent If you act wHhin specific time periods. If you do not cancel the agreement in a Uinely and proper manner.
you may be in breach of contract

C. SELLER RIGHTS AND DUTIES: Seller is required to disctosa to you material fecte known to hhn/her that affect the value or
desirability of the Property. However, SeBer may not to aware of some Property dBfacts or conditions. Seller does not have an
obligation to inspect the Property for your benefit nor is Setter obligated to repair, correct or otherwise cure known defects that are
disclosed to you or pr&vfousty urimown defects that are discovered by you or your hspectors during esw»w. The purchase aflreement
obligates SeBerto make the Property avaBable to you for investigations.

D. BROKER OBLIGATIONS: Brokers do not have expertise in all areas and therefore cannot advise you on many items, such as aoU
stability, fleotogfe or environmental conditions, Hazardous pr Bl^al controUed substances, structural conditions of the foundation or
other improvCTnents, or the condition of the roof, (Aindring, heatiig, air conditioning, electrical, sewer, septic, wasts disposal, or other
system. The onty way to acwnately detsnnine the condition of the Property is through an inspecb'on by an appropriate professional
selected by you. If Broker gives you referrals to such professionals, Broker does not guarantee their performance. You may Batect any
professional of your chooshig. If you haw entered hto a written agreement with a Brotcer, the spexffic terms of that agreement wa'l
cl^ermlne the nature and extent of that Broket's duty to yw. YOU ARE STRONOLY ADVISED TO INVESTIGATE THE'CONDmON
AND SUrTABIUTY OF ALL ASPECTS OF THE PROPERTY. IF YOU DO NOT DO SO. YOU ARE ACTING AGAINST THE ADVICE OF
BROKERS.

E. YOU ARE ADVISED TO CONDUCT INVESTIGATIONS OF THE ENTIRE PROPERTY, INCLUDING. BUT NOT UMITED TO THE
FOLLOWING;

1. RNANCE: Ffnantang tte purchase of vacant land finance and espedally financing construction toans for Uw mprovwnent
of vacant land ran provide particular chsrftehgw, including subonBnatton agnsemente and fnsuranoe requirements. Buyer is
advised to eeekthe assistance of reputable tenders In assistance with their decisions regarding (inandng of the property.'

2. CONSTRUCTION COSTS: If Buyer is contemplating buBdlng Improvements on the property, Buyer te advised that they wffl
have to contact directly any oantractoFB. service providws, suppliers, arehitects, utility companies r^arding the coafet .of

improvements; Buyer ie advised to get written bids from all such'peraons regaidlng their decteion to dewlqp the property.
3. unUTIES: Unimproved property may or may not have utilities availabte to the property. Buyers) Is ad^sed to bhtain

inftmnation from the pubflc or private utlBty provkter about the availabiBty and costof'provkling'uliBties to tt» property and
whether necessary easements are In place to allow such utiHties to the property.

4. ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEY: Unimproved land may have had or may have hazardous materids stored upon or under the
land or been used by persons engaged in actMfies exposing the land to hazardous materiate. The land may also be host to
protected vegetation or animal life. Buyers) fe adtrfsed tb satisfy themaehres as what hazards or protectad plant or animal
Me are on the property and what Impact they may have on Buyer's future plans for the property by seeldng the help of a
qualified professional.

Buyw-a Initialst^- Jf Seltei's Initials (

e 2013. California Assoctaflon of REALTORS®, Inc.

BVUAW13(PAGE10F2)
BUYERS VACANT LAND ADDITIOMAL INSPECTION ADVISORY BVUA PAGE 1 OF 2

nnnltulBtto, NN. C«WIK>H>v. <KI3&irMl>MBAyCA9WW _ . .. _. _ .. _ _ _ . Hmit: «t7Mll» F«X:M«T«KW
Vimiruav ProitWdwlthzbFwmBlwailffltX iaD71)Rftc8nMlleRo^naw. Mlehl!m4BaM wmAiAituinm

 ^



Property Address:.̂ ysi'orf^- APi\<#Sf~f-?Si-S£0 SlGfafiasSf. CA si^3f8 Date:

6.

NATURAL HAZARDS REPORTS; Buyer(s) is advised that while certain dfectosures am required by state, federal and local tews,
hazard disclosure companies can provide addiUonal disclosures for both nBtaral and man-made hazards or nuisances for a cost.
Buyer Is advised to seek the advfoe of a natural hazards reporting company reganling additional reports and disclosures that
buyer may wish to obtain.

SUBDIVISION OF THE PROPERTY; If Buyer's plans include future subdivision of the property (whether under the Subdhrfsion
Map Act of  e SubcHvlded Lands Law) multiple, complex issues regarding dty. county, state, and federal laws may be presented.
Buyer is strongly advised to seek the advice of Calitomia legal counsel famiUar wi  faderal, state and local subdivision
requirements.

Buyer and Seller acknowledge and agree that Broker: (i) Does not dedde what price Buyer should pay or Seller shouU. accept; (11)
Does not guarantee ttie condffion of the Property; (IB) Does not guarantae flie periormance, adequacy or completeness of
Inspections, seivices, products or repairs provided or made by Seller or others; (Iv) Does not have an obligation to conduct an
Inspection of common ansas or areas off the site of the Property; (v) Shall not be responsible for Uentftying defecte on the
PropB rty, In common areas, or offete untess such ctefecte are visually observable by an inspection of reasonably accessible areas

of the Property or are known to Broker; (vi) Shall net be responsible for inspecUr^i public records or permits concerning the Ufie or
use of Property; (vll) Shall not be reBponslble for identifying the locab'on of boundary lines or other tems affecb'ng titlB; (vlil) Shall
not be responsible ft>r vailylng square footage, representations of others or infoimatkm contained hi Invesflgatlon reports, Multiple
Usting Service, advertisements, flyere or other promotional material; (Ix) Shall not be responsible for providing legal or tax advice
regarding any aspect of a transaction entered into by Buyer or SeUar; and (x) Shall not be responsible for .providing other advice or
Information that exceeds the knowledge, educafion and experience required to perform real estate licensed activity. Buyer and
Seller agree to seek legal, tax, Insurance, title and other desired assistance from approprtats professlonab.

By signing below, Buyer and Seller each acknowledge that they have sead, underefand, accept and have recdved a Copy of
this Adviaoiy. Buyer Is eneoungod to read It careftilly.

SELLER Date

SELLER Date

BUYE
tin ty Hsrfsw DSsfrfci by Jafe-i fe?o?'en

Date '^-''9

BUYER Date

® ZD13, Cdiftmh AssodaBnn of REALTORS®, Inc. Unfed Stateo coByrfght tew fnto 17 U.S. Cotto) (oiblifc fhe unauUnifeBd dlatrihutlon, daflgy and rwioducton of this fonn, w
any portion thereof, by photaeopy madttne or any olhw mBans, Induding facsimile or computaibed formats.
THIS FORM HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE WUFORNIA ftSSOCIKtmii OF REALTORS® (CAR. ). NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE LEGAL VAUCTTY OR
ACCURACY OF ANY PROVISION. IN ANY SPECIFIC TRANSACTION. A REAL ESTATE BROKER IS THE PERSON QUALIFIED TO ADVISE ON REAL ESTATE
TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE, CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL.

user at a REALTOR®. R&U.TOR® te a raglrtBtad cBltoethw nwmbttshlp mark which may ba uwd only by mwnbero arihfi NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® who
subseribe to te Coda of BhiM.

Published and Distributed by:
; ' I RBU. EOTATEBttJSJNESS SERVICES. INC.
"I a subshSwyafttw C^omla Assodatlen of REALTORS®
.^J* 525 South VBgB Awnue, Los Angetes, California 90020

BVUA 11M3 (PAGE 2 OF 2)

BUYER'S VACANT LAND ADDITIONAL INSPECTION ADVISORY (BW.IA PAGE 2 OF 2)
PniAiBgdii|tth2lpFonn»by»lpLogb<1B170RffenMlaRBad, Fra«er, Mtchlgan4K® www.dnLadlitam Hutm



BALANCE SHEET

SMCHD

Asofi 4/30/2019

Fund: 100 . GaieralI'und-Mixed Activity

LiaWities

110.005 Petty Cash
110.018 Local Agoicy investment Fund
110.019 San Mfltao County Investmcmt
110.026 Oporating-USBarik
110.027 Payroll-US Bank
110.040 Accounts Receivable - OPM
110.042 Accounts Receivable - PPH

110.044 DBAWSAVE/RmdAssistRec.
110.140 Allowance for Bad Debt-OPM
110. 142 ABowanceforBadDd>t-PPH
110. 150 Prepaid Expenses
110. 152 Prepaid Postage
110.154 Prepaid Insurance
110. 155 Prepaid Woricers Comp Insurance
110. 156 Prepaid CalPERS UAL
110.181 SECURITY DEPOSrT-504ALHAMBRA
115.000 Defened Outflows
120.079 Construction In Progress
145.000 ADMINFfated Assets
146.000 ADMIN Accumulated Depreciation
147.000 OPM Fixed Assets
148.000 OPM Accumulated DepreciatioD
149.000 PPHFfated Assets
150.000 KPH Accumulated Depreciation
153.000 FPH Land

Total Assets

210.055 Accrued LiabHities
210.064 Accrued PTO;S/Ld>TO-OT
210.068 Customer Ptepaids-PPH
210.069 Customer Prepaids-OPM
210.070 Cust-DeDosit Payable-OFM
210.071 Cust. Depoait Payable-PPH
210.089 Deferred Revenue-Current <lyr
210.095 Lonsevity Benefit Payable
210.096 R5A PAYABLE
210.100 GASB 68 PensionLiabflity
215.000 Deferred Inflows
220.050 WETA Deferred Rev-Dod Loss

Total LiabiUties
Reserves/Balances

300.410 District Office Reserve
300.750 Payables Reserve
300.800 Customer Dcposite & Prepayment
300. 850 Temiination Benefit Liab. Res
30Q.900 Unassifined Reserve

1

4/4/2019
1:52 pm

Balances

2^50.00
7,169.48

16,655,061. 61
1,418, 178.71
-232,000.91
132,895.59
348^33.18

67,561.56
-94,716. 12

.141^71.77
14,614.58
5,014.37

59,620.79
53,843.91

185,097.50
21,000.00

1,628,501.00
641,505.84

13,847.06
-2, 192.41

25,096^44. 46
-16^42.159.94
20,417,875.91

-12,559,465.03
1 81,02033

50,578,329.7

415,000.00
280,75735
170,024.60
36,580.56

109,162. 14
254,021.92
28^36. 38

2,527,570.00
-221.90

5,012, 109.00
184,635. 00

2,994,545.36

12,012,420.41

1^26,217.00
527,016.59
629,939. 51

2,527,570.00
11,394^97.03



BALANCE SHEET

SMCHD

2

4/4/2019
1:52 pm

As o£ 4/30/2019 Balances

Fund: 100-General Ftmd-MixedArtivity
Reservesi®a]ances

390.000 Fund Balance
398.000 Change In Fund Balance

Total Reserves/Balances

Total Liabilities & Balances

23^81,71724
-1,420, 848.08

38,565,909^9

50,578,329.70



CALIFORNIA
^T, ASSOCIATION
'. r OF RE ALTOR-S"

ADDENDUM
(CJUl. Fonn Mm, ItcvlMd 12n6) No. ^

The foBowfrig temiB and conditions arejiereby incorporated (n and made a part of Uw: @ Purchase Agreement, Q ResWenUal Lease
or Month-tichWarth Rental Agreeinent, D Transfer Disclosure Statement (Note: An amendment to the IDS may gh® the Buyer a right
to rescind). [] Other - '__'
dated £iSi, fcii^9 2019 , on property known as AvePosioh-ft!£i!-3ff04?-?, S1-93C

SKiranada OA 94016
in which SantttatesCt Hsrbor£»sirh'£ b JotinSSc-rvn te referred to as rB iiyerfTenanP)
and is raferred to as C'Selter/Landhxd"),

if. #8- GonWt ^fis. ?«- aivs'n board a .-ova/?sAc;3fc-rsn?o'/od

The foregoing terms and oofiditions are hereby agreed to, and the undersigned acknowledge receipt of a copy of this document
... -.'' . ^

Date "/- \~-'<'i ' Date ^
/ ' . ''

Buyer/Tensnt (^ ..-'^--s-... . - Selter/Landlont
San friafso Cty HarbwDwirict by Jolin Ki-.'w

Buyer/Tenant SeIter/Landtonl

» 198fr2015, CalgbrriaAswcteion of REALTORS®, Inc. Unaed Statet copy^hl taw fTltto 17 U.S. Code) toUds UIB unauthorized diatribution, dhptoy and wprodudion of
thi» feim, or any porthm ttereof, by photocopy machine or any ofter mwiw. .Indudina facslnilte w computwfaed fomnata.
THIS FORM HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE CAUFORN1A ASSOCIATON OF REALTORS® (CAR. ). NO REPRESEfiTTATlON IS MADE A6 TO THE LEGAL VALIDffY
OR ACCURACY OF ANY PROVISION IN ANY WECIFtC TRANSACTION. A REAL ESTATE BROKER IS THE PERSON QUALIFIED TO ADVISE ON REAL ESTATE
TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE, CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL
This fann IB made avallaUe to I^M^ proftetfcnA fiuuujh M agrBement wUh or pim^se ftnm Iha CaBtornl* Atmcfatton d REALTOR
fte uswas a REALTOR®. REALTOR® is a registered coBecSw mainbereWp marit which may be used only by manibefw of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®
who eubsaBia to fe Coda nf Ethlea,

.171 PuyishedandDisttaiutedby:
REAL ESTATE BUSINESS SERVICES. INC.
aBufaWayofffwCaffbnTfoAwBE/BttinoffiEAtrORS®
SB5 South Vifga Avenue, Uw Angakn, CalBtomta BOOZO

ADffi EtEVISE012/16 (PAGE 1 OF 1)
ADDENDUM ADM PAGE 1 OF 1

.nuBerBnlBrtite, »3lC«liraiaany.(Ka31IdfWtooiiBA)iCA»41U9 WSMW. SSfJMlUS Fai:»B7443«w
Bnntnncr PnxluoediillhzlpFonnlbyztito^x ISOyOFmwnMltoRatd, FnBT. MIctlItai480» vHHy^pLaffit^w

Bntrnr



\F

;^ CALIFORNIA
^. ASSOCIATION

OF REALTOR. S®
POSSIBLE ̂ PRESENTATION QF MORE THAN ONE BUYER

OR SELLER - DISCLOSURE AND CONSENT
(CAR. Form PRB8. Revteed 1»18)

A real estate broker (Broker), whether a corporation, partnershp or sole proprietorship, msy represent more than one buyer
or seller. This multiple representation can occur through an indhridual licensed as a broker or salesperson or through different
indh/iduat broker's or salespersons (assoctete licensees) acting under the Broker's Ifcense. The associate licensees may be
working out of the same or different office tocatlons.
Multiple Buyers: B.roker (individually or through its associate licensees) may be working with many prospective buyers at
flie saine tune. These prospective buyers may have an interest in, and make offers on, the same properties. Some of these
properties may be listed with Broker and some may not Broker will not limit or restrict any particular buyer from making an
offer on any particular property whether or not Broker represents other buyers interested in the same property.

Multiple Sellers: Broker (individually or through its associate licensees) may have listings on many properties at the same
Um®. As a result, Broker wiB attempt to find buyers for each of those listed properties. Some listed properties may appeal to
the same prospective buyers. Some properties may attract more prespectwe buyers than others. Some of these prospective
buyers may be represented by Broker and some may not Broker wiH market alt listed propetttes to all prospective buyers
whether or not Broker has another or other listed pn^erties that may appeal to the same prospective buyers.

Dual Agency: If Seller is represented by Broker, Seller acknowledges that broker may represent prospecUve buyers
of Seller's property and consents to Broker acting as a dual ag&nt for both seller and buyer in that transaction. If Buyer
is presented by Broker, buyer acknowledges that Broker may represent setters of property that Buyer is interested in
acquiring and consents to Broker acting as a dual agent for both buyer and setter with regard to that property.
In the event of dual agency, seller and buyer agree that: a dual agent may not, without the express permisston of the
respective party, disdose to the other party confidential infbrmatton, including, but not limited to, facts relating to either the
buyer's.or seller's financial positjon, moUvations, bargaining position, or other personal information that may impact price,
including the seller's wiBingness to accept a price less than the listing price or the buyer's wllingness to pay a price
greater than the price offered; and except as set forth above. a dual agent is obligated to disdose known facts materially
affecting the value or desirabaity of the Property to both parties.
Offers not necessarily conffdential: Buyer is advised Oiat seller or listing agent may disdose the existence, terms, or
conditions of buyer's offer unless aU parties? and their agent have signed a written confidentiality agreement. Whether any such
information Is actually disctosed depends on many factors, such as currant .market conditions, (he prevailing practice in the real
estate community, the listing agent's marketing strategy and the instructions cf the setter.

Buyer and seller understand that Broker may represent more than one buyer or more than one seller and even both buyer
and seller on the same transacUpn and consents to such relatfonships.

Seller and/or Buyer acknowledges reading and understanding this Possible Representation of More Than One
Buyer or S fer-D ure and Consent and agrees to the agency posslbilltiw disclosed.
Seller
SeHer

; ».
Date ^/H

Buyer
Buyer

Buyer's B erage Finn Turner rtsal Estavs
By\

Srs TUM3S-
Seller's k rage frm C^di^slf 3an]s f

By

SSe-'s;' &»E> Cly He-^svrE^tiSci w Je'iin f'ei'an

PRE Lie #0^321833
DREUc#90@33C35-

-M. /^
Date

Date.
Date"

^
DRE Lie # _°/M3^^ Date
DRE Lie #o^zHIl Date

oi^&fl&f

^ Sft

® 2018. Cfllffomb Awodaton of REALTORS®, Inc. Untod Stalw copyright law (Tite 17 U.8. Code) fortada thB unaulhDriaeii dtebflHrfon, dtoplay and mproduclton of Ihf* fctm,
or any portion thereof, hy photocopy machine or any o w meant, Indudinfl facalmlto orcomputwlaaxt tomwte.
THIS FORM HAS BEEN APPROWD BY THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® <CAR.). NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE LEOAl. VWOfT/
OR ACCURACY OF ANY PROVISION IN ANY SPECIFIC TRANSACTION. A REAL ESTATE'BROKER IS-mE PERSON QUAUFIED TO ADVISE ONRBUE6TATC
TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE, CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL
Thte fami h m8d« awUbtoto m»_«8tete pnaf-BlondB ftmuBh MI agtsemBtit wiBi or puiehaw fram Bw CaBomto AssBdaUon of REALTORS®. Itfa not intended to iitentny

who subscribe to to Code of EUrics.
IT) PuWbhed. ahtlDiabibutodby:

REAL ESTATE BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
e etABWwy c/ffte CdMwnto XMBtteffon afREM. TORSS

f» sas South VifgB Awnue, Loa Angefes, Cditomla 90020
PRBS REVISED 12M8 (PAeE 1 OF 1) """"'"'

POSSIBLE REPRESENTATION OF MORE THAN ONE BUYER OR SELLER PRB8 PAGE 1 OF 1
TonK^MealBt«(», wn. CrtrinoHny, Q4ua»ir^Mi>oaBAyCA9<aU Phane: CSITMIIB Ftx:W>»4««t8 Itutair
BwtTunwr Pmdueed wan ilpFBnn® ̂  itplfljti 18070 ratem Mte Road. FiaBW, MMiBan 48026 wuw^DLnnTx. Bnm



CALIFORNIA
ASSOCIATION
OF REALTORS'

WIRE FRAUD AND ELECTRONIC FUNDS
TRANSFER ADVISORY
(C.A.R. Fonn WFA, Ravtecd fMT}

Propedy Address: ^ifep3 rto<a- 'f:Ps'-; & 0<'7-23i"aSQ E^fafs&d&CA 940i9 CProperty").

The ability to communicate and conduct business eledronteally is a convenfence and reaNty in nearly all parts of our Ih/es.
At the same time, it has provided hadiers and scammere new (yportuhfties for their criminal activfty. Many businesses
have been victimized and the real estate business is no exception.

While wiring or electronically transferring funds is a welcome convenience, we all need to exercise extreme caution.
Emaite attempting to induoe ft'audutent wire transfers have been received and have appeared to be tegitlmate. Reports
indicate that some hackers have been abte to intercept emailed transfer instructions, obtain account infonnatton and, by
aftering some of the data, redirect the funds to a different account, tt also appears ftiat some hackers were able to provide
false phone numbers for verifying the wiring or funds transfer instructions. In those cases, the victim calted the number
provided to confirm the instructfons, and then unwWngly authorized a transfer to fiomeuvhera or someone other than the
intended recipient

ACCORDINGLY, YOU ARE ADVISED:
1. Obtain phone nymbere and account numbers only from Escrow Officers, Property Managers, or

Landlords at the beginning of the transaction.
2. DO NOT EVER WIRE OR ELECTRONICALLY TRANSFER FUND$ PRIOR TO CALLING TO

CONFIRM THE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS. ONLY USE A PHONE NUMBER YOU WERE
PROVIDED PREVIOUSLY. Do not use any different phone number or account number included
in any emalled transfer Instructions.

3. Orally confirm the transfer instruction is legitimate and confirm the bank routing number,
account numbers and other codes before taking steps to transfer the funds.

4. Avoid sending personal Information In emails or texts. Provide such information In person or
over the telephone directly to the Escrow Officer, Property Manager, or Landlord.

5. Take steps to secure the system you are using with your email account These steps include
creating strong passwords, using secure WiFi, and not using free services.

If you believe you have received questfonabte or suspicious wire or funds transfer instructions, immediately notify your
bank, and the other party, and the Escrow Office, Landlord, or Property Manager. The sources betow, as well as others,
can also provide information:
Federal Bureau oflnvesfigatton: ht^s^Awww. fbLgov/; the FBI'S IC3 atwww. fc3.gov; or 310-477-6565
National White Collar Crime Center ht4>://www. nw3c,org/
On Guard Online: https://www.onguardonline.gov/
NOTE: There are exl?tff»fl altfernatlves to electronic and wired fund transfers such as cashier's checks.
By signing beloy^t^ unc^rsigned acknowledge that each has read, understands and has received a
copy of this 'fe f d fid Electronic Funds Transfer Advisory.
Buyer/Tenan POT?te?-?cCi- H^wrSki j'ics &y ̂ of. ', SK-SFS!! Date 7- ^ ̂ - /^>

Buyer/Tehant

Selter/Landtord

Selter/Landtord

GlBOtB-aoiT. CdBBmta AMaohfien of REALTORS^ ln& UnltBd States copydght hw (Tlto 17 U.S. Code) »6rt*l» ths unauthorized dlrtributton, dhplay Bnd mpiududhm irf
thfa tbnn, w any portton themof, by photooapy machine or any other mMn», Indudhg faethife or coniputofized fenrata.
THIS FORM HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE CAUFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE LEOAL VALIDnY OR
ACCURACY OF ANY PROVISION IN ANY SPECIRC TRANSACTION, A REAL ESTATE BROKER IS THE PERSON QUAUFIED TO ADVISE ON REAL ESTATE
TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LB3AL Ofi TAX ADVICE, CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFES81C81AL.

Date 6fc/{^
Date

who wibwafbB to th Coda of Ethka.
PuUWwd and DWributed by:
REAL ESTATE BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.
ewbddluyiit»»C» >mhiAasoelaBonafREALTORSS>

I . 626 South Vbgi AVWIUB. Los Angdw Calltiimia 90(20
WFA REVISED 12/17 (PAGE 1 OF 1)

WIRE FRAUD AND ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER ADVISORY

t»o«ub»

Tl '

JJ
APAGE10F1

nintrRadEitaB, »n. C>lBtbH«iy, <KUHdrMu»B*yCA»Wl» Phone: WTOdiai FM W87443428
BmtTuur ~ ~ Produced wl »»)FBnn«tiydpt. oglx 18070 RftwnMila Road. Fmwr. MlcNtan 48fl2a WM^fls^



 

 

Staff Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: Julie van Hoff, Director of Administrative Services  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 2019 Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA) Board of 

Directors Election 
 
 
Recommendation/Motion: 
This Commission may consider voting for up to three (3) candidates for the 2019 Special 
District Risk Management Authority Board of Directors Election or may take no action. 
 
Background:  
The Harbor District is a member of the Special District Risk Management Authority 
(SDRMA), through which the District purchases liability, workers’ compensation and 
property insurance. The five-member Board of Directors serve staggered 4-year terms and 
elections are held every two years. The SDRMA Board is the governing body responsible 
for policy decisions related to member services.  
 
The following is a list of candidates:  
 

• Bob Swan (Incumbent) – Groveland Community Services District 
• Jesse D. Claypool – Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
• Patrick K. O’Rourke, MPA/CFRM – Redwood Regional Economic Development 

Commission 
• Sandy Seifert-Raffelson (Incumbent) – Herlong Public Utility District 
• James (Jim) M. Hamlin, Burney Water District 

 
Candidate statements of qualifications are included in the attachment. 
  

 



   PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

 

Recommendation: 
The Commission may consider voting for up to three (3) candidates for the 2019 Special 
District Risk Management Authority Board of Directors Election with the official ballot 
returned by August 21, 2019. 
The Commission may also consider taking no action. 
 
Attachments: 
2019 SDRMA Board of Directors Election Packet 
 

https://smharbor.specialdistrict.org/files/64e343c00/2019_06_19_SDRMA_2019_+BoD_Election_Packet.pdf


SDRMA
DISTRICT

2019 BOARD OF DIRECTORS EL

^^^^.R.^, f, ,^sh.^.,,^^^^w^ . ~<^^^- ^^^«»^^<S
y

*. >»..,

^(. <:. '::J:}^A lltAtj 8tK^^^^
^->':;,, t-y::^<. ^: ^

.yNsl<!a^'gt(ii~-ff:y|lcwl'-d|@ctlQ^
" fsr'ills' MWctio*' of wlpi .iKI (?) t®: thie''' .

'.

*' 

"<.<, h -SBrtrtAtoi ta^MaCTAFs,,. ^- '-. . 1, ', : ,. ". : ,'\.. -. '^':

ELECTION PACKET ENCLOSURES

0 Election Ballot Instructions

D Official Election Ballot (Action Required)

0 Candidate's Statements of Qualifications (5)

a Self-addressed, Stamped Envelope



\ A

"/.'
SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

1112 I Street, Suite 300
Sacramento, California 95814-2865

T 916. 231.4141 or 800.537. 7790 » F 916. 231.4111

Maximizing Protection. Minimizing Risk. * www. sdrma. org

SDRMA'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ELECTION BALLOT INSTRUCTIONS

Notification of nominations for three (3) seats on the Special District Risk Management Authority's (SDRMA's)
Board of Directors was mailed to the membership in January 2019.

On May 2, 2019, SDRMA's Election Committee reviewed the nomination documents submitted by the
candidates in accordance with SDRMA's Policy No. 2017-10 Establishing Guidelines for Director Elections. The
Election Committee confirmed that five (5) candidates met the qualification requirements and those names
are included on the Official Election Ballot.

Enclosed is the Official Election Ballot along with a Statement of Qualifications as submitted by each
candidate. Election instructions are as follows:

1. The enclosed Official Election Ballot must be used to ensure the integrity of the balloting process.

2. After selecting up to three (3) candidates, your agency's governing body must approve the enclosed
Official Election Ballot at a public meeting. Ballots containing more than three (3) candidate
selections will be considered invalid and not counted.

3. The signed Official Election Ballot MUST be sealed and received b mail or hand delive at
SDRMA's office on or before 4:30 . m. on Wednesda Au ust 21 2019 to the address below. A

self-addressed, stamped envelope is enclosed. Faxes or electronic transmissions are NOT acceptable.

Special District Risk Management Authority
Election Committee
1112 "I" Street, Suite 300
Sacramento, California 95814

4. The four-year terms for newly elected Directors will begin on January 1, 2020 and terminate on
December 31, 2023.

5. Important balloting and election dates are:

August 21, 2019:
August 22, 2019:
August 23, 2019:
September 25, 2019:

November 6-7, 2019:

January 2020:

Deadline for members to return the signed Official Election Ballot
Ballots are opened and counted
Election results are announced, and candidates notified

Newly elected Directors are introduced at the SDRMA Annual Breakfast to be
held in Anaheim at the CSDA Annual Conference

Newly elected Directors are invited to attend SDRMA board meeting (Sacramento)
Newly elected Directors are seated, and Board officer elections are held

If you have any questions regarding the election and balloting process, please do not hesitate to call SDRMA's
Chief Operating Officer Paul Frydendal at 800.537.7790.

A proud California Special Districts

Alliance partner.
California Special Districts Association
1112 I Street, Suite 200

Sacramento, California 95814-2865
T 877. 924. CSDA (2732) # F 916.442.7889

CSDA Finance Corporation
1112 I Street, Suite 200

Sacramento, California 95814-2865
T 877. 924.CSDA (2732) * F 916.442. 7889



^i
^ /\

1!-\

SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

OFFICIAL 2019 ELECTION BALLOT
SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

VOTE FOR ONLY THREE (3) CANDIDATES

Mark each selection directly onto the ballot, voting for no more than three (3) candidates. Each
candidate may receive only one (1) vote per ballot. A ballot received with more than three (3)
candidates selected will be considered invalid and not counted. All ballots must be sealed and

received by mail or hand delivery in the enclosed self-addressed, stamped envelope at SDRMA
on or before 4:30 p. m., Wednesday, August 21, 2019. Faxes or electronic transmissions are NOT
acceptable.

BOB SWAN (INCUMBENT)
Board Member, Groveland Community Services District

D JESSE D. CLAYPOOL
Board Chair, Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District

PATRICK K. O'ROURKE, MPA/CFRM
Board Member, Redwood Region Economic Development Commission

D SANDY SEIFERT- RAFFELSON (INCUMBENT)
Finance Manager/Treasurer, Herlong Public Utility District

D JAMES (Jim) M. HAMLIN
Board President, Burney Water District

day ofADOPTED this
public meeting by the following votes:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

2019 by the San Mateo County Harbor District at a

ATTEST: APPROVED:



CANPiDATE'S STATEMENT OF QUAiJFICATiONS Fillable PDF (download document, save to compute'. complete oniine & save)

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

This information will be distributed to the membership with the ballot, "exactly as submitted" by
the candidates - no attachments will be accepted. No statements are endorsed by SDRMA.

Bob SwanCandidate*

District/Agency
Work Address

Work Phone ^9)^24161 Honfte phon6 (408) 388-4731
.The name or nicknaBMrantfyiyte^nations (i.e. CPA, SDA, etc. ) you enter hwawffi be prtrited m the o^^il ballot, exacUy as submitted.

Groveland Community Services District (GCSD)

P.O. Box 350, Groveland, CA 95321

Why do you want to serve on the SDRMA Board of Directors? (Response Required)

I am a current Board member. I would like to be elected to a second term because:

1. As a board member ofGroveland CSD, I am particularly aware of the great value that smaller districts
get from SDRMA, and I'd like to continue to do my part to make sure that this important agency continues
to operate smoothly and stably into the indefinite future.
2. The insurance market in California (and nationwide) is going through a period of rapid change. The
Board and staff are engaged in a major re-evaluationofSDRMA's approach to fulfilling its mission of
providing cost-effective risk management services to it members. I believe that it is important to maintain
Board continuity in this effort.
3. SDRMA Board members are either board members ("electeds") or employees of a member agency. I
think there is value in having a balance between elected and employee Board members. The Board seats
that are NOT up for election are currently 3 employees / 1 elected. I'd like to make sure the new Board has
at least 2 elected members.

What Board or committee experience do you have that would help you to be an effective Board
Member? (SDRMA or any other organization) (Response Required)

1. SDRMA Board Member since 2016. This year (2019), I serve as Secretary. During our "no CEO"
period in late 2017 - early 2018, 1 was a member of the ad hoc Personnel Committee. 1 am also a member
of the Alliance Executive Council, and a backup member of the Legislative Committee.

2. Groveland CSD Board Member since I was appointed in June 2013. For the years 2014-2018, 1 served
as Board President. (We finally implemented mandatory rotation of the office in 2019).

3. Member of the Board ofSouthside Community Connections, a local nonprofit in Groveland that
provides educational, social, and recreational services to seniors, as well as free transportation to those
who cannot drive.

4. Board Member (currently Treasurer) of Pine Cone Performers, a local choral and acting group, since
2010.

5. Back during my work life, I was a corporate representative on an IEEE standards committee concerned
with wireless networking It was very educational being on a committee where the members had widely
differing (competing) goals.

Page 1 of 2



CANDIDATE'S STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS - Fillable PDF (download document, save to computer, compiete on!me & save)

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

What special skills, talente, or experience (including volunteer experience) do ynu have?
(Response Required)

History: BS Physics, MS Computer Science. 3 years in USAF. 30 years in the semiconductor industry,
first as an engineering manager, later as a business unit manager. Now retired (so I have plenty of time).

Skills, etc. : Very familiar with financial reports, cost accounting, quantitative analysis. Working
knowledge of modem computer and communications technology. Managed distributed organizations
with up to 150 technical people and up to $120M in annual sales. Pretty good at listening to different
views, and helping to achieve consensus (or, at least, compromise).

What is your overall vision for SDRMA? (Response Required)

wel.1' ̂byious1^T s^p??rt ̂ ur (newly revised) vision statement: "To be the exemplary public agency risk
pool of choice for California special districts and other public agencies". In order to achieve this vision, I
believe the key issues are:

1. Maintain long tenn financial stability. This includes ensuring that there is a fair allocation of cost
versus risk across the pool membership.

2. Continue to retain / acquire highly qualified staff, and ensure that this is a desireable place to work.

3. Remember who are our target clientele, which m my opinion are small to mid-sized districts with
limited options for insurance.

4. In light ofeveMwtving California workers-compensation law, expand risk-management training even
further than we now pwvide.

5. Maintain good relations with our re-insurers (who insulate us from catastrophe). In the long run,
explore the possibility of joining a "captive" re-insurer to improve stability.

I certify.that' meet the candidate qualifications as outlined in the SDRMA election policy. I further
certify that I am willing to serve as a director on SDRMA's Board of Directors. I will commit the
time and effort necessary to serve. Please consider my application for nomination/candidacv to
the Board of Directors.

Candidate Signatu 'QsSS' -2Y-2<?/^
Page 2 of 2



CANDIDATE'S STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS - Fillable PDF (download document, save to computer, complete online & save)

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

This information will be distributed to the membership with the ballot, "exactly as submitted" by
the candidates - no attachments;will if&accepted. No statements are endorsed by SDRMA.

Candidate- Jesse D. Claypool
District/Agency Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District

Work Address USDA Service Center 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C Susanville, CA 96130
Work Phone 53Q-257-7271 ext 100 Home phone 530-310-0232
*The name of nickname and any designations (i.e. CPA, SDA, etc.) you enter here will be printed on the official ballot, exactly as submittec.

El

Why do you want to serve on the SDRMA Board of Directors? (Response Required)

My interest for being on the SDRMA Board of Directors is becaiise I believe it is imperative for there to be
a knowledgeable and experienced voice on Ae Board with the perspective of the small to mid-size special
disferict, working together with the other SDRMA Board Members, to ensure relevant-affordable
solutions are available to all size special districts.

What Board or committee experience do you have that would help you to be an effective Board
Member? (SDRMA or anyother organization) (Responst Required)

1 am cuiTently serving my fifth (5fh) consecutive term as Chairman of the Board of a special district. I
served two (2) yrs. on a Technical Advisory Committee for the prevention of violence against schools
K-12. I served one (1) term on an elementary school board. I am currently serving my second (2ud)
consecutive term on CSDA's committee for Professional Development I am currently serving my sixth
(6th.) consecutive term on the board of a Regional Water Management Group. I am currently serving my
second (2nd) consecutive term on CSDA's committee for Member Services. I am currently serving as a
member of the County's Civil Grand Jury.

I have attended and completed the California School Board Association's New Board Member Training. I
have Certificates of Completion from CSDA for General Manager Evaluation, Exercising Legislative
Authority and Achieving Transparency. I attended and completed CSDA's Extraordinary Leader training.
I attended and completed CSDA's Special District Leadership Academy and I have received CSDA's
Recognition in Special District Governance certificate.

Page 1 of 2



CANDIDATE'S STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS - Fillabte PDF (download document/ save to computer, complete online & save)

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of OuaJifications

What special skills, talents, or experience (including volunteer experience) do you have?
(Response Required)

My experience with special districts and governance, belief m the importance of quality governing
policies, the ability to work effectively with the other board members and staff and a desire to give back
to SDRMA and its membership will be what I bring to the SDRMA Board of Directors.

What is your overall vision for SDRBflA? (Response Required)

For SDRMA to continually advance as an industry leader providing affordable solutions for special
districts of any size enabling them to be effective within the communities they serve.

I certify that I meet the candidate qualifications as outlined in the SDRMA election policy. I further
certify that 1 am willing to serve as a director on SDRMA's Board of Directors. I will commit the
time and effort necessary to serve. Please consider my application for nomination/candidacy to
the Board of Directors.

Candidate Signatu Date -^^~/

Page 2 of 2



CANDIDATE'S STATEMENT Of QUALtFICATIQMS - EiUable PDF

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

This information will be distributed to the membership with the ballot, "exactly as submitted" by
the candidates -no attachments will be accepted. No statements are endorsed by SDRMA.

Candidate" Patrick K. O'Rourke, MPA/CFRM
District/Agency Redwood Region Economic Development Commission (RREDC)

Work Address 520 E Street Eureka, CA 95501
Work Phone 707-445-9651 Home Phone 7Q7-726-6700
'The name or nicknan® and any designafions (i.e. CPA, SDA, etc.) you enter here will be printed on the official ballot, exactly as submitted,

Why do you want to serve onthe SDRMA Board of Directors? (Response Required)

I haveconsiderable interest, knowledge, and experience in board leadership; board service; and board
govemance/policy development & oversight in for-profits, nonprofits, a joint powers authority/SDRMA
member organization, and as an elected city councihnan. I also have considerable experience (as a
top-level executive board leader and manager) in organizational risk management and risk
mitigatioii/prevention. I would like to share my knowledge, skills, abilities, and experience in service to
SDRMA members, via my service on SDRMA's board of directors. I beUeve ttot my knowledge,
experience, and dedication to excellence and implementation of best practices in governance and policy
development/oversight will serve SDRMA well, and will assist SDRMA in maintaming its 'T^xcellence"
accreditation via the California Association of Joint Powers Authorities (CAJPA).

What Board or committee experience do-you have that would help you to be an effective Board
Member? (SDRMA or any other organization) (Response Required)

Having served m board leadership roles (25+ years in for-profit entities; 25+ years in nonprofit &
private/public foundations; and 2+ years in a Jomt Powers Authority [SDRMA member organization]), I
am well-versed and experienced in board governance; policy development; fmancial statement analysis
and budget review; executive management search/selection, oversight and evaluation; organizational risk
managemenVmitigation; litigation oversight; and best practices in orgamzational governance. At SDRMA
mecaber organization. Redwood Region Econoimc Development Commission (RREDC), I have served as
2019 Iinmediate Past Chair; 2018 Board Chair; 2017 Vice Chair; Chair of Executive Committee; and
Member of the Loan Committee. I have in-depth knowledge of policy governance (Culver, et al.); I am an
advocate for transparency & best practices; and I am knowledgeable & experienced in California's Ralph
M. Brown Act and Roberts Rules of Order. I have also served in board governance and board leadership
roles in several nonprofit organizations and in both public and private foundations, including as Board
Chair (12+ years) and in President & Vice President roles. I have also Chaired Search/Selection
committees; Public Relations committees; Fund Development conaimttees; and Finance/Audit committees.

Page 1 of 2



CANDIDATE'S STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS - Fillable PDF

Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

What special skills, talents, or experience (including volunteer experience) do you have?
(Response Required)

Besides holding a Master of Public Affairs degree, with a specialty in nonprofit management; having
completed all coursework and written/oral exams (all except dissertation) for a PUD m Mass
Coinmunication, with a specialty in public relations and a cognate in organizational communication
management, I have several other directly-relevant skills/talents/experience mcluding: I am expertly adqpt
atexecutive-level relationship development and stewardship, and have served as an organizational &
industry advocate and liaison working closely with community organizations, locaVcounty/state elected
officials, and public/private entities/organizations and foundations. I am expertly adept at financial and
operational analysis, and at assef'portfolio management and risk mitigation. I have taught for-credit
university courses ia corporate leadership; in entrepreneurial leadership research and practice; as weU as
having published peer-reviewed academic research on leadership in public relations.

What is your overall vision for SDRMA? (Response Required)

My vision for SDRMA would be for SDRMA to continue to add value to its meinbers; operate with the
highest ethical practices and transparency; continue in providing excellence in service, education, safety
and compliance training; help members to mitigate and reduce risk; provide expedient claims review and
response; provide members with state-of-the-art education and information; educate members to minimize
losses/risk in member workplaces; and to continue to provide members with comprehensive coverage for
property/liability, workers comp, and health benefits.

I would envision SDRMA management and staff enjoying a quality of life that will eiisure their happiness
and continue an atmosphere of dedicated service to SDRMA members. I would also envision that SDRMA
will continue to operate with efificiencies that minimize costs/expenses, continue to enable SDRMA to
maintain competitive premium rates, and (when possible) lower organizational and member costs. I would
also envision a governing board that embraces and einploys best governing practices in all areas of policy
development; executive management oversight; financial review/audit; and in investing and spreadmg
portfolio assets to minimize portfolio investment risks and maximize return on investments. Finally, I
would envision SDRMA, and its management team/staff, operating in ways that will continue to earn
accreditation "Excellence" from the California Association of Joint Powers Authorities (CAIPA).

I certify that I meet the candidate qualifications as outlined in the SDRMA election policy. I further
'srtify that I am willing to serve as a director on SDRMA's Board of Directors. I will commit the
time and effort necessary to s e. Please consider my application for nomination/candidacy to
the Board of Directors.

Candidate Signature 7
y

Date
.s'^f 9~o(^

Page 2 of 2



Special District Risk ivianagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualiflcatjons

This information will be distributed to the membership with the ballot, "exactly as submitted" by
the candidates No statements are endorsed by SDRMA.

Candidate* Sandy Seifert-Raffelson
District/Agency Herlong Public Utility District

Work Address 447-855 Plumas St. P o Box 115 Herfon CA 9611 3
Work Phone 530 827-3150 Cell Phone 5SO 3-10-4320

*The name or nickname and any designations (i. e. CPA, SDA, etc. ) you enter here will be printeQ on the official ballot, exactly as submitted.

Why do you want to serve on the SDRMA Board of Directors?

I am a current Board member of SDRMA and feel that I have added my financial background to
make better informed decisions for our members. As a Board member, I continue to improve
my education of insurance issues and look forward to representing small District's and
Northern California as a voice on the SDRMA Board. I fee 11 am an asset to the Board with my
degree in Business and my 30 plus years' experience in accounting and auditing.

'=?.

I understand the challenges that small District face every day when it comes to managing
liability insurance, worker's compensation and health insurance for a few employees with limit
revenue and staff. My education and experience give me an appreciation of the importance of
risk management services and programs, especially for smaller District that lack expertise with
insurance issues on a daily basis.

I feel I am an asset to this Board, and would love a chance to stay on 4 more years!

What Board or committee experience do you have that would help you to be an effective Board
Member? (SDRMA or any other organization)

While serving on the SDRMA Board, I have been privilege to be Secretary of the Board for two
years, and currently the Vice-president. I have served on CSDA's Audit and Financial
Committee's for 6 years; I have served on the SDLF Board; Northeastern Rural Health Clinic
Board; Fair Board; School and Church boards; 4-H Council and leader for 15 years; and UC
Davis Equine Board. In the past 25 years, I have learn that there is no "I" in Board and it can be
very rewarding to be part of a team that makes a difference for others.

As part of my many duties working with Herlong PUD, I worked to form the District and was
djrectly involved with LAFCo, Lassen County Board of Supervisors and County Clerk to
establish the initial Board of Directors and first Policies for HPUD. I have administered the
financial portion of 2 large capital improvement project with USDA as well as worked on the
first ever successful water utility privatization project with the US Army and Department of
Defense. I am currently working on a 4.2 million grant from California for new infrastructure for
the small District HPUD absorb through LAFCo in 2017. I am also the primary administrator of
a federal contract for utility services with the Federal Bureau of Prison and the US Army.

Page 2 of 2



Special District Risk anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Oualifications

What special skills, talents, or experience (including volunteer experience) do you have?

I have my Bachelor's Degree in Business with a minor in Sociology. I have audited Small
Districts for 5 years, worked for a Small District for almost 15 years and have over 30 years of
accounting experience. I am a good communicator and organizer. I have served on several
Boards and feel I work well within groups or special committee. I am willing to go that extra mile
to see things get completed.

I believe in recognition for jobs well done. I encourage incentive programs that get members
motivated to participate and strive to do their very best to keep all losses at a minimum and
reward those with no losses.

I have completed my Certificate for Special District Board Secretary/Clerk Program in both
regular and advance course work through CSDA and co-sponsored by SDRMA. I have
completed the CSDA Special District Leadership Academy and Special District Governance
Academy. I am in the processes of getting my small District re-certified for their District of
Transparency and hope one day to attain our District of Distinction.

I work for a District in Northeastern California that has under gone major changes from a
Cooperative Company to a 501c12 Corporation, to finally a Public Utility District. I have worked
with LAFCo to become a District. Also our small District consolidated another small District into
our District. Through past experience I feel I make a great Board member representing the small
districts of Northern California and their unique issues and will make decisions that would help
all rural/small districts.

What is your overall vision for SDRMA?

For SDRMA tobe at the top of the risk management field and to continue communicating and
listening to the needs of all California Special Districts and meeting those needs at a reasonable
price that Special Districts can afford. I would like to continue education and rewards for no
claims and explore avenues of financial endeavors that will benefit our customers.

I certify that I meet the candidate qualifications as outlined in the SDRMA election policy. I
further certify that I am willing to serve as a director on SDRMA's Board of Directors. I will
commit the time and effort necessary to serve. Please consider my application for
nomination/candidacy to the Board of Directors.

Candidate Signature ^_.J <£> ^^<T>

ige 1 of 2

Date



Special District Risk ...anagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

This information will be distributed to the membership with the ballot, "exactly as submitted" by the candidates
- no attachments will be accepted. No statements are endorsed by SDRMA.

Candidate* James (Jim) M. Hamlin

District/Agency Burne Water District

Work Address 20222 Hudson St. Burne Ca. 96013

Work Phone (530^ 335:13582 Cell Phone -
*The name or nickname and any designations (i.e. CPA, SDA, etc.) you enter here will be printed on the official ballot, exactly as submitted,

Whydo you want to serve on the SDRMA Board of Directors? (Response Required)

flnpe to sem and teto wW decisions teinfi made. to both strengthen SBRMA and
move into new areas. Our districts are facing new challenges constantly.

What Board or committee experience do you have that would help you to be an effective Board Member?
(SDRMAorany other organization) (Response Required)

See Next

Page 1 of 2 November 2017



Special District Risk ivianagement Authority
Board of Directors

Candidate's Statement of Qualifications

What special skills, talents, or experience (including volunteer experience) do you have?

Se tember 1972 until January 2014, owned and operated a insurance brokera e

Sold liuslness and retired -

it^aiydl Moftiiiwav* nf! Mja<ri»'r*te Mtwn<

Served

..sVui-=,-.,^Jt-<-,

Serving

on the Associal of

vria'l nrinn-lt-al TMKfr-tnT- V'rtns IQQft .ml-41 %01^_

Hospital

n Vh» hoard of BliTnav Bat":e'r

on Mayers Memorial Hospital

Districts

n-tfttv-jct:

Financial

for six years.

tlie! nreirlous alx vearfi!- CuTren.t:

Board.

What is your overall vision for SDRMA? (Response Required)

.SnttMA BnflT-tl nniat- he sttT-dnff and nrotect the concerns of their members. Need

~ . '^ ]l;'^^;^.''''^u'__earf<n"tliedl.stricts that are represented. Need to

e caution into nec areas, not jepordlse their strong prograns
and beliefs .for new rograms.

I certify that I meet the candidate qualifications as outlined in the SDRMA election policy. I further certify that I
am willing to serve as a director on SDRMA's Board of Directors. I will commit the time and effort necessary to
serve. Please consider my application for nomination/candidacy to the Board of Directors.

^- ^^-^'7~^t?Candidate Signatu e V' <y

Page 2 of 2

Date

November 2017



 

PAGE 1 OF 4 
 

 
 

Activity Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: Julie van Hoff, Director of Administrative Services  
   
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
PERIOD: May 2019  
             
 
Harbor Commissioner Meetings 

• Regular Commission Meeting – May 20, 2019 
 
Public Records Act Requests (PRAs) 

• New PRA Requests 
o Lisa Damrosch, Morning Star Fisheries, LLC – 5/30/19 
o Transparent CA- 2017 & 2018 Employee Compensation Reports -5/9/19 

• PRA Completed 
o Lisa Damrosch – Morning Star & Three Captains – 10/13/18 
o John Sims, Commodore – OPYC – 10/29/18 
o John Ullom – Failed CFD & Fuel Storage Tank Leak at Oyster Point – 3/13/19 
o John Ullom – Pillar Point Fuel System – 3/26/19 
o Transparent CA - 2017 & 2018 Employee Compensation Reports - 5/9/19 

 
Accounting/Finance 

• Operations  
o Accounts Payable (A/P) 

 Processed two A/P runs 
 Uploaded Positive Pay to US BANK 
 Processed recurring journal entries 

o Accounts Receivable (A/R) 
 Daily cash batch review, account adjustment review 
 Month-end – The Marina Program (TMP) to general ledger 

reconciliation and rollover to next period 
 State of California Franchise Tax Board Intercept program – received 

and filed reports and payments 
 Assisted with collections of major balances, filing of liens, and sale of 

boats 
 Prepared and reviewed monthly A/R report for PPH and OPM 



 

PAGE 2 OF 4 
 

 Met with management to review “problem” accounts 
 Sent accounts to collections 

o Banking 
 Reconciled all bank and investment accounts 
 Prepared wire transfer for purchase of land 

o Purchasing/Contracts 
 Updated Contract summary and major contract reconciliations 

o Payroll – biweekly 
 Processed two payroll cycles 
 Uploaded CALPERS/ICMA reports for 457 savings plans 
 Reported CALPERS pension plan information 

• Fiscal Year 2017-18 Audit & Financial Report 
o Coordinated exit conference 
o Prepared staff report for June 19 presentation of the 2017/18 Audited 

Financial Statements to the Commission. 

• Board Meeting – May 20, 2019 
o Prepared Bills & Claims report 
o Prepared Legal Fees report 
o Prepared 2019/20 Third Quarter Financial Statements & Spending Authority 

• Grants 
o Requested DBW SAVE reimbursement for $50,532 – In progress 
o Requested DBW SAVE reimbursement for $5,401 – In progress 
o OPM/SSF Fuel Dock Reimbursement for $7,979 – In progress 

• Special Projects 
o Set up District Amazon Prime account  
o Beginning implementation of District text, phone, and/or email notification 

system. 
o Creating identification and badge card templates.  

• Budget 
o Prepared and presented Fiscal Year 2019/20 Draft Final Budget at May 

Harbor Commission meeting. 
o Prepared Fiscal Year 2019/10 Final Budget document and power point 

presentation. 
o Updated Organizational Chart. 
o Prepared Resolution for June Board Meeting.  

Human Resources 
• Prepared Check Request for Medical & Life Insurance 

o OE3 Trust Fund 
o Teamsters 
o SDRMA Medical  
o SDRMA Ancillary 

 

• Personnel 
o Worked on filing personnel paperwork 
o Assisted with one verification of employment 
o Prepared PTO payout paperwork per employee request. 
o Prepared position description for Administrative Analyst-Communications 



 

PAGE 3 OF 4 
 

o Prepared staff report recommending Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & 
Stewart as highest rated proposer in the RFP for employment and labor legal 
issues. Coordinating signing of approved Professional Services Agreement. 

o Worked with RGS on leave paperwork for four employees. 
o Provided retirement benefit information to one employee. 
o Provided medical benefits information to one employee going on FMLA leave. 
o Assisted employee with removing a dependent from medical insurance. 
o Assisted employee’s dependent with prescription benefits. 
o Updated health insurance enrollment for one employee. 

• Employment Recruitment 
o Assisted with Deputy Harbormaster A&B recruitment and met with PPH staff 

to debrief. Scheduled seventeen interviews. Sent out three notifications for 
conditional offer of employment and notifications to other candidates. 

o Opened recruitment for Accountant position. 
o Provided information to CPS HR Consulting for Harbormaster recruitment. 
o Set up account with CalOpps for employment advertisement. 

 
Miscellaneous 

• Policy Updates 
o In process of creating list of District Policies and corresponding recommended 

CSDA Policies. 
o Continued update to employee and commissioner expenditure reimbursement 

policies. 
o Prepared proposed edits to Policy 1.1.1- Code of Ethics and Values policy. 

 
• Leases/CAPs/Special Events  

o Requested Statement(s) of Earnings that were past due. 
o Filed lease documents. 
o Created invoice for Cartel Management Special Event Permit for use of 

District Property during surfing event at Mavericks surf break. 
o Prepared 2019/20 Third Quarter Rent Report. 

 
• Risk Management 

o Coordinated SDRMA Safety training for administrative staff. 
o Attended Navigation Awareness Training. 
o Attended Tsunami Workshop held at Pillar Point Harbor. 
o Assisted at the Disaster Preparedness Event in Half Moon Bay. 

• Other 
o Continued training of staff & temporary employee on payroll and other 

Accountant position functions. 
o Updated District’s website. 
o Worked on organizing District records in compliance with Records Retention 

Policy. 
o Scanned incoming mail. 
o Continued bi-weekly Business Process Documentation & Improvement 

meetings- topics included Fee and Rate schedule and recruitments. 
o Attended San Mateo Finance Officer’s Group (SAMFOG) at Woodside Town 

Hall. 
o Updated District’s Rates & Fees schedule. 



 

PAGE 4 OF 4 
 

o Prepared information regarding five years of revenue records related to OPM 
Fuel System. 

o Requested quote from Caspian for remote meeting equipment. 



 

PAGE 1 OF 6 
 

 
 

Activity Report 
 

TO:   Board of Harbor Commissioners 
 
FROM: John Moren, Interim GM  
 
DATE: June 19, 2019 
 
PERIOD: May 2019 
 
             
 
 

Pillar Point Harbor: 
 
Construction Update & General Status Updates: 
 

• Misc. maintenance work in progress throughout the marina 
• Landscaping in facility 
• Sport Rock Fish Season opened on April 1st 
• Commercial Crab Season has closed 

 
Miscellaneous: 
          

• 395 Launches 
• Seeking bids for Pillar Point Harbor Boat Launch Ramp Dredging, bids were 

due May 1, 2019, reviewing single bid received.  
• Currently recruiting for the position of Harbormaster A.  Deadline for 

applications was Wednesday, May 15, 2019.  
• CPR/AED/Blood Borne Pathogen Training 
• SMCHD Social Media Team Assistance 

 
Occupancy Overview: 
 

• Total occupancy: 100%, 369 slips, 369 occupied. 
 
 
 



 

PAGE 2 OF 6 
 

Search and Rescue Activity Highlights & Urgent Need Activities: 
 

• 5/1 thru 5/31 
o   14 Search & Rescue  
o   34 Patrol Vessel & DHM Calls 
o   5 Medical Calls 
o   8 Law Enforcement Calls 
o 11 Environmental Resource Protection Calls 
o 45 Allied Agency Engagements/Assistance 

 
EMS-Clean Marina Activities: 
 

• Vessel inspections are ongoing 
 

PPH Staff: 
 

PPH Team participated in helo training with USCG May 18th 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

PAGE 3 OF 6 
 

Oyster Point Marina/Park 
 
General Status & Construction Update: 
 

• Misc. maintenance work in progress throughout the marina. 
• Kilroy Development Project continues, OPM on Generator Power, Kilroy 

contractors hope to have the marina off generator and on temp PG&E in late 
June 

• Daily dock checks & Storm checks 
• Spring cleaning 

 
Miscellaneous: 
          

• Crew Training continued to cross train with USCG and PPH staff. OPM staff 
trained with USCG Rescue Swimmers. 

  
• Registration, Liveaboard, insurance and operability enforcement efforts 

continue.  
 

• Halibut fishing full swing shaping up to be a big year. Lots of launch ramp 
activity. 
 

Occupancy Overview: 
 

• On 5/31/19 occupancy: 79.5% 408 slips, 324 occupied  
 
Search and Rescue Activity Highlights & Urgent Need Activities: 

 
• 5/1 thru 5/31: 11 vessel activities, 3 Fire, 4 Police Business, 1 Coast Guard, 31 

DHM Call Outs 
• 1 SPCA, 2 Fish & Wildlife  

 
EMS-Clean Marina Activities: 
 

• Vessel inspections for new tenants and for seaworthiness of existing tenants 
are ongoing. 
 



 

PAGE 4 OF 6 
 

Calendar Reminder Items of Events and Activities: 
 

• Helo Training with USCG June 19th OPM 
• June 28th Change of Command USCG Air Station SFO 
• June 17th Switch over to PG&E power 

 
Administration: 

 
See related Staff Report for update on Capital Projects 

District: 
• Executive Search firm RFP for GM concluded, hiring process has begun. 

 
Grants: 

• Working with FEMA and CalOES for project funding assistance 
• Continuing efforts to identify potential grant funding for all CIP’s 

 
ADA Coordinator: 

• Continued work on issues identified in the ADA Transition Plan/Self Evaluation. 
Incorporating CalOES "Strategies for Inclusive Planning Emergency Response" 
in our ERP. This addition to the ERP facilitates more comprehensive inclusion 
of planning for people with access and functional needs, including people with 
disabilities as well as other groups disproportionately impacted in emergencies. 

 
District Training Officer, DHM Cary Smith: 

• The Disaster Preparedness Event on Saturday, May 4th in HMB was well 
attended and we were able to share Boating Safety, Clean Boating Habits, 
and Environmental Protection with all ages of the public. Big thanks to Betty 
and Debbie for taking time to assist in the effort. District staged in front of the 
Half Moon Bay Review and were able to share information with their staff on 
Harbor Patrol Operations. We were requested and invited to attend the 
Countywide event at the Fairgrounds on September 21st.  by staff from 
Supervisor Groom’s Office. 

• SMCHD Deputy Harbormaster Recruitment and Testing (Outreach, Testing 
Metrics and Improvements to process) 

• CEAP (Coastside Emergency Action Program) Monthly Meeting, CERT 
Teamwork, Keynote Speaker 

• Social Media Efforts: Assist with Media (Images and Messaging) Tours, 
Events 

• Public Information Officer for Safety and Marine Related Education and Events 
• Neptune Coalition Monthly Meetings (USCG Sector SF and Bay Area Allied 

Agencies) 
• Citation Enhancement and Ordinance Code revision (Turbo Data)  
• USCG Air Station SF on the water training 
• Scheduling required recertification training 



 

PAGE 5 OF 6 
 

• DBW (BSEE) Boating Safety and Enforcement Equipment Grant: Workshop 
and Grant 

• Community Outreach (CPR instruction) Harbor and Surf Communities 
• DHM Training Matrix creation and ongoing record keeping 
• Marine Flare Disposal Pilot Program with San Mateo County Environmental 

Health Planning and Outreach with OPYC and HMBYC 
• Surf Rescue and RWC Safety Training for the Surf Community 
• Training Program development, updates and vision moving forward 
• OE3 MOU Training requirements and Equivalent Training discussion 
• Harbor Community based CERT Team research 
• Emergency Notification research for Harbor Communities and Future 

Outreach 
• Tsunami Preparedness and Tabletop Training Planning for Administration and 

Operations 
• Enhanced First Aid Certification and Upgraded Recertification 
• Ordinance and Compliance Enhancement Research and Discussion 
• Enhanced Allied Agency Training Opportunities on the Water OPMHP and 

PPHP 
• San Mateo Public Safety Communications Updates and Enhancement 

Communications 
• Other Meetings and Duties as assigned 

 
Activities and Training: 

• Allied Agency Training with PPHP/OPMHP and USCG  
• CPR/AED/Blood Bourne Pathogen Recertification Training OPMHP and PPHP 
• DBW Class Training Scheduling 
• USCG Air Station SF Allied Agency Training Day 
• USCG Air Station SF Hoist and Rescue Swimmer Training 
• Half Moon Bay Disaster Preparedness Day/Event (May 4th) 
• USCG Station Golden Gate Open House (May 11th) 
• BWRAG Potential Training and Support (Fall 2019) 
• Deputy Harbormaster Recruitment and Testing planning and updates 
• National Safe Boating Week and Navigational Awareness Training Planning 

(May 17th) 
 

Future Objectives: 
• SMCHD Operations Training standardization 
• SMCHD Patrol Boat Electronics Standardization 
• SMCHD Water Based Recreational and Harbor Community Training 
• SMCHD Enhanced Allied Agency Communications 
• SMCHD Administration and Commission Safety and Boating Education 

Training 
• SMCHD Operations Social Media Safety Messaging and Environmental 

Resource Protection Messaging 
• SMCHD Operations Professional Image Development and Outreach 



 

PAGE 6 OF 6 
 

• SMCHD Operations Customer Service Training 
• SMCHD Operations Mental Health and Self Medication Awareness and Officer 

Safety Training 
 

District Safety: 
• Target Solutions - OSHA courses, continuing to assign safety refresher 

courses for 2019.    
• Updating Emergency Response Plans, copies will be placed on District 

website, additional emphasis on tsunami response. 
• 2019 DBW Boater Safety Survey/Kits – Continuing to work with DBW at PPH 

and OPM to send out Dock Walker boater safety surveys with statements. 
Tenants will deliver completed surveys to the HM office for boater safety kits. 

• Continuing increased training efforts to promote excellent Customer Service.  
 


	2019_06_19_SpecialMeetingAgenda
	2019_06_19_RegularMeetingAgenda
	2019_06_19_B&C_SR
	2019_06_19_B&C_SS
	6-19-19 & Calcard   

	2019_06_19_B&C_Legal
	Sheet5

	2019_06_19_Monthly_Capital_Project_Update_SR
	2019_06_19-05_20_DraftSpecialMeetingAgenda
	2019_06_19-06_06_DraftSpecialMeetingAgenda
	2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_Basic_Financial_Statements_SR
	2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20
	INTRODUCTION
	Budget Snapshot
	Budget Process
	Budget Report Presentation Changes from Prior Fiscal Year
	Priorities and Issues
	About Us
	Where is San Mateo County Harbor District?
	Our History
	San Mateo County Harbor District Today
	SECTION ONE- 2019/20 OPERATING BUDGET


	Operating Budget at a Glance
	Budgetary Highlights
	Short-Term Factors Influencing Decisions
	Public and Enterprise Services
	Organizational Chart
	Staffing Authorization

	Budget Schedules
	Basis of Budgeting vs. Accounting
	Three-Year Comparative Financial Schedule
	District Revenue
	District Expenditures

	Budget by Department
	Department Summary
	Administration
	Pillar Point Harbor
	Oyster Point Marina
	SECTION TWO- FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

	Five-Year Forecasts
	Working Capital
	Five-Year CIP Detail
	2019/20 CIP- Oyster Point Marina
	2019/20 CIP- Pillar Point Harbor
	CIP Appropriations & Estimated Encumbrance Re-appropriations
	SECTION THREE- POLICIES & DEFINITIONS

	District Policies and Guidelines
	Debt Management Policy, Capacity, and Issuance
	Definitions & Abbreviations


	2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_Results_PP
	Fiscal Year17/18�Financial Audit Results 
	Overall Audit Strategy 
	Fiscal Year 17/18 Financial Audit Results
	Fiscal Year 17/18 Financial Audit Results
	Fiscal Year 17/18 Financial Audit Results
	Fiscal Year 17/18 Financial Audit Results
	FY 2017/18 Sources of Revenue
	FY 2017/18 Expenses by Major Category
	Other Significant Items
	Memorandum on Internal Controls
	Questions?�

	2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_BFS_2018
	2019_06_19_FY2017-18_Audited_FS_MOIC
	2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_SR
	2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_Reso.19-09
	2019_06_19_Final_Budget_FY19-20_PP
	Fiscal Year 2019/20�Operating Budget & Capital Improvement Program�
	SECTIONS OF BUDGET DOCUMENT
	Operating Budget at a Glance
	Public & Enterprise Services
	District Revenue (in millions)
	District Expenditures (in millions)
	Capital Improvement Program (in millions)
	Five-Year Forecast (in millions)
	CIP & Working Capital Forecast (in millions)
	Pillar Point Harbor
	Pillar Point Harbor
	Re-appropriations of Encumbrances
	Summary

	2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_SR
	2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_Exhibit A, Dixon Revised Bid Form
	2019_06_19_PPH_Boat_Launch_Dredge_Exhibit B, 2019-03 PPH Boat Launch Ramp_IFB
	2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_SR
	2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_PSA_2019_01_16
	2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_01_10_SpecialMeetingMinutes
	2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_Phondini_Partners_Proposal
	2019_06_19_Public_Outreach_PP
	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_SR
	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_Restroom preferred alternative
	Pillar Point Harbor RV Park public Restroom and green space preferred alternative
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7

	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_HMB Compliance order 2016_12_14
	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_KN RV Lot lease
	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_12_20_RegularMeetingMinutes
	2019_06_19_RV_Lot_PCA Grant Letter of Interest_HMB_2.25.19
	2019_06_19_Portola_Lot_Purchase; Ad Hoc Committee_SR
	2019_06_19_Portola_Lot_Purchase Agreement
	2019_06_19_SDRMA_2019_ BoD_Election_SR
	2019_06_19_SDRMA_2019_ BoD_Election_Packet
	2019_06_19_ActRpt_Admin
	2019_06_19_ActRpt_GM&Ops


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




